
  
 

APOPKA CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
June 20, 2018 7:00 PM 

APOPKA CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

 

CALL TO ORDER 
INVOCATION 
PLEDGE 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

1. City Council regular meeting June 6, 2018. 
 

AGENDA REVIEW 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT; STAFF RECOGNITION AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

Public Comment Period:  
The Public Comment Period is for City-related issues that may or may not be on today’s Agenda. If you are here for a matter that 
requires a public hearing, please wait for that item to come up on the agenda. If you wish to address the Council, you must fill out an 
Intent to Speak form and provide it to the City Clerk prior to the start of the meeting. If you wish to speak during the Public Comment 
Period, please fill out a green-colored Intent-to-Speak form. If you wish to speak on a matter that requires a public hearing, please fill 
out a white-colored Intent-to-Speak form. Speaker forms may be completed up to 48 hours in advance of the Council meeting. Each 
speaker  will  have  four minutes to  give  remarks,  regardless  of  the  number  of  items  addressed.  Please refer to Resolution No. 
2016-16 for further information regarding our Public Participation Policy & Procedures for addressing the City Council. 
 
Presentations: 

1. Presentation on Form Base Code.             James Hitt 
2.  Apopka City Center – Hilton Garden Inn Presentation    James Hitt 

  
CONSENT (Action Item) 

1. Authorize the disposal of surplus equipment/property. 
2. Approve renewal of Lease Agreement, Aunt Gingibread's Bakery, LLC. 
3. Approve a School Capacity Enhancement Agreement with San Sebastian Reserve.    
4. Approve the purchase of two (2) utility carts from Cruise Car, Inc. 
5. Award a contract for the construction of a Reclaim Water System Extension on Golden Gem Road.  
6. Award a contract for the construction & deepening of Mount Plymouth Lakes Water Production Wells No. 1 & No. 4. 
7. Approve an agreement for the receipt and processing of curbside recyclables collected by the City's Sanitation Division. 

 
BUSINESS (Action Item) 

1. Reject RFP#2018-01 Event Production & Management Services      Edward Bass 
for Special Events at the Apopka Amphitheater. 

 
2. Reject ITB 2018-05 Construction of Kit Land Nelson Park Fitness Trails.      Edward Bass 

 
3. Final Development Plan – Wekiva Riverwalk Shopping Center          Bobby Howell  

Project:  Woolbright Wekiva – Location: 2121 East Semoran Boulevard 
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS/ORDINANCES/RESOLUTION (Action Item) 

1. Ordinance No. 2656– Second Reading - Change of Zoning/Master Plan/Development Agreement                          David Moon 
Project:  AHIFO-18, LLC – Location:  West of Plymouth-Sorrento Road; east of SR 429  
approximately ½ mile north of the intersection of Kelly Park Road and Plymouth-Sorrento Road. 
 

2. Preliminary Development Plan – Bridle Path Subdivision                 Bobby Howell 
Project:  AHIFO-18, LLC – Location: West of Plymouth-Sorrento Road and east of SR 429,  
approximately one-half mile north of the intersection of Kelly Park Road and Plymouth-Sorrento Road 
 

3. Ordinance No. 2654 – First Reading - Change of Zoning   Phil Martinez 
Project: JTD Land at Rogers Road, LLC – Location:  1455 W. Lester Road. 

1



  
 

4. Ordinance No. 2659 – First Reading - Comp Plan – Large Scale – Reserve at Kelly Park                 Phil Martinez 
Project:   Min Sun Cho, Hong Sik and Deok Hwa Kim – Location: 4068, 4046, & 4022 Plymouth Sorrento Road 
 

5. Ordinance No. 2661 – First Reading - Comp Plan – Small Scale                 Phil Martinez 
Project: 3255 Clarcona Road LLC (aka Randall Mechanical) – Location: 3307 Clarcona Road 
 

6. Ordinance No. 2662 – First Reading - Change of Zoning          Phil Martinez 
Project: 3255 Clarcona Road LLC (aka Randall Mechanical) – Location: 3307 Clarcona Road 
 

7. Ordinance No. 2663 – First Reading – Change of Zoning       Phil Martinez 
Project: SunTrust Bank – Location: 936 East Semoran Boulevard 
 

8. Ordinance No. 2664 – First Reading – Annexation – Cycle 3 - Stormwater Pond         Pam Richmond 
Project: City of Apopka – Location: 1680 South Lake Pleasant Road 
 

9. Ordinance No. 2665 – First Reading – Annexation – Cycle 3 – Road Right-of-Ways                                            Pam Richmond 
Project: Orange County – Locations:   Carnation Court; East Laurel Street; East Myrtle Street;  
West Myrtle Street; North Washington Avenue; North Central Avenue; and North Lake Avenue  
(North and South of West Myrtle Avenue) 
 

10. Resolution No. 2018-09 - Execute a contract for a Capital Improvement Revenue Note.           Edward Bass 
 

CITY COUNCIL REPORTS 
 
MAYOR’S REPORT 

1. Florida Fish & Wildlife Conservation Commission Bear Cart Grant.  
2. Interlocal Agreement with Orange County Fire Department. 

 
ADJOURNMENT 

 
 

MEETINGS AND UPCOMING EVENTS 

DATE TIME EVENT 

June 25, 2018 10:00am – Lake Apopka Natural Gas District Board Meeting: Winter Garden 

July 4, 2018 - Independence Day – City Offices Closed 

July 4, 2018 6:00pm – 9:00pm July 4
th
 Event – Entertainment, Food & Fireworks – NW Recreation Complex 

July 5, 2018 5:30pm –  Food Truck Round Up 

July 5, 2018 1:30pm –  City Council Meeting is cancelled however a Budget Workshop will take its place.  

July 9, 2018 6:30pm –  CONA Meeting – UCF Apopka Business Incubator 

July 10, 2018 5:30pm – 7:30pm  Planning Commission Meeting 

July 11, 2018 6:00pm –  Tentative Budget Workshop 

July 18, 2018 7:00pm –  City Council Meeting 

July 21, 2018 11:00am – 12:00pm  Cookies & Milk with a Cop – NW Orange/Apopka Library 

July 23, 2018 10:00am –   Lake Apopka Natural Gas District Board Meeting: Winter Garden 

 
Individuals with disabilities needing assistance to participate in any of these proceedings should contact the City Clerk at least two (2) working days in 
advance of the meeting date and time at (407) 703-1704.  F.S. 286.0105 If a person decides to appeal any decision or recommendation made by 
Council with respect to any matter considered at this meeting, he will need record of the proceedings, and that for such purposes he may need to ensure 
that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based. 
 
Any opening invocation that is offered before the official start of the Council meeting shall be the voluntary offering of a private person, to and for the 
benefit of the Council.  The views or beliefs expressed by the invocation speaker have not been previously reviewed or approved by the City Council or 
the city staff, and the City is not allowed by law to endorse the religious or non-religious beliefs or views of such speaker.  Persons in attendance at the 
City Council meeting are invited to stand during the opening ceremony. However, such invitation shall not be construed as a demand, order, or any other 
type of command.  No person in attendance at the meeting shall be required to participate in any opening invocation that is offered or to participate in the 
Pledge of Allegiance.  You may remain seated within the City Council Chambers or exit the City Council Chambers and return upon completion of the 
opening invocation and/or Pledge of Allegiance if you do not wish to participate in or witness the opening invocation and/or the recitation of the Pledge of 
Allegiance. 
  

2



CITY OF APOPKA 

 

Minutes of the regular City Council meeting held on June 06, 2018, at 1:30 p.m., in the 

City of Apopka Council Chambers. 
 

PRESENT:   Mayor Bryan Nelson 

Commissioner Doug Bankson 

Commissioner Kyle Becker  

Commissioner Alice Nolan 

Commissioner Alexander Smith 

City Attorney Cliff Shepard 

City Administrator Edward Bass 

 

PRESS PRESENT:  Teresa Sargeant - The Apopka Chief 

    Reggie Connell, The Apopka Voice 

 

INVOCATION: - Mayor Nelson introduced Father Stephen, St. Francis of Assisi Catholic 

Church of Apopka, who gave the invocation. 

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: Mayor Nelson called on Cellina Danvers, Intern Mayor’s 

Office, who led the Pledge of Allegiance. “You are about to embark on the greatest crusade 

today toward which we have striven these many months. The eyes of the world are upon you”. 

General Dwight Eisenhower. She said this statement was given to the troops the night before 

one of the largest amphibious military results in history. On this day, June 6, 1944, the D-day 

invasion of Europe, also known as Operation Overlord took place on the beaches of Normandy, 

France. 400,000 Allied American, British and Canadian troops successfully deceived German 

forces liberating the city of Paris and removing the Germans from northwestern France. This 

was a turning point that eventually lead to the surrender of Nazi, Germany. What a great day in 

American History.  

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
1. City Council special meeting April 11, 2018. 

2. City Council regular meeting May 16, 2018. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Nolan and seconded by Commissioner Becker to approve 

the minutes of April 11, 2018, and May 18, 2018.  Motion carried unanimously with 

Mayor Nelson, and Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Nolan and Smith voting aye.  

 

AGENDA REVIEW – City Administrator Bass advised staff requests pulling Item 6 from the 

Consent Agenda.  

 

PUBLIC COMMENT; STAFF RECOGNITION AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

 

Public Comment: 

Gene Knight said he had not seen any follow-up from a request made last year regarding the 

intersection of Monroe and Christiana, stating this was a very busy area that people use as a 

3



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on June 6, 2018 at 1:30 p.m.  

Page 2 

bypass through Apopka. He had previously inquired about a 3-way stop in this area and inquired 

as to the status.  

 

Jay Davoll, Public Services Director, said they can check into this. In response to Commissioner 

Bankson inquiring if this was subject to any type of a traffic standard, he advised that typically 

when installing stop signs at intersections there would be engineering backing to verify it meets 

the 3-way standard.  

 

Larry Meredith, said he lives on Evelyn Drive and said he felt it would be advisable to do an 

annexation of his neighborhood stating there had previously been positive response to this. He 

said if a notification is sent out, he recommended a notice be included that they will not be 

hooked up to Apopka water which is one of the first complaints and that they can remain on well 

and septic. He said the second item was not his idea, but he feels it to be incredibly important, 

stating the VFW lost their Commander, Artie Vecchio. He stated it has been suggested to rename 

the Apopka Community Center after Commander Vecchio.  

 

Employee Recognition: 

 Ten Year Service Award – Kenneth Krouse – Public Services/Water Plants. The 

Commissioners joined Mayor Nelson in congratulating Kenneth for his years of service. 

 Thirty Year Service Award – Kevin Kwader – Fire Department/EMS. The 

Commissioners joined Mayor Nelson in congratulating Kevin for his years of service.  

 

Presentations:  

1. Sunshine Law Review by City Attorney Shepard.  

City Attorney Shepard provided a brief overview of Sunshine Law advised the elected 

officials are required every year to have four hours of ethical training for municipal officials. 

He advised Sunshine Law is covered by F.S. § 286.011, but it is also engrained into the 

Constitution which elected officials take an oath to follow. All meetings of any collegial 

public body of the executive branch of state government and any collegial public body of a 

county, municipality, school district, or special district, at which official acts are to be taken, 

or at which public business of such body is to be transacted or discussed shall be open and 

noticed to the public, and minutes are required. He pointed out that emails, phone calls, voice 

mail, notes passed back and forth on the dais, or any communication between more than one 

of the council, commission, board, or committee, is considered public business. He cautioned 

of not giving the appearance of a violation of Sunshine Law and how this could easily occur 

during social events. He advised there are certain exceptions such as pending litigation, labor 

negotiations, and security system meetings. 

 

Mayor Nelson mentioned HOA meetings where more than one Council member was invited. 

He pointed out that the HOA notice does not qualify as notice for the City.  

 

Mr. Shepard responded in the affirmative, stating the City would need to notice and take 

minutes. He further stated that the meeting would not be allowed to be held in a gated 

community, as that would not be accessible to the public.  

 

4



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on June 6, 2018 at 1:30 p.m.  

Page 3 

2. Presentation on the final report from Woodard & Curan on the Management Assessment of 

the Apopka Water Metering & Billing Systems. 

Kevin Burgess, Assistant Public Service Director, gave an overview on the final report of the 

Apopka Water Metering and Billing System.  He spoke of audits being conducted and 

advised that in 2016 there was 26% of unaccounted water usage, where in 2007 there was 

only 2-4%. He spoke of the AMI technology for meter reading and reviewed the existing 

advanced metering infrastructure. He spoke of the life of the meter being approximately 10 

years and they are looking at a program for changing the meters. A copy of his presentation 

is included in the agenda packet and on file in the City Clerk’s office.  

 

CONSENT 
1. Authorize the sale of Alcohol at the 4th of July City Event. 

2. Approve the appointment of a new Planning Commission member.   

3. Approve the appointment of a new Fire Department Pension member. 

4. Authorize a private street agreement for traffic control with the Townhomes at Wekiva Park. 

5. Authorize the disposal of Jet A fuel as surplus property. 

6. Award a contract for the construction of a Reclaim Water System Extension on Golden Gem 

Road.  Item withdrawn. 

7. Approve the extension of the Piggybacking Agreement for Disaster Recovery and Debris 

Removal Services with CrowderGulf. 

8. Accept and update signatories with Florida Community Bank.  

  

 MOTION by Commissioner Bankson and seconded by Commissioner Smith to approve 

seven items on the Consent Agenda. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson 

and Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Nolan, and Smith voting aye.  

 

BUSINESS 

1. Designate an official voting delegate for the Florida League of Cities. 

Commissioner Nolan indicated an interest in serving in this capacity. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Becker, and seconded by Commissioner Bankson to 

designate Commissioner Nolan as the voting delegate for the Florida League of Cities. 

Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and Commissioners Bankson, Becker, 

Nolan, and Smith voting aye. 

 

2. Approve the issuance of a blanket purchase order for the purchase of utility commodities. 

Mr. Burgess explained this was a blanket purchase order for the purpose of purchasing utility 

commodities for the remainder of FY 2017/18.  

 

MOTION by Commissioner Nolan, and seconded by Commissioner Smith to approve a 

blanket purchase order in the amount of $300,000 for the purchase of utility 

commodities. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and Commissioners 

Bankson, Becker, Nolan, and Smith voting aye. 

 

3. Approve a budget amendment for the Public Services Water Maintenance Division. 

5



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on June 6, 2018 at 1:30 p.m.  

Page 4 

Mr. Burgess advised this was a budget amendment in the amount of $455,210 for the 

replacement of water meters to correct the excessive unaccounted for/non-revenue water loss 

percentage. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Bankson, and seconded by Commissioner Smith to 

approve the budget amendment as requested. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor 

Nelson, and Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Nolan, and Smith voting aye. 

 

4. Award a contract for a Capital Improvement Revenue Note  

Edward Bass, City Administrator, said this was the Capital Improvement Revenue Note for 

the equipment approved in the FY 2017/18 budget. This equipment includes a fire truck, 

ambulance, 18 police vehicles, golf cart for Recreation, and the replacement of the Tower 

Truck which was not in the budget, but the next item authorizes the replacement.  

 

MOTION by Commissioner Nolan, and seconded by Commissioner Becker to award a 

contract for a Capital Improvement Revenue Note with Zions Bank in an aggregate 

principal amount not to exceed $2,817,000. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor 

Nelson, and Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Nolan, and Smith voting aye. 

 

5. Authorize the replacement of the Fire Department Tower Truck. 

Chief Carnesale gave the history behind the Fire Department Tower Truck being in disrepair 

and how there was a catastrophic failure when testing repairs that were done. Given the age 

of the truck and the damage, the insurance company deemed it a complete loss. He advised 

this is an ISO requirement. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Smith, and seconded by Commissioner to authorize the 

replacement of the Fire Department Tower Truck. Motion carried unanimously with 

Mayor Nelson, and Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Nolan, and Smith voting aye. 

 

6. Authorize the construction of a life support ambulance for the Fire Department. 

Chief Carnesale reported that while responding to a 911 call on January 14, 2018, ambulance 

4 was involved in a motor vehicle accident. The vehicle was considered a total loss by the 

City’s insurance adjuster, valuing the loss at $129,000. The cost to purchase a new Life 

Support Ambulance is $175,695 resulting in a balance of $46,695 to be paid from the 

General Fund Reserves. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Bankson, and seconded by Commissioner Nolan to 

authorize the construction of a life support ambulance, as presented. Motion carried 

unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Nolan, and 

Smith voting aye.  

 

7. Final Development Plan – Carter Electric - Project:  Carter Land Development, LLC 

Location: Southwest corner of Marshall Lake Road and Bradshaw Road. 

 

6



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on June 6, 2018 at 1:30 p.m.  

Page 5 

Jean Sanchez, Planner, provided an overview of the Final Development Plan for the Carter 

Electric Project. She reviewed the location on a map and reviewed the surrounding land-use. 

The DRC and Planning Commission both recommend approval. 

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to public comment. No one wishing to speak, he closed 

the public comment.  

 

MOTION by Commissioner Nolan, and seconded by Commissioner Bankson to 

approve the Final Development Plan for Carter Electric. Motion carried unanimously 

with Mayor Nelson, and Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Nolan, and Smith voting aye. 

 

8. Final Development Plan – Church's  - Project:  CHC-845 S Orange Blossom Trail Apopka 

FL LLC – Location: 845 South Orange Blossom Trail 

 

Ms. Sanchez reviewed the location of the Church’s Chicken project on an aerial map. She 

advised part of the parking will utilize the Land Shopping Center. DRC and the Planning 

Commission recommend approval. 

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to public comment. No one wishing to speak, he closed 

the public comment.  

 

MOTION by Commissioner Bankson, and seconded by Commissioner Nolan, to 

approve the Final Development Plan for Church’s Chicken. Motion carried 

unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Nolan, and 

Smith voting aye. 

 

9. PUD Master Plan - Final Development Plan – RaceTrac - Project: Zellwood Properties, LLC 

– Location: Northwest corner of Hermit Smith Road and US 441 

 

Bobby Howell, Senior Planner, said this was the Final Development Plan for the RaceTrac 

gas station located at the northeast intersection of Hermit Smith Road and US 441. The 

property is approximately 2.5 acres in size. He reviewed the surrounding zoning and the area 

on an aerial map. DRC and Planning Commission recommend approval.  

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to public comment. No one wishing to speak, he closed 

the public comment.  

 

MOTION by Commissioner Nolan, and seconded by Commissioner Smith to approve 

the RaceTrac PUD Master Plan & Final Development Plan and Plat as presented. 

Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and Commissioners Bankson, Becker, 

Nolan, and Smith voting aye. 

 

PUBLIC HEARINGS/ORDINANCES/RESOLUTION (Action Item) 
 

7



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on June 6, 2018 at 1:30 p.m.  

Page 6 

1. Ordinance No. 2646 – Second Reading - Comp Plan Amendment – Small Scale - 

Project:  Lynn R. Fontaine – Location: 4353 McDonald Gley Road. The City Clerk read the 

title as follows: 
 

ORDINANCE 2646 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING 

THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT OF THE APOPKA 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THE CITY OF APOPKA; CHANGING 

THE FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION FROM “COUNTY” RURAL 

TO “CITY” RESIDENTIAL LOW SUBURBAN FOR CERTAIN REAL 

PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED NORTH OF CHANDLER 

ESTATES DRIVE AND EAST OF WEST ORANGE BLOSSOM TRAIL, 

COMPRISING 5.2 ACRES, MORE OR LESS AND OWNED BY LYNN R. 

FONTAINE; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR 

AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  

Mr. Martinez advised there have been no changes since the first reading.  

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak he closed the 

public hearing. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Bankson, and seconded by Commissioner Smith, to adopt 

Ordinance No. 2646. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and 

Commissioner Bankson, Becker, Nolan, and Smith voting aye.  

 

2. Ordinance No. 2647 – Second Reading – Change of Zoning - Project:  Lynn R. Fontaine – 

Location: 4353 McDonald Gley Road. The City Clerk read the title as follows: 
 

ORDINANCE 2647 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, CHANGING 
THE ZONING FROM “COUNTY” A-1 AGRICULTURE TO “CITY” 
RESIDENTIAL COUNTRY ESTATES FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY 
GENERALLY LOCATED NORTH OF CHANDLER ESTATES DRIVE 
AND EAST OF WEST ORANGE BLOSSOM TRAIL, COMPRISING 5.2 
ACRES MORE OR LESS, AND OWNED BY LYNN R. FONTAINE; 
PROVIDING FOR DIRECTIONS TO THE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR, SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

Mr. Martinez advised there have been no changes since the first reading.  

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak he closed the 

public hearing. 

 

8



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on June 6, 2018 at 1:30 p.m.  

Page 7 

MOTION by Commissioner Becker, and seconded by Commissioner Nolan, to adopt 

Ordinance No. 2647. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and 

Commissioner Bankson, Becker, Nolan, and Smith voting aye.  

 

3. Ordinance No. 2648 – Second Reading - Comp Plan Amendment – Small Scale - Project: 

Janine and Richard Edmondson – Location: 3904 Plymouth Sorrento Road. The City Clerk 

read the title as follows: 
ORDINANCE 2648 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING 

THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT OF THE APOPKA 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THE CITY OF APOPKA; CHANGING 

THE FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION FROM “COUNTY” RURAL 

TO “CITY” RESIDENTIAL VERY LOW SUBURBAN FOR CERTAIN 

REAL PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED EAST OF PLYMOUTH 

SORRENTO ROAD AND SOUTH OF WEST KELLY PARK ROAD, 

COMPRISING 1.0 ACRES, MORE OR LESS AND OWNED BY JANINE 

AND RICHARD EDMONDSON; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; 

AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  

Mr. Martinez advised there have been no changes since the first reading. . 

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak he closed the 

public hearing. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Nolan, and seconded by Commissioner Smith to adopt 

Ordinance No. 2648. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and 

Commissioner Bankson, Becker, Nolan, and Smith voting aye.  

 

4. Ordinance No. 2649 – Second Reading - Change of Zoning - Project: Project: Janine and 

Richard Edmondson – Location: 3904 Plymouth Sorrento Road. The City Clerk read the title 

as follows: 

 
ORDINANCE 2649 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, CHANGING 
THE ZONING FROM “COUNTY” A-2 AGRICULTURE TO “CITY” R-
1AA FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED WEST 
OF PLYMOUTH SORRENTO ROAD AND SOUTH OF WEST KELLY 
PARK ROAD, COMPRISING 1.0 ACRES MORE OR LESS, AND OWNED 
BY JANINE AND RICHARD EDMONDSON; PROVIDING FOR 
DIRECTIONS TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR, 
SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

Mr. Martinez advised there have been no changes since the first reading.  

 

9



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on June 6, 2018 at 1:30 p.m.  

Page 8 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak he closed the 

public hearing. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Bankson, and seconded by Commissioner Nolan, to adopt 

Ordinance No 2649. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and 

Commissioner Bankson, Becker, Nolan, and Smith voting aye.  

 

5. Ordinance No. 2650 – Second Reading – Comp Plan Amendment – Small Scale - Project: 

SunTrust Bank – Location: 920 East Semoran Boulevard. The City Clerk read the title as 

follows: 
 

ORDINANCE 2650 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING 

THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT OF THE APOPKA 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THE CITY OF APOPKA; CHANGING 

THE FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION FROM “COUNTY” 

COMMERCIAL TO “CITY” COMMERCIAL FOR CERTAIN REAL 

PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED EAST OF SOUTH SHEELER 

ROAD AND SOUTH OF EAST SEMORAN BOULEVARD, COMPRISING 

0.37 ACRES, MORE OR LESS AND OWNED BY SUNTRUST BANK; 

PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE.  

Mr. Martinez advised there have been no changes since the first reading.  

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak he closed the 

public hearing. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Nolan, and seconded by Commissioner Smith, to adopt 

Ordinance No. 2650. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and 

Commissioner Bankson, Becker, Nolan, and Smith voting aye.  

 

 6. Ordinance No. 2651 – Second Reading – Change of Zoning - Project: SunTrust Bank – 

Location: 920 East Semoran Boulevard. The City Clerk read the title as follows: 
 

ORDINANCE 2651 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, CHANGING 

THE ZONING FROM “COUNTY” R-2 TO “CITY” C-1 FOR CERTAIN 

REAL PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED EAST OF SOUTH 

SHEELER ROAD AND SOUTH OF EAST SEMORAN BOULEVARD, 

COMPRISING 0.37 ACRES, MORE OR LESS AND OWNED BY 

10



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on June 6, 2018 at 1:30 p.m.  

Page 9 

SUNTRUST BANK; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND 

PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  

Mr. Martinez advised there have been no changes since the first reading.  

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak he closed the 

public hearing. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Becker and seconded by Commissioner Smith, to adopt 

Ordinance No. 2651. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and 

Commissioner Bankson, Becker, Nolan, and Smith voting aye.  

 

 7. Ordinance No. 2653 – Second Reading – Change of Zoning - Project: Laura R. Murphy – 

Location: 359 W. Lester Road. The City Clerk read the title as follows: 

 
ORDINANCE 2653 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, CHANGING 
THE ZONING FROM AGRICULTURE TO R-1 SINGLE FAMILY 
RESIDENTIAL FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY GENERALLY 
LOCATED NORTH OF WEST LESTER ROAD AND EAST OF VICK 
ROAD, COMPRISING 19.94 ACRES MORE OR LESS, AND OWNED BY 
LAURA R. MURPHY; PROVIDING FOR DIRECTIONS TO THE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR, SEVERABILITY, 
CONFLICTS, AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

Mr. Martinez advised there have been no changes since the first reading.  

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak he closed the 

public hearing. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Nolan, and seconded by Commissioner Becker, to adopt 

Ordinance No. 2653. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and 

Commissioner Bankson, Becker, Nolan, and Smith voting aye.  

 

8. Ordinance No. 2656 – First Reading - Change of Zoning & Master Plan - Project:  

AHIFO-18, LLC (Bridle Path Subdivision) – Location:  West of Plymouth-Sorrento 

Road; east of SR 429 approximately½ mile north of the intersection of Kelly Park Road 

and Plymouth-Sorrento Road. The City Clerk read the title as follows: 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2656 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, CHANGING 

THE ZONING FROM “COUNTY” PLANNED DEVELOPMENT (PD/ZIP) 

TO “CITY” KELLY PARK INTERCHANGE MIXED-USE (KPI-MU), AND 

ASSIGNING A KELLY PARK CROSSING NEIGHBORHOOD OVERLAY 

DISTRICT,   FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED 

WEST OF PLYMOUTH-SORRENTO ROAD AND EAST OF SR 429, 

11



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on June 6, 2018 at 1:30 p.m.  

Page 10 

APPROXIMATEY ONE-HALF MILE NORTH OF THE INTERSECTION 

OF KELLY PARK ROAD AND PLYMOUTH-SORRENTO ROAD, 

COMPRISING 51 ACRES MORE OR LESS, AND OWNED BY AHIFO-18, 

LLC; PROVIDING FOR DIRECTIONS TO THE COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR, SEVERABILITY,CONFLICTS,AND AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE. 

Bobby Howell, Senior Planner, provided a brief lead-in on this project stating the owner is 

requesting the rezoning of 51 acres of property from “County” Planned Development, to 

“City” Kelly Park Interchange Mixed-use with a neighborhood character zone to develop a 

single-family residential subdivision subject to the requirements of the Kelly Park 

Interchange Form Based Code. This property is comprised of two parcels east of SR 429 and 

west of Plymouth Sorrento Road, and approximately one half mile north of Kelly Park Road. 

He reviewed the zoning of the surrounding properties and the character of the surrounding by 

aerial map. The property is located within the one mile radius from the SR 429 Kelly Park 

Road Interchange and subject to the Form Based Standards contained within the Form Based 

Code. He advised the Form Based Regulations use physical form rather than separation of 

land-uses as they are organizing principal of a community. The Master Plan proposes 152 

single-family homes on a 50 x 110 foot wide lots with a minimum living area of 1,600 square 

feet. Four foot wide walking paths will be provided around the perimeter of the stormwater 

ponds. A ten foot wide trail will be developed within the development and connections to the 

properties to the north and south will be provided to facilitate development of a regional trail 

system within the Form Based Code area. He affirmed there were seven conditions of 

approval detailed in the ordinance and the applicant has agreed to all, and will be revising the 

living area from 1,500 to 1,600 square feet. DRC and Planning Commission recommend 

approval.  

 

Jim Hall, said he was present for any questions and staff put on the record the increase to 

1,600 square feet living space. He stated the respectfully request approval.  

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak, he closed 

the public hearing.  

 

Commissioner Bankson said this falls into need for the area, but moving forward, Council 

needs to make sure not everything becomes the small living space.  

 

Commissioner Becker said the Land Development Code re-write will be instrumental in 

protecting interest in this regard. He stated with this community, staff alluded to the fact that 

there is no minimum or maximum in the Form Based Code, however, he was still on the 

fence regarding lots of this width. He said this area does seem to be the most logical spot 

with the interchange and easy access.  

 

Mayor Nelson said looking forward with the constitutional amendment coming up and 

additional homestead exemptions, it will squeeze out budgets and the lower the value of the 

home, the less the city will have to spend on infrastructure and other projects.  

 

12



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on June 6, 2018 at 1:30 p.m.  

Page 11 

MOTION by Commissioner Nolan, and seconded by Commissioner Bankson, to 

approve Ordinance No. 2656 at first reading and carry it over for a second reading. 

Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and Commissioner Bankson, Becker, 

Nolan, and Smith voting aye.  

 

9. Ordinance No. 2658 – First Reading - Comp Plan - Project: Eagles Landing at Ocoee, 

LLC – Location:  South of Peterson Road, west of SR 429. The City Clerk read the title as 

follows: 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2658 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING 

THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT OF THE APOPKA 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THE CITY OF APOPKA; CHANGING 

THE FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION FROM MIXED USE AND 

AGRICULTURE TO INDUSTRIAL FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY 

GENERALLY LOCATED SOUTH OF PETERSON ROAD AND WEST OF 

STATE ROAD 429, OWNED BY EAGLES LANDING AT OCOEE, LLC; 

COMPRISING 37.4 ACRES, MORE OR LESS, PROVIDING FOR 

SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDEING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

Phil Martinez, Planner, reviewed the Large Scale Future Land Use Amendment from mixed-

use and agriculture to industrial for 37.4 acres. He reviewed the surrounding land-use. The 

property is currently undeveloped and the intent is to accommodate a proposed industrial 

park not only at these parcels, but also to the east and northeast. Planning Commissioner 

recommended approval and authorize transmittal to the state agencies.  

 

Bryan Gaines, representing the applicant, said the triangular parcel is in the southwest 

quadrant of an overall larger development which will be approximately 127 acre industrial 

facility and they are currently looking at five buildings, the largest around one million square 

feet and the smaller around three hundred thousand square feet. He advised the triangular 

parcel is 37.4 acres and most of this will be stormwater retention for the overall development 

to the northeast. This will be industrial warehouse typical for the area such as distribution.  

 

Discussion was held regarding ingress and egress. 

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing.  

 

Derrick Ryan said he lives on Peterson Road and he did hear there would be some planning 

of what Peterson Road will look like as it relates to this. He wanted to be on record to stay in 

touch as a resident of this area and inquired as to community meetings.  

 

Mr. Gaines said they were currently working on a development plan and they will have a 

submittal on the 19
th

 for a PUD amendment with more details regarding Peterson Road.  

 

13



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on June 6, 2018 at 1:30 p.m.  

Page 12 

No one else wishing to speak, Mayor Nelson closed the public hearing.  

 

MOTION by Commissioner Bankson, and seconded by Commissioner Smith, to 

approve Ordinance No. 2658 at first reading and authorize transmittal to state agencies. 

Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and Commissioner Bankson, Becker, 

Nolan, and Smith voting aye.  

 

10. Resolution No. 2018-08 – Vacate – Stanton Ridge - Project:  Central Florida 

Expressway Authority – Location: West side of SR 429, west of the intersection of 

Belgian Street and Plymouth Sorrento Road. The City Clerk read the title as follows: 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2018-08 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, TO VACATE 

THE PLAT OF STANTON RIDGE, PLAT BOOK 68, PAGES 18 

THROUGH 22; PROVIDING FOR DIRECTIONS TO THE COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR, SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE. 

Mr. Howell advised the Central Florida Expressway Authority (CSX) submitted an 

application to vacate the plat of Stanton Ridge. This is a subdivision that was platted in 2007 

with 65 lots.  SR 429 goes through the center of the subdivision and the lot lines are still on 

record with the Property Appraiser. The property was acquired by CSX for the construction 

of SR 429 and approximately one-third of the eastern side of the subdivision was used for 

right-of-way. He advised city staff has followed the process for the vacation of a plat outlined 

in FS 177.101 that requires City Council to adopt a resolution to vacate a plat and return the 

recovered property to acreage. The applicant has submitted a new plan and plat for 

consideration and approval that is currently under review that will detail the new 

configuration following construction of SR 429. The remaining portions of the property will 

be marketed to a homebuilder. The new plat will be recorded in the county records. DRC and 

staff recommend approval.  

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak, he closed 

the public hearing.  

 

MOTION by Commissioner Bankson, and seconded by Commissioner Nolan, to 

approve Resolution No. 2018-08. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and 

Commissioner Bankson, Becker, Nolan, and Smith voting aye.  

 

CITY COUNCIL REPORTS 

Commissioner Bankson said he had received an email regarding help from Deborah Cunningham 

for issues with her roof. He inquired if there had been any resolution. 

 

Mayor Nelson said they are going to be putting out a document regarding what Buildings 

responsibilities are, and they will be looking into her particular issue. He advised he will be 

meeting with her to go over her specific issue.  

14



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on June 6, 2018 at 1:30 p.m.  

Page 13 

 

Commissioner Bankson spoke of the FBO the city owns and spoke of water damage they would 

like to receive some help with. He said he would like to meet with staff on this matter.  

 

Commissioner Smith said at the last meeting it was the consensus of Council to rename a road 

after Commissioner Arrowsmith and Commissioner Dean. He stated Commissioner Arrowsmith 

would like to have First Street named after him and Central for Commissioner Dean.  

 

MAYOR’S REPORT 

1. Appointment of Finance Director. 

Mayor Nelson said Council has in their packet information on Jamie Roberson, CGFO, and 

she has been presented a contract to come on as the Chief Financial Officer. He provided 

background on Ms. Roberson stating she was currently the Chief Financial Officer for the 

Osceola County Property Appraiser.  

 

MOTION by Commissioner Smith, and seconded by Commissioner Nolan to ratify the 

appointment of Jamie Roberson as Finance Director. Motion carried unanimously with 

Mayor Nelson, and Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Nolan, and Smith voting aye.  

 

2. Mayor Nelson announced there would not be a meeting on July 4, 2018, but there will be a 

Budget Workshop held on July 5, 2018, at 1:30 p.m.  He advised they would take input on 

the Budget as they move forward.  

 

3. Community Center acknowledgement and dedication discussion. 

 

Mayor Nelson read a letter into the record from John Ricketson, President of the John Land 

Trust that stated at a recent meeting of the Board of Directors of the John Land Trust, Inc. 

they paused and reflected on the life and passing of Ortenzio “Artie” Vecchio. The John 

Land Community Trust requested the City Commission consider renaming the Apopka 

VFW/Community Center to include Artie Vecchio.  

 

ADJOURNMENT – There being no further business the meeting adjourned at 3:52 p.m.  

 

 

 

       _______________________________ 

       Bryan Nelson, Mayor 

ATTEST; 

 

 

____________________________ 

Linda F. Goff, City Clerk 

 

15



 

 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENDA  MEETING OF:  June 20, 2018 

 PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Final Development Plan 

X OTHER: Discussion   Architectural Elevation 

   City Center Concept Plan 

   City Center Color Site Plan 
  
SUBJECT:    APOPKA CITY CENTER CONCEPT PLAN, HILTON GARDEN INN 

FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

    

REQUEST:  DISCUSS APOPKA CITY CENTER CONCEPT PLAN, HILTON GARDEN 

INN FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN  
  
SUMMARY: A Final Development Plan has been submitted for the Apopka City Center Hilton Garden  

Inn hotel. The proposed hotel is located within the Apopka City Center development, specifically on the 

northeast corner of McGee Avenue and East 6th Street. The property is subject to a Development Agreement 

which allows staff level approval of Final Development Plans. Therefore, this item is being presented to the 

City Council for discussion purposes only. The procedures for review of proposed development within the 

City Center are established within a development agreement between the City of Apopka and Taurus 

Southern.  Accordingly, the development agreement authorizes the Development Review Committee to 

approve a Final Development Plan (FDP) within the City Center if it is found consistent with the City Center 

development and zoning standards and the City’s Land Development Code.  City Council has already 

approved the Master Plan and Preliminary Development Plan for the City Center through the executed 

Development Agreement. 

 

FUNDING SOURCE:  N/A    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: Discuss development of the Apopka City Center Hilton Garden Inn 

hotel.  
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

16



17



18



WATER

WATER

WATER

WATER

COVERED

WALK

RETAIN
ING WALL

COVERED

DRIVE

THRU

LIGHT ON

CONCRETE

POST (TYP)

W

A

T

E

R

S

 

E

D

G

E

WATER

WATER

12"

42"

18"

60"

18"

14"

48"

60"

24"

24"

46"

24"

34"

12" MYRTLE

12" MYRTLE

12" MYRTLE

12" CAMPHOR

12"

10" HOLLY TREE

8" HOLLY TREE

8" HOLLY TREE

28"

26"

12"

12"

6" TRIPLE TRUNK LEGUSTRUM

9"HOLLY TREE

11" CHINABERRY TREE

30" DBL TRUNK CAMPHOR

12" CHINABERRY TREE

10"

12"

14"

14"

26" CAMPHOR

SIGNAL

FUTURE

HOTEL

118 ROOMS

U
P

P
O

R
T

E

C
O

C
H

E
R

E

R

E

F

U

S

E

D

U

M

P

S

T

E

R

R

E

F

U

S

E

D

U

M

P

S

T

E

R

GENERATOR

NO PARKING

FIRE RISER

U
P

E

          TENANT 2

           6,600 SF

        DELI

    3,455 SF

        TENANT 1

4,400 SF

SIGNAL

FUTURE

      TENANT 3

 7,162 SF

R
E

T
A

I
L

 
1

2
,
2

0
0

 
S

F

R

E

F

U

S

E

D

U

M

P

S

T

E

R

R

E

F

U

S

E

D

U

M

P

S

T

E

R

GENERATOR

NO PARKING

HOTEL

118 ROOMS

COFFEE
2,500 SF

600SF PATIO

R
E

V
I
S

I
O

N
S

D
A

T
E

N
O

.

SHEET

D
E

S
I
G

N
E

R
:

P
R

J
.
 
M

G
R

:

J
O

B
 
#
:

C
H

E
C

K
E

D
:

E
N

G
I
N

E
E

R
 

E
N

G
I
N

E
E

R
:

R
E

C
O

R
D

 
D

R
A

W
I
N

G

T
H

I
S

 
R

E
C

O
R

D
 
D

R
A

W
I
N

G
 
I
S

 
B

A
S

E
D

 
O

N
 
T

H
E

 
R

E
S

U
L

T
S

 
O

F
 
L

I
M

I
T

E
D

P
E

R
I
O

D
I
C

 
F

I
E

L
D

 
O

B
S

E
R

V
A

T
I
O

N
S

 
D

U
R

I
N

G
 
C

O
N

S
T

R
U

C
T

I
O

N
,
 
A

R
E

V
I
E

W
 
O

F
 
C

O
N

T
R

A
C

T
O

R
 
F

U
R

N
I
S

H
E

D
 
R

E
D

L
I
N

E
D

 
P

L
A

N
S

I
N

D
I
C

A
T

I
N

G
 
C

H
A

N
G

E
S

 
I
N

C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
D

 
D

U
R

I
N

G
 
C

O
N

S
T

R
U

C
T

I
O

N
,

A
N

D
 
W

I
T

N
E

S
S

E
D

 
U

T
I
L

I
T

Y
 
T

E
S

T
I
N

G
 
O

F
 
D

R
I
N

K
I
N

G
 
W

A
T

E
R

 
A

N
D

W
A

S
T

E
W

A
T

E
R

 
S

Y
S

T
E

M
S

.
 
 
A

L
T

H
O

U
G

H
 
T

H
E

 
A

C
C

U
R

A
C

Y
 
C

A
N

 
N

O
T

B
E

 
G

U
A

R
A

N
T

E
E

D
,
 
T

H
E

 
E

N
G

I
N

E
E

R
 
B

E
L

I
E

V
E

S
 
T

H
I
S

 
R

E
C

O
R

D

D
R

A
W

I
N

G
 
I
S

 
C

O
R

R
E

C
T

 
T

O
 
T

H
E

 
B

E
S

T
 
O

F
 
H

I
S

/
H

E
R

 
K

N
O

W
L

E
D

G
E

.

F
L
 
L
I
C

.
 
#
 

J
A

S
O

N
 
P

.
 
M

A
H

O
N

E
Y

,
 
P

.
E

.

F
L

.
 
L

I
C

.
 
#

6
5

1
8

3

O
V

E
R

A
L
L

C
O

N
C

E
P

T
 
1
6

CP16

F
A

P

B
D

M

J
P

M

1
4
0
8
9
.
2
0

A
P

O
P

K
A

 
C

I
T

Y
 
C

E
N

T
E

R

S
R

 
4

3
6

/
4

4
1

A
P

O
P

K
A

,
 
F

L
 
3

2
7

0
3

T
A

U
R

U
S

 
I
N

V
E

S
T

M
E

N
T

S

E. 6TH ST

M
C

G
E

E
 
A

V
E

SR 436

PARKING COUNT

SIZE NUMBER OF SPACES RATIO

HOTEL 110 ROOMS 120 -

TENANT 1 4400 SF 46
10.4/1,000

TENANT 2 6600 SF 66
10.0/1,000

DELI
3455 SF 35

10.0/1,000

TENANT 3 7162 SF 72 10.0/1000

COFFEE 2538 SF 26
10.2/1,000

RETAIL 1 2200 SF 11
5.0/1,000

TOTAL PROVIDED = 376

N
O

R
T

H

100500

SCALE: 1" = 50'

19



NORTH-WEST CORNER PERSPECTIVE

20



SOUTH-WEST CORNER PERSPECTIVE

21



SOUTH-EAST CORNER PERSPECTIVE

22



NORTH-EAST CORNER PERSPECTIVE

23



24



DOC#

20160402657troller08/04/ 201611: 37: 14AM Page 1 of28Martha0.Haynie, Comp
Rec Fee:$ 239.50OrangeCountyFL

F APOPKA - SUSAN M Deed Doc Tax:$ 0.00MB-Ret To: ITY 0

DOR Admin Fee:$ 0.00mate15
IntangibleTax:$ 8. 00
Mortgage Stamp:$ 0. 00

DEVELOPMENT AGREBMENT

THIS DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT ( the "DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT") is made this

day of Tul , 2016, by and between the CITYOF APOPKA, FLORIDA, a

Floridamunicipalcorp ation (the "CITY") and TAURUS APOPKA CITY CENTER, LLC, a Florida

limitedliabilitycompany ( the "DEVELOPER"), joined by the CITY OF APOPKA COMMUNITY

REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY ( the "AGENCY") forpurposes of memorializingitsagreement and

consenthereto.

W ITN E SS ETH:

WHEREAS, CITY isthe owner of approximately34 acres of land located near the

intersectionof State Road 436 and U. S. Highway 441 as more particularlydescribedon the

attachedExhibit"A"( the"PROPERTY"); and

WHEREAS, adjacentto the PROPERTY, CITY isthe owner of the Downtown Regional

Stormwater StorageFacility(the"POND") containing14. 71and 0. 329acres,which POND ismore

particularlydescribedon the attachedExhibit"B"; and

WHEREAS, the PROPERTY and POND are located within the CITY' s Downtown

Development OverlayZoning District(the "OVERLAY DISTRICT") which containsoverlaydesign

standards,permittedusesand prohibiteduses,and heightlimitationsamong itsprovisions;and

WHEREAS, the CITYdesiresto integratethe PROPERTY, and POND, and potentiallyother

propertiesintoa common development sitefora CityCenteras describedinthe map attached

heretoand incorporatedas Exhibit"C"( the"CITYCENTER PROJECT"), and allowthe DEVELOPER

to develop the PROPERTY inaccordancewith thisDevelopment Agreement and the Master Plan

ashereinafterdefined);and

WHEREAS, pursuantto Fla.Stat.&163. 380theCITY issuedand advertiseda Request for

Proposals(the"RFP) forthe CITYCENTER PROJECT for(i)a developerto design,permit,and plan

the portionof the CITY CENTER PROJECT locatedon the PROPERTY,( ii)a developerto develop,

construct,own and operatethe PROPERTY and alldevelopment and improvements tobe located

thereon,( iii)the CITY to grant,bargainand convey the PROPERTY to a developer,and ( iv)the

CITYtodevelop and solelyfund certainpublicassembly featuresand open space constructedon

the POND, with planningand constructionmanagement assistancefrom the developer;and

WHEREAS, the DEVELOPER submitted to the CITY the only response to the RFP ( the

PROPOSAL"); and

WHEREAS, the DEVELOPER, as Buyer, and the CITY,asSeller,have executedthatcertain

1

25



Agreement forSaleand Purchase of the PROPERTY dated February3, 2016, as amended ( the

S&P Agreement"), which anticipatesthe executionof a development agreement, inorderto,

among otherthings,setforththe design,phases, terms and conditionsforthe development of

the PROPERTY; and

WHEREAS, itisthe intentionof the partiesthat thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT guide

the development ofthe PROPERTY as a mixed- useprojectwhich incorporatesthe POND as a ( i)

non- exclusivestormwater pond to servethe PROPERTY, while stillservingother propertiesin

the OVERLAY DISTRICT as setforthpreviouslyby CITY, and ( ii)a publicassembly recreational

space located on the POND, subjectto the terms and conditionsof this DEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT and the Master Plan referencedherein below ( collectivelythe " CITY CENTER

PROJECT"); and

WHEREAS, the CITYconfirmsthatthisDevelopment Agreement isconsistentwith and an

exerciseofthe City' spowers under the MunicipalHome RulePowers Act;ArticleVill,Section2(b)

of the Constitutionof the Stateof Florida;Chapter 166, FloridaStatutes;allCITY Rules;other

controllinglaw; and the City' spolicepowers, and isa non- statutoryDevelopment Agreement

which isnot subjectto or enacted pursuantto the provisionsof Sections163. 3220- 163. 3243,

FloridaStatutes;and

WHEREAS, the CITY and the DEVELOPER desire to enter into this DEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT to memorialize certain promises, agreements, covenants and expectations

pertainingto the development ofthe PROPERTY, and othermattersas providedforhereinand

the AGENCY desiresto jointhisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT to memorializeitsagreement and

consenthereto.

NOW THEREFORE, forand inconsiderationof the above premises, the promises and

provisionscontained herein,and forother good and valuableconsideration,the receiptand

sufficiencyofwhich arehereby acknowledged, the DEVELOPER and the CITYagree asfollows:

1. Recitals.The above Recitalsaretrueand correctand are incorporatedhereinas

materialprovisionsof thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT.

2. Costs. The term " Cost" or " Costs" when used as capitalizedterms in this

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT shallmean the actualcost incurredby the DEVELOPER or its

affiliatedcontractoror constructionmanager, or the CITY, without any mark- up, overhead,

management feesor profitadded by the DEVELOPER or itsaffiliatedcontractoror construction

manager, orthe CITY. When used withoutcapitalization,the term " cost"or "costs"shallhave

itsordinaryand customary meaning.

3. Master Plan. The PROPERTY shallbe developed in accordance with this

2

26



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT, the Master Plansettingforththe generallayout,phasingand uses

forthe PROPERTY, includingnarrativenotes,assetforthon theattachedcomposite Exhibit"D."

The Master Planmay be modifiedinaccordance with thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT. The

areaofthe Master Planwhich encompasses the portionoftheSouth Magee Avenue right-of-way

south of U. S. Highway 441 and northof East6thStreetshallprovidefor a reservationof land

sufficientto allow3 lanesofvehiculartraffic,with sidewalksand bikepaths and any required

portionsofthe Propertyoutsideofthe thenexistingpublicright-of-way(the"441/ 6thStreetROW

Area") shallbe dedicatedby the CITY,at no costto DEVELOPER, atthe time of the plattingor

approvalof the FinalDevelopment Planforthe adjacentportionsofthe Property. The 441/ 6th

Street ROW Area shallbe excluded from any portionof the PROPERTY purchased by the

DEVELOPER and DEVELOPER shallnot be obligatedto pay anythingforsuch excluded441/ 6th

StreetROW Area and the CITY shalldedicatethe 441/ 6thStreetROW Area forthe foregoing

purpose. The CITY shallalsopay the costassociatedwith allrequiredplanning,engineering,

and constructionforthe foregoingpublicright-of-way,sidewalksand bikepaths.

a. By itsacceptance and approval of thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT and the

Master Plan, the CITY has made a determination that the DEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT and the Master Planare compatible,consistentand incompliance

withthe applicableprovisionsof the CITYComprehensive Plan( the"Comp Plan"),

the CITYFutureLand Use Map ( the"FLUM"), and applicableprovisionsofthe CITY

Land Development Code ( the"CityCode") Regulations,OrdinancesorResolutions,

and any amendments or modificationthereto (the "CITY Rules"), and thatthe

development of the PROPERTY pursuant to the Master Plan in accordance

herewith, isallowed by the Comp Plan, FLUM and other CITY Rules. The

development ofthe PROPERTY shallbe subjectto the Comp Plan,FLUM and CITY

Rulesineffectasofthe EffectiveDate, unlessotherwisepermittedby lawtocarry

out the rights,interestsand intent of this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT.

Furthermore, the executionof thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT shallconstitute

the CITY' Sapproval of the Master Plan as a concept plan and a preliminary

development planpursuantto the CITY Rules,with the DEVELOPER requiredto

submit and obtainapprovalof a finaldevelopment plan,as providedinthe CITY

Rules,priorto the development of any specifiedportion,phase or parcelof the

PROPERTY, and which finaldevelopment planshallonlybe requiredtoencompass

such specifiedportion,phase or parcel.

b. As furtherdescribedinthe Master Plan, the PROPERTY AND POND shallbe a

mixed- usedevelopment witha varietyofcomplimentary and integratedlanduses

and zoningcategories,including(i)those uses allowed inthe OVERLAY DISTRICT

asprovidedinSection3. 03. 00ofthe CityCode,( ii)thatincorporateand followthe

CityCenterProjectDevelopment Standardsand Designwhich areattachedhereto

and incorporatedhereinas Exhibit"E",( iii)the additionalpermitteduses listedon

3

27



the attachedasExhibit"F", and ( iv)excludingthe prohibiteduses listedinSection

3. 03. 00ofthe CityCode and theadditionalprohibiteduses listedon the attached

Exhibit"G".

4. PropertyAdditionsto Master Plan.The Master Planmay be amended to include,

inadditionto the PROPERTY, otherlandssurroundingthe PROPERTY ( the"AdditionalLand") the

owners of which may opt- into the Master Planas providedherein;providedsuch Additional

Landsareopted- into the Master Planon orbeforesixty(60)months afterthecompletionby the

CITYofallroadway improvements atS. R.436 and Magee]. Notwithstandingthe foregoing,the

DEVELOPER shallonlybe responsibleforthe development of the PROPERTY and exceptforthe

designofthe initialMaster Planshallhave no otherobligationto any otherpropertyowner of

such AdditionalLand. Moreover, without the expresswrittenconsent of the DEVELOPER no

amendment or enlargement of the Master Planshalloccurwhich adverselyaffects,impedes or

devalues the development, construction,ownership, use, leasingand operation of the

improvements on the PROPERTY inaccordanceherewith. When any owner ofAdditionalLand

desiresto includeand develop such AdditionalLand as partof the CITYCENTER PROJECT, such

landowner shallapplyto CITYto amend the Master Planas providedherein,which amendment

or enlargement of the Master Plan shallnot adversely affect,impede or devalue the

development, construction,ownership, use, leasingand operationof the improvements on the

PROPERTY by the DEVELOPER.

5. Amendment to Master Plan.The Master Planmay be changed and amended as

follows:

a. The DEVELOPER may applytotheCITYtoadjustthe sizeand locationofthe phases

as depictedon the Master Plan and shallhave the rightto develop, improve,

market and/ or sellphases or portionsof the PROPERTY ina singlephase or as

many separatephases, phasingplans,parcelsor portionsand in any order as

determined by the DEVELOPER and approved by the CITY. The foregoingmay be

reflectedinapplicationsor requestsforfinaldevelopment planssubmittedto the

CITY. Other thanthe foregoing,the DEVELOPER and the CITYshallhave the right

to requestan amendment or modificationto the Master Planatany time and if

the DEVELOPER and the CITYagree on any such amendment or modification,it

shallbe reflectedina writtenamendment to thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT.

b. Upon requestand applicationof any owner of AdditionalLand who isnot the

DEVELOPER who requeststo be includedinthe Master Plan,which application

shallbe ( i)atthe solecostof the landowner,( ii)subjectto approvalata public

hearingofCITY,( iii)onlyafternoticeunder Section22, below to DEVELOPER has

been provided60 days priorto any such publichearing,and ( iv)whom shallbe

requiredto execute itsown development agreement with CITY to cover the

4

28



subjectmattercontainedhereinand whatever additionalrequirementsCITY may

impose.

6. SiteSpecificDevelopment.

a. For each specifiedportion,phase or parcelof the PROPERTY designatedinthe

Master Plan,a finaldevelopment planmust be approved by CITYStaffpriorto the

issuanceofthe buildingpermit.

b. In developing any particularphase, portionor parcelof the PROPERTY, the

DEVELOPER shallbe obligatedto constructonlythe infrastructureand amenities

containedwithinthatphase, portionor parcelof the PROPERTY, and shallnot be

requiredto constructinfrastructureand amenitiesextendingbeyond such phase,

portionor parcel.

c. Notwithstandingsubsection b. above, each phase, portionor parcelof the

PROPERTY incombinationwith previousphases must be ableto existon itsown

with respectto necessaryaccess,parking,signageand utilities.

d. The firstphase ofthe development of the PROPERTY shallincludeat leastone of

the requiredsit-down, stand alone restaurantsdescribedinExhibit"E" to this

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT.

7. Payment ofApplicableFees.The DEVELOPER shallbe requiredto pay any and all

impact fees, reservationutilityfees ( ifany), infrastructureand subdivisionimprovement

guarantees, sureties,lettersof credit,etc.specificallyand directlyapplicableto uses on the

specificphase, portionor parcelofthe PROPERTY forwhich planapprovalsand sitedevelopment

and subdivisionimprovements permitsare being issued,and only upon the issuanceof such

permitsand not priortosuch issuance. DEVELOPER shallpay impactfeesatthetime ofpermit

issuanceconsistentwith the CITYRulesand inany case not to exceed the then applicablerates.

DEVELOPER shallremain eligibleforany applicablecreditsas providedinthe CityCode.

8. DeveloperObligations.Inadditionto thoseobligationssetforthelsewhere inthis

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT:

a. The DEVELOPER shalldesign,obtainallnecessarypermitsfor,and manage the

constructionof:

i. the pedestrianwalkway, publicassembly areaand bikeway on the

bank( s)of the POND, allas shown on the Master Plan,forthe use

and benefitof the generalpublic(theCostsofwhich shallbe paid

5

29



by the CITY);and

ii. the pedestrianwalkway( s) and bikeway( s) on the PROPERTY for

the useofthegeneralpublic,bothofwhich shallbe integratedwith

and connectedtothe POND property,asshown inthe Master Plan.

b. The timing, commencement and completion of the design, permittingand

constructionof the items inSection7. a. shallbe as reasonablydetermined by

DEVELOPER, but no laterthan twenty- four(24) months afterthe purchaseof the

firstparcelpursuantto theS&P Agreement.

c. The parking lotsshallbe constructedand locatedso as to allowfor ease of

pedestrianconnectionsto and from such parkinglotsand the POND propertyas

shown inthe Master Plan.

d. The DEVELOPER shalleitherpay the Costs, or reimburse the CITY or other

appropriatepartyforthe Costs, incurredin negotiatingand finalizingthe S&P

Agreement and this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT, which payment and

reimbursement shallbe due atthe time ofthe purchaseofthe firstportionofthe

PROPERTY under the S&P Agreement.

e. From and afterthe EffectiveDate, the DEVELOPER shallperform periodicand

routine maintenance of the PROPERTY until the termination of this

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT orthe finalclosingand saleofany parcelor portion

of the PROPERTY to a thirdparty who shallthen take over DEVELOPER' S

maintenance obligationswith respect to such conveyed parcelor portion.

Provided, the Highland Manor and allassociatedparking lots,driveways,

walkways, buildings,structuresand improvements ( collectivelythe " Highland

Manor") shallcontinueto be maintainedby the CITYand not the DEVELOPER.

f. DEVELOPER shallconvey at no cost to the CITY any reasonably necessary

easements forpublicutilitiesand publicpedestrianaccess (asdescribedin the

Master Plan) as may be reasonablyrequiredby the CITY forany approvaland

consistentwith thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT and the Master Plan, which

easements shallbe intheform mutuallyagreed upon by the CITYand DEVELOPER.

g. On orbeforeeighteen(18)months from the EffectiveDate ofthisagreement, the

DEVELOPER shallhave acquiredthe firstparcelunder the S&P Agreement and

commenced constructionthereon. On orbeforethirty-six(36)months afterthe

EffectiveDate commencement of constructionon the firstacquiredparcel,the

DEVELOPER shallhave acquiredthe second parcelunder the S&P Agreement and

6

30



commenced constructionthereon. Withinforty-eight(48)months followingthe

completion of the 436/ Magee Roadway improvements ( ashereinafterdefined)

the DEVELOPER shallhave acquiredand commenced constructionon a minimum

of fiftypercent (50. 00%)ofthe planned improvements withinthe portionof the

PROPERTY bounded by U. S. Highway 441 on the north,6thStreeton the south,

and South Magee Avenue on the west.

h. Itisthe intentionofthe CITYand the DEVELOPER thatthe DEVELOPER acquirethe

PROPERTY withthe intentionofdevelopingand improvingthe PROPERTY forlease

or furtherresaleor sellingportionsof the PROPERTY without developingsuch

portionsto thirdpartieswho intendto develop such portionsthemselves,allin

accordance with the terms, obligationsand conditionsof the DEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT. There shallbe no restrictionson the resaleof portionsof the

PROPERTY in accordance with the foregoing provided a validfinalsiteplan

approvalhas been issuedforthe portionofthe propertyto be sold.

i. The DEVELOPER shallordera surveyofthe PROPERTY on or beforeten (10) days

afterthe EffectiveDate and must submittothe CITYa preliminarysubdivisionplan

forthe PROPERTY withinsixty(60)daysofthe DEVELOPER' S receiptofthesurvey.

J. Notwithstandinganythingcontainedhereinto the contrary,the DEVELOPER shall

pay the Costs associatedwith the portionof the boardwalk and/ or sidewalk

locatedimmediatelybehind the restaurantsas shown on the Master Plan.

9. PropertyOwners Association.The DEVELOPER shallcreate,incorporateand fund

a propertyowners associationforany and allcommon elements ofany portionofthe PROPERTY

formaintenance, repair,the replacement of the parking,access,signage,walkways, drainage,

bike racksand bike paths, board walks, common elements and publicassembly area( s)or

parcel(s),allas more particularlyset forth in a declarationof covenants, conditionsand

restrictions(the"Declaration")which must comply withthisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT, be in

recordableform and shallbe recorded againstthe PROPERTY free and clearof any lien,

encumbrance, judgment or mortgage of recordpriorto the issuanceof the firstdevelopment

permitforthe PROPERTY. Each currentorsubsequent owner ofa parcelwithinthe PROPERTY

shallbe and isa member of the propertyowners association. Untilsuch time as DEVELOPER

conveys or transfersany common areas, lands, and obligationsto the property owners

association,DEVELOPER shallremain responsibleforthe maintenance ofsuch areas.

10. PotableWater and SanitarySewer Lines.

a. Inconnectionwith itsdevelopment ofthe PROPERTY, the DEVELOPER shallcause

to be designed,permitted,installedand constructed,potablewater and sanitary

7

31



sewer lines(collectivelythe " Water and Sewer Lines"),commencing from the

pointof connectionforsuch linesat the pointnearestto the PROPERTY, allin

accordancewith the CITY Rulesand requirements,ofsufficientsizeand capacity

to accommodate the anticipatedpotable water and sanitarysewer flow

requirementsforthe PROPERTY.

b. The DEVELOPER has requesteda totalflowforthe PROPERTY at 107, 000 gallons

per day ofusage forwater and sewer capacity,which do not requirethe need to

oversizethe water orsewer linesforthe use ofthe PROPERTY.

c. Ifportionsofthe PROPERTY areapproved fordevelopment and requireadditional

capacity,the Developershallhave same installedatitscost,subjectto any credits

asprovidedinthe CityCode and subjectto reimbursement on a pro- ratabasisfor

shared use ofthe additionalcapacity.

d. The DEVELOPER shallcontrolallaspectsofthe constructionand installationofthe

Water and Sewer Linesand shallselectand hireany independent contractorsto

complete the work as itshalldetermine. Allwork subjectto permittingand

inspectionby the CITYsubjectto requirementsofthe CITYRules.

e. DEVELOPER shallbe responsibleto design,planand constructand dedicateto the

CITY a liftstationand related improvements ( the "LiftStation")near the

intersectionof U. S. Highway 441 and East6thStreet.

f. The foregoingwork describedinsubsectionsa. through e. shallbe paidforby the

DEVELOPER ( subjectto the creditand reimbursement provisionsofsubsectionc.

above).

g. All of the CITY Rules, requirements and specificationsconcerning utility

connectionsand solidwaste collectionapplyto the PROPERTY and development

thereof.

h. The DEVELOPER may obtain water and sewer capacitythrough the CITY' s

establishedreservationprocedures,when applicable;provided,however, theCITY

shall provide written notificationto the DEVELOPER prior to accepting

reservationsfor or allocatingpotablewater and wastewater capacityto third

partieswhich would resultin an insufficientpotable water and wastewater

capacitybeingavailableforthe PROPERTY.

i. There shallbe no requirementthatreclaimed(reuse)water systems be connected

toorused by on the PROPERTY and itsimprovements and neitherthe DEVELOPER

8

32



nor itssuccessorsand assignsshallbe requiredto pay forany such connectionand

use.

11. Drainage.

a. The POND serves as a nonexclusive retention/ detentionpond for water

attenuationand storageforthe surrounding320. 20 acre drainagebasinwhich

area isdescribedinattachedExhibit"H"( the"DrainageBasin"),which includesall

ofthe PROPERTY.

b. CITY hereby confirms and agrees that attenuation surface water drainage

requirementsforthe PROPERTY, as itmay be improved, developed, used, and

occupied, shallbe servicedby the POND up to 27. 12 acre- feetof flow based on

SJRWMD Permit#20922- 2, calculatedasa proportionateshareofthetotal234. 71

acre- feetofstormwater runoffpermittedto reachthe POND based on theacreage

of the PROPERTY versusthe totalacreage of the drainage basin (320. 1acres)

contributingto the POND.

c. Afterfive(5)years,the capacityofthe POND shallbe on a first-comefirst- served

basisand in the event the drainage flow intothe POND isat capacity,the

DEVELOPER shallbe requiredto engineerand constructon the PROPERTY on- site

retentionand detentionforwater qualityand attenuation.

d. The CITY shallkeep records of the cubic feet of surface and stormwater

attenuationdrainagegenerated by DEVELOPER from the PROPERTY.

e. Upon approvalof any finaldevelopment plansby CITYforeach portionor phase

ofdevelopment withinthe PROPERTY, the DEVELOPER shallhavethe right,subject

tothe requirementsofsubsectionsb. and c.above, totransmit,retainand detain,

allofthe surfaceand stormwater generated from the PROPERTY intoand within

the POND.

f. The POND shallalsoserveas a centralamenity ofthe CITY CENTER PROJECT and

shallbe incorporatedas a publicrecreationalelement and water featurethe

integrationand characteristicsof which willbe determined by the CITY, isnot

inconsistentwith the water levelsand carry capacity of the POND, and

incorporatesand does notpreventthe existingand futuredrainageflows,surface

and stormwater sewer and relatedditchesor pipes flowingfrom the entire

drainagebasinto the POND.

12. Good Faith.

9

33



a. The CITY hereby agrees to timelyand expeditiouslyconsider,comment on and

approve ( subjectto applicablerequirements) any required changes in the

allowableuseofthe PROPERTY, FLUM amendments, Comp Planamendments, and

thisMaster Planwhich affectlanduse or development standards,rezonings,and

specialexceptions, as may be required to conform to this DEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT and the Master Plan,

b. The CITYagreesto timelyand expeditiouslyconsider,process,comment on and

approve ( subjectto applicablerequirements)any and allsubmittals,applications,

decisions,determinations,preliminaryand finaldevelopment plans,development

orders,actions,consentsand approvals,includingany requestby the DEVELOPER

for a planned development ordinance ifconsistentwith thisDEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT and the Master Plan,which arenecessaryor reasonablyrequiredto

allowthe DEVELOPER toobtainallnecessaryapprovals,and toconstruct,improve,

and developthe PROPERTY and itsphases, inaccordancewith thisDEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT and the Master Plan.

c. Nothing inthisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT shallconstituteor be deemed to

constitutea limitation,restrictionor any othertypeofwaiverofDEVELOPER right

or abilityto seek a rezoning,comprehensive planamendment, variance,special

exception,siteplan,preliminaryor finaldevelopment plan,planneddevelopment

ordinanceor any otherlanduse ordevelopment approvalordevelopment order.

13. HighlandManor,

a. The DEVELOPER shallmanage and directthe incorporation,demolitionand/ or

relocationofthe historicportionof HighlandManor, includingallof itsassociated

parking lots,driveways, walkways, buildings,structuresand improvements as

applicablein accordance with thisSection 12 and other provisionsof this

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT as providedherein:

i. Ifthe DEVELOPER incorporatesHighland Manor into the CITY

CENTER PROJECT, the DEVELOPER shallpay allthe costs of

incorporation,demolitionand/ or relocation.

ii. Ifthe DEVELOPER electsnot to incorporateHighlandManor into

the CITYCENTER PROJECT on the PROPERTY, then the DEVELOPER

shallprovidethe noticeto the CITY insubsection12. c.,below.

b. Untilthe use ofHighlandManor must cease pursuantto subsection12. c.,below,

10

34



the CITYshall:

i. continueto maintain,use, and operate HighlandManor foritssole

use and profitsand revenues;and

ii. during such period, the property of Highland Manor shallbe

maintainedby the CITYor itstenantordesignee.

c. The DEVELOPER shallprovidethe CITYa writtennotice(the"RelocationNotice")

thatHighlandManor must be demolished or moved within12 months ofthedate

the RelocationNotice isreceivedby the CITY ( the "RelocationNotice Receipt

Date"). Within sixty(60) days of the RelocationNotice ReceiptDate, the CITY

shallconfirm inwritingto the DEVELOPER that itintendsto move the historic

portionof HighlandManor to an alternatelocation(the "RelocationSite"),as

determined by the CITYinitssolediscretion.

d. The CITY shallbe obligatedto complete the relocationand/ or demolitionof the

HighlandManor withintwelve (12)months ofthe RelocationNoticeReceiptDate,

but inno event earlierthan eighteen (18) months afterthe EffectiveDate ( the

RelocationDate"). Ifthe HighlandManor has not been eitherdemolished or

relocatedby the RelocationDate, then:( i)the CITYshallbe obligatedto pay tothe

DEVELOPER a dailypenaltyinthe amount of FiveHundred Dollars($500. 00)for

each day beyond the RelocationDate thatthe HighlandManor isnot completely

demolished and/ or removed from itspresentlocationto the RelocationSite,and

ii)the DEVELOPER shallhave the rightto demolish and/ or remove Highland

Manor from itspresentlocation,and the CITYshallbe obligatedto reimbursethe

DEVELOPER forallCosts associatedwith the DEVELOPER' s demolitionand/ or

removal of HighlandManor.

e. The CITYshallmanage and directthe relocationand/ ordemolitionofthe Highland

Manor pursuantto the RelocationNotice,and the CITYshallbe solelyresponsible

for allcostsand expenses associatedwith the planning,managing, directing,

engineering,services,work, labor,and materialsrequiredto demolish allof the

HighlandManor or remove the historicportionof HighlandManor to theAgreed

RelocationSite.

14. Roadway Improvements. The DEVELOPER shallbe responsiblefor the design,

planning,engineering,permitting,and constructionof:

a. the roadway, sidewalk, buffer, trafficsignalization,turn lane and related

improvements at the intersectionof South Magee Avenue and StateRoad 436,

11

35



includinga rightturn decelerationlanewestbound at StateRoad 436 to South

Magee Avenue ( the"436/ Magee Roadway improvements"); and

b. all roadway, sidewalk, buffer, trafficsignalization,turn lane and related

improvements at the intersectionof U. S. Highway 441 and East6thStreet( the

441/ 6thRoadway Improvements").

While the DEVELOPER shallhave the responsibilityfor the foregoing,the CITY shallbe

solelyobligatedto pay and/ or reimburse allCosts incurredby the DEVELOPER or

associatedwith the roadway improvements specifiedinsubsectionsa. and b. above, and

any other requiredoff-site(i.e.,off-PROPERTY) improvements. To the extentallowed

pursuant to applicableCITY Rules,the CITY shallpay forthe foregoingfrom a funded

escrow account to be establishedin accordance with an agreement between the

DEVELOPER and the CITY which shallconsistof funds from the net purchase proceeds

receivedby the CITYinconnectionwiththeconveyance ofthe PROPERTY pursuanttothe

S&P Agreement and any impact fees paid in connection with the development and

improvement of the PROPERTY. The CITY may pursue reimbursement or payment of

such roadway improvements costsfrom the FloridaDepartment ofTransportation. In

addition,the CITYshallbe responsibleforthe design,planning,engineering,permitting,

constructionand allcostsassociatedwith the planned East6thStreetimprovements west

of the intersectionof U. S. Highway 441 and East6thStreet,which shallbe considereda

partofthe 441/ 6thRoadway Improvements.

15. City FinancialObligations.Unless otherwise specificallylistedherein this

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT, nothingelsehereinshallbe construedor interpretedto:

a. Pledge the fullfaithand creditof the Cityor constitutea generalobligationor

indebtednessofthe CITY;

b. Constitutea pledgeoran agreement to pledgethe taxrevenues (excludingimpact

fees)ofthe CITYor mandate; or

c. Waive sovereignimmunity oftheCITYexceptasspecificallylimitedfortortclaims

under Section768. 28,FloridaStatutes.

16. Bankruptcy. Inthe event (a)an orderordecree isenteredappointinga receiver

forDeveloperor itsassetsor (b)a petitionisfiledby Developerforreliefunder federalbankruptcy

laws or any other similarlaw or statuteof the United States,which actionisnot dismissed,

vacatedordischargedwithinsixtydays afterthe filingthereof,then DEVELOPER shallbe declared

to be in materialbreach of thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT and Cityshallhave the rightto

terminateimmediatelythisAgreement and accelerate,making immediatelydue and payable,all

sums leviedagainstthe PROPERTY atthe time ofthe occurrenceof an eventdescribedin (a)or

b)above. The occurrenceofan eventdescribedin (a)or (b)above shallnotaffordany person

12

36



the rightto refuse,discontinueordeferpayment ofsaidsums ortochallengetheirvalidity.

17. Breach. Inthe eventofa breach, default,orviolationofone or more ofthe provisionsof

thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT by eitherthe DEVELOPER or the CITY,the violatingpartyshall

be giventhirty(30) days to cure such violationupon receiptof writtennoticeof the violation

from a non- violatingparty. Inthe event such violationisnot curedwithinsaidperiod,the CITY

orthe DEVELOPER, asthe casemay be, shallhave the rightto pursuethe remedies inSection18,

below; provided,however, ifthe defaultingparty' sviolationcannot reasonablybe cured within

the applicablecure period,then the cure periodshallnot be deemed to have lapsedand such

partyshallbe allowedadditionaltime as isreasonablynecessaryto curetheviolationso longas:

i)the defaultingpartycommences to cure the violationwithinthe applicablecure period,and

ii)the defaultingpartydiligentlypursuesa courseofactionthatwillcuretheviolationand bring

the defaultingpartyback intocompliance with thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT.

18. Remedies / LimitationsofAction.

a. The DEVELOPER and the CITY each agree the sole remedy for breach of this

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT shallbe to specificallyenforce the terms and

conditionshereof. Thisprovisionshallnot limitany otherrightsor remedies the

partieshave under the S&P Agreement.

b. The DEVELOPER and the CITYeach waive any and allclaimsorcausesofactionfor

monetary damages such partyhasor may have currentlyor inthe futureastoany

claim related to, resultingfrom or stemming from this DEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT.

c. Neitherpartyshallbe entitledto damages based on lostprofits,lostrevenues,

direct,indirectorconsequentialdamages.

d. Notwithstandinganythingto the contraryhereinthisDEVELOPMENT AGEEMENT,

inthe event of a breach, default,or violationof one or more of the provisions

hereinby the DEVELOPER orthe CITY,the violatingpartyshallbe giventhirty(30)

days to curesuch violationupon receiptofwrittennoticeof the violationfrom a

non- violatingparty.

e. AdditionalRights of the CITY with Respect to DEVELOPER' s Breach After

Conveyance of the PROPERTY. IfDEVELOPER acquiresthe PROPERTY or any

portionthereoffrom CITY beforeobtainingallnecessarypermitsto commence

verticalconstructionthereon, and thereafterDEVELOPER materiallybreachesany

ofthe terms ofthisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT and failstocuresame withinthe

time periodspecifiedherein,then CITY, upon writtendemand ( CITY' sNotice)to

13

37



DEVELOPER, shallhave theadditionalrightsbelow:

1. To requireDEVELOPER to re-convey the acquired PROPERTY or any

portionsthereof:( i)forwhich such necessarypermits have not been

obtained,( ii)on which verticalconstructionor development have not

been commenced ( orthe remainingundeveloped and unsoldportion(s)

thereof,asthecasemay be) to the CITYinaccordancewith thefollowing

terms and conditions:

i.The date on which the re-conveyanceclosingwilltake placeshall

be mutuallyagreed to by CITY and DEVELOPER, but inno event

laterthan sixty(60) days followingthe DEVELOPER' s receiptof

CITY' sNotice.

ii.The re-conveyancepriceto be paidby CITYto DEVELOPER shallbe

the lesserof:( i)the amount the CITYwas paidby DEVELOPER for

the PROPERTY or any portionthereof (persquare foot)to be re-

conveyed, or (ii)the amount the CITYwas paidby DEVELOPER for

the PROPERTY or any portionthereof (persquare foot)to be re-

conveyed, lessthe amount ofany liensor mortgages thereon. If

the amount of any outstandinglien(s)or mortgage( s)exceed the

amount the CITYwas paidby DEVELOPER forthe PROPERTY orany

portionthereof (persquare foot)to be re-conveyedto CITY, the

balanceofsuch lien(s)or mortgage( s)shallbe paidby DEVELOPER

priortooratclosingon the re-conveyance.

iii.Re- conveyanceshallbe by specialwarrantydeed, freeand clearof

any liensor encumbrances otherthan (a)those mattersof record

which existon the date ofclosingof the DEVELOPER' s acquisition

ofthe PROPERTY,( b)customary easements orserviceagreements

entered intobetween DEVELOPER and the providersof utility

services,includingbut not limitedto electric,water, sewer, and

telecommunicationsservices,and ( c)such othermatterswhich do

not impairthe marketabilityof titleto the property.

iv. DEVELOPER shall,at no expense to the CITY, convey allstudies,

reports,testand auditresults,engineeringwork, surveys,design

and constructionplans and working drawings, and allother

materialspertainingto development ofthe PROPERTY.

v. The CITY may demand payment from DEVELOPER to remove any

14

38



constructionliensencumbering the PROPERTY.

2.

The rightsand remedies under Section18( e) of thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT are entirely

optionaland shallbe exercisedby CITYonlyinitssolediscretionwithoutany obligationto do so.

The CITYshallbe obligated,withinten (10)days followingthe writtenrequestofthe DEVELOPER,

toprovidean executedestoppelcertificateor letter,ina form reasonablyrequiredby any lender

or non- affiliatedthirdpartypurchaser,confirmingwhether therecurrentlyexistsany uncured

violationsby the DEVELOPER hereunder and whether the CITY' sreconveyance rightshave been

triggeredwith respectto the PROPERTY orany specifiedportionthereof.

19. Authority.Each partyrepresentsand warrantsto the otherpartiesthatithasall

necessarypower and authorityto enterintoand consummate the terms and conditionsof this

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT, thatallacts,approvals,procedures,and similarmattersrequired

inorderto authorizethisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT have been taken, obtained,or followed,

as the case may be, and that,upon the executionof thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT by all

parties,thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT shallbe validand bindingupon the partiesheretoand

theirsuccessorsininterestand assigns.

20. EffectiveDate. This DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT shallbecome effectiveon the

date lastsignedby any ofthe parties(the"EffectiveDate") and shallexpireon thethirtieth(30th

anniversaryofthe EffectiveDate.

21. VA. Ifany portionof thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT isdetermined by final

order or judgment by a court of competent jurisdictionto be invalid,unconstitutional,

unenforceableorvoid,the balanceofthe DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT shallcontinueinfullforce

and effect.

22. Notices. Any notices required or permitted under this DEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT, and copiesthereof,shallbe addressed to the CITY and the DEVELOPER at the

followingaddresses,or at such other addressesdesignatedinwritingby the partyto receive

notice.

CITY: HONORABLE Joe Kilsheimer,or hissuccessor

Mayor fortheCityofApopka

120 EastMain Street

PostOfficeDrawer 1229

Apopka, Florida32704- 1229

Facsimile:407- 703- 1705; Email:girby@apopka. net

15

39



With a copy to: CITYADMINISTRATOR

CITYCLERK

120 EastMain Street

PostOfficeDrawer 1229

Apopka, Florida32704- 1229

CITY LEGAL COUNSEL

CliffordB.Shepard, Esq.

Shepard, Smith and Cassady, P. A.

2300 MaitlandCenter Parkway

Suite100

Maitland,Florida32751

Facsimile:407- 622- 1884; E- mail:cshepard( alshepardfirm. com

DEVELOPER: DEVELOPER Apopka CityCenter, LLC, a Floridalimitedliability

company; Attn:JeffreyK. McFadden

610 North Wymore Road, Suite200

Maitland,Florida 32751

Facsimile:407- 539- 6181; Email:imcfadden@tiholdings. com

With a copy to: Keating&Schlitt,P. A., Attn:John Kingman Keating

250 EastColonialDrive,Suite300

Orlando, Florida32801

Facsimile:407- 425- 6345; Email:jkk@keatIaw. com

Noticesshallbe either:(i)personallydelivered(includingdeliveryby FederalExpressor other

overnightcourierservice)to the addressessetforthabove, inwhich casetheyshallbe deemed

deliveredon the date ofdelivery;(ii)sentby certifiedmail,returnreceiptrequested,inwhich

casethey shallbe deemed deliveredon thedate shown on the receiptunlessdeliveryisrefused

or intentionallydelayedby theaddressee,inwhich eventtheyshallbe deemed deliveredon the

date of depositin the U. S. Mail; or (iii)transmittedviafacsimileor email usingthe facsimile

numbers or email addressesprovidedabove, ifany ( orsuch other number or addressas the

receivingpartymay have designatedinwriting),inwhich casethe deliveryshallbe deemed to

have occurredon the day oftransmission,providedthe day oftransmissionisa normal business

day, or on the firstnormal businessday afterthe transmission. Inthe event a disputearises

concerningwhether a facsimileoremailtransmissionwas made and on what date,saidfacsimile

or emailtransmissionmust be verifiedby a print-outgenerated by the transmittingmachine or

emailaddress.

23. Entire Agreement. This DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT embodies the entire

understandingof the partieswith respectto the mattersspecificallyenumerated herein,and all

16

40



negotiations,representations,warrantiesand agreements made between thepartiesaremerged

herein. The making, executionand deliveryof thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT by allparties

has been induced by no representations,statements,warrantiesor agreements thatare not

expressedherein. There areno furtherorotheragreements orunderstandings;writtenororal,

ineffectbetween or among the partiesrelatedto thesubjectmatter hereof.

24. Assignment. NeitherthisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT nor any of the parties'

rightsand obligationshereunder shallbe assignableorassignedby any partyheretowithoutprior

writtenconsent of the other party;provided however, that the DEVELOPER may assignthis

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENTto any affiliatedorrelatedentityorany entityobtainingDEVELOPER

rightshereinthrough a merger or acquisition.The rightsgranted to DEVELOPER under this

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT relatespecificallyto the PROPERTY and are not permittedto be

transferredto any otherproperty.

25. BindingEffectand Successors.ThisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT shallrunwiththe

Propertyand the rightsand theobligationsunder thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT shallbenefit,

burden, and bind the successors,heirsand assignsof allpartiesto this DEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT. In the event of the assignment of thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT, or the

conveyance or transferof the PROPERTY, the DEVELOPER shallbe and remain liablefor

performance of the obligationsunder thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT untilsuch time as a

writtenreleaseisobtainedfrom the CITY.

26. Amendment. Except as otherwise provided herein, this DEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT may be amended, modifiedorcancelledby mutual consentofthepartiesheretoas

representedby a writtendocument executed by the CITYand the DEVELOPER.

27. Governing Law, Venue and Jurisdiction.ThisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT shallbe

governed by and construedinaccordancewiththe lawsoftheStateofFlorida. Exclusivevenue

inany actionto construeor enforcethe provisionsof thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT shallbe

intheCircuitCourt inand forOrange County, Florida,and both partiesconsenttoand acquiesce

to the jurisdictionof the StateCourtsforthe Stateof Floridaforany and allclaimsor dispute

concerning any legalor equitableactionarisingout of, stemming from or relatingto this

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT, any approval,actionorevent emanating therefrom inthe present

or thefutureand forany declaratoryactionunder Chapter86, FloridaStatutes(2015).

28. Time. Time ishereby declaredto be of the essence inthe performance of the

dutiesand obligationsof the respectivepartiesto thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT; provided

however, thatthe computationoftime forDEVELOPER' S obligationshereinshallbe tolledforany

delays caused by acts of God, strikes,localand nationalemergency, materialshortage,

transportationdelays,moratoriums, condemnations and other events beyond DEVELOPER' S

control.

17

41



29. Captions.The captionsor paragraphheadingsofthisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

areprovidedforconvenienceonlyand shallnot be deemed toexplain,modify, amplifyoraidin

the interpretation,or meaning ofthisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT.

30. Recording.Within fourteen (14) days afterthe executionof thisDEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT by the parties,the CITY shallrecordthisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT among the

PublicRecordsofOrange County, Florida,withthe costthereofto be borne by the DEVELOPER;

provided,however, thatany delayinrecordingshallnotaffectthevalidityof thisDEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT.

31. Independent Parties. CITY and DEVELOPER are not partners and this

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT is not a jointventure and nothing in this DEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT shallbe construedtoauthorizethe CITYor DEVELOPER to representorbindtheany

otherpartyto mattersnot expresslyauthorizedor providedinthisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT.

32. No Third-PartyBeneficiaries.Nothing in this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT,

expressor implied,isintendedto or willbe construedto conferon any person, otherthan the

partiesof thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT, any right,remedy, or claimwith respectto this

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the CITY Commission of the CITYof Apopka, Florida,a Florida

municipalcorporation,and DEVELOPER, Apopka CityCenter, LLC, a Floridalimitedliability

company, have caused thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT to be executed asofthe date setforth

adjacent to their signaturesbelow, and the AGENCY, the City of Apopka Community

Redevelopment Agency, hereby joinsinand consentsto thisDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT.

WITNESSES: CITY

CITYOF P KA

By:

RE Honorab oe is elmer, Mayor

WITNESS ME PRINTED Date Executed:

WITNESS SIGN URE

WITNESS NAME PRINTED

AGENCY

18

42



THE CITYOF APOPK UNITY

REDEV OPME A Y

TdE

By:

Hon elmer, Chairman

WITNESS NAME PRINTED ecuted:

WITNESS SIGNATURE

WITNESS NAME PRINTED

WITNESSES: DEVELOPER

TAURUS APOPKA CITYCENTER, LLC, a

loridalimitedliabilitco

WITNIESSSIGNATURE JeffreyK. McFadden, Manager

IT SN RI Executed: TR ILo

T ATU

WITNESS NA PRINTED

19

43



EXHIBIT "A"- LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY

Note: Has not been adjustedto account forincreaseinPond acreage

1 10- 21- 28- 0000- 00- 063 611 E Main St Apopka FL 32703 6. 42

2 10- 21- 28- 8652- 03- 020 604 E Main St Apopka FL 32703 11. 41

3 10- 21- 28- 8652- 01- 041 806 E6th Apopka FL 32703 0. 33

4 10- 21- 28- 0000- 00- 065 325 S MCGEE AVE Apopka FL 32703 1. 12

5 10- 21- 28- 0000- 00- 066 805 E 6TH ST Apopka FL 32703 1. 44

6 10- 21- 28- 8652- 04- 020 506S MCGEE AVE Apopka FL 32703 0. 82

7 10- 21- 28- 8652- 04- 032 508S MCGEE AVE Apopka FL 32703 0. 34

8 15- 21- 28- 0000- 00- 001 461 E7thST Apopka FL 32703 10. 01

9 15- 21- 28- 6756- 00- 191 none Apopka FL 32703 2. 81

34. 70

1. BEG726. 5FTE OF SW COR OF NW1/ 4OF SE1/ 4RUN E 506FTN 638. 5FTW 506FTS 638. 5FTTO POB INSEC

10- 21- 28(LESS5 63FTFOR RD & LESSPTON STAKEN FOR R/ W PER5515/ 2383CI98- 2740)

2. LFTILDENSADDEON TO APOPKA A/ 140BEG256FTN OF SW COR OF LOT2 RUN N 173. 88FTNELYALONG

CURVE 31. 34FTE207. 08FTS211. 38FTW 71FTN 17. 18FTW 156FTTO POB BEINGPTOF LOTS1 & 2 BLKC

A PARCELOF LAND MEASURING160FTE &W BY95FTN & SINSW COR OF LOT3BLKC & THAT PARTOF

SE1/ 4DESCAS BEG71FTEOF NW COR LOT1 BLKC OF TILDENSADD TO APOPKA A/ 140RUN E154. 9FTS 15

FTE290FTS 120FTW 200FTS 165FTE207. 28FT5496. 95FTW 520. 11FTN 98FTE160FTN 500. 34FTE156

FT5 17. 89FTE70. 89FTN 211. 21FTTO POB ( LESSLIFTSTATIONSITE)&( LESSPTTAKENON N FOR R/ W PER

OR 5753/ 4449CI98-2847)INSEC10- 21- 28SEE1448/ 2093736/ 24905185/ 16075193/ 309&30035246/ 775

5283/ 488&4915326/ 1235

3. LFTILDENSADDEON TO APOPKA A/ 140LOT4 LYINGS OF STATERD BLKA

4. E243FTOF W 418FTOF S2581/ 2FTOF NW1/ 4 OF SE1/ 4(LESSRD ON W PER3138/ 402&LESSS40 FTFOR

RD) SEC10- 21- 28

5. E308. 5FTOF W 726. 5FTOF S258. 5FTOF NW1/ 4OF SE1/ 4SEC10- 21- 28(LESSRD ON S)

6. LFTILDENSADDMON TO APOPKA A/ 140THES 127. 58FTOF LOT2 & N 117FTOF LOT3 BLKD

7. LFTILDENSADDEON TO APOPKA A/ 140THE S 100FTOF N 217FTOF LOT3 BLKD

8. BEGSECOR OF SW 1/ 4OF SEC10- 21- 28TH S531. 25FTTH W 252. 04FTTO THE ELYR/ W OF ALABAMA AVETH

N01- 46- 38W111. 31FTALONG SAIDR/ W TH N 420. 41FTTH N89- 54- 29W3. 51FTTH N00- 13- 28E21. 67FTTH

S89- 10- 03E90. 22FTTH N00- 12- 03E120. 69FTN89- 35- 35W89. 22FTTO ER/ W LINEOF ALABAMA AVETH N00-

13- 26E294. 46FTTH 589- 43- 12E252. 57FTTH N00- 30- 00W21. 42FTTH N90E147FTSOO- 30- 00E13. 74FTTH

90E299. 39FTTH 5442. 99FTTH N90W 442. 53FTTO POB

9. COMM NE CORNER OF NW 1/ 4OF SEC15- 21- 28TH S 531. 25FTTO POB TH S 141FTTH 590E160. 95FTTH S

30FTTO A NON- TAN INTERSECTIONWITH A CURVE CONC TO EWITH A RADIUSOF 85. 62FTAND A CENT

ANGLE OF 72- 23- 29AND A CHORD BEARINGSO8- 42- 07W101. 13FTTH 526- 27- 43W33. 32FTTH 556- 26- 00E

150FTTH 533- 34- 00W140FTTH N56- 26- 00W294. 89FTTO POC CONC NE W/ RADIUSOF 407. 15FTAND A

CENTANGLE OF 55- 50- 42AND A DISTOF 396. 84FTTH N01- 46- 38W3. 69FTTH N90E252. 04FTTO POB

20

44



EXHIBIT" B"- POND LEGAL DESCRIPTION

Note: Has not been adjustedto account forincreaseinPond acreage

Parcel110- R- part RoadSection7502- 105

Parcel194- part,Parcell95 RoadSection75120- 2502

A portionoflandlyingintheSoutheast%ofSection10,Township21South,Range28East,OrangeCounty,Florida,

beingmoreparticularlydescribedasfollows:

BEGINattheSouthwestcornerofLot3,Block"B",L. F.Tilden'sAdditiontoApopkaCity,asrecordedinPlatBook" A",

Page140,PublicRecordsofOrangeCounty,Florida,alsobeinga pointofintersectionoftheexistingRight- of-Way

lineofStateRoad500,U. S.Highway441asshownon theFloridaDepartmentofTransportationRight- of-WayMap

forStateRoad436,SectionNo. 75120- 2506,Sheet3of17, DatedJune1996;thenceNorth00*10' 44"East, 497.64feet

alongtheWest lineofsaidBlock"B" and theEastlineofLot2, Townsend'sPlantationasrecordedinPlatBook

26, Page145, PublicRecordsofOrangeCounty,Florida,alsobeingtheexistingRight- of-WaylineofsaidStateRoad

500, U. S.Highway441toa pointofintersectionontheEasterlylineofsaidLot2, alsobeingapointofintersectionof

saidexistingRight- of-WaylineofStateRoad500, U. S. Highway441; thencealongsaidLot2 Easterlylotlineandsaid

existingRight- of-WaylineofStateRoad500, U. S.Highway441thefollowingfour(4)coursesanddistances;South

89" 57' 19"West,207. 30feet;thenceNorth00" O2' 27"West,164. 96feet;thenceNorth89" 56' 41"East,200. 02feet;

thenceNorth00" O2' 50"West, 80. 66feettoapointofintersectionofsaidEastlineofLot2,theexistingRight- of-Way

lineofsaidStateRoad500, U. S. 441, withapointon a non- tangentcurveconcaveSoutherly,havinga radiusof

2, 053. 48feet,acentralangleof14" 51' 20"andachordbearinganddistanceofSouth72*12' 18"East,530. 93feet;

thencealongsaidexistingRight- of-Waylinethefollowingfour(4)coursesanddistances;alongtheareofsaidcurve

532. 42feet;thenceNorth25* 13' 22"East,10. 00feettoa pointona non- tangentcurveconcaveSoutherly,havinga

radiusof2, 063. 48feet,acentralangleof12' 56' 18"andachordbearinganddistanceofSouth58" 18' 29"East,464. 98

feet;thencealongthearcofsaidcurve465. 97feettothepointoftangency;thenceSouth51" 50' 20"East,243. 37

feettotheWestRight-of-WaylineofanUnnamed StreetbeingbetweenBlocks"A"and "B",alsobeingtheEastline

ofsaidLot4, Block"B",saidPlatBook" A", Page140;thenceSouth00" 59' 38"West,202. 14feetalongsaidlineto

theSoutheastcornerofsaidLot4, Block"B";thencealongtheSouthlineofsaidLot4, alsobeingtheNorthRight- of-

Way lineof East6th StreetsaidPlatBook " A", Pagel40, North89*38' 53" West, 1, 087.40feettothe POINT

OFBEGINNING.

Containing:617, 295squarefeetor14. 171acresmoreorless.

BeingaportionofthelandsdescribedandrecordedinOfficialRecordsBook1914,Pages332to333.Togetherwith

a portionofthelandsdescribedandrecordedinOfficialRecordsBook281,Pages55to57ofthePublicRecordsof

OrangeCounty,Florida.

AND

A portionoflandlyingintheSoutheast%ofSection10,Township21South,Range28East,OrangeCounty,Florida,

beingmoreparticularlydescribedasfollows:

BEGINattheSouthwestcornerofLot4, Block"A",L. F.Tilden'sAdditiontoApopkaCity,asrecordedinPlatBook" A",

Page140,PublicRecordsofOrangeCounty,Florida,saidpointbeingtheintersectionoftheNorthRightofWay line

ofEast6thStreetasrecordedinsaidPlatBook" A", Page140,andtheEastRightofWay lineofsaidUnnamedStreet

beingbetweenBlocks"A"and "B",alsobeingtheWest lineofsaidLot4, Block"A"ofsaidPlatBook" A", Page140;

thenceNorth00" 59' 38"East,136. 23feetalongsaidlinetoapointofintersectionofsaidEastRight- of-Waylinewith

theexistingRight- of-WaylineofStateRoad 500, U. S.Highway441 as shown on theFloridaDepartmentof

TransportationRight- of-WayMap forStateRoad436, SectionNo. 75120- 2506;thencealongsaidexistingRight- of-

Way linethefollowingthree(3)coursesanddistances;South51' 50' 20"East,79. 67feet;thenceSouth62' O2' 34"

East,152. 41feet;thenceSouth51" 50' 20"East,27. 34feettoapointofintersectionwiththeNorthRight- of-Wayline

ofsaidEast6thStreetalsobeingtheSouthlineofsaidLot4 andLot5,Block"A"saidPlatBook" A",Page140;thence

North89" 38' 53"West, 221. 13feetalongsaidlinetothePOINTOF BEGINNING.

Containing:14, 355squarefeetor0. 329acres,moreorless.

BeingthelandsdescribedinFinalJudgmentdatedNovember18th,1970,CivilActionNo. 70- 1115ofthePublic

RecordsofOrangeCounty,Florida.

45



EXHIBIT "C"- MAP OF THE CITYCENTER PROJECT

Cometary tilasonAve

8

IEntereApopka
Church Of Th

gill]CityCenter
ka TCa

StudyArea 1

441 436

I
cody * ESernoran8d

on

Years1-10

CityOwned
Property Imdd or

nt) C Of

Years6-15 , RegionalLand
Asavailableor Sh<ppongRegional

requested Cnof a cent.' Shoppose

o ' Sr
Cables

15St
a r

Years10- 20 - 12e

Bypnateland
E80St

uponrequest

am mmM

e
SFrms

AgE10thSt h

no 51

Sandes

E120sSt :< CharlesE

46



I

0

11

INE

CF

NORTH

APOPKA

MASTER

DEVELOPMENT

PLAN-

ENLARGED

1" w200'

47



EXHIBIT "E"

CITYCENTER PROJECT

DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS AND DESIGN CONDITIONS

1 Architecturaland Development Design Manual shallbe submittedtoand approved

by the Citypriorto the submittalof the firstbuildingpermit,and shallembrace

FloridaVernacular architecturaltheme unless otherwiseapproved by the City

Council. The manual shalladdressparkinggarages,Projectareaentrance\ gateway

features,dumpsterpad and trashenclosurescreening,drive- throughfacilities,trash

receptacles,outdoorlightingstanchions,publicplazaand gatheringplaces,public

art,and appurtenancessuch asbenches,outdoorrailings,and trashdispensers.The

City' s architecturaldesign consultantshall review all exteriorarchitectural

renderingsand make a determinationof consistencywith theArchitecturalDesign

Manual with an appealsreviewed by CityCouncil. The designmanual shallalso

addressbuildingmass and orientation.

2 Restaurants- A minimum of 30, 000 squarefeetof floorareashallbe occupiedby

restaurantbusiness. A minimum of two ( 2) restaurantsshallprovide fulltable

service,sit-downdininginastand-alonebuildingwith aminimum floorareaof6, 500

squarefeet(exclusiveof outdoorseating)and shallofferatleastlunchand dinner

time fare. All restaurantsshallprovidecoveredoutdoorseatingunlessotherwise

determinedby theCommunity Development Directorthatthelocationisnotsuitable

foroutdoorseating.
3 All restaurantswith a drive- throughmust have in-storediningfacilities.No more

than threerestaurantsmay have drive-throughfacilities.Only one drive-through

laneallowed per restaurant(Tandem servicestationmay occur withinthe drive-

through lane). All drive-throughservicestationsand windows shallbe screened

from Main Streetand 6* Street. No restaurantswith drive- throughsmay be ofthe

fastfoodvarietythatdoesnottypicallypreparefood toorder. Examples includebut

arenot limitedtoMcDonalds, Burger King, Wendy' s, Popeye' s,KFC, Chic-Fil-A,

Taco Bell,etcetera.

4 Drive- throughfacilitiesatbanks orfinancialinstitutionsshallnotexceedtwo service

stations.

5 ParkingPlan. A parkingplan and studyshallbe providedpriortoconstructionof

more than 20, 000 square feetof non- residentialdevelopment. The parkingplan

shalldemonstratethatsufficienton- siteand on- streetparkingisavailablewithin500
feetoftheprojectboundary forProjectemployees and patrons.

6 No more than20, 000squarefeetofofficespaceshallbe constructeduntila fulltable

service,sitdown restaurant(6, 500sq. f.tmin.) isalsounder construction.

7 Building Mass: Any single-storycommercial retailbuildingshallnot exceed

65, 000squarefeetfloorarea.
8 North of Sixth Streetand south of Main Street:Residentialdevelopment isnot

allowedon thefirstfloorofbuildings.

48



9 All residentialapartmentsor townhomes shallbe developed as luxuryor up- scale

rentalor condominium dwellingsand shallincludethe followingfeatures:abilityto

accessWirelessHigh Speed InternetAccess intheunits,balconyorporch, walk- in

showers, energy- efficientappliances,full-sizewasher and dryermachines, walk- in

closets,and minimum 9- foothigh ceilings;and the complex shallincludebicycle

storageareas. No laundrycenterallowed. Enclosed garage or covered parking

spacesareencouraged.

10 Any hotelbe interiorroom accessonly and shallhave a minimum of 70 keyed

bedrooms and shallatminimum providea lobby,customer lounge,businesscenter,

and a meeting room.

11 Office: A minimum of 25, 000 squarefeetand a maximum of 100, 000squarefeet
ofofficespace isallowedwithintheProject.

12 BuildingOrientation.All buildingslocatednear Main Streetor streetsinternalto

theprojectshallbe orientedwith thefrontofthebuildingfacingthestreet.

49



EXHIBIT "F"- PERMITTED USES

1. ResidentialMulti- Family(non- subsidized,market rent)

2. AssistedLivingFacilities

3. ProfessionalOffice/ Institutional

4. Commercial Neighborhood

5. RetailCommercial

6. GeneralCommercial, includingbut not limitedto:

a. medical

b. entertainment

c. hotel

d. restaurantand barfacilities

7. Parksand Recreation

8. Mixed- Use

9. Planned UnitDevelopment

50



EXHIBIT" G"- NON- PERMITTED USES

1. DollarStore(s),

2. Tattooparlors;

3. Any stateorgovernmental office;

4. Plasma offices;

5. Adultmotel,AdultPerformance Establishment,AdultTheater,Adult

booths,Adultbookstore,adultvideostore,AdultEntertainment,Adult

EntertainmentEstablishment(s)Establishmentas definedintheCity

Code, Sec 10- 98,asamended, orasdefinedinthe Orange County

Code, asamended, orany businessthatdisplays,sellsorprovidesAdult

MaterialorAdultModel servicesas definedinSec 10- 98oftheCity

Cod e;

6. BillboardsorOutdoor Displayadvertisingboards or polemounted

structures;

7. Celltowers (exceptroof- mounted);

8. Recycling,refuseorgarbage facilitiesorsubstations(excluding

individualtrashreceptacles);

9. Outdoor storageofequipment;

10. Automotive salesor service;

11. Automotive partssales;

12. Gas stations;

13. ReligiousFacilitiesorChurches;

14. RentalCarStorage,exceptfor10 spacesmay be designatedforuseata

satelliteofficeatthe hotel.

15. Fastfood restaurants(definedas those thatdo not typicallyprepare

food toorder).Examples includebut are not limitedto McDonalds,

BurgerKing,Wendy' s, Popeye' s,KFC, Chic-Fil-A,Taco Bell,etcetera.

51



rk

EXHIBIT" H"- DRAINAGE BASIN

DRAINAGE BASIN ( 320. 20 ne). 4

1.

thtt.Ar

42 1150. 2. 449:..Vi
th

t...5 '. a*ads.WWe

52



f

TAURUS INVESTMENT HOLDINGS, LLC

610 N. WYMORE ROAD, SUITE 200, MAITLAND, FLORIDA, USA 32751

July 22, 2016
Via: Courier/ Hand Delivery

Honorable Joe Kilsheimer, Mayor

Mr. Mark Reggentin

City of Apopka
120 East Main Street

Apopka, FL 32703

Re: Development Agreement between City of Apopka, Florida and Taurus Apopka City Center LLC. 
Apopka City Center

Dear Mayor Kilsheimer & Mr. Reggentin, 

Please find enclosed two ( 2) original Development Agreements executed on behalf of Taurus Apopka

City Center, LLC. 

Please have signed and witnessed on behalf of the City of Apopka and return one ( 1) fully executed

original to my attention at 610 N. Wymore Road, Suite 200, Maitland, FL 32751. 

Should you have any questions please don' t hesitate to contact me. 

Sincerely, 

Melissa Burton

Director of Leasing

Direct: 321. 214.3013

Email: mburton@tiholdings. com

53



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

THIS DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT ( the " DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT") is made this

day of 2016, by and between the CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, a
Florida municipal corp ation ( the " CITY") and TAURUS APOPKA CITY CENTER, LLC, a Florida

limited liability company ( the " DEVELOPER"), joined by the CITY OF APOPKA COMMUNITY
REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY ( the " AGENCY") for purposes of memorializing its agreement and
consent hereto. 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, CITY is the owner of approximately 34 acres of land located near the
intersection of State Road 436 and U. S. Highway 441 as more particularly described on the
attached Exhibit " A" ( the " PROPERTY"); and

WHEREAS, adjacent to the PROPERTY, CITY is the owner of the Downtown Regional

Stormwater Storage Facility (the " POND") containing 14.71 and 0.329 acres, which POND is more
particularly described on the attached Exhibit " B"; and

WHEREAS, the PROPERTY and POND are located within the CITY' s Downtown

Development Overlay Zoning District ( the " OVERLAY DISTRICT") which contains overlay design
standards, permitted uses and prohibited uses, and height limitations among its provisions; and

WHEREAS, the CITY desires to integrate the PROPERTY, and POND, and potentially other

properties into a common development site for a City Center as described in the map attached
hereto and incorporated as Exhibit " C" ( the " CITY CENTER PROJECT"), and allow the DEVELOPER

to develop the PROPERTY in accordance with this Development Agreement and the Master Plan
as hereinafter defined); and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 163. 380the CITY issued and advertised a Request for

Proposals ( the " RFP) for the CITY CENTER PROJECT for (i) a developer to design, permit, and plan

the portion of the CITY CENTER PROJECT located on the PROPERTY, ( ii) a developer to develop, 
construct, own and operate the PROPERTY and all development and improvements to be located

thereon, ( iii) the CITY to grant, bargain and convey the PROPERTY to a developer, and ( iv) the

CITY to develop and solely fund certain public assembly features and open space constructed on
the POND, with planning and construction management assistance from the developer; and

WHEREAS, the DEVELOPER submitted to the CITY the only response to the RFP ( the
PROPOSAL"); and

WHEREAS, the DEVELOPER, as Buyer, and the CITY, as Seller, have executed that certain

1

54



Agreement for Sale and Purchase of the PROPERTY dated February 3, 2016, as amended ( the
S& P Agreement"), which anticipates the execution of a development agreement, in order to, 

among other things, set forth the design, phases, terms and conditions for the development of
the PROPERTY; and

WHEREAS, it is the intention of the parties that this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT guide

the development of the PROPERTY as a mixed- use project which incorporates the POND as a ( i) 

non- exclusive stormwater pond to serve the PROPERTY, while still serving other properties in

the OVERLAY DISTRICT as set forth previously by CITY, and ( ii) a public assembly recreational
space located on the POND, subject to the terms and conditions of this DEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT and the Master Plan referenced herein below ( collectively the " CITY CENTER

PROJECT"); and

WHEREAS, the CITY confirms that this Development Agreement is consistent with and an

exercise of the City' s powers under the Municipal Home Rule Powers Act; Article VIII, Section 2( b) 
of the Constitution of the State of Florida; Chapter 166, Florida Statutes; all CITY Rules; other

controlling law; and the City' s police powers, and is a non -statutory Development Agreement
which is not subject to or enacted pursuant to the provisions of Sections 163. 3220- 163. 3243, 

Florida Statutes; and

WHEREAS, the CITY and the DEVELOPER desire to enter into this DEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT to memorialize certain promises, agreements, covenants and expectations

pertaining to the development of the PROPERTY, and other matters as provided for herein and
the AGENCY desires to join this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT to memorialize its agreement and

consent hereto. 

NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the above premises, the promises and

provisions contained herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and

sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the DEVELOPER and the CITY agree as follows: 

1. Recitals. The above Recitals are true and correct and are incorporated herein as

material provisions of this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT. 

2. Costs. The term " Cost" or " Costs" when used as capitalized terms in this

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT shall mean the actual cost incurred by the DEVELOPER or its

affiliated contractor or construction manager, or the CITY, without any mark- up, overhead, 

management fees or profit added by the DEVELOPER or its affiliated contractor or construction
manager, or the CITY. When used without capitalization, the term " cost" or " costs" shall have

its ordinary and customary meaning. 

3. Master Plan. The PROPERTY shall be developed in accordance with this

2

1`755



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT, the Master Plan setting forth the general layout, phasing and uses

for the PROPERTY, including narrative notes, as set forth on the attached composite Exhibit " D." 
The Master Plan may be modified in accordance with this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT. The

area of the Master Plan which encompasses the portion of the South Magee Avenue right-of-way

south of U. S. Highway 441 and north of East 6th Street shall provide for a reservation of land
sufficient to allow 3 lanes of vehicular traffic, with sidewalks and bike paths and any required

portions of the Property outside of the then existing public right-of-way (the " 441/ 6th Street ROW
Area") shall be dedicated by the CITY, at no cost to DEVELOPER, at the time of the platting or
approval of the Final Development Plan for the adjacent portions of the Property. The 441/ 6th

Street ROW Area shall be excluded from any portion of the PROPERTY purchased by the
DEVELOPER and DEVELOPER shall not be obligated to pay anything for such excluded 441/ 6th
Street ROW Area and the CITY shall dedicate the 441/ 6th Street ROW Area for the foregoing

purpose. The CITY shall also pay the cost associated with all required planning, engineering, 

and construction for the foregoing public right-of-way, sidewalks and bike paths. 

a. By its acceptance and approval of this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT and the
Master Plan, the CITY has made a determination that the DEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT and the Master Plan are compatible, consistent and in compliance

with the applicable provisions of the CITY Comprehensive Plan ( the " Comp Plan"), 

the CITY Future Land Use Map ( the " FLUM"), and applicable provisions of the CITY

Land Development Code (the " City Code") Regulations, Ordinances or Resolutions, 

and any amendments or modification thereto ( the " CITY Rules"), and that the

development of the PROPERTY pursuant to the Master Plan in accordance

herewith, is allowed by the Comp Plan, FLUM and other CITY Rules. The

development of the PROPERTY shall be subject to the Comp Plan, FLUM and CITY

Rules in effect as of the Effective Date, unless otherwise permitted by law to carry
out the rights, interests and intent of this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT. 

Furthermore, the execution of this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT shall constitute

the CITY' S approval of the Master Plan as a concept plan and a preliminary

development plan pursuant to the CITY Rules, with the DEVELOPER required to

submit and obtain approval of a final development plan, as provided in the CITY

Rules, prior to the development of any specified portion, phase or parcel of the
PROPERTY, and which final development plan shall only be required to encompass
such specified portion, phase or parcel. 

b. As further described in the Master Plan, the PROPERTY AND POND shall be a

mixed- use development with a variety of complimentary and integrated land uses
and zoning categories, including ( i) those uses allowed in the OVERLAY DISTRICT
as provided in Section 3. 03. 00 of the City Code, ( ii) that incorporate and follow the
City Center Project Development Standards and Design which are attached hereto
and incorporated herein as Exhibit " E", ( iii) the additional permitted uses listed on

3

F1
56



the attached as Exhibit " F", and ( iv) excluding the prohibited uses listed in Section
3. 03. 00 of the City Code and the additional prohibited uses listed on the attached
Exhibit " G". 

4. Property Additions to Master Plan. The Master Plan may be amended to include, 
in addition to the PROPERTY, other lands surrounding the PROPERTY ( the " Additional Land") the

owners of which may opt -in to the Master Plan as provided herein; provided such Additional
Lands are opted -in to the Master Plan on or before sixty (60) months after the completion by the
CITY of all roadway improvements at S. R. 436 and Magee]. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the

DEVELOPER shall only be responsible for the development of the PROPERTY and except for the
design of the initial Master Plan shall have no other obligation to any other property owner of

such Additional Land. Moreover, without the express written consent of the DEVELOPER no

amendment or enlargement of the Master Plan shall occur which adversely affects, impedes or
devalues the development, construction, ownership, use, leasing and operation of the
improvements on the PROPERTY in accordance herewith. When any owner of Additional Land

desires to include and develop such Additional Land as part of the CITY CENTER PROJECT, such
landowner shall apply to CITY to amend the Master Plan as provided herein, which amendment
or enlargement of the Master Plan shall not adversely affect, impede or devalue the

development, construction, ownership, use, leasing and operation of the improvements on the

PROPERTY by the DEVELOPER. 

5. Amendment to Master Plan. The Master Plan may be changed and amended as
follows: 

a. The DEVELOPER may apply to the CITY to adjust the size and location of the phases
as depicted on the Master Plan and shall have the right to develop, improve, 
market and/ or sell phases or portions of the PROPERTY in a single phase or as

many separate phases, phasing plans, parcels or portions and in any order as
determined by the DEVELOPER and approved by the CITY. The foregoing maybe
reflected in applications or requests for final development plans submitted to the

CITY. Other than the foregoing, the DEVELOPER and the CITY shall have the right
to request an amendment or modification to the Master Plan at any time and if

the DEVELOPER and the CITY agree on any such amendment or modification, it
shall be reflected in a written amendment to this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT. 

b. Upon request and application of any owner of Additional Land who is not the
DEVELOPER who requests to be included in the Master Plan, which application

shall be ( i) at the sole cost of the landowner, ( ii) subject to approval at a public

hearing of CITY, ( iii) only after notice under Section 22, below to DEVELOPER has
been provided 60 days prior to any such public hearing, and ( iv) whom shall be
required to execute its own development agreement with CITY to cover the

4

57



subject matter contained herein and whatever additional requirements CITY may

impose. 

6. Site Specific Development. 

a. For each specified portion, phase or parcel of the PROPERTY designated in the

Master Plan, a final development plan must be approved by CITY Staff prior to the

issuance of the building permit. 

b. In developing any particular phase, portion or parcel of the PROPERTY, the
DEVELOPER shall be obligated to construct only the infrastructure and amenities
contained within that phase, portion or parcel of the PROPERTY, and shall not be

required to construct infrastructure and amenities extending beyond such phase, 
portion or parcel. 

Notwithstanding subsection b. above, each phase, portion or parcel of the
PROPERTY in combination with previous phases must be able to exist on its own

with respect to necessary access, parking, signage and utilities. 

d. The first phase of the development of the PROPERTY shall include at least one of

the required sit-down, stand alone restaurants described in Exhibit " E" to this

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT. 

7. Payment of Applicable Fees. The DEVELOPER shall be required to pay any and all
impact fees, reservation utility fees ( if any), infrastructure and subdivision improvement

guarantees, sureties, letters of credit, etc. specifically and directly applicable to uses on the
specific phase, portion or parcel of the PROPERTY for which plan approvals and site development

and subdivision improvements permits are being issued, and only upon the issuance of such
permits and not prior to such issuance. DEVELOPER shall pay impact fees at the time of permit
issuance consistent with the CITY Rules and in any case not to exceed the then applicable rates. 

DEVELOPER shall remain eligible for any applicable credits as provided in the City Code. 

8. Developer Obligations. In addition to those obligations set forth elsewhere in this

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT: 

a. The DEVELOPER shall design, obtain all necessary permits for, and manage the
construction of: 

the pedestrian walkway, public assembly area and bike way on the
bank( s) of the POND, all as shown on the Master Plan, for the use

and benefit of the general public (the Costs of which shall be paid

58



by the CITY); and

ii. the pedestrian walkway(s) and bike way(s) on the PROPERTY for
the use of the general public, both of which shall be integrated with

and connected to the POND property, as shown in the Master Plan. 

b. The timing, commencement and completion of the design, permitting and
construction of the items in Section 7. a. shall be as reasonably determined by
DEVELOPER, but no later than twenty-four (24) months after the purchase of the
first parcel pursuant to the S& P Agreement. 

c. The parking lots shall be constructed and located so as to allow for ease of
pedestrian connections to and from such parking lots and the POND property as
shown in the Master Plan. 

d. The DEVELOPER shall either pay the Costs, or reimburse the CITY or other
appropriate party for the Costs, incurred in negotiating and finalizing the S& P
Agreement and this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT, which payment and

reimbursement shall be due at the time of the purchase of the first portion of the

PROPERTY under the S& P Agreement. 

e. From and after the Effective Date, the DEVELOPER shall perform periodic and

routine maintenance of the PROPERTY until the termination of this

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT or the final closing and sale of any parcel or portion

of the PROPERTY to a third party who shall then take over DEVELOPER' S
maintenance obligations with respect to such conveyed parcel or portion. 

Provided, the Highland Manor and all associated parking lots, driveways, 

walkways, buildings, structures and improvements ( collectively the " Highland

Manor") shall continue to be maintained by the CITY and not the DEVELOPER. 

f. DEVELOPER shall convey at no cost to the CITY any reasonably necessary
easements for public utilities and public pedestrian access ( as described in the

Master Plan) as may be reasonably required by the CITY for any approval and
consistent with this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT and the Master Plan, which

easements shall be in the form mutually agreed upon by the CITY and DEVELOPER. 

g. On or before eighteen ( 18) months from the Effective Date of this agreement, the

DEVELOPER shall have acquired the first parcel under the S& P Agreement and

commenced construction thereon. On or before thirty-six (36) months after the
Effective Date commencement of construction on the first acquired parcel, the

DEVELOPER shall have acquired the second parcel under the S& P Agreement and

31

9
59



commenced construction thereon. Within forty-eight (48) months following the
completion of the 436/ Magee Roadway Improvements ( as hereinafter defined) 
the DEVELOPER shall have acquired and commenced construction on a minimum

of fifty percent (50.00%) of the planned improvements within the portion of the

PROPERTY bounded by U. S. Highway 441 on the north, 6th Street on the south, 
and South Magee Avenue on the west. 

h. It is the intention of the CITY and the DEVELOPER that the DEVELOPER acquire the

PROPERTY with the intention of developing and improving the PROPERTY for lease
or further resale or selling portions of the PROPERTY without developing such
portions to third parties who intend to develop such portions themselves, all in
accordance with the terms, obligations and conditions of the DEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT. There shall be no restrictions on the resale of portions of the

PROPERTY in accordance with the foregoing provided a valid final site plan
approval has been issued for the portion of the property to be sold. 

i. The DEVELOPER shall order a survey of the PROPERTY on or before ten ( 10) days
after the Effective Date and must submit to the CITY a preliminary subdivision plan

for the PROPERTY within sixty (60) days of the DEVELOPER' S receipt of the survey. 

j. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, the DEVELOPER shall
pay the Costs associated with the portion of the boardwalk and/ or sidewalk
located immediately behind the restaurants as shown on the Master Plan. 

9. Property Owners Association. The DEVELOPER shall create, incorporate and fund

a property owners association for any and all common elements of any portion of the PROPERTY
for maintenance, repair, the replacement of the parking, access, signage, walkways, drainage, 
bike racks and bike paths, board walks, common elements and public assembly area( s) or

parcel( s), all as more particularly set forth in a declaration of covenants, conditions and
restrictions (the " Declaration") which must comply with this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT, be in
recordable form and shall be recorded against the PROPERTY free and clear of any lien, 
encumbrance, judgment or mortgage of record prior to the issuance of the first development

permit for the PROPERTY. Each current or subsequent owner of a parcel within the PROPERTY

shall be and is a member of the property owners association. Until such time as DEVELOPER

conveys or transfers any common areas, lands, and obligations to the property owners
association, DEVELOPER shall remain responsible for the maintenance of such areas. 

10. Potable Water and Sanitary Sewer Lines. 

a. In connection with its development of the PROPERTY, the DEVELOPER shall cause

to be designed, permitted, installed and constructed, potable water and sanitary

7

60



sewer lines ( collectively the " Water and Sewer Lines"), commencing from the
point of connection for such lines at the point nearest to the PROPERTY, all in

accordance with the CITY Rules and requirements, of sufficient size and capacity

to accommodate the anticipated potable water and sanitary sewer flow
requirements for the PROPERTY. 

b. The DEVELOPER has requested a total flow for the PROPERTY at 107,000 gallons

per day of usage for water and sewer capacity, which do not require the need to
oversize the water or sewer lines for the use of the PROPERTY. 

c. If portions of the PROPERTY are approved for development and require additional

capacity, the Developer shall have same installed at its cost, subject to any credits
as provided in the City Code and subject to reimbursement on a pro -rata basis for
shared use of the additional capacity. 

d. The DEVELOPER shall control all aspects of the construction and installation of the

Water and Sewer Lines and shall select and hire any independent contractors to
complete the work as it shall determine. All work subject to permitting and

inspection by the CITY subject to requirements of the CITY Rules. 

e. DEVELOPER shall be responsible to design, plan and construct and dedicate to the

CITY a lift station and related improvements ( the " Lift Station") near the

intersection of U. S. Highway 441 and East 6th Street. 

f. The foregoing work described in subsections a. through e. shall be paid for by the
DEVELOPER ( subject to the credit and reimbursement provisions of subsection c. 

above). 

g. All of the CITY Rules, requirements and specifications concerning utility

connections and solid waste collection apply to the PROPERTY and development
thereof. 

h. The DEVELOPER may obtain water and sewer capacity through the CITY' s
established reservation procedures, when applicable; provided, however, the CITY

shall provide written notification to the DEVELOPER prior to accepting

reservations for or allocating potable water and wastewater capacity to third
parties which would result in an insufficient potable water and wastewater

capacity being available for the PROPERTY. 

i. There shall be no requirement that reclaimed ( reuse) water systems be connected

to or used by on the PROPERTY and its improvements and neither the DEVELOPER

8

lk
61



nor its successors and assigns shall be required to pay for any such connection and
use. 

11. Drainage. 

a. The POND serves as a nonexclusive retention/ detention pond for water

attenuation and storage for the surrounding 320.20 acre drainage basin which
area is described in attached Exhibit " H" ( the " Drainage Basin"), which includes all

of the PROPERTY. 

b. CITY hereby confirms and agrees that attenuation surface water drainage
requirements for the PROPERTY, as it may be improved, developed, used, and
occupied, shall be serviced by the POND up to 27. 12 acre- feet of flow based on
SJRWMD Permit #20922- 2, calculated as a proportionate share of the total 234.71

acre-feet of stormwater runoff permitted to reach the POND based on the acreage

of the PROPERTY versus the total acreage of the drainage basin ( 320. 1 acres) 

contributing to the POND. 

c. After five ( 5) years, the capacity of the POND shall be on a first-come first-served
basis and in the event the drainage flow into the POND is at capacity, the
DEVELOPER shall be required to engineer and construct on the PROPERTY on- site

retention and detention for water quality and attenuation. 

d. The CITY shall keep records of the cubic feet of surface and stormwater
attenuation drainage generated by DEVELOPER from the PROPERTY. 

e. Upon approval of any final development plans by CITY for each portion or phase
of development within the PROPERTY, the DEVELOPER shall have the right, subject

to the requirements of subsections b. and c. above, to transmit, retain and detain, 

all of the surface and stormwater generated from the PROPERTY into and within

the POND. 

f. The POND shall also serve as a central amenity of the CITY CENTER PROJECT and
shall be incorporated as a public recreational element and water feature the

integration and characteristics of which will be determined by the CITY, is not

inconsistent with the water levels and carry capacity of the POND, and

incorporates and does not prevent the existing and future drainage flows, surface
and stormwater sewer and related ditches or pipes flowing from the entire
drainage basin to the POND. 

12. Good Faith. 

Cr

k& 
62



a. The CITY hereby agrees to timely and expeditiously consider, comment on and
approve ( subject to applicable requirements) any required changes in the

allowable use of the PROPERTY, FLUM amendments, Comp Plan amendments, and
this Master Plan which affect land use or development standards, rezonings, and

special exceptions, as may be required to conform to this DEVELOPMENT
AGREEMENT and the Master Plan. 

b. The CITY agrees to timely and expeditiously consider, process, comment on and

approve (subject to applicable requirements) any and all submittals, applications, 

decisions, determinations, preliminary and final development plans, development

orders, actions, consents and approvals, including any request by the DEVELOPER
for a planned development ordinance if consistent with this DEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT and the Master Plan, which are necessary or reasonably required to

allow the DEVELOPER to obtain all necessary approvals, and to construct, improve, 
and develop the PROPERTY and its phases, in accordance with this DEVELOPMENT
AGREEMENT and the Master Plan. 

c. Nothing in this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT shall constitute or be deemed to
constitute a limitation, restriction or any other type of waiver of DEVELOPER right

or ability to seek a rezoning, comprehensive plan amendment, variance, special

exception, site plan, preliminary or final development plan, planned development

ordinance or any other land use or development approval or development order. 

13. Highland Manor. 

a. The DEVELOPER shall manage and direct the incorporation, demolition and/ or

relocation of the historic portion of Highland Manor, including all of its associated

parking lots, driveways, walkways, buildings, structures and improvements as
applicable in accordance with this Section 12 and other provisions of this

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT as provided herein: 

If the DEVELOPER incorporates Highland Manor into the CITY

CENTER PROJECT, the DEVELOPER shall pay all the costs of
incorporation, demolition and/ or relocation. 

ii. If the DEVELOPER elects not to incorporate Highland Manor into

the CITY CENTER PROJECT on the PROPERTY, then the DEVELOPER

shall provide the notice to the CITY in subsection 12. c., below. 

b. Until the use of Highland Manor must cease pursuant to subsection 12. c., below, 

10

9
63



the CITY shall: 

continue to maintain, use, and operate Highland Manor for its sole

use and profits and revenues; and

ii. during such period, the property of Highland Manor shall be
maintained by the CITY or its tenant or designee. 

c. The DEVELOPER shall provide the CITY a written notice ( the " Relocation Notice") 

that Highland Manor must be demolished or moved within 12 months of the date

the Relocation Notice is received by the CITY ( the " Relocation Notice Receipt

Date"). Within sixty ( 60) days of the Relocation Notice Receipt Date, the CITY
shall confirm in writing to the DEVELOPER that it intends to move the historic
portion of Highland Manor to an alternate location ( the " Relocation Site"), as

determined by the CITY in its sole discretion. 

d. The CITY shall be obligated to complete the relocation and/ or demolition of the

Highland Manor within twelve (12) months of the Relocation Notice Receipt Date, 

but in no event earlier than eighteen ( 18) months after the Effective Date ( the

Relocation Date"). If the Highland Manor has not been either demolished or

relocated by the Relocation Date, then: ( i) the CITY shall be obligated to pay to the
DEVELOPER a daily penalty in the amount of Five Hundred Dollars ($ 500.00) for

each day beyond the Relocation Date that the Highland Manor is not completely
demolished and/ or removed from its present location to the Relocation Site, and

ii) the DEVELOPER shall have the right to demolish and/ or remove Highland

Manor from its present location, and the CITY shall be obligated to reimburse the

DEVELOPER for all Costs associated with the DEVELOPER' s demolition and/ or

removal of Highland Manor. 

e. The CITY shall manage and direct the relocation and/ or demolition of the Highland

Manor pursuant to the Relocation Notice, and the CITY shall be solely responsible
for all costs and expenses associated with the planning, managing, directing, 
engineering, services, work, labor, and materials required to demolish all of the
Highland Manor or remove the historic portion of Highland Manor to the Agreed

Relocation Site. 

14. Roadway Improvements. The DEVELOPER shall be responsible for the design, 

planning, engineering, permitting, and construction of: 

a. the roadway, sidewalk, buffer, traffic signalization, turn lane and related

improvements at the intersection of South Magee Avenue and State Road 436, 

11

64



including a right turn deceleration lane westbound at State Road 436 to South
Magee Avenue (the " 436/ Magee Roadway Improvements"); and

b. all roadway, sidewalk, buffer, traffic signalization, turn lane and related

improvements at the intersection of U. S. Highway 441 and East 6th Street ( the

441/ 6th Roadway Improvements"). 

While the DEVELOPER shall have the responsibility for the foregoing, the CITY shall be
solely obligated to pay and/ or reimburse all Costs incurred by the DEVELOPER or
associated with the roadway improvements specified in subsections a. and b. above, and
any other required off-site ( i.e., off -PROPERTY) improvements. To the extent allowed

pursuant to applicable CITY Rules, the CITY shall pay for the foregoing from a funded
escrow account to be established in accordance with an agreement between the

DEVELOPER and the CITY which shall consist of funds from the net purchase proceeds

received by the CITY in connection with the conveyance of the PROPERTY pursuant to the
S& P Agreement and any impact fees paid in connection with the development and
improvement of the PROPERTY. The CITY may pursue reimbursement or payment of

such roadway improvements costs from the Florida Department of Transportation. In

addition, the CITY shall be responsible for the design, planning, engineering, permitting, 

construction and all costs associated with the planned East 6th Street improvements west

of the intersection of U. S. Highway 441 and East 6th Street, which shall be considered a
part of the 441/ 6th Roadway Improvements. 

15. City Financial Obligations. Unless otherwise specifically listed herein this

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT, nothing else herein shall be construed or interpreted to: 

a. Pledge the full faith and credit of the City or constitute a general obligation or

indebtedness of the CITY; 

b. Constitute a pledge or an agreement to pledge the tax revenues (excluding impact
fees) of the CITY or mandate ; or

c. Waive sovereign immunity of the CITY except as specifically limited for tort claims
under Section 768.28, Florida Statutes. 

16. Bankruptcy. In the event (a) an order or decree is entered appointing a receiver

for Developer or its assets or (b) a petition is filed by Developer for relief under federal bankruptcy

laws or any other similar law or statute of the United States, which action is not dismissed, 
vacated or discharged within sixty days after the filing thereof, then DEVELOPER shall be declared
to be in material breach of this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT and City shall have the. right to

terminate immediately this Agreement and accelerate, making immediately due and payable, all
sums levied against the PROPERTY at the time of the occurrence of an event described in ( a) or

b) above. The occurrence of an event described in ( a) or (b) above shall not afford any person

12

ii
65



the right to refuse, discontinue or defer payment of said sums or to challenge their validity. 

17. Breach. In the event of a breach, default, or violation of one or more of the provisions of

this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT by either the DEVELOPER or the CITY, the violating party shall

be given thirty (30) days to cure such violation upon receipt of written notice of the violation
from a non -violating party. In the event such violation is not cured within said period, the CITY

or the DEVELOPER, as the case may be, shall have the right to pursue the remedies in Section 18, 
below; provided, however, if the defaulting party' s violation cannot reasonably be cured within
the applicable cure period, then the cure period shall not be deemed to have lapsed and such

party shall be allowed additional time as is reasonably necessary to cure the violation so long as: 
i) the defaulting party commences to cure the violation within the applicable cure period, and
ii) the defaulting party diligently pursues a course of action that will cure the violation and bring

the defaulting party back into compliance with this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT. 

18. Remedies / Limitations of Action. 

a. The DEVELOPER and the CITY each agree the sole remedy for breach of this
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT shall be to specifically enforce the terms and
conditions hereof. This provision shall not limit any other rights or remedies the
parties have under the S& P Agreement. 

b. The DEVELOPER and the CITY each waive any and all claims or causes of action for

monetary damages such party has or may have currently or in the future as to any
claim related to, resulting from or stemming from this DEVELOPMENT
AGREEMENT. 

c. Neither party shall be entitled to damages based on lost profits, lost revenues, 
direct, indirect or consequential damages. 

d. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein this DEVELOPMENT AGEEMENT, 
in the event of a breach, default, or violation of one or more of the provisions

herein by the DEVELOPER or the CITY, the violating party shall be given thirty (30) 
days to cure such violation upon receipt of written notice of the violation from a

non -violating party. 

e. Additional Rights of the CITY with Respect to DEVELOPER' s Breach After

Conveyance of the PROPERTY. If DEVELOPER acquires the PROPERTY or any

portion thereof from CITY before obtaining all necessary permits to commence
vertical construction thereon, and thereafter DEVELOPER materially breaches any
of the terms of this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT and fails to cure same within the

time period specified herein, then CITY, upon written demand ( CITY' s Notice) to

13

ig66



DEVELOPER, shall have the additional rights below: 

1. To require DEVELOPER to re -convey the acquired PROPERTY or any
portions thereof: ( i) for which such necessary permits have not been
obtained, ( ii) on which vertical construction or development have not

been commenced ( or the remaining undeveloped and unsold portion( s) 

thereof, as the case may be) to the CITY in accordance with the following
terms and conditions: 

i. The date on which the re -conveyance closing will take place shall

be mutually agreed to by CITY and DEVELOPER, but in no event
later than sixty ( 60) days following the DEVELOPER' s receipt of
CITY' s Notice. 

ii. The re -conveyance price to be paid by CITY to DEVELOPER shall be
the lesser of: ( i) the amount the CITY was paid by DEVELOPER for

the PROPERTY or any portion thereof (per square foot) to be re - 
conveyed, or ( ii) the amount the CITY was paid by DEVELOPER for
the PROPERTY or any portion thereof ( per square foot) to be re - 
conveyed, less the amount of any liens or mortgages thereon. If

the amount of any outstanding lien( s) or mortgage( s) exceed the
amount the CITY was paid by DEVELOPER for the PROPERTY or any
portion thereof (per square foot) to be re -conveyed to CITY, the

balance of such lien( s) or mortgage(s) shall be paid by DEVELOPER
prior to or at closing on the re -conveyance. 

iii. Re -conveyance shall be by special warranty deed, free and clear of
any liens or encumbrances other than ( a) those matters of record
which exist on the date of closing of the DEVELOPER' s acquisition

of the PROPERTY, ( b) customary easements or service agreements
entered into between DEVELOPER and the providers of utility

services, including but not limited to electric, water, sewer, and
telecommunications services, and ( c) such other matters which do

not impair the marketability of title to the property. 

iv. DEVELOPER shall, at no expense to the CITY, convey all studies, 

reports, test and audit results, engineering work, surveys, design
and construction plans and working drawings, and all other

materials pertaining to development of the PROPERTY. 

v. The CITY may demand payment from DEVELOPER to remove any

14

67



construction liens encumbering the PROPERTY. 

9

The rights and remedies under Section 18( e) of this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT are entirely

optional and shall be exercised by CITY only in its sole discretion without any obligation to do so. 
The CITY shall be obligated, within ten ( 10) days following the written request of the DEVELOPER, 

to provide an executed estoppel certificate or letter, in a form reasonably required by any lender

or non- affiliated third party purchaser, confirming whether there currently exists any uncured

violations by the DEVELOPER hereunder and whether the CITY' s reconveyance rights have been
triggered with respect to the PROPERTY or any specified portion thereof. 

19. Authority. Each party represents and warrants to the other parties that it has all
necessary power and authority to enter into and consummate the terms and conditions of this
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT, that all acts, approvals, procedures, and similar matters required

in order to authorize this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT have been taken, obtained, or followed, 

as the case may be, and that, upon the execution of this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT by all
parties, this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT shall be valid and binding upon the parties hereto and
their successors in interest and assigns. 

20. Effective Date. This DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT shall become effective on the

date last signed by any of the parties (the " Effective Date") and shall expire on the thirtieth (30th) 

anniversary of the Effective Date. 

21. Validi . If any portion of this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT is determined by final
order or judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, unconstitutional, 

unenforceable or void, the balance of the DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT shall continue in full force

and effect. 

22. Notices. Any notices required or permitted under this DEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT, and copies thereof, shall be addressed to the CITY and the DEVELOPER at the

following addresses, or at such other addresses designated in writing by the party to receive
notice. 

CITY: HONORABLE Joe Kilsheimer, or his successor

Mayor for the City of Apopka
120 East Main Street

Post Office Drawer 1229

Apopka, Florida 32704- 1229

Facsimile: 407- 703- 1705; Email: Rirby@apopka. net

15

68



With a copy to: CITY ADMINISTRATOR

CITY CLERK

120 East Main Street

Post Office Drawer 1229

Apopka, Florida 32704-1229

CITY LEGAL COUNSEL

Clifford B. Shepard, Esq. 

Shepard, Smith and Cassady, P. A. 

2300 Maitland Center Parkway
Suite 100

Maitland, Florida 32751

Facsimile: 407- 622- 1884; E- mail: cshepard@shepardfirm. com

DEVELOPER: DEVELOPER Apopka City Center, LLC, a Florida limited liability
company; Attn: Jeffrey K. McFadden
610 North Wymore Road, Suite 200

Maitland, Florida 32751

Facsimile: 407-539- 6181; Email: imcfadden@tiholdings.com

With a copy to: Keating & Schlitt, P. A., Attn: John Kingman Keating

250 East Colonial Drive, Suite 300

Orlando, Florida 32801

Facsimile: 407-425- 6345; Email: ikk c keatlaw.com

Notices shall be either: ( i) personally delivered ( including delivery by Federal Express or other
overnight courier service) to the addresses set forth above, in which case they shall be deemed

delivered on the date of delivery; ( ii) sent by certified mail, return receipt requested, in which

case they shall be deemed delivered on the date shown on the receipt unless delivery is refused
or intentionally delayed by the addressee, in which event they shall be deemed delivered on the
date of deposit in the U. S. Mail; or ( iii) transmitted via facsimile or email using the facsimile

numbers or email addresses provided above, if any ( or such other number or address as the

receiving party may have designated in writing), in which case the delivery shall be deemed to
have occurred on the day of transmission, provided the day of transmission is a normal business
day, or on the first normal business day after the transmission. In the event a dispute arises

concerning whether a facsimile or email transmission was made and on what date, said facsimile
or email transmission must be verified by a print-out generated by the transmitting machine or
email address. 

23. Entire Agreement. This DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT embodies the entire

understanding of the parties with respect to the matters specifically enumerated herein, and all

16

69



negotiations, representations, warranties and agreements made between the parties are merged

herein. The making, execution and delivery of this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT by all parties
has been induced by no representations, statements, warranties or agreements that are not
expressed herein. There are no further or other agreements or understandings; written or oral, 

in effect between or among the parties related to the subject matter hereof. 

24. Assignment. Neither this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT nor any of the parties' 

rights and obligations hereunder shall be assignable or assigned by any party hereto without prior
written consent of the other party; provided however, that the DEVELOPER may assign this
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT to any affiliated or related entity or any entity obtaining DEVELOPER
rights herein through a merger or acquisition. The rights granted to DEVELOPER under this

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT relate specifically to the PROPERTY and are not permitted to be
transferred to any other property. 

25. Binding Effect and Successors. This DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT shall run with the

Property and the rights and the obligations under this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT shall benefit, 
burden, and bind the successors, heirs and assigns of all parties to this DEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT. In the event of the assignment of this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT, or the

conveyance or transfer of the PROPERTY, the DEVELOPER shall be and remain liable for
performance of the obligations under this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT until such time as a

written release is obtained from the CITY. 

26. Amendment. Except as otherwise provided herein, this DEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT may be amended, modified or cancelled by mutual consent of the parties hereto as
represented by a written document executed by the CITY and the DEVELOPER. 

27. Governing Law. Venue and Jurisdiction. This DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT shall be

governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida. Exclusive venue

in any action to construe or enforce the provisions of this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT shall be
in the Circuit Court in and for Orange County, Florida, and both parties consent to and acquiesce
to the jurisdiction of the State Courts for the State of Florida for any and all claims or dispute

concerning any legal or equitable action arising out of, stemming from or relating to this
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT, any approval, action or event emanating therefrom in the present
or the future and for any declaratory action under Chapter 86, Florida Statutes (2015). 

28. Time. Time is hereby declared to be of the essence in the performance of the
duties and obligations of the respective parties to this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT; provided

however, that the computation of time for DEVELOPER' S obligations herein shall be tolled for any

delays caused by acts of God, strikes, local and national emergency, material shortage, 
transportation delays, moratoriums, condemnations and other events beyond DEVELOPER' S

control. 

17

70



29. Captions. The captions or paragraph headings of this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

are provided for convenience only and shall not be deemed to explain, modify, amplify or aid in
the interpretation, or meaning of this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT. 

30. Recording. Within fourteen ( 14) days after the execution of this DEVELOPMENT

AGREEMENT by the parties, the CITY shall record this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT among the
Public Records of Orange County, Florida, with the cost thereof to be borne by the DEVELOPER; 
provided, however, that any delay in recording shall not affect the validity of this DEVELOPMENT
AGREEMENT. 

31. Independent Parties. CITY and DEVELOPER are not partners and this

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT is not a joint venture and nothing in this DEVELOPMENT
AGREEMENT shall be construed to authorize the CITY or DEVELOPER to represent or bind the any

other party to matters not expressly authorized or provided in this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT. 

32. No Third -Party Beneficiaries. Nothing in this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT, 
express or implied, is intended to or will be construed to confer on any person, other than the
parties of this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT, any right, remedy, or claim with respect to this
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the CITY Commission of the CITY of Apopka, Florida, a Florida
municipal corporation, and DEVELOPER, Apopka City Center, LLC, a Florida limited liability
company, have caused this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT to be executed as of the date set forth
adjacent to their signatures below, and the AGENCY, the City of Apopka Community

Redevelopment Agency, hereby joins in and consents to this DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT. r

WITNESSES: CITY

ZAR E

WITNESS N ME PRINTED

tWINESS SIGN URE

WITNESS NAME PRINTED

By: 
Hono mer, Mayor

Date Executed: — 
OlD 16, 

AGENCY

18

71



NAT E

1u ml I, oycr v 
WITNESS NAME PRINTED

WITNESS SIGNATURE

WITNESS NAME PRINTED

WITNESSES: 

J1 Eel0ON
is. 

THE CITY OF APOP

REDEVAOPMEK

By: 

1101111lv

I' 

Hon Kai eimer, Chairman

ecuted: 

DEVELOPER

TAURUS APOPKA CITY CENTER, LLC, a

Florida limited liabilitv comn.-isft

19

K. McFadden, Manager

PF

Executed: 1 I to

972



EXHIBIT " A" - LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY

Note: Has not been adjusted to account for increase in Pond acreage

No. 

1

Parcel ID

10- 21-28-0000-00-063

PropertyEstimated
Address

611 E Main St Apopka FL 32703 6.42

2 10- 21- 28- 8652- 03- 020 604 E Main St Apopka FL 32703 11.41

3 10- 21-28- 8652-01-041 806 E 6th Apopka FL 32703 0. 33

4 10- 21- 28-0000-00-065 325 S MCGEE AVE Apopka FL 32703 1. 12

5 10-21- 28-0000-00-066 805 E 6TH ST Apopka FL 32703 1.44

6 10- 21- 28- 8652-04-020 506 S MCGEE AVE Apopka FL 32703 0. 82

7 10- 21- 28- 8652-04-032 508 S MCGEE AVE Apopka FL 32703 0. 34

8 15- 21- 28-0000-00-001 461 E 7th ST Apopka FL 32703 10.01

9 15- 21- 28- 6756-00- 191 none Apopka FL 32703 2. 81

34.70

1. BEG 726. 5 FT E OF SW COR OF NW1/ 4 OF SE1/ 4 RUN E 506 FT N 638.5 FT W 506 FT S 638.5 FT TO POB IN SEC
10- 21- 28 ( LESS S 63 FT FOR RD & LESS PT ON S TAKEN FOR R/ W PER 5515/ 2383 CI 98- 2740) 

2. L F TILDENS ADDITION TO APOPKA A/ 140 BEG 256 FT N OF SW COR OF LOT 2 RUN N 173.88 FT NELY ALONG
CURVE 31. 34 FT E 207.08 FT S 211.38 FT W 71 FT N 17.18 FT W 156 FT TO POB BEING PT OF LOTS 1 & 2 BLK C

A PARCEL OF LAND MEASURING 160 FT E & W BY 95 FT N & S IN SW COR OF LOT 3 BLK C & THAT PART OF

SE1/ 4 DESC AS BEG 71 FT E OF NW COR LOT 1 BLK C OF TILDENS ADD TO APOPKA A/ 140 RUN E 154.9 FT S 15
FT E 290 FT S 120 FT W 200 FT S 165 FT E 207.28 FT S 496.95 FT W 520. 11 FT N 98 FT E 160 FT N 500.34 FT E 156
FT S 17.89 FT E 70.89 FT N 211. 21 FT TO POB ( LESS LIFT STATION SITE) & ( LESS PT TAKEN ON N FOR R/ W PER

OR 5753/ 4449 CI98- 2847) IN SEC 10- 21- 28 SEE 1448/ 209 3736/ 2490 5185/ 1607 5193/ 309 & 3003 5246/ 775

5283/ 488 & 4915326/ 1235

3. L F TILDENS ADDITION TO APOPKA A/ 140 LOT 4 LYING S OF STATE RD BLK A

4. E 243 FT OF W 418 FT OF S 258 1/ 2 FT OF NW1/ 4 OF SE1/ 4 ( LESS RD ON W PER 3138/ 402 & LESS S 40 FT FOR

RD) SEC 10- 21- 28

5. E 308.5 FT OF W 726. 5 FT OF S 258.5 FT OF NWl/4 OF SE1/ 4 SEC 10- 21- 28 ( LESS RD ON S) 

6. L F TILDENS ADDITION TO APOPKA A/ 140 THE S 127.58 FT OF LOT 2 & N 117 FT OF LOT 3 BLK D

7. L F TILDENS ADDITION TO APOPKA A/ 140 THE S 100 FT OF N 217 FT OF LOT 3 BLK D

8. BEG SE COR OF SW 1/ 4 OF SEC 10- 21- 28 TH S 531.25 FT TH W 252.04 FT TO THE ELY R/ W OF ALABAMA AVE TH
NO1- 46- 38W 111. 31 FT ALONG SAID R/ W TH N 420.41 FT TH N89 -54- 29W 3. 51 FT TH N00 -13- 28E 21. 67 FT TH
589- 10- 03E 90.22 FT TH N00 -12- 03E 120.69 FT N89 -35- 35W 89.22 FT TO E R/ W LINE OF ALABAMA AVE TH N00- 
13 -26E 294.46 FT TH S89 -43- 12E 252.57 FT TH NOO- 30- OOW 21.42 FT TH N90E 147 FT 500- 30- OOE 13.74 FT TH
90E 299.39 FT TH S 442.99 FT TH N90W 442.53 FT TO POB

9. COMM NE CORNER OF NW 1/ 4 OF SEC 15- 21- 28 TH S 531.25 FT TO POB TH S 141 FT TH S90E 160.95 FT TH S
30 FT TO A NON -TAN INTERSECTION WITH A CURVE CONC TO E WITH A RADIUS OF 85. 62 FT AND A CENT
ANGLE OF 72- 23- 29 AND A CHORD BEARING 508- 42- 07W 101.13 FT TH 526-27-43W 33. 32 FT TH 556- 26- OOE
150 FT TH 533- 34- OOW 140 FT TH N56- 26- OOW 294.89 FT TO POC CONC NE W/ RADIUS OF 407.15 FT AND A
CENT ANGLE OF 55- 50-42 AND A DIST OF 396.84 FT TH NO1- 46- 38W 3. 69 FT TH N90E 252.04 FT TO POB

20

73



EXHIBIT " B" — POND LEGAL DESCRIPTION

Note: Has not been adjusted to account for increase in Pond acreage

Parce1110- R- part Road Section 7502- 105

Parcel 194 -part, Parcel195 Road Section75120- 2502

A portion of land lying in the Southeast X of Section 10, Township 21 South, Range 28 East, Orange County, Florida, 
being more particularly described as follows: 

BEGIN at the Southwest corner of Lot 3, Block " B", L. F. Tilden' s Addition to Apopka City, as recorded in Plat Book " A", 

Page 140, Public Records of Orange County, Florida, also being a point of intersection of the existing Right -of -Way
line of State Road 500, U. S. Highway 441 as shown on the Florida Department of Transportation Right -of -Way Map
for State Road 436, Section No.75120- 2506, Sheet 3 of 17, Dated June 1996; thence North 00° 10' 44" East, 497.64 feet

along the West line of said Block " B" and the East line of Lot 2, Townsend' s Plantation as recorded in Plat Book
26, Page 145, Public Records of Orange County, Florida, also being the existing Right -of -Way line of said State Road
500, U. S. Highway 441to a point of intersection on the Easterly line of said Lot 2, also being a point of intersection of
said existing Right -of -Way line of State Road 500, U. S. Highway 441; thence along said Lot 2 Easterly lot line and said
existing Right -of -Way line of State Road 500, U. S. Highway 441the following four (4) courses and distances; South
89° 57' 19" West, 207. 30 feet; thence North 00°02' 27" West, 164.96 feet; thence North 89°56' 41" East, 200.02 feet; 
thence North00°02' 50" West,80.66 feet to a point of intersection of said East line of Lott, the existing Right -of -Way
line of said State Road 500, U. S. 441,with a point on a non -tangent curve concave Southerly, having a radius of

2,053.48 feet, a central angle of 14°51' 20" and a chord bearing and distance of South 72° 12' 18" East, 530.93 feet; 

thence along said existing Right -of -Way line the following four (4) courses and distances; along the arc of said curve
532. 42 feet; thence North 25° 13' 22" East, 10. 00 feet to a point on a non -tangent curve concave Southerly, having a
radius of 2, 063. 48 feet, a central angle of 12° 56' 18" and a chord bearing and distance of South 58°18' 29" East, 464.98

feet; thence along the arc of said curve 465. 97 feet to the point of tangency; thence South 51° 50' 20" East, 243. 37
feet to the West Right -of -Way line of an Unnamed Street being between Blocks " A" and " B", also being the East line
of said Lot 4, Block " B", said Plat Book " A", Page 140; thence South 00°59' 38" West, 202. 14 feet along said line to
the Southeast corner of said Lot4,Block" B"; thence along the South line of said Lot 4,also being the North Right -of - 

Way line of East 6th Street said Plat Book " A", Page 140, North89°38' 53" West, 1, 087.40 feet to the POINT
OFBEGINNING. 

Containing: 617, 295 square feet or 14.171 acres more or less. 

Being a portion of the lands described and recorded in Official Records Book 1914, Pages 332 to 333. Together with
a portion of the lands described and recorded in Official Records Book 281, Pages 55 to 57 of the Public Records of

Orange County, Florida. 

AND

A portion of land lying in the Southeast X of Section 10, Township 21South, Range 28 East, Orange County, Florida, 
being more particularly described as follows: 

BEGIN at the Southwest corner of Lot 4, Block " A", L. F. Tilden' s Addition to Apopka City, as recorded in Plat Book "A", 

Page 140, Public Records of Orange County, Florida, said point being the intersection of the North Right of Way line
of East 6th Street as recorded in said Plat Book "A", Page 140, and the East Right of Way line of said Unnamed Street

being between Blocks " A" and " B", also being the West line of said Lot 4, Block " A" of said Plat Book " A", Page 140; 
thence North 00°59' 38" East, 136. 23 feet along said line to a point of intersection of said East Right -of -Way line with
the existing Right -of -Way line of State Road 500, U. S. Highway 441 as shown on the Florida Department of
Transportation Right -of -Way Map for State Road 436,Section No. 75120-2506; thence along said existing Right -of - 
Way line the following three ( 3) courses and distances; South 51°50' 20" East, 79. 67 feet; thence South 62° 02' 34" 
East, 152.41 feet; thence South 5150'20" East, 27.34 feet to a point of intersection with the North Right -of -Way line

of said East 6th Street also being the South line of said Lot 4 and Lot 5, Block " A" said Plat Book " A", Page 140; thence
North 89° 38' 53" West,221. 13 feet along said line to the POINT OF BEGINNING. 

Containing: 14,355 square feet or 0. 329 acres, more or less. 

Being the lands described in Final Judgment dated November 18th, 1970, Civil Action No. 70- 1115 of the Public
Records of Orange County, Florida. 

74



EXHIBIT " C" - MAP OF THE CITY CENTER PROJECT

IM71 - f

renwief y

Fifa

r in

Entire Apopka City .: if

City Center
R

Study Area

1441 436 _'
k, Mf,, E MA

Phase 1- 4; 
Years 1- 10

City Owned
Property Highland Manor

Retauranb City Of

2- 
Apopka Apop 2

Land Ap,, Oa
Years 6- 15 R e;jicnaf Land

EdPhases

As available or 311( pping Regional

requested City Of hopping
Apopka

Phases 4-6

Years 10-20
Race A

o By private land
I t Ti a( 

71
owners or

arni N
LTD4

E 81h SI

upon request

SIFiTinch

61 r iifAssisi
F 10th St

Chufch

Sandars

E 170- 11
h arfas EC

IM71 - f75



EXHIBIT " D" — Master Plan

F

vi

A- 

0

ES cc

z

77 

nT77, Lu

iN
3W 33931 S

LLJ

0
CC

vi

7 1

0

7 1
76



EXHIBIT " E" 

CITY CENTER PROJECT

DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS AND DESIGN CONDITIONS

W! 

1 Architectural and Development Design Manual shall be submitted to and approved

by the City prior to the submittal of the first building permit, and shall embrace
Florida Vernacular architectural theme unless otherwise approved by the City
Council. The manual shall address parking garages, Project area entrance\gateway
features, dumpster pad and trash enclosure screening, drive-through facilities, trash
receptacles, outdoor lighting stanchions, public plaza and gathering places, public
art, and appurtenances such as benches, outdoor railings, and trash dispensers. The

City' s architectural design consultant shall review all exterior architectural
renderings and make a determination of consistency with the Architectural Design
Manual with an appeals reviewed by City Council. The design manual shall also

address building mass and orientation. 
2 Restaurants — A minimum of 30,000 square feet of floor area shall be occupied by

restaurant business. A minimum of two ( 2) restaurants shall provide full table

service, sit-down dining in a stand-alone building with a minimum floor area of6, 500
square feet ( exclusive of outdoor seating) and shall offer at least lunch and dinner
time fare. All restaurants shall provide covered outdoor seating unless otherwise

determined by the Community Development Director that the location is not suitable
for outdoor seating. 

3 All restaurants with a drive-through must have in-store dining facilities. No more

than three restaurants may have drive-through facilities. Only one drive-through
lane allowed per restaurant ( Tandem service station may occur within the drive- 
through lane). All drive-through service stations and windows shall be screened

from Main Street and 6t' Street. No restaurants with drive-throughs may be of the
fast food variety that does not typically prepare food to order. Examples include but

are not limited to McDonalds, Burger King, Wendy' s, Popeye' s, KFC, Chic-Fil-A, 
Taco Bell, etcetera. 

4 Drive-through facilities at banks or financial institutions shall not exceed two service
stations. 

5 Parking Plan. A parking plan and study shall be provided prior to construction of
more than 20,000 square feet of non-residential development. The parking plan
shall demonstrate that sufficient on-site and on -street parking is available within 500
feet of the project boundary for Project employees and patrons. 

6 No more than 20,000 square feet ofoffice space shall be constructed until a full table

service, sit down restaurant 6, 500 sq. ft min. is also under construction. 
7 Building Mass: Any single -story commercial retail building shall not exceed

65, 000 square feet floor area. 

8 North of Sixth Street and south of Main Street: Residential development is not

allowed on the first floor ofbuildings. 

W! 
77



9 All residential apartments or townhomes shall be developed as luxury or up -scale
rental or condominium dwellings and shall include the following features: ability to
access Wireless High Speed Internet Access in the units, balcony or porch, walk-in
showers, energy-efficient appliances, full-size washer and dryer machines, walk- in
closets, and minimum 9 -foot high ceilings; and the complex shall include bicycle
storage areas. No laundry center allowed. Enclosed garage or covered parking
spaces are encouraged. 

10 Any hotel be interior room access only and shall have a minimum of 70 keyed
bedrooms and shall at minimum provide a lobby, customer lounge, business center, 
and a meeting room. 

11 Office: A minimum of 25,000 square feet and a maximum of 100,000 square feet

of offices ace is allowed within the Project. 

12 Building Orientation. All buildings located near Main Street or streets internal to

the project shall be oriented with the front of the building facing the street. 

78



EXHIBIT " F" — PERMITTED USES

1. Residential Multi -Family (non -subsidized, market rent) 
2. Assisted Living Facilities
3. Professional Office/ Institutional

4. Commercial Neighborhood

5. Retail Commercial

6. General Commercial, including but not limited to: 
a. medical

b. entertainment

c. hotel

d. restaurant and bar facilities

7. Parks and Recreation

8. Mixed -Use

9. Planned Unit Development

Y\, 

79



EXHIBIT " G" — NON -PERMITTED USES

1. Dollar Store( s), 

2. Tattoo parlors; 

3. Any state or governmental office; 
4. Plasma offices; 

5. Adult motel, Adult Performance Establishment, Adult Theater, Adult

booths, Adult bookstore, adult video store, Adult Entertainment, Adult

Entertainment Establishment( s) Establishment as defined in the City
Code, Sec 10-98, as amended, or as defined in the Orange County

Code, as amended, or any business that displays, sells or provides Adult
Material or Adult Model services as defined in Sec 10- 98 of the City
Code; 

6. Billboards or Outdoor Display advertising boards or pole mounted
structures; 

7. Cell towers (except roof -mounted); 

8. Recycling, refuse or garbage facilities or substations ( excluding
individual trash receptacles); 

9. Outdoor storage of equipment; 

10. Automotive sales or service; 

11. Automotive parts sales; 

12. Gas stations; 

13. Religious Facilities or Churches; 

14. Rental Car Storage, except for 10 spaces may be designated for use at a
satellite office at the hotel. 

15. Fast food restaurants (defined as those that do not typically prepare
food to order). Examples include but are not limited to McDonalds, 

Burger King, Wendy' s, Popeye' s, KFC, Chic- Fil- A, Taco Bell, etcetera. 

80



EXHIBIT " H" - DRAINAGE BASIN

I A lNk ' E BASIN (33,020. 20-acre)

lie • ` ' <  } 
Y:•...,:. 

ti. f.r.M Y J a. tW.•r

81



 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

  X  CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF:  June 20, 2018 

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:              Administration 

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:       Surplus Forms 

       OTHER:  
  

 

SUBJECT: SURPLUS PROPERTY 

 

REQUEST: AUTHORIZE THE DISPOSAL OF SURPLUS EQUIPMENT/PROPERTY AND 

REMOVAL OF ASSET PROPERTY FROM THE CITY ASSET LIST.  
  
SUMMARY: 

 

Staff requests City Council approval to dispose of surplus capital equipment/property which has no useful 

benefit to the daily operation of the city. This request is per Administrative Policy 122.1.1.II: “The 

disposal of capital asset property which is obsolete, or for which the continued use would be 

uneconomical or inefficient, shall be in accordance with Florida Statue 274 and must be approved by the 

City Council”. The asset property includes the disposal of items by auction, donation, or elimination. The 

attached forms identify equipment which is no longer functional or has usefulness to the city.  

  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

N/A    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Authorize the disposal of said equipment/property.  
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor      Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 

82



83



84



CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 

 

  
 

  X  CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF:    June 20, 2018 

_____PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:            City Clerk         

      SPECIAL REPORTS EXHIBITS:       Agreement 

      OTHER:     
 

SUBJECT: LEASE RENEWAL FOR AUNT GINGIBREAD’S BAKERY LLC LOCATED 

DOWNSTAIRS AT 409 S PARK AVENUE. 
 

Request: APPROVE THE LEASE AGREEMENT RENEWAL WITH AUNT GINGIBREAD’S 

BAKERY LLC, LOCATED DOWNSTAIRS AT 409 S PARK AVENUE, FOR AN 

ADDITIONAL ONE (1) YEAR, AND EXECUTION OF ALL ASSOCIATED 

DOCUMENTS. 
  
SUMMARY: 
 

The one year Lease Agreement with Aunt Gingibread’s Bakery LLC, downstairs at 409 South Park Avenue, 

expires on June 8, 2018.  It is requested the City Council grant a renewal of said lease in the amount of 

$600.00 per month.  

  
FUNDING SOURCE:    
 

N/A 
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Approve the renewal of the Lease Agreement as presented. 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Dir.   Public Services Director 

Commissioners     HR Director   City Clerk 

City Administrator    IT Director   Fire Chief 

Community Dev. Dir.    Police Chief    
 

 

85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



 

 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

X CONSENT AGENDA  MEETING OF: June 20, 2018 

 PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Vicinity Map 

 OTHER:   Capacity Enhancement Agreement 
  
SUBJECT:    CAPACITY ENHANCEMENT AGREEMENT – SAN SEBASTIAN RESERVE 

    

REQUEST:  APPROVAL OF THE SAN SEBASTIAN RESERVE SCHOOL CAPACITY 

ENHANCEMENT AGREEMENT  
SUMMARY:  

 

New residential development applications are reviewed by Orange County Public Schools for their impact 

placed on existing student capacity at public schools.  In 2008 the City of Apopka entered into an Interlocal 

Agreement with the Orange County School Board to address public school facility planning and implementation 

of school concurrency.  When school enrollment is over capacity at the affected public schools serving additional 

students generated by a proposed residential development, a new development must enter into a Capacity 

Enhancement Agreement to mitigate school overcrowding attributable to the anticipated additional students in 

the form of a Capital Contribution, all as specified in Section 8 of the Interlocal Agreement.  The School Planning 

Agreement (2008) between the City of Apopka and Orange County Public Schools requires the City to accept 

the School Concurrency Agreements.  
 
OWNER:   A.D Raulerson, Sr. & A.D. Raulerson, Jr. and Curtis and Karen Pumphrey 
 
APPLICANT:   Apopka Development II, LLC 
 
ENGINEER:   Wohlfarth Consulting Group, LLC / Richard C. Wohlfarth, P.E.  
 
LOCATION:   213 W Lester Road, 251 W Lester Road, and 2122 Rock Springs Road 
 
PROPOSED USE:  112 Single Family Homes 
 
TRACT SIZE:   23.41 +/- acres 
 
SCHOOL ATTENDENCE 
ZONES:   Rock Springs Elementary; Apopka Middle; Apopka High 
  
FUNDING SOURCE:   

N/A   
RECOMMENDATION ACTION:  
 

City Council Recommended Motion:  Approve the San Sebastian Reserve School Capacity Enhancement 
Agreement and authorize the Mayor to sign the Agreement. 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners     HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief  94



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 
SAN SEBASTIAN RESERVE - SCHOOL CAPACITY AGREEMENT 
PAGE 2 

 
 

Project: SAN SEBASTIAN RESERVE 

Owned by:  A.D. Raulerson, Sr. & A.D. Raulerson, Jr. and Curtis & Karen Pumphrey 

Located: North of Lester Road; West of Rock Springs Road 

Parcel ID#s: 28-20-28-0000-00-084; 28-20-28-0000-00-040; 28-20-28-0000-00-077 

VICINITY MAP 

 

 
 

 

95



  1 
APK-18-011 San Sebastian Reserve  

After recording return to: 
 
Jamie Boerger, AICP 
Orange County Public Schools  
6501 Magic Way, Building 200 
Orlando, Florida 32809 
 

 

---------------------[SPACE ABOVE THIS LINE FOR RECORDING DATA]------------------------ 

 

SCHOOL CONCURRENCY  
MITIGATION AGREEMENT 

APK-18-011 
San Sebastian Reserve 

Parcel ID-20-28-0000-00-077; -040; -084 
 

 THIS SCHOOL CONCURRENCY MITIGATION AGREEMENT (“Agreement”), is 
entered into by THE SCHOOL BOARD OF ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA a body corporate 
and political subdivision of the State of Florida, (“School Board”); CITY OF APOPKA, a 
municipal corporation of the State of Florida, (“City”) and ADELBERT D. RAULERSON,  
whose address is 859 Errol Parkway, Apopka, Florida 32712, A.D. RAULERSON, JR, whose 
address is 16 North Highland Avenue, Apopka, Florida 32703, and CURTIS R. PUMPHREY 
and KAREN R. PUMPHREY, husband and wife, whose address is 28030 Shirley Shores Road, 
Tavares, Florida 32778 (collectively, the “Applicant”), collectively referred to herein as the 
“Parties.” 

RECITALS: 

 WHEREAS, the School Board, Orange County, and the municipalities within Orange 
County have entered into that certain “Amended and Restated Interlocal Agreement For Public 
School Facility Planning and Implementation of Concurrency” (the “Interlocal Agreement”), and   

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 16.6 of the Interlocal Agreement, an applicant submitting 
a School Concurrency Determination Application for approval of a Site Plan that will generate 
additional students in a School Concurrency Service Area in which there is insufficient Available 
School Capacity to accommodate the anticipated additional students must enter into a 
Proportionate Share Mitigation Agreement to prevent school overcrowding attributable to the 
anticipated additional students generated by the Residential Development as specified in the 
Interlocal Agreement;  

 WHEREAS, an Applicant must submit the School Concurrency Determination Application 
along with a Development Analysis which identifies the proposed location of the Residential 
Development, the number of Residential Units that will be created, a phasing schedule (if 
applicable), a map demonstrating land use and zoning classifications for the Applicant’s property, 
as well as all other information required pursuant to Section 16.5 of the Interlocal Agreement, to 
the County; and 

96



  2 
APK-18-011 San Sebastian Reserve  

 WHEREAS, Applicant is the fee simple owner, or authorized agent of the owner, of that 
certain tract of land, as more particularly described on Exhibit “A,” attached hereto and 
incorporated herein by reference (the “Property”), the location of which is illustrated by a map 
attached hereto as Exhibit “B,” and incorporated herein by reference; and  

 WHEREAS, the Applicant has submitted a School Concurrency Determination 
Application and Development Analysis to the City in connection with a proposal to obtain 
approval for a plat in order to develop 112 single family Residential Units on the Property (the 
“Project”) and the City has forwarded the School Concurrency Determination Application and 
Development Analysis to the School Board; and  

 WHEREAS, the School Board has reviewed and evaluated the Applicant’s School 
Concurrency Determination Application and Development Analysis as required by Section 18.6 
of the Interlocal Agreement, and has determined that based on the current adopted Level of Service 
standards for the School Concurrency Service Areas within which the Property is located and the 
anticipated new School Capacity that will be available in the first three (3) years of the current 
District Facilities Work Program to serve the proposed Residential Development, there is 
insufficient Available School Capacity at the middle school level to serve the new single-family 
Residential Units within the School Concurrency Service Areas for the Project or within adjacent 
School Concurrency Service Areas as determined by an Adjacency Review; and  

 WHEREAS, the Applicant and the School Board entered into the School Mitigation 
Agreement for Capacity Enhancement #APK-18-001 (the “CEA”) with an effective date of March 
14, 2018, and recorded as Document Number 20180181972 in the Public Records of Orange 
County, Florida, to address the impact of nineteen (19) New Units on the applicable School 
Attendance Zones; and   

  WHEREAS, approving the School Concurrency Determination Application without 
requiring Proportionate Share Mitigation for the impacts of the proposed Project will either create 
or worsen school overcrowding in the applicable School Concurrency Service Areas; and  

 WHEREAS, the Applicant has agreed to enter into this Agreement with the School Board 
and County to provide Proportionate Share Mitigation proportionate to the demand for Public 
School Facilities to be created by the Project, as more particularly set forth herein. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the mutual covenants contained 
herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 
acknowledged, the Parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows:  

 1.  INCORPORATION OF RECITALS. The foregoing recitals are true and correct 
and are hereby incorporated into this Agreement by reference as if fully set forth herein. 

 2.  DEFINITION OF MATERIAL TERMS. Any capitalized terms used herein but not 
defined shall have the meaning attributed to such term in the Interlocal Agreement. 

 3.  LEGALLY BINDING COMMITMENT. This Agreement constitutes a legally 
binding commitment by the Applicant to mitigate for the impacts of the new Residential Units for 
which the Applicant is seeking approval pursuant to the School Concurrency Determination 

97



  3 
APK-18-011 San Sebastian Reserve  

Application and is intended to satisfy the requirements of Florida law and the Orange County 
Code. 

 4.  PROPORTIONATE SHARE MITIGATION.  The Parties hereby agree that the 
Applicant shall provide Proportionate Share Mitigation in order to meet the demand for School 
Capacity created by the Project and to provide additional capacity for middle school students, as 
follows, in accordance with Section 19.2 of the Interlocal Agreement: 

  Payment in the amount of TWO HUNDRED EIGHTY SEVEN THOUSAND 
EIGHT HUNDRED FORTY FOUR AND 00/100 DOLLARS ($287,844.00) to cover the 
Proportionate Share Mitigation associated with providing the necessary capacity to complete the 
Project (the “Proportionate Share”) to the School Board. Such payment shall be due and payable 
prior to the time the plat for the Property is approved and has been calculated in accordance with 
the formula found in Section 17.2 of the Interlocal Agreement.  To the extent the Applicant’s 
proposed Residential Development is subject to a Capacity Enhancement Agreement, any capacity 
enhancement mitigation paid pursuant to such agreement will be applied as a credit to the 
Proportionate Share Mitigation required for the Project.  Such credit will be subtracted from the 
total Proportionate Share Mitigation required pursuant to the Interlocal Agreement.  Pursuant to 
the CEA, the estimated credit to be applied to the Proportionate Share Mitigation is TWENTY-
FIVE THOUSAND SEVEN HUNDRED TWELVE AND 00/100 ($25,712.00). 

 5. USE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE. The School Board shall direct the 
Proportionate Share to a School Capacity improvement identified in the capital improvement 
schedule in the five (5) year district work plan of the School Board’s District Facilities Work 
Program which satisfies the demands from the proposed Residential Development.  If such a 
School Capacity improvement does not exist in the District Facilities Work Program, the School 
Board may, in its sole discretion, add a School Capacity improvement to its District Facilities 
Work Program to mitigate the impacts from the Project, as provided in Section 17.6 of the 
Interlocal Agreement.   

 6. IMPACT FEE CREDIT.  The Proportionate Share paid pursuant to this Agreement 
shall be credited against the School Impact Fee on a dollar for dollar basis at fair market value.  

The School Board shall notify the City of the amount of the School Impact Fee Credit 
based upon 25.52 Equivalent Residential Units (as defined in Section 30-622 of the Orange County 
Code), currently estimated to be TWO HUNDRED TWENTY FOUR THOUSAND ONE 
HUNDRED TWENTY NINE AND 03/100 DOLLARS ($224,129.03), and shall request a School 
Impact Fee credit account in such amount upon receipt of the Proportionate Share Mitigation.  

 7. ISSUANCE OF SCHOOL CONCURRENCY RECOMMENDATION.  Upon final 
execution of this Agreement by all Parties hereto, this Agreement will serve as the Applicant’s 
Capacity Encumbrance Letter in accordance with Section 16.7 of the Interlocal Agreement. 

8. SCHOOL CAPACITY ENCUMBRANCE AND RESERVATION.  Upon final 
execution of this Agreement by all Parties hereto, this Agreement will serve as the Applicant’s 
Capacity Encumbrance Letter that School Capacity will be available for the Project.  This is in 
accordance with Section 16.6(g) of the Interlocal Agreement.  

98



  4 
APK-18-011 San Sebastian Reserve  

At such time as Applicant has prepaid the School Impact Fees further described in Section 
6 of this Agreement, and paid the applicable installment(s) of the School Capacity Reservation Fee 
described in Section 9 below, School Capacity shall be reserved for the Project Units reflected on 
the application; if the Applicant fails to make any of the required School Capacity Reservation Fee 
payments described in Paragraph 9 below or if this Agreement is terminated, such reserved School 
Capacity shall lapse and be returned to the applicable Concurrency Service Area.  

  9. CAPACITY RESERVATION FEE.  The Applicant shall be required to pay 
a School Capacity Reservation Fee for the Project in accordance with Section 30-599 of the Orange 
County Code. The Applicant shall pay the School Capacity Reservation Fee further described 
below. 

 a. 1st Installment due within six (6) months of the Effective Date of this Agreement:  
  $ 327,936.00 

b. 2nd Installment due 18 months from the Effective Date of this Agreement: 
$327,936.00  

c. 3rd Installment due 30 months from the Effective Date of this Agreement: 
$327,936.00 

  Notwithstanding the schedule provided by this Section, Applicant may prepay any 
or all of the School Capacity Reservation Fees in advance.  School Capacity Reservation Fees paid 
pursuant to this Agreement shall be credited towards School Impact Fees as provided in Section 
30-599 of the County Code.   

 10. TERMINATION.  This Agreement shall terminate and Applicant shall forfeit any 
administrative fees paid, as well as any capacity encumbered or reserved under the following 
circumstances, unless the City and the School Board agree to an extension of the Applicant’s 
School Concurrency Mitigation Agreement: 

  a. The Applicable Local Government does not approve the Plat within one 
hundred eighty (180) days from approval of the Site Plan by the City Council. In such event, all 
Proportionate Share Mitigation paid by the Applicant shall be refunded to the Applicant by the 
School Board.     

b. The Applicant fails to proceed in good faith in a diligent and timely manner 
and secure at least one Building Permit for a unit other than a model home within three (3) years 
of recording of the plat.  In such case, this Agreement shall be terminated and any encumbered or 
reserved school capacity shall be returned to its applicable capacity bank.  The Applicant will not 
be entitled to a refund of any portion of the Proportionate Share Mitigation paid under this 
Agreement, and will only be entitled to receive a 90% refund of the Capacity Reservation Fee 
assuming all other applicable conditions are met. 

  11. COVENANTS RUNNING WITH THE LAND. This Agreement shall be binding, 
and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, legal representatives, successors, and assigns of the 
parties, and shall be a covenant running with the Property and be binding upon the successors and 
assigns of the Owner and upon any person, firm, corporation, or entity who may become the 
successor in interest to the Property. 

99



  5 
APK-18-011 San Sebastian Reserve  

 12. NOTICES.  Any notice delivered with respect to this Agreement shall be in writing 
and be deemed to be delivered (whether or not actually received) (i) when hand delivered to the 
person(s) hereinafter designated, or (ii) upon deposit of such notice in the United States Mail, 
postage prepaid, certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the person at the address set 
forth opposite the party’s name below, or to such other address or other person as the party shall 
have specified by written notice to the other party delivered in accordance herewith: 

School Board  School Board of Orange County, Florida  
Attn: Superintendent  

 445 West Amelia Street 
 Orlando, Florida 32801 

 
With a Copy to:  Orange County Public Schools 

Attn: Facilities Planning Department 
   6501 Magic Way, Building 200 

 Orlando, Florida 32809 
 
Applicant:  Richard Wohlfarth 

W.C. Group, LLC 
246 N. Westmonte Drive 
Altamonte Springs, Florida 32714 

 
City:  City of Apopka 

Attn: Planning Department 
120 E. Main Street 
Apopka, Florida 32703 
 

 13. CAPTIONS AND PARAGRAPH HEADINGS. Captions and paragraph headings 
contained in this Agreement are for convenience and reference only. They in no way define, 
describe, extend or limit the scope or intent of this Agreement. 

  14. NO WAIVER. No waiver of any provision of this Agreement shall be effective 
unless it is in writing, and signed by the party against whom it is asserted. Any such written waiver 
shall only be applicable to the specific instance to which it relates, and shall not be deemed to be 
a continuing or future waiver.  

 15. EXHIBITS. All Exhibits attached hereto are a part of this Agreement and are fully 
incorporated herein by this reference.  

 16. AMENDMENTS. No modification, amendment, or alteration to the terms or 
conditions contained herein shall be binding upon the parties hereto unless in writing and executed 
by all the Parties to this Agreement.  

 17. ASSIGNMENT, TRANSFER OF RIGHTS. The Applicant may assign its rights, 
obligations and responsibilities under this Agreement to a third-party purchaser of all or any part 
of fee simple title to the Property; provided, however, that any such assignment shall be in writing 
and shall require the prior written consent of all of the Parties hereto, which consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed.  Such consent may be conditioned upon the 

100



  6 
APK-18-011 San Sebastian Reserve  

receipt by the other parties hereto of the written agreement of the assignee to comply with 
conditions and procedures to aid in the monitoring and enforcement of the assignee’s performance 
of the Applicant’s obligations with regard to Proportionate Share Mitigation under this Agreement. 
The assignor under such assignment shall furnish the Parties with a copy of the written assignment 
within ten (10) days of the date of execution of same. 

 18. COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be signed in counterparts, each of which 
may be deemed an original, and all of which together constitute one and the same agreement.  

 19. RECORDING OF THIS AGREEMENT. The School Board agrees to record this 
Agreement, at Applicant’s expense, in the Public Records of Orange County, Florida.  

 20. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement sets forth the entire agreement among 
the Parties with respect to the subject matter addressed herein, and it supersedes all prior and 
contemporaneous negotiations, understandings and agreements, written or oral, among the Parties.  

 21. SEVERABILITY. If any provision of this Agreement is declared invalid or 
unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, the invalid or unenforceable provision will be 
stricken from the Agreement, and the balance of the Agreement will remain in full force and effect 
as long as doing so would not affect the overall purpose or intent of the Agreement.  

 22. APPLICABLE LAW. This Agreement and the provisions contained herein shall be 
construed, controlled, and interpreted according to the laws of the State of Florida and in 
accordance with the Orange County Code and venue for any action to enforce the provisions of 
this Agreement shall be in the Ninth Judicial Circuit Court in and for Orange County, Florida. 

 23. ATTORNEY’S FEES. In the event any party hereto brings an action or proceeding, 
including any counterclaim, cross-claim, or third party claim, against any other party hereto arising 
out of this Agreement, each party in such action or proceeding, including appeals therefrom, shall 
be responsible for its own attorney fees. 

 24. EFFECTIVE DATE. The effective date of this Agreement shall be the date when 
the last one of the parties has properly executed this Agreement as determined by the date set forth 
immediately below their respective signatures (the “Effective Date”). 

25. PRE-PAYMENT, MITIGATION & CAPACITY RESERVATION FORMS. This 
Agreement requires the Applicant to pay a Capacity Reservation Fee and Proportionate Share 
Mitigation prior to the recording of a Plat.  The form attached hereto as Exhibit “C,” must be 
completed and returned to the School Board’s Facilities Planning Department with all fees due 
hereunder, including, but not limited to, Capacity Reservation Fees and Proportionate Share 
Mitigation. This form must be completed and returned to the Facilities Planning Department, in 
addition to all fees payable pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, to satisfy Paragraph 4 and 
Paragraph 9 of this Agreement. 

 

 

 

101



  7 
APK-18-011 San Sebastian Reserve  

 

 

 

 

 

Signatures on Following Page 

  

102



  8 
APK-18-011 San Sebastian Reserve  

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be 
executed by their respective duly authorized representatives on the dates set forth below each 
signature:   

 
Signed and sealed in the presence of: 
 
 
 
 
 
______________________________________ 
Print Name: ___________________________ 
 
______________________________________ 
Print Name: ___________________________ 
 
 

“SCHOOL BOARD” 
 
THE SCHOOL BOARD OF ORANGE 
COUNTY, FLORIDA, a body corporate 
and political subdivision of the State of 
Florida 
 
 
By: ________________________________ 
         William E. Sublette, its Chairman 
 
 
Date:________________________________ 

  
 
STATE OF FLORIDA ) 
    ) s.s.: 
COUNTY OF ORANGE ) 
 
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ___ day of 
_________________, 2018, by William E. Sublette, Chairman of The School Board of Orange 
County, Florida, a body corporate and political subdivision of the State of Florida, on behalf of 
The School Board, who is personally known to me or had produced 
_________________________ (type of identification) as identification. 
 
 
 
       ________________________________ 
       NOTARY PUBLIC OF FLORIDA  
       Print Name:_______________________ 
       Commission No.:__________________ 
AFFIX NOTARY STAMP    Expires:__________________________ 
 
 

 
 

[ADDITIONAL SIGNATURE PAGES TO FOLLOW] 
  

103



  9 
APK-18-011 San Sebastian Reserve  

      THE SCHOOL BOARD OF ORANGE 
      COUNTY, FLORIDA, a body corporate   
Signed and sealed in the presence of:  and political subdivision of the State of Florida    
 
       
 
       Attest:       
Print Name:      Barbara M. Jenkins, Ed.D. as its 

      Secretary and Superintendent 
       
Print Name:     Dated:       
 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA ) 
    ) s.s.: 
COUNTY OF ORANGE ) 
 
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ___ day of 
_________________, 2018, by Barbara M. Jenkins, ED.D.as Superintendent The School Board of 
Orange County, Florida, a body corporate and political subdivision of the State of Florida, on 
behalf of The School Board, who is personally known to me or has produced 
__________________________________ (type of identification) as identification. 
 
 
       ________________________________ 
       NOTARY PUBLIC OF FLORIDA  
       Print Name:_______________________ 
       Commission No.:__________________ 
AFFIX NOTARY STAMP    Expires:__________________________ 
 
 
 
Reviewed and approved by Orange County 
Public School’s Chief Facilities Officer 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
John T. Morris 
Chief Facilities Officer 
 
Date: _________________________, 2018 

Approved as to form and legality by legal 
counsel to The School Board of Orange 
County, Florida, exclusively for its use and 
reliance. 
 
_____________________________________ 
Laura L. Kelly, Staff Attorney III/Planning 
and Real Estate  
 
Date: ___________________________, 2018 
 
 
 

 

104



  10 
APK-18-011 San Sebastian Reserve  

“APPLICANT” 
 

Signed and sealed in the presence of:  
 
 
       
Print Name:       
 
 
       
Print Name:       
 

(ADELBERT D. RAULERSON) 
 
 
By:        
 
Print Name:       
 
Title:        
 
Date:________________________________ 

 
STATE OF FLORIDA ) 
    ) s.s.: 
COUNTY OF ORANGE ) 
 
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ____ day of __________, 
2018, by _____________________________ as _____________________________ of 
___________________________________________________, on behalf of the organization. 
He/she is personally known to me or has produced __________________________________ 
(type of identification) as identification. 
 
 
       ________________________________ 
       NOTARY PUBLIC OF FLORIDA  
       Print Name:_______________________ 
       Commission No.:__________________ 
AFFIX NOTARY STAMP    Expires:__________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

105



  11 
APK-18-011 San Sebastian Reserve  

“APPLICANT” 
 

Signed and sealed in the presence of:  
 
 
       
Print Name:       
 
 
       
Print Name:       
 

(A.D. RAULERSON, JR) 
 
 
By:        
 
Print Name:       
 
Title:        
 
Date:________________________________ 

 
STATE OF FLORIDA ) 
    ) s.s.: 
COUNTY OF ORANGE ) 
 
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ____ day of __________, 
2018, by _____________________________ as _____________________________ of 
___________________________________________________, on behalf of the organization. 
He/she is personally known to me or has produced __________________________________ 
(type of identification) as identification. 
 
 
       ________________________________ 
       NOTARY PUBLIC OF FLORIDA  
       Print Name:_______________________ 
       Commission No.:__________________ 
AFFIX NOTARY STAMP    Expires:__________________________ 
 

106



  12 
APK-18-011 San Sebastian Reserve  

“APPLICANT” 
 

Signed and sealed in the presence of:  
 
 
       
Print Name:       
 
 
       
Print Name:       
 

(CURTIS R. PUMPHREY) 
 
 
By:        
 
Print Name:       
 
Title:        
 
Date:________________________________ 

 
STATE OF FLORIDA ) 
    ) s.s.: 
COUNTY OF ORANGE ) 
 
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ____ day of __________, 
2018, by _____________________________ as _____________________________ of 
___________________________________________________, on behalf of the organization. 
He/she is personally known to me or has produced __________________________________ 
(type of identification) as identification. 
 
 
       ________________________________ 
       NOTARY PUBLIC OF FLORIDA  
       Print Name:_______________________ 
       Commission No.:__________________ 
AFFIX NOTARY STAMP    Expires:__________________________ 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

107



  13 
APK-18-011 San Sebastian Reserve  

“APPLICANT” 
 

Signed and sealed in the presence of:  
 
 
       
Print Name:       
 
 
       
Print Name:       
 

(KAREN R. PUMPHREY) 
 
 
By:        
 
Print Name:       
 
Title:        
 
Date:________________________________ 

 
STATE OF FLORIDA ) 
    ) s.s.: 
COUNTY OF ORANGE ) 
 
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ____ day of __________, 
2018, by _____________________________ as _____________________________ of 
___________________________________________________, on behalf of the organization. 
He/she is personally known to me or has produced __________________________________ 
(type of identification) as identification. 
 
 
       ________________________________ 
       NOTARY PUBLIC OF FLORIDA  
       Print Name:_______________________ 
       Commission No.:__________________ 
AFFIX NOTARY STAMP    Expires:__________________________ 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

108



  14 
APK-18-011 San Sebastian Reserve  

     
 “CITY” 

CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, a municipal 
corporation of the State of Florida. 

 

      By: Mayor      

      Print Name________________________________ 

      Title:________________________________     
       

Date:_______________________________ 
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
By:______________________________ 

      City Clerk      {Corporate Seal} 

Date:____________________________ 

 

109



Exhibit “A” – Legal Description 

  15 
APK-18-011 San Sebastian Reserve  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

110



Exhibit “B”-Location Map 

  16 
APK-18-011 San Sebastian Reserve  

111



Exhibit “C”-Forms 

 

  17 
APK-18-011 San Sebastian Reserve  

 

 

112



Exhibit “C”-Forms 

 

  18 
APK-18-011 San Sebastian Reserve  

 

 

113



Exhibit “C”-Forms 

 

  19 
APK-18-011 San Sebastian Reserve  

 

114



 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

  X  CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF: June 20, 2018 

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:              Public Services 

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:       

       OTHER:  
  

 

SUBJECT:     PURCHASE OF TWO (2) UTILITY CARTS  

                         

   

REQUEST: APPROVE THE PURCHASE OF TWO (2) UTILITY CARTS FROM CRUISE 

CAR, INC. IN THE AMOUNT OF $20,798 
  
SUMMARY: 

 

Public Services has obtained three quotes for the purchase of two (2) utility carts from Cruise Car, Inc. for 

the Wastewater Plant Operations Staff to move between the existing and new plants.  The quotes are as 

follows: 

 

Company Name Quote Amount 

Cruise Car, Inc. $20,798 

Trail Saw & Mower $24,242 

Futch’s Depot $24,326 

 

With the expanse of the wastewater plant expansion, it has become necessary to provide staff with an 

efficient, effective means of maneuvering around the facility without the use of pickup trucks.  Funding 

for this purchase will be provided through the Owner’s Contingency Fund for the Wastewater Plant 

Expansion Project previously approved by the City Council on March 15, 2017.   

  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

Fund 403 – Wastewater Plant Expansion Project Budget    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Approve the purchase of two (2) utility carts from Cruise Car, Inc. in the amount of $20,798. 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 

115



 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

  X  CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF: June 20, 2018 

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:              Public Services 

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:       

       OTHER:  
  

 

SUBJECT:     RECLAIMED WATER SYSTEM EXTENSION GOLDEN GEM RD. 

   

REQUEST: AWARD A CONTRACT TO ATLANTIC CONCRETE & MECHANICAL INC. IN 

THE AMOUNT OF $133,000 
  
SUMMARY: 

 

Public Services received sealed bids from nine (9) companies to perform the installation of the Reclaimed 

Water Main Extension along Golden Gem Rd. The bids are as follows:  

 

Company Name Bid Amount 

Atlantic Concrete & Mechanical, Inc. $133,000 

DB Civil Construction, LLC $149,925 

Cathcart Construction Company $174,600 

Valencia Construction Group, Inc. $185,460 

TB Landmark Construction $240,850 

Providence Construction & Development $249,099 

Schuller Contractors Inc. $300,001 

Masci Corporation $441,249 

Sanpik Inc. $457,350 

 

Project consists of installing approximately 2,700 linear feet of 24” pipe within the right-of-way. The 

project further consists of furnishing all transportation, equipment, labor, services and supplies necessary 

to install the pipe. The City will purchase and furnish pipe, fittings and misc. appurtenances for the 

project. 

 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

Fund 403 – Reclaimed Water Impact Fees    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Approve the award of a contract to Atlantic Concrete & Mechanical Inc. in the amount of $133,000 plus a 

10% project contingency of $13,300 for a total amount of $146,300. 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
116



 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

  X  CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF: June 20, 2018 

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:              Public Services 

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:       Reiss Engineering 

       OTHER:                   Recommendation 
  

 

SUBJECT:     MOUNT PLYMOUTH LAKES WATER PRODUCTION WELLS NO. 1 & NO. 4 

                        MODIFICATIONS 

   

REQUEST: AWARD A CONTRACT TO APPLIED DRILLING ENGINEERING, INC. IN THE 

AMOUNT OF $1,147,461 
  
SUMMARY: 

 

Public Services received sealed bids with ITB# 2018-13 from three (3) companies to perform the 

modifications to the Mount Plymouth Water Production Wells No. 1 & No. 4.  The bids are as follows:  

 

Company Name Bid Amount 

Applied Drilling Engineering, Inc. $1,147,461 

A.C. Schultes $1,159,276 

All Webbs Enterprises, Inc. $1,426,435 

 

This project consists of modifying the water production wells by deepening them to a depth of 

approximately 1,100 feet, installing new casing, developing the wells, installing new pumps, motors and 

controls.  This project is required under Condition #32 of the City’s Consumptive Use Permit with the St. 

Johns River Water Management District. 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

Fund 403 – Potable Water Impact Fees 

Fund 401 – Water Plants Capital Budget    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Approve the award of a contract to Applied Drilling Engineering, Inc. in the amount of $1,147,461 plus a 

5% project contingency of $57,373 for a total of $1,204,834. 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 

117



118



 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

  X  CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF: June 20, 2018 

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:              Public Services 

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:       Agreement 

       OTHER:  
  

 

SUBJECT: CURBSIDE RECYCLABLES PROCESSING AGREEMENT 

 

REQUEST: APPROVE AN AGREEMENT WITH WASTE MANAGEMENT INC., FLORIDA 

TO RECEIVE AND PROCESS CURBSIDE RECYCLABLES IN THE AMOUNT 

OF $47.50 PER TON 
  
SUMMARY: 

 

Prior to June 30, 2017, the City had been delivering its curbside collected recycling to the Orange County 

Recycling Facility on McCormick Rd, at no charge, as provided by Orange County contract Y3-1021, an 

agreement between Orange County and Waste Management Inc., Florida, which ended on the referenced 

date. Prior to this date, the county issued an Invitation to Bid for a new contract for processing, but 

received five (5) “No Bid” responses and resulted in a modified extension of the existing agreement 

including a new $42 per ton processing fee, which the City is currently paying. 

 

 A second Orange County Invitation to Bid resulted in extremely high rates that were rejected and another 

amendment extending and modifying the agreement to include a new rate of $47.50 per ton was executed. 

The term of this amendment is for one year beginning July 1, 2018, with a one year renewal option.  

 

Staff has developed an agreement with Waste Management Inc., Florida, to continue to receive and 

process all curbside recyclables collected by the City, piggybacking the terms of the Orange County 

Agreement. 

 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

Fund 402 – Sanitation Operating Budget    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Authorize the Mayor or his designee to execute the agreement with Waste Management Inc., Florida for 

the receipt and processing of all curbside recyclables collected by the City in the amount of $47.50 per 

ton. 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson    Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 

119



AGREEMENT 
 
THIS AGREEMENT, is made and entered into this ____ day of _______, 

2018, by and between the CITY _____________, FLORIDA, a municipal 
corporation organized and existing under the laws of Florida (“City”) and 

WASTE MANAGEMENT INC. OF FLORIDA, (hereinafter called “WMIF”),  a 
Florida  corporation, with an office at 2700 Wiles Road, Pompano Beach, FL 
33073. 

 
WITNESSETH 

 
WHEREAS, WMIF has secured from Orange County a contract for the 
processing of curbside recyclables, such contract dated April 22, 2003, and 

amended several times, the last amendment being Amendment No. 5  
executed April 27, 2018,with an effective date of July 1, 2018. The contract 

is numbered Y3-1021 “Transfer, Processing and Marketing of Recyclables” 
(the “Contract”); and 
 

WHEREAS, WMIF is able and willing to provide the City with curbside 
recyclables processing services using the aforesaid Contract; and  

 
WHEREAS, City is desirous of using the Contract to secure the processing 
services from WMIF without the cost and delay of competitive bidding; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City’s Code of Ordinances authorizes the City to utilize such 

previously solicited contracts as a means to avoid costs and to expedite the 
contracting process. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of these premises and the mutual 
undertakings hereinafter stated, and for other good and valuable 

consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, 
the parties hereto agree as follows: 
 

1. Existing Contract WMIF and Orange County are parties to the 
Contract set forth above. The City elects to utilize WMIF as a contractor to 

provide curbside recyclables processing services for the City’s recyclables and 
to be bound by the terms and conditions of the Contract regarding same as 

modified herein. References in the Contract to County personnel, County 
policies, and County functions shall be deemed to refer to City personnel, 
policies and functions if applicable. The parties agree that the modifications 

set forth herein below are not substantive and do not materially alter the 
Contract. The parties agree to be bound by the Contract as modified. 

Capitalized terms used herein have the meanings set forth in the Contract 
unless the context requires otherwise. 
 

2. Scope of Work WMIF’s scope of work under the Contract is limited 
to processing curbside recyclables delivered by the City to Orange County’s 

McCormick Recyclables Transfer Station, Materials Recovery Facility and 
Landfill Recyclables Sorting Facility. Processing will take place at WMIF’s 
Tampa MRF and/or Reuters Recycling Facility in Pembroke Pines, Florida. 

WMIF shall designate the receiving facility at which the City will make 
deliveries.  

 

120



3. Term  The term of this Agreement is for one year and shall 
commence on July 1, 2018. The County maintains a right to unilaterally 
extend the underlying Contract for one additional year. Should the County do 

so, the City may also extend for such period of time as the County has 
extended the Contract.  It is understood and agreed that the facilities used 

for receiving material are owned by the County and that WMIF only has the 
right to operate same pursuant to the Contract.  Termination of the Contract 
for any reason shall automatically terminate this Agreement. 

 
4. Performance Bond   WMIF has provided the County with a performance 

bond. No bond will be provided to the City. 
 
5. Liquidated Damages/Penalties/Host Fee All provisions for 

liquidated damages or penalties set forth in the Contract are reserved for the 
County and are not extended to the City and are not rights that the City has 

or can enforce. No host fees are payable under the Contract. 
 
6. Deliverables/Reports Reporting requirements set forth in the 

Contract are modified to only require quarterly tonnage reports. 
 

7. Compensation City shall pay WMIF $47.50 per ton of recyclables 
delivered and accepted by WMIF.  
 

9. Additional Documentation  The parties agree to cooperate with 
each other and provide additional documentation should same be determined 

by the parties that it is required. 
 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be 
executed by their officers thereunto duly authorized or have hereunto set 

their hands and seals in duplicate as of the day and year first above written. 
 

 

 

      CITY OF _________, FLORIDA 
 

      By: _________________________ 
 

Attest: 
 

___________ 
 

 
WASTE MANAGEMENT INC. OF 

FLORIDA 
 

By: _________________________ 
 

Attest: 

 
___________ 
 

121



CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 

 

  
 

        CONSENT AGENDA    MEETING OF:  June 20, 2018 

____    PUBLIC HEARING     FROM:    Administration 

        SPECIAL REPORTS    EXHIBITS:  

 X      OTHER: Business 
  
 

SUBJECT: RFP 2018-01 EVENT PRODUCTION & MANAGEMENT SERVICES FOR 

SPECIAL EVENTS AT THE APOPKA AMPHITHEATER  

 

REQUEST:  AUTHORIZE THE REJECTION OF RFP 2018-01.   

  
SUMMARY:  

 

On November 14th, 2017, a Bid Opening was held in response to a Request for Proposal (RFP) No. 2018-01 

for event production and management services for special events at the Apopka Amphitheater. The original 

Request for Proposal was duly advertised in the Orlando Sentinel on Monday, October 9, 2017 and was 

placed on Demand Star as well as the City’s website.  Three (3) Sealed Bids were received prior to the 

deadline of 1:00 pm on November 14th, 2017 and the said bids were opened at 1:15 p.m. in the Council 

Chambers.  Staff is requesting authorization to post rejection of the RFP due to the length of time that has 

transpired since proposals were received and also for new administration to review the budgetary necessity 

of these services.  

 

FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

N/A   
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Authorize staff to reject the bids received and RFP 2018-01. 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director 

Commissioners     HR Director   City Clerk    

City Administrator    IT Director   Fire Chief 

Community Development Director  Police Chief    

 

122



CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 

 

  
 

        CONSENT AGENDA    MEETING OF:   June 20, 2018 

____    PUBLIC HEARING     FROM:    Administration 

        SPECIAL REPORTS    EXHIBITS:  

 X      OTHER: Business 
  
 

SUBJECT: ITB 2018-05 CONSTRUCTION OF KIT LAND NELSON PARK FITNESS TRAILS  

 

REQUEST:  AUTHORIZE THE REJECTION OF ITB 2018-05.   

  
SUMMARY:  

 

As a grant application requirement City Council approved the second reading of Ordinance No. 2561 on 

March 15, 2017, amending the Capital Improvement Plan to include a fitness trail in Kit Land Nelson Park.  

The Florida Department of Environmental Protection awarded the City $120,000 to Construct a 10' X 2,900 

Linear Foot concrete fitness trail in Kit Land Nelson Park with the installation of additional landscaping, 

lighting, and parking spaces. The grant required a match of $80,000, which was approved by City Council 

on August 16, 2017.  

 

After project scheduling and design of the trail system was complete an Invitation to Bid (ITB) No. 2018-

05 was advertised on Friday, March 30, 2018.  On May 4, 2018 a Bid Opening was held and three (3) 

Sealed Bids were received prior to the deadline of 10:00 am.  After review of the submittals staff is 

requesting authorization to post rejection of ITB 2018-05 due to the bids being over budget and the 

qualifications not being met.  A re-bid would be necessary and would be advertised within the next two 

weeks.  

 

FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

N/A   
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Authorize staff to reject and re-bid ITB 2018-05. 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director 

Commissioners     HR Director   City Clerk    

City Administrator    IT Director   Fire Chief 

Community Development Director  Police Chief    

 

123



 

 

 
CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENDA  MEETING OF: June 20, 2018 

X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Vicinity Map 

X OTHER: Final Development Plan  Aerial Map 

    Final Development Plan 

    Landscape Plan 

    Parking Analysis 

    Building Elevations 
  
SUBJECT:    FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN – WEKIVA RIVERWALK SHOPPING 

CENTER 

    

REQUEST:  APPROVE THE FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR THE WEKIVA 

RIVERWALK SHOPPING CENTER GROCERY STORE ADDITION 
  
SUMMARY:  

 
OWNER/APPLICANT:  Woolbright Wekiva, LLC. 
 
ENGINEER:   Sun-Tech Engineering, Inc., Clifford R. Loutan, P.E.   
 
LOCATION: 2121 East Semoran Boulevard 
 
PARCEL ID #:   12-21-28-9093-00-010 
 
FUTURE LAND USE: Commercial 
 
ZONING: C-1 
 
EXISTING USE: Retail Shopping Plaza  
 
PROPOSED USE: Grocery Store – redevelopment portion of shopping plaza building for a 

grocery store. 
 
TRACT SIZE:   24.74 +/- acres 
 
OVERALL  
DEVELOPMENT SIZE: 28,600 square feet 
 
BUILDING SIZE: 28,600 square feet  
  
FUNDING SOURCE:   N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

124



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 
WEKIVA RIVERWALK – FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
PAGE 2 

 

 

RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (County) Office R-1 Single Family Residential 

East (City, 

County) 

Low Density Residential 

(County); Office (City) 

P-D, R-1 (County); 

PO/I (City)  

Wekiwa Springs Road\Single Family 

Residential, Assisted Living Facility 

South (City) Commercial C-1 Semoran Blvd.\Retail Shopping Plaza 

West (County) Low Density Residential  R-1 Single Family Residential  

         

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  The Wekiva Riverwalk Shopping Center Final Development Plan 

proposes a 28,600 square foot grocery store in the northeastern corner of the existing Wekiva Riverwalk 

shopping center building. Currently located in this tenant space is a restaurant and retail space. 8,500 square 

feet of the building will be constructed in an area that is currently used for parking and a drive aisle. The 

drive aisle leads into a driveway opening that currently allows access into the shopping center from Wekiwa 

Springs Road. The Final Development Plan proposes relocation of the driveway opening 90-feet to the 

south along Wekiva Springs Road to accommodate the proposed building addition. Wekiwa Springs Road 

is an Orange County maintained road. Orange County has provided correspondence to the City indicating 

approval of the relocation of the driveway opening 90-feet to the south along Wekiwa Springs Road, and 

will issue a permit for the driveway relocation upon the City of Apopka’s approval of the Final Development 

Plan.  

       

PARKING:  The Final Development Plan provides a demolition plan which proposes the removal of 52 

parking spaces to accommodate the 8,500 square feet of the building. Upon removal of the existing parking 

spaces to allow for the building addition, a total of 1,237 parking spaces will be provided in the Wekiva 

Riverwalk shopping center. This is a sufficient amount of parking to accommodate the proposed grocery 

store and the existing uses located in the shopping center. The applicant has submitted a parking statement 

prepared by a professional engineer which concludes there will be a sufficient amount of parking provided 

in the shopping center with the removal of the parking spaces that will accommodate the building addition. 

Staff has accepted and is in agreement with this parking statement.  

 

ACCESS:  Access to the site will be provided via a relocated driveway opening located 90-feet to the south 

along Wekiwa Springs Road, and existing driveway openings located along Semoran Boulevard. Wekiwa 

Springs Road is an Orange County maintained road. Orange County has provided correspondence to the 

City indicating approval of the relocation of the driveway opening 90-feet to the south along Wekiwa 

Springs Road. 

 

EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS:  Staff has found the proposed building elevations to be designed in 

accordance with the City’s Development Design Guidelines. 

   

STORMWATER: Stormwater run-off and drainage is accommodated by an existing on-site stormwater 

drainage system.  

 

BUFFER/TREE PROGRAM:  The applicant has provided a detailed landscape and irrigation plan for the 

portion of the parking lot in front of the proposed grocery store. The planting materials and irrigation system 

design are consistent with the water-efficient landscape standards set forth in Ordinance No. 2069.   

 

125



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 
WEKIVA RIVERWALK – FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
PAGE 3 

 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
June 12, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 

June 20, 2018 - City Council (7:00 pm)  

   
RECOMMENDATION ACTION:  

 

The Development Review Committee recommends the approval of the Wekiva Riverwalk Shopping 

Center Final Development Plan. 

 

The Planning Commission, at its meeting on June 12, 2018, found the Wekiva Riverwalk Shopping Center 

Final Development Plan consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and the Land Development Code; and 

unanimously recommended approval subject to the findings of this staff report.  

 

City Council: Approve the Wekiva Riverwalk Shopping Center Final Development Plan. 
 

Note: This item is considered quasi-judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 

into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

126



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 
WEKIVA RIVERWALK – FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
PAGE 4 

 
Application:  Final Development Plan 

Owner/Applicant:     Woolbright Wekiva, LLC              

Engineer:  Sun-Tech Engineering, Inc., c/o Clifford R. Loutan, P.E. 
Parcel I.D. No:    12-21-28-9093-00-010 
Location:  2121 East Semoran Boulevard 
Acres:  4.19 +/-  

 
 
 

VICINITY MAP 

 

 

 
 

127



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 
WEKIVA RIVERWALK – FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
PAGE 5 

 
 
Application:  Final Development Plan 

Owner/Applicant:     Woolbright Wekiva, LLC              

Engineer:  Sun-Tech Engineering, Inc., c/o Clifford R. Loutan, P.E. 
Parcel I.D. No:    12-21-28-9093-00-010 
Location:  2121 East Semoran Boulevard 
Acres:  4.19 +/-  

 

 
  

AERIAL MAP 
 
 
 
 

128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



J F O  G R O U P  I N C  
Traf f ic Engineer ing     T ransportat ion P lanning 
 
w w w . j f o g r o u p i n c . c o m  

2018-05-14_Wekiva Riverwalk_Parking_1002.03    

1 1 9 2 4  F o r e s t  H i l l  B o u l e v a r d ,  S u i t e  1 0 A ‐ 1 2 3      W e l l i n g t o n ,  F l o r i d a  3 3 4 1 4  
T :  ( 5 6 1 )  5 1 2 - 7 5 5 6      F :  ( 5 6 1 )  4 2 3 - 2 3 4 5      i n f o @ j f o g r o u p i n c . c o m  

May 14, 2018 
 
Bobby Howell, AICP, Senior Planner 
Community Development 
120 East Main Street  
Apopka, FL 32703 
hhowell@apopka.net 
 
RE: Wekiva Riverwalk Shopping Center – Parking Statement 

Project No. SPR18-05R - Parcel ID 12-21-28-9093-00-010 
 
Dear Bobby,  
 
JFO Group Inc. has been retained to prepare a parking statement associated with the Wekiva Riverwalk 
Shopping Center in the City of Apopka, Florida. The project is located on the northwest corner of E Semoran 
Boulevard (SR 436) and Wekiwa Springs Road. Figure 1 shows an aerial location of the site in relation to the 
transportation network. The parcel ID Number associated with this request is 12-21-28-9093-00-010. 
 
According to the proposed site plan, the northeast portion of the 
Wekiva Riverwalk Shopping Center is being reconfigured to add 
±8,500 square feet of retail uses, and, the existing driveway on 
Wekiwa Springs Road is being relocated 90 feet to the south. 
 
According to the proposed site plan for the property, the Wekiva 
Riverwalk Shopping Center is proposing 1,237 parking spaces while 
1,288 parking spaces are required by code. This results in a 
proposed parking ratio of 11 space for each 211 square feet of gross 
floor area instead of the 1 space for each 200 square feet of gross 
floor area required by code.  
 
Based on our professional experience, our knowledge of the City of 
Apopka and our experience in Orange County, we do not 
anticipate having parking supply issues at the Wekiva Riverwalk 
Shopping Center. For instance, we have seen shopping centers in 
the County with parking ratios as high as 12 space for each 300 
square feet of gross floor area. Furthermore, the average parking 
rate defined under the Institute of Transportation Engineers for 
Shopping Centers recommends 1 space for each 253 square feet of gross floor area during Fridays in December 
which is the busiest weekday time of the year.  
 
Consequently, we are confident that the proposed 1,237 parking spaces instead of the 1,288 parking spaces 
required by code will be adequate to accommodate the anticipated parking demand at the Wekiva Riverwalk 
Shopping Center. 
 
Sincerely, 

J F O  G R O U P  I N C  
COA Number 32276 
 

Dr. Juan F. Ortega, P.E. 
President 

                                                            
1 260,799 Gross Building Square Feet/1,237 Parking Spaces Provided 
2 Alafaya Commons. Parcel ID: 312222005100030 

 
Figure 1 : Project Location 

W
ekiw

a Springs Rd 

Site 

Semoran Blvd (SR 436) 

155



156



 

 

 
CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENDA  MEETING OF: June 20, 2018 

X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Zoning Report 

X OTHER: Master Plan   Vicinity Map 

    Adjacent Zoning Map 

    Adjacent Uses Map 

    Existing Use Map 

    Ordinance No. 2656 

    Ex. A - Master Plan 

    Ex. B – Development  Agreement 
  

SUBJECT:  ORDINANCE NO. 2656 - CHANGE OF ZONING – AHIFO-18, LLC 

 

REQUEST: SECOND READING OF ORDINANCE NO. 2656 - CHANGE OF ZONING – AHIFO-

18, LLC, FROM “COUNTY” PD (ZIP – PLANNED DEVELOPMENT) TO “CITY” 

KPI-MU (KELLY PARK INTERCHANGE    MIXED USE); ASSIGNMENT OF 

KELLY PARK INTERCHANGE NEIGHBORHOOD OVERLAY DISTRICT; 

APPROVAL OF MASTER PLAN – BRIDLE PATH SUBDIVISION; AND APPROVAL 

OF THE BRIDLE PATH DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
  
SUMMARY: 

 
OWNER:    AHIFO-18, LLC 
 
APPLICANT:    VHB – c/o Jim Hall  
 
LOCATION: West of Plymouth-Sorrento Road and east of SR 429, approximately  one-

half mile north of the intersection of Kelly Park Road and Plymouth-
Sorrento Road 

 
PARCEL ID NUMBERS:  12-20-27-0000-00-032; 12-20-27-0000-00-090 
 
EXISTING USE: Vacant, abandoned two story house and horse stables 
 
FLUM DESIGNATION:  Orange County Rural Settlement  
 
CURRENT ZONING: Orange County Planned Development (PD/ZIP) 
 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT: 152 single family homes (all 50-ft. wide lots; 110 ft. typical depth) 
 
PROPOSED ZONING: Kelly Park Interchange Mixed-Use (KPI-MU) 
 
TRACT SIZE:    51 +/- acres 

 
FUNDING SOURCE:   N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 157



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

BRIDLE PATH – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 2 
 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION: The owner of the subject property is requesting a rezoning of 51 acres 

of property from Orange County Planned Development (PD/ZIP) to Kelly Park Interchange Mixed-Use 

(KPI-MU), with a Neighborhood character zone to develop a single-family residential subdivision subject 

to the requirements of the Kelly Park Interchange Form Based Code. The subject property is comprised of 

two parcels and is located east of SR 429 and west of Plymouth-Sorrento Road, approximately one-half 

mile north of the intersection of Kelly Park Road and Plymouth-Sorrento Road. The owner of the properties 

is AHIFO-18, LLC.   

 

Development Profile: 

 

No. of residential lots: 152 single family homes, detached 

Minimum lot width: 50 feet 

Minimum lot depth: 110 feet 

Minimum lot size: 5,500 sq. ft. (all proposed\FBC has no minimum lot size) 

Minimum house livable area: 1,600 sq. ft. (proposed\FBC does not address) 

 

Setbacks:   

 Front: Min. 15 ft. – Max. 30 ft. 

 Rear: Min. 20 ft. 

 Side: Min. 5 ft. 

 Garage: Same as front 

Overflow Parking None 

Driveway length: Min. 15 ft. – Max. 30 ft. 

On-street parking: One side-of street provides parking  

Max. number of floors: Two 

Parking: Two spaces per house within the lot (enclosed or exterior; FBC does 

not require enclosed parking) 

 

Amenities:   

 Pool house with cabana; no parking 

 Walking paths around stormwater ponds (concrete or asphalt surface on all paths) 

 Regional Trails:  two – along Plymouth-Sorrento Road, and internal along stormwater pond and 

wetland edges. 

 

In accordance with the requirements of the Kelly Park Interchange Form Based Code, the owner has 

submitted a Master Plan in conjunction with the rezoning application detailing the development of 152 

single-family homes on 51 acres. The property currently has a future land use designation of Orange County 

Rural Settlement. The property is located within the one-mile radius from the SR 429/Kelly Park Road 

interchange.   

 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION: The Master Plan proposes development of the property with a total of 152 

single-family homes on 50-foot by 110-foot wide lots and a minimum living area of 1,600 square feet. There 

are no minimum and maximum lot size and living area requirements in the Form Based Code. Notes 

provided on the Master Plan indicate the project may be developed in multiple phases, with each phase 

determined upon submittal of the Final Development Plan. The Master Plan details design of the proposed 

subdivision in accordance with the requirements of the Kelly Park Interchange Form Based Code, and the 

Neighborhood character zone, which primarily allows single-family homes as permitted uses. The 

surrounding properties consist of single-family residential and agricultural uses.  158



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

BRIDLE PATH – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 3 
 

 

Access to the site is proposed via Plymouth-Sorrento Road. A dedication of a 30-foot wide strip for future 

right-of-way needs for Plymouth-Sorrento Road is detailed on the Master Plan. Behind this strip, a 30-foot 

area will be reserved for a landscape buffer along Plymouth-Sorrento Road. A wetland area exists in the 

northwest corner of the development. A spring is located within the wetland area. Per the Comprehensive 

Plan, a 300-foot buffer will be provided around the spring. Stormwater ponds are located in the southwestern 

corner of the site. Four-foot wide walking paths are provided around the perimeter of the ponds. 20-percent 

of the total site area will remain as open space in accordance with the requirements of the Form Based Code. 

Common recreation elements include a clubhouse with a pool, an internal trail system, preserved wetlands, 

upland buffers, and a park/stormwater facility.   

 

The Master Plan details the design of the internal street system with public streets utilizing a walkable grid 

design, which is a fused grid design that includes varied street, sidewalk and pedestrian pathways 

throughout a development that links developments. Three roadway connections will be provided to allow 

cross-access to the properties to the north and south at such time they develop. A 10-foot wide trail will be 

constructed within the development, and connections to the properties to the north and south will be 

provided to facilitate development of a regional trail system. A cul-de-sac is provided in the southwestern 

corner of the site, adjacent to the park and stormwater pond, and is provided to accommodate trail 

connection and to create an open space corridor along stormwater pond system and wetland area. Properties 

adjacent to the cul-de-sac will have access to the trail system which will allow pedestrian access to the 

common areas internal to the development. The developer will provide a 12-foot wide multi-purpose trail 

along the portion of the development abutting Plymouth-Sorrento Road to help facilitate the construction 

of the regional trail system. 

 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT:   A development agreement must be accepted and executed between 

the Developer and the City to address the financing mechanism that pays for the extension of water, sewer 

and reclaimed water lines to the Bridle Path community.  Further, the development agreement addresses a 

schedule for the construction and completion of recreation facilities, multi-use trails, and right-of-way 

dedication for Plymouth-Sorrento Road, minimum livable area of a house, homeowner association 

formation, conveyance and maintenance of stormwater ponds, infrastructure conditions for model homes, 

and developer\homebuilder obligations. 

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The proposed use of the property is consistent with the 

Mixed-Use Interchange Future Land Use designation and is consistent with the Kelly Park Interchange 

Form Based Code.   

 

SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT: A School Capacity Enhancement Agreement has been approved by 

OCPS. The location is served by the following schools: Zellwood Elementary, Wolf Lake Middle, and 

Wekiva High School.  No development activity shall occur on the subject property until the developer has 

obtained a school concurrency mitigation agreement or letter from OCPS.   

 

ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: Pursuant to Section 7 of the Joint Planning Area agreement, 

Orange County was notified on April 3, 2018.   

 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 

May 8, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 

June 6, 2018 - City Council (1:30 pm) - 1st Reading 

June 20, 2018 – City Council (7:00 pm) - 2nd Reading 159



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

BRIDLE PATH – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 4 
 

 

DULY ADVERTISED: 

April 27, 2018 - Public Notice (Apopka Chief); Letter, Poster 

June 8, 2018 - Public Notice (Apopka Chief) 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

 

The Development Review Committee finds the proposed rezoning to Kelly Park Interchange Mixed-Use 

(KPI-MU), and assignment of a Neighborhood character zone consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and 

Kelly Park Interchange Form Based Code, and recommends approval of the Bridle Path Master Plan. 

 

The Planning Commission, at its meeting on May 8, 2018, found the proposed amendment consistent with 

the Comprehensive Plan; and unanimously recommended approval of the proposed rezoning to Kelly Park 

Interchange Mixed-Use (KPI-MU), and assignment of a Neighborhood character zone, and Bridle Path 

Master Plan, subject to a minimum living area of 1,500 square feet being provided, and all internal multi-

use paths and the 12-foot path along Plymouth-Sorrento Road being constructed of either concrete or asphalt 

surface.  

 

The City Council, at its June 6, 2018 meeting, accepted the First Reading of Ordinance No. 2656 subject 

to a minimum living area of 1,600 square feet being provided, and held it over for Second Reading and 

Adoption on June 20, 2018.  

 

Recommended Motion: (Council is requested to Make Three Motions) 

  

1. Adopt Ordinance No. 2656 (quasi-judicial process) 

2. Approve the Bridle Path Mixed KPA Master Plan (quasi-judicial process) 

3. Approve the Bridle Path Development Agreement (legislative process) 

 

Note:  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated into and made a part of the minutes 

of this meeting. 

160



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

BRIDLE PATH – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 5 
 

ZONING REPORT 

 

RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (City) Rural A-1 (ZIP) Single-family residential/woodlands 

East (County) Rural A-1 Woodlands/Plymouth-Sorrento Road 

South (City) Rural RCE-2 (ZIP) Equestrian track 

West (City) None SR 429 right-of-way  SR 429 

 
LAND USE &  
TRAFFIC COMPATIBILITY: The property is accessed via Plymouth-Sorrento Road. Internal streets 

are public and will be owned and maintained by the City of Apopka. 
Future land use designations and zoning categories assigned to 
properties to the north, south, east, and west are predominantly 
residential, and agricultural.    

 
COMPREHENSIVE 
PLAN COMPLIANCE:  The proposed Kelly Park Interchange Mixed-Use (KPI-MU) zoning 

is compatible with policies set forth in the Comprehensive Plan.  
 
ALLOWABLE 
USES:  Single-family residential uses as set forth within the Master Plan. 
  

161



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

BRIDLE PATH – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 6 
 

Project: BRIDLE PATH 

Owned by: AHIFO-18, LLC 

Located: West of Plymouth-Sorrento Road and east of SR 429 

Parcel ID#s: 12-20-27-0000-00-032; 12-20-27-0000-00-090 

 

VICINITY MAP 

 
 
 

 

162



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

BRIDLE PATH – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 7 
 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 
 

 

  

163



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

BRIDLE PATH – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 8 
 

 

 

ADJACENT USES 

 

 

 
 

 

 

  

164



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

BRIDLE PATH – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 9 
 

 

Kelly Park Crossing Form-Based Code Area 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Subject properties  

165



ORDINANCE NO. 2656 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, CHANGING 

THE ZONING FROM “COUNTY” PLANNED DEVELOPMENT (PD/ZIP) 

TO “CITY” KELLY PARK INTERCHANGE MIXED-USE (KPI-MU), AND 

ASSIGNING A KELLY PARK CROSSING NEIGHBORHOOD OVERLAY 

DISTRICT,   FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED 

WEST OF PLYMOUTH-SORRENTO ROAD AND EAST OF SR 429, 

APPROXIMATEY ONE-HALF MILE NORTH OF THE INTERSECTION 

OF KELLY PARK ROAD AND PLYMOUTH-SORRENTO ROAD, 

COMPRISING 51 ACRES MORE OR LESS, AND OWNED BY AHIFO-18, 

LLC; PROVIDING FOR DIRECTIONS TO THE COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR, SEVERABILITY,CONFLICTS,AND AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 WHEREAS, to manage growth, the City of Apopka, Florida, finds it in the best interest of 

the public health, safety and welfare of its citizens to establish zoning classifications within the 

City; and 

 

 WHEREAS, AHIFO-18, LLC has requested a change in zoning on property as identified 

in Section II of this ordinance; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the subject property is located within the Kelly Park Interchange Form-Based 

Code Area; and 

 

 WHEREAS, if a site, or any portion of a site is located within a one mile radius of the 

interchange of Kelly Park Road and State Road 429, the entire site is subject to the form based 

standards contained within the Kelly Park Form-Based Code; and 

  

 WHEREAS, properties within the Kelly Park Interchange Form Based Code Area may be 

rezoned to the Kelly Park Interchange Mixed-Use (KPI-MU) zoning category; and  

 

WHEREAS, in conjunction with the rezone of property to Kelly Park Interchange Mixed 

Use, an overlay designation to assign a character zone to the site must be requested; and  

 

WHERAS, AHIFO-18, LLC has requested a rezoning to Kelly Park Interchange Mixed-

Use (KPI-MU) zoning, with the assignment of Neighborhood character zone; and  

 

WHEREAS, the proposed Kelly Park Interchange Mixed-Use (KPI-MU) zoning, and 

Neighborhood character zone has been found to be consistent with the City of Apopka 

Comprehensive Plan, and the Kelly Park Interchange Form Based Code. 

 

166



ORDINANCE NO. 2656 

PAGE 2 

 

  

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, as follows: 

 

Section I.  That the zoning classification of the following described property be designated 

as Kelly Park Interchange Mixed-Use (KPI-MU) and an Kelly Park Crossing overlay zone of 

Neighborhood District, as defined in the Kelly Park Interchange Form Based Code, is assigned to 

the property in Exhibit “A”, and with the following Master Plan provisions:  

 

Section II.  That the zoning classification of the following described property, being 

situated in the City of Apopka, Florida, is hereby Kelly Park Interchange Mixed-Use (KPI-MU), 

Neighborhood character zone as defined in the Kelly Park Interchange Form Based Code. 

 

Legal Description: 

 

A portion of land being in the East half of Section 12, Township 20 South, Range 

27 East, Orange County, Florida and being more particular described as follows: 

 

Commence at the northeast corner of the northeast quarter of said section 12; thence 

run along the East line of said northeast quarter, South 00° 01' 00” East, 1876.78 

feet, thence leaving said East line run North 85° 37' 03” West, 30.08 feet to a point 

on the West Right of Way line for Plymouth Sorrento Road, said point also being 

the POINT OF BEGINNING; thence run along said West Right of Way line, South 

00° 01' 00” East, 930.76 feet; thence leaving said West Right of Way line run, South 

89° 12' 07” West, 2091.52 feet to a point on the easterly Right of Way line of State 

Road 429 (Wekiva Parkway), said point being on a non-tangent curve, concave to 

the East, having a radius of 3300.00 feet, central angle of 027° 07' 49”, a chord 

bearing of North 16° 12' 47” East and a chord distance of 1548.04 feet; thence run 

along said easterly Right of Way line and arc of said curve 1562.59 feet to a point 

of non-tangency; thence leaving said Right of Way line run, North 89° 17' 05” East, 

339.10 feet; thence run, South 00° 09' 41” West, 429.58 feet; thence run, South 85° 

37' 03” East, 1324.83 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING. 

Said portion of land contains 51.061 Acres more or less. 

Parcel ID Nos.: 12-20-27-0000-00-032; 12-20-27-0000-00-090 

Combined Acreage: 51.061 +/- Acres 

 

 Section III.  That the zoning classification is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan of 

the City of Apopka, Florida. 

 

 Section IV.  That the Community Development Director, or the Director’s designee, is 

hereby authorized to amend, alter, and implement the official zoning maps of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, to include said designation. 

 

167



ORDINANCE NO. 2656 

PAGE 3 

 

 

 Section V. That if any section or portion of a section or subsection of this Ordinance proves 

to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the validity, 

force or effect of any other section or portion of section or subsection or part of this ordinance. 

 

 Section VI.  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed.  

 

 Section VII.  That this Ordinance shall take effect upon the date of adoption. 

 
 

                     
 
 

       _____________________________________ 
       Bryan Nelson, Mayor                                  
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
__________________________________ 
Linda Goff, City Clerk 
 
DULY ADVERTISED: April 27, 2018     

   June 8, 2018  

 

 
READ FIRST TIME:  June 6, 2018 
 
READ SECOND TIME 
AND ADOPTED:     June 20, 2018 

168



Latest Issue:  June 8, 2018

Date Issued:  September 6, 2017

Issued for: Zoning Approval

Ahifo-18 LLC.

Phone:  407.839.4006  

Owner:

Surveyor:

Site Location Map

1800 N Military Trl Ste 470
Boca Raton, Florida  33431

Urban Planner/Civil Engineer:

225 E. Robinson Street, Suite 300
Orlando, Florida  32801
Phone:  407.839.4006 · Fax:  407.839.4008

VHB

 Property Information

Master Plan
Bridle Path Mixed KPI
Concept Plan
City of Apopka, Florida
Parcel ID:  12-20-27-0000-00-032

  Sheet Index
Number Drawing Title Latest Issue

2 Existing Conditions 9/6/2017

3 Concept Plan & Site Data 6/8/2018

SV-1 Boundary Survey 9/1/2017

225 E. Robinson Street, Suite 300
Orlando, Florida  32801
Phone:  407.839.4006 · Fax:  407.839.4008

VHB

 Site 

A portion of land being in the East half of Section 12, Township 20 South, Range 27 East, Orange County, Florida and being more particular described as follows:

Commence at the northeast corner of the northeast quarter of said section 12; thence run along the East line of said northeast quarter, South 00° 01' 00” East,

1876.78 feet, thence leaving said East line run North 85° 37' 03” West, 30.08 feet to a point on the West Right of Way line for Plymouth Sorrento Road, said point

also being the POINT OF BEGINNING; thence run along said West Right of Way line, South 00° 01' 00” East, 930.76 feet; thence leaving said West Right of Way

line run, South 89° 12' 07” West, 2091.52 feet to a point on the easterly Right of Way line of State Road 429 (Wekiva Parkway), said point being on a non-tangent

curve, concave to the East, having a radius of 3300.00 feet, central angle of 027° 07' 49”, a chord bearing of North 16° 12' 47” East and a chord distance of

1548.04 feet; thence run along said easterly Right of Way line and arc of said curve 1562.59 feet to a point of non-tangency; thence leaving said Right of Way

line run, North 89° 17' 05” East, 339.10 feet; thence run, South 00° 09' 41” West, 429.58 feet; thence run, South 85° 37' 03” East, 1324.83 feet to the POINT OF

BEGINNING.

Said portion of land contains 51.061 Acres more or less.

E
n

g
i
n

e
e
r
s
 
|
 
S
c
i
e
n

t
i
s
t
s
 
|
 
P

l
a
n

n
e
r
s
 
|
 
D

e
s
i
g

n
e
r
s

225 E. Robinson Street, Suite 300
Orlando, Florida 32801
407.839.4006 • FAX 407.839.4008
Certificate of Authorization Number FL #3932

12-20-27-0000-00-090

169



P
L
Y

M
O

U
T

H
 
S

O
R

R
E
N

T
O

 
R

D

B

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
E

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
L

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
T

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
W

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Y

7

0
7

0

75

8

0

8

5

9
0

9

5

1

0

0

105

75

7

0

1
1
0

1
1
5

1

2

0

P
L
Y

M
O

U
T

H
 
S

O
R

R
E
N

T
O

 
R

D

B

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
E

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
L

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
T

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
W

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Y

6410

6460

5300

6430

2510

4200

2510

4200

4200

4200

1180

2150

2110

2430

4340

4410

1180

P
L
Y

M
O

U
T

H
 
S

O
R

R
E
N

T
O

 
R

D

B

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
E

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
L

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
T

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
W

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Y

6170

3

28

5
4

47

3

3

6

5

P
L
Y

M
O

U
T

H
 
S

O
R

R
E
N

T
O

 
R

D

B

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
E

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
L

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
T

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
W

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Y

C-2

Floodplain (100 Year)

Flood Prone Area

Source:

Orange County GIS, 2017

Topography

Topographic Contour

Source:

Orange County GIS, 2017

105

Soils

Soil Code Description

3 Basinger Fine Sand, depressional

4 Candler Fine Sand, 0 to 5 percent slopes

5 Candler Fine Sand, 5 to 12 percent slopes

6 Candler-Apopka Fine Sand, 5 to 12 percent slopes

28 Florahome fine sand, 0 to 5 percent slopes

47 Tavares-Millhopper fine sand, 0 to 5 percent slopes

Source:

Orange County GIS, 2017

Vegetation
Code Description

2510 Horse Farms

4200 Upland Hardwood Forests

4340 Upland Mixed Coniferous/Hardwood

6170 Mixed Wetland Hardwoods

Source:

FLUCFCS, 2017

Certificate of Authorization Number 3932
407-839-4006 • FAX 407-839-4008
Orlando, Florida 32801
225 E. Robinson Street, Suite 300

Environmental Services
Land Development
Transportation

Bridle Path PD

City of Apopka, Florida

June 08, 2018 61924.00

Planning + Design Studio

Appvd.DateRevisionNo.

Environmental

Conditions

170



Dowman Dr

P
l
y
m

o
u

t
h

 
S
o

r
r
e
n

t
o

 
R

d

(ZIP)

Park

Spring

ANNEX

RURAL

ANNEX

RURAL

RURAL

ANNEX

RURAL

RURAL

(ZIP)

(A-1)

(A-R)

(A-1)

(A-1)

(R-CE)

(ZIP)

Park/Stormwater

Pond

SINGLE-FAMILY

RESIDENTIAL

Clubhouse and Pool

Project Entrance

Landscape Buffer

& Trail

Landscape

Buffer

Landscape Buffer

B

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
E

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
L

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
T

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
W

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Y

Access to Adjacent Property

30' R.O.W of Expansion

Park/Stormwater

Pond

Pedestrian Access to

Adjacent Property

Upland Buffer-

25' Avg./15' Min.

(Typ.)

Wetland (Typ.)

300' Buffer from Existing Spring

Pedestrian Access to

Adjacent Property

Pedestrian Access to

Adjacent Property

50'

Lot Width

(Typical Lot)

110'

Lot Depth

40'

15' Front

75'

20' Rear

5' 5'

Typical 50'x110' Single-Family Lot

Scale: 1"=xx'

R/W

R/W

STREET

C-3

Project Boundary

       RURAL Future Land Use

        (A-1)      (Zoning)

Trail

Legend

Certificate of Authorization Number 3932
407-839-4006 • FAX 407-839-4008
Orlando, Florida 32801
225 E. Robinson Street, Suite 300

Environmental Services
Land Development
Transportation

Bridle Path PD

City of Apopka, Florida

June 08, 2018 61924.00

Planning + Design Studio

Appvd.DateRevisionNo.

Site Plan

TYPICAL LANDSCAPE BUFFER CROSS SECTION ALONG PLYMOUTH SORRENTO ROAD (N.T.S.)TYPICAL LANDSCAPE BUFFER CROSS SECTION ALONG ORLANDO BELTWAY (N.T.S.) * Recreation trail may be constructed within 30' R.O.W. dedication if
agreed to by Orange County at time of final engineering design.

*

171



 1 
 

Prepared by and return to: 

Andrew J. Hand 

2300 Maitland Center Parkway, Ste. 100 

Maitland, Florida 32751 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

(Bridle Path) 

THIS DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made and entered into 

this _____ day of ____________, 2018, by and between the CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, a 

Florida municipal corporation (“City”), whose address is 120 East Main Street, Apopka, FL 

32703, and, BB BRIDLE PATH LLC, a Florida limited liability company (“Developer”), whose 

address is 7910 Woodmont Avenue, Bethesda, MD  20814.  Developer and City are sometimes 

together referred to herein as the “Parties,” and separately as a “Party,” as the context requires. 

R E C I T A L S: 

WHEREAS, Developer is the contract purchaser or owner of certain parcels of real 

property bearing Orange County Tax Parcel Identification Numbers 12-20-27-0000-00-032 and 

12-20-27-0000-00-090 located in the City of Apopka, Orange County, Florida (collectively, the 

“Property”), which is approximately 51.09 total acres in size and is generally depicted on Exhibit 

“A” attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference; and  

WHEREAS, Developer is processing certain land use and zoning approvals with City, 

including a Future Land Use Map Amendment to designate the Property Mixed-Use (the “FLUM 

Amendment”); an application to assign the property the Mixed-KPI zoning classification (the 

“Zoning Application”) and approval of a Master Plan and Preliminary Development Plan (the 

“Master Plan/PDP Application”) (the foregoing being collectively referred to herein as the 

“Approvals”); and 

WHEREAS, the subject portion of the Property is proposed for 152 single family 

residential units, a bathhouse/cabana, pool and attendant recreation facilities, including certain 

regional trails available for use by the public at large as more specifically set forth herein 

(collectively, the “Project”); and 

WHEREAS, Developer intends to develop the Project infrastructure including streets, 

stormwater management system, utilities, perimeter walls and entrance features as specified herein 

and assign to a homebuilder entity (the “Homebuilder”) the obligations under this Agreement that 

directly relate to constructing homes on the various residential lots and constructing driveways, 

sidewalks, bathhouse/cabana and community pool, and installing lot landscaping within the 

Project; and  

WHEREAS, Developer desires to obtain the Approvals and receive assurances from City, 

as set forth herein; and 

172



 2 
 

WHEREAS, City desires that Developer and Homebuilder develop the Property in 

accordance with the City’s Comprehensive Plan, the adopted Kelly Park Interchange Form Based 

Code (“KPI-FBC”) and the City of Apopka Land Development Code (“LDC”), and the terms and 

conditions of this Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, in order to develop the Property as intended, Developer must install, in 

accordance with City technical specifications, approximately three thousand and seventy-four 

linear feet (3,074’) of eight inch (8”) potable water main which will run from the entrance to the 

Project off of Plymouth-Sorrento Road and connect to the existing sixteen inch (16”) potable water 

main located adjacent to Kelly Park Road; and  

WHEREAS, City has requested that Developer oversize such potable water line extension 

from eight inch (8”) to twelve inch (12”) (said upsized line being referred to herein as the “Potable 

Water Line Improvements”) and has agreed to directly reimburse Developer for the differential 

cost in the materials necessary involved in oversizing such line as hereinafter provided; and 

WHEREAS, in order to provide reclaimed water service to the Project Developer must 

install, in accordance with City technical specifications, approximately three thousand and twenty-

six linear feet (3,026’) of eight inch (8”) reclaimed water line which will run from the Project 

entrance and connect to the City’s existing sixteen inch (16”) reclaimed water main located 

adjacent to Kelly Park Road; and 

WHEREAS, City has requested that Developer oversize such reclaimed water line 

extension from eight inch (8”) to twelve inch (12”) (said upsized line being referred to herein as 

the “Reclaimed Water Line Improvements”) and has agreed to directly reimburse Developer 

for the differential cost in the materials necessary involved in oversizing the same as hereinafter 

provided; and  

WHEREAS, in order to develop the Property as intended, Developer must also install, in 

accordance with City technical specifications, approximately four thousand one hundred and sixty-

one linear feet (4,161’) of six inch (6”) sanitary sewer force main running from the Project entrance 

to the existing 6” sanitary sewer force main located adjacent to Kelly Park Road (the “Sanitary 

Sewer Force Main Improvements”); and 

WHEREAS, the installation of the Potable Water Line Improvements, the Reclaimed 

Water Line Improvements and the Sanitary Sewer Force Main Improvements (collectively, the 

“Utility Line Improvements”) will allow the City to provide those services to other properties 

located between the Project and Kelly Park Road to the south (individually, an “Additional 

Benefited Property” and, collectively, the “Additional Benefited Properties”); and 

WHEREAS, in addition to reimbursing Developer for the differential cost in the materials 

necessary in oversizing the Potable Water Line Improvements and Reclaimed Water 

Improvements (the “City Material Cost”), City has agreed, by the terms of this Agreement to 

implement and collect a Utility Extension Fee attributable to  each Additional Benefited Property,  

which fee shall equal  such property’s pro rata share of the net cost incurred by Developer for 

installation of the Utility Line Improvements (net cost being Developer’s actual cost for 

installation of the improvements minus City Material Cost) and shall forward each such collected 

173



 3 
 

fee to Developer as reimbursement for extending the Utility Line Improvements to serve such 

Additional Benefited Property; and 

WHEREAS, City Council has determined (1) that installation of the Utility Line 

Improvements is necessary to service the future utility needs of the Additional Benefited Properties 

as they are developed; (2) that the Utility Extension Fee bears a reasonable connection to the need 

for installation of the Utility Line Improvements in order to service future development of the 

Additional Benefited Properties; (3) that installation of the Utility Line Improvements will directly 

benefit the Additional Benefited Properties and owners thereof; (4) that an essential nexus exists 

between projected future development of the Additional Benefited Properties, the need for 

installation of the Utility Line Improvements, and the benefits that accrue to the Additional 

Benefited Properties whose owners are responsible for paying the Utility Extension Fee; and (5) 

that the amount of the Utility Extension Fee to be collected from the owner of each Additional 

Benefited Property is proportional to the pro rata share of the installation cost of the Utility Line 

Improvements necessary to service future development of each such Additional Benefited 

Property; and 

WHEREAS, it is the intent of City Council to legislatively create and impose the Utility 

Extension Fee through and in accordance with Florida Law, the terms of this Agreement, and as 

further specified herein; and 

WHEREAS, Developer, for and on behalf of itself and the successor Homebuilder, agrees 

to develop the Project upon the Property and to install the Utility Line Improvements in accordance 

with and subject to the terms of this Agreement for the uses substantially as depicted in the 

Approvals (the “Project Uses”), and to further install such other improvements as are required by 

the Approvals (the “Development Improvements”); and 

WHEREAS, City is authorized by home-rule powers to enter into agreements regarding 

the development and redevelopment of property; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council approved a Master Plan for the Project through Ordinance 

No. _______________ on ______________________, 2018; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council scheduled, advertised and held a public hearing on 

_______________, 2018, to consider this Agreement, and heard all persons desiring to speak for 

or against this Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council duly considered the remarks and comments offered 

regarding the Agreement made at said public hearings; and 

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to enter into this Agreement to provide the citizens of the 

City a quality development in the form of the Project; and 

WHEREAS, Developer hereby affirms and acknowledges that everything contracted for, 

negotiated, acknowledged and affirmed herein by Developer is done freely and voluntarily. 

174



 4 
 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements contained 

herein, and other good and valuable considerations, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 

acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as follows: 

1. Incorporation of Recitals.  Each and all of the foregoing Recitals are declared to be true 

and correct and are incorporated herein by this reference.   

2. References to Streets and Tracts.  All references to street names and tract numbers in 

this Agreement correlate with the street and tract names as shall be depicted on the Final 

Development Plan.   

3. Objectives of Agreement.  The Parties’ objectives, each of which is deemed material to 

the Parties’ decision to enter into this Agreement, include but are not limited to the following: 

(a) City Objectives: 

(i) To ensure that the Project is constructed and completed in one phase; and 

(ii) To ensure that the construction of the Development Improvements and the 

Utility Improvements are consistent with the terms of this Agreement; and 

(iii) To have Developer dedicate to Orange County, as part of the first recorded 

Project plat, a thirty-foot (30’) wide right-of-way tract along the entire eastern edge of the Property 

for the future widening of Plymouth-Sorrento Road (the “Right-of-Way Tract”); and  

(iv) To have Developer construct a 12 foot wide trail running from the 

Property’s northern property line to its southern property line and located either within the Right-

of-Way Tract if approved by Orange County or, if Orange County declines to approve its 

construction within the Right-of-Way Tract then within, as a part of and not in addition to, the 

thirty foot (30’) wide landscape buffer that must be installed immediately adjacent to the Right-

of-Way Tract, as generally depicted on Exhibit “B” attached hereto; and 

(v) To have Developer complete construction of the 12 foot wide trail prior to 

issuance of the 25th building permit; and 

(vi) To have Developer construct a 10 foot wide trail from the pool area in the 

northern part of the Project and running south to run along the eastern edge of the two stormwater 

ponds to the southern edge of the Project and to eventually connect with adjacent properties to the 

north and south, all as generally depicted on Exhibit “B”  attached hereto; and 

(vii) To have Developer further construct a 4 foot wide trail around the northern, 

western and southern edge of each of the stormwater ponds and connect to the aforementioned 10 

foot wide trail, as generally depicted on Exhibit “B” attached hereto; and 

(viii) To have the entire 4 foot trail and that portion of the 10 foot trail located 

adjacent to the ponds constructed no later than issuance of the building permit for the 25th home 

to be constructed in the Project; and 

175



 5 
 

(ix) To have the balance of the 10 foot trail, community pool area and such other 

recreation improvements as required as part of the Development Improvements completed no later 

than issuance of the building permit for the 50th home to be constructed in the Project; and 

(x) To have Developer post a performance bond prior to pulling the building 

permit for the first home to be constructed in the Project in order to ensure completion of the trails, 

bathhouse/cabana, community pool and recreation facilities as provided herein; and 

(xi) To have Developer grant an easement over the entire length of the 4 foot 

trail, the 10 foot trail and the 12 foot trail to allow public use of same; and  

 

(xii) To have all residential units and structures within the Project constructed in 

compliance with the KPI-FBC, Neighborhood Character Zone, including architectural standards 

provided in Section K.2.g and Appendix A of the KPI-FBC, and Land Development Code; and   

(xiii) To ensure that that the minimum livable area of constructed homes is 1600 

sq. ft.; and 

(xiv) To have Developer construct a covered mail kiosk in accordance with the 

requirements of this Agreement; and 

(xv) To have the Utility Line Improvements constructed by Developer in 

accordance with City Engineering specifications and the terms set forth herein; and 

(xvi) To ensure Developer pays its fair pro rata share of the cost of the Utility 

Line Improvements; and 

(xvii) To ensure Additional Benefited Properties pay their fair pro rata share of 

the cost of the Utility Line Improvements through the implementation of a Utility Extension Fee 

and to impose same via the terms of this Agreement; and 

(xviii) To ensure that Developer or Homebuilder creates a single mandatory 

homeowners’ association (the “Homeowners’ Association”) in accordance with Chapter 720, 

Florida Statutes, to govern the Project and maintain the infrastructure needed to support the 

Project; and  

(xix) To ensure that Homebuilder will not commence construction of any model 

home until the City Engineer, Fire Chief, and Public Services Director have determined that 

sufficient stabilized access and potable water are available to the lot or lots upon which 

Homebuilder proposes to construct a model home.   

(b) Developer’s Objectives: 

(i) To obtain from City timely reviews and approvals for the Project; and 

(ii) To clarify Developer’s and the successor Homebuilder’s rights and 

obligations regarding the Project; and 

176



 6 
 

(iii) To develop the Project in accordance with the terms and conditions of this 

Agreement; and 

(iv) To ensure both Developer and Additional Benefited Properties pay their fair 

pro rata share of the cost of the Utility Line Improvements. 

4. Homeowners’ Association.  Prior to the issuance of the first residential building permit or 

issuance of a Certificate of Completion for any common area improvement within the Project, 

Developer or Homebuilder shall form the Homeowners’ Association through the creation of 

Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws and a Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions 

(the “Governing Documents”) in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 720, Florida 

Statutes.  The Governing Documents shall be consistent with this Agreement.  To the extent there 

is any conflict between the Governing Documents and this Agreement, this Agreement shall 

supersede the Governing Documents and control.  The Homeowners’ Association shall exclusively 

govern all residential development, common areas and amenities within the Project.  Developer or 

Homebuilder shall not create any sub-association within the Project.  The Governing Documents 

shall provide that vehicles shall not be parked on sidewalks or trails and that no vehicle shall be 

parked in a residential driveway in a manner that any portion of such vehicle contacts, crosses, or 

obstructs a sidewalk or trail.   

5. Stormwater Ponds. 

(a) Conveyance of Stormwater Ponds.  At the time the first Project plat is recorded, 

Developer shall convey the stormwater pond tracts to the HOA or, if the HOA has not yet been 

formed, to Homebuilder who shall thereafter convey the stormwater pond tracts to the HOA when 

the HOA is formed.  The conveyance of the stormwater pond tracts shall be free and clear of all 

liens and encumbrances, except for easements of record acceptable to the HOA and City, if any, 

and shall grant City easement rights to access the stormwater ponds.   

(b) Maintenance Obligations for the Stormwater Pond.  Following conveyance of 

the stormwater pond tracts to the HOA, the HOA shall be responsible for the operation and 

maintenance of same. The City shall be granted the right, but not the obligation, to perform 

maintenance on the stormwater ponds if the HOA fails to properly maintain the same.  

6. Tree Removal and Mitigation.  Developer has submitted a tree survey to City showing 

existing trees on the Property that are required to be surveyed prior to undertaking land clearing 

activities.  Developer shall obtain an Arbor Permit from City in accordance with Section 5.01.06 

of the Land Development Code.   

7. Project to be Completed in Single Phase.  The Project shall be constructed and completed 

in one phase.   

8. Timing of Construction of Development Improvements. 

(a) Homebuilder shall be responsible for constructing all sidewalks within the Project 

serving residential lots after the home on the lot has been completed but before a Certificate of 

Occupancy for the particular home has been issued.  The purpose of this timing is to ensure that 

sidewalks are in place before a resident occupies a home but after all of the construction work on 

177



 7 
 

the lot has been completed so that the sidewalk is not damaged during construction of the home 

and landscaping of the yard.   

(b) Developer shall commence construction of streets, perimeter walls, fence, entrance 

feature, and associated landscaping in conjunction with the infrastructure for the Project within 

one year following issuance of the site clearing and grading permit for the Project (unless 

additional time is granted by the Community Development Director or City Engineer) and 

complete same prior to recording the plat for the Project.  If these Development Improvements 

have not been completed before a plat is recorded, Developer shall post a performance bond or 

other financial assurance acceptable to City in an amount equal to 110% of the estimated cost of 

construction for the particular Development Improvements that have not been completed.   

9. Dedication of Right-of-Way Tract to Orange County.  Developer shall dedicate to 

Orange County, as part of the first recorded Project plat, a thirty-foot (30’) wide right-of-way tract 

along the entire eastern edge of the Property for the future widening of Plymouth-Sorrento Road 

(the “Right-of-Way Tract”). 

10. Internal Street Network.  All internal streets within the Project shall be constructed in 

accordance with City’s engineering and design specifications and will be dedicated to the City at 

the time of platting. 

11. Construction of Trail System and Grant of Easement for Public Use.  Developer shall 

construct the following trails, all as generally depicted on Exhibit “B” attached hereto, and shall 

dedicate an easement over each in favor of the public at large: 

(a) a 12 foot wide trail running from the Property’s northern property line to the 

Property’s southern property line and located either within the Right-of-Way Tract if construction 

thereof within the Right-of-Way Tracts is approved by Orange County, or, if Orange County 

declines to approve construction of such trail within the Right-of-Way Tract then Developer shall 

construct it within the thirty foot (30’) wide landscape buffer Developer is required to install 

immediately adjacent to the Right-of-Way Tract.  If the 12 foot wide trail is constructed within the 

landscape buffer, then it shall be included within the required 30 feet and not in addition thereto 

(i.e., Developer shall not be required to install a 30 foot landscape buffer plus an adjacent 12 foot 

wide trail) and Developer shall dedicate to City, as part of the first recorded Project plat, the 12 

foot wide trail as a tract shown on the plat.  Regardless of the trail’s final location, Developer is 

obligated to physically construct the 12 foot wide trail and may not pay a fee in lieu of constructing 

the trail under any circumstance.  

(b) a 10 foot wide trail from the pool area in the northern part of the Project and running 

south to run along the eastern edge of the two stormwater ponds to the southern edge of the Project 

and to eventually connect to the adjacent properties to the north and south.  Developer shall 

dedicate to HOA, as part of the first recorded Project plat, a tract for the 10 foot wide trail depicted 

on the plat for future public dedication.  There shall be a condition shown on the plat that the HOA 

dedicate the trail tract to the County or the City upon request by either respective local government.  

(c) a 4 foot wide trail around the northern, western and southern edge of each of the 

stormwater ponds and connect to the aforementioned 10 foot wide trail.  

178



 8 
 

Developer shall complete construction of the 12 foot wide trail, the entire 4 foot trail, and that 

portion of the 10 foot trail located adjacent to the ponds prior to issuance of the  building permit 

for the 25th home to be constructed in the Project.  The balance of the 10 foot trail shall be 

completed prior to issuance of the building permit for the 50th home to be constructed in the 

Project.  Prior to issuance of a Building Permit for construction of the first home in the Project 

Developer shall post a performance bond or other financial assurance acceptable to City in an 

amount equal to 110% of the estimated cost of construction in order to ensure completion of the 

trails as provided herein.  Such performance bond or other financial assurance may be combined 

with the performance bond or other financial assurance assuring the completion of other 

Development Improvements. 

12. Issuance of Building Permit for Model Homes.  Under no circumstance will City issue 

a building permit for a model home until the City Engineer, Fire Chief, and Public Services 

Director have determined that sufficient road access and potable water are available to the lot or 

lots upon which Homebuilder proposes to construct a model home.   

13. Construction of Community Pool and Recreation Facilities.  Developer shall complete 

construction of the bathhouse/cabana, community pool and such other recreation improvements as 

required by the Approvals prior to issuance of the building permit for the 50th home to be 

constructed in the Project.  Prior to issuance of a Building Permit for construction of the first home 

in the Project Developer shall post a performance bond or other financial assurance acceptable to 

City in an amount equal to 110% of the estimated cost of construction in order to ensure completion 

of the bathhouse/cabana, community pool and other recreation improvements as provided herein.  

Such performance bond or other financial assurance may be combined with the performance bond 

or other financial assurance assuring the completion of other Development Improvements. 

14. Construction of Covered Mail Kiosk.  A covered mail kiosk with adequate temporary 

parking shall be depicted on the Final Development Plan located adjacent to the bathhouse/cabana.  

At the time of Developer’s submission of the proposed Final Development Plan to City, Developer 

shall provide to City a letter from the local U.S. Post Master indicating that he/she is in favor of 

the location of the kiosk.   

15. Architectural Standards.   

(a) Homebuilder shall provide architectural renderings of all residential units and 

structures, bathhouse/cabana, and covered mail kiosk at the time of submission of the proposed 

Final Development to City.   

(b) All residential units and structures within the Project shall be constructed in 

compliance with the KPI-FBC, Neighborhood Character Zone, including architectural standards 

provided in Section K.2.g and Appendix A of the KPI-FBC and Land Development Code.   

(c) The minimum livable area of a home shall be 1,600 sq. ft.  

16. Construction of Utility Line Improvements.  Developer shall design, engineer, permit, 

construct, install and complete the Utility Line Improvements at its sole initial cost and expense, 

but subject to reimbursement as provided in paragraphs 18 and 20 hereof, prior to issuance of the 

first certificate of occupancy for the Project.  Should additional public right-of-way or public utility 

179



 9 
 

easements be required for installation of the Utility Line Improvements, City shall exercise its best 

efforts to acquire the same, at its sole cost and expense, in a timely manner so as not to delay the 

Project.  Developer shall post a performance bond or other financial assurance acceptable to City 

in an amount equal to 110% of the estimated cost of the Utility Line Improvements as provided 

herein.  Such performance bond or other financial assurance may be combined with the 

performance bond or other financial assurance insuring the completion of other Development 

Improvements.  Following City’s final inspection of the Utility Line Improvements and 

Developer’s receipt of written notification from City that the Utility Line Improvements have been 

completed in conformance with the permitted construction plans and any other applicable 

construction, permitting or engineering requirements, Developer shall convey the Utility Line 

Improvements via a Bill of Sale to the City.  Such conveyance shall be free and clear of any liens, 

charges, claims or other encumbrances against title to the Utility Line Improvements.   

17. Developer’s Provision to City of Cost Calculations.  Upon Developer’s receipt of written 

notification from City that the Utility Line Improvements have been completed in conformance 

with the permitted construction plans and any other applicable construction, permitting or 

engineering requirements, Developer shall provide the City with: 

(a)  a detailed accounting of the actual costs incurred by Developer for materials and 

installation of the Utility Line Improvements with supporting documentation for all such costs.  

The accounting shall separate such costs by those attributable to the Potable Water Line 

Improvements, those attributable to the Reclaimed Water Line Improvements, and those 

attributable to the Sanitary Sewer Force Main Improvements;  

(b) a calculation of the City Material Cost (i.e., the differential in the cost of materials 

related to upsizing those lines from 8” to 12”) with regard to the Potable Water Line Improvements 

and Reclaimed Water Line Improvements; and 

(c) a calculation of the cost of each individual utility line of the Utility Line 

Improvements, per linear foot (an individual line’s respective “PLF Cost”).  The PLF Cost of 

each such utility line shall be determined by dividing the total cost incurred by Developer for that 

particular line, excluding the City Material Cost for such line, if any, by the distance between the 

point where such line connected to an existing main (the “Point of Connection”) and the northern 

terminus of such line. 

18. City’s Review of Cost Calculations & Reimbursement of Oversizing Material Cost 

Differential.  City Council, at its next regular meeting following City’s receipt from Developer of 

the calculations required above in Section 17, shall review such calculations and may accept or 

dispute same.  If the City Council accepts such calculations, or fails to dispute them at the City 

Council meeting at which they are reviewed, then the City shall promptly reimburse Developer for 

the City Material Cost of the Potable Water Line Improvement and Reclaimed Water Line 

Improvements by paying such amounts directly to the Developer within thirty (30) days.  In the 

event City disputes such calculations it shall notify Developer of the basis for its dispute within 

five (5) business days of the City Council meeting at which they are reviewed and shall specifically 

identify what it is disputing and why.  The City shall pay any undisputed amount in accordance 

with the above terms while the Parties proceed to work in good faith to resolve the disputed 

amount.  If the dispute is not resolved within the next two regular City Council meetings following 

180



 10 
 

Developer’s receipt of notice of such dispute, then Developer shall be free to seek resolution by a 

court of competent jurisdiction.  The Parties shall adjust the calculations in Section 17 at the time 

any such dispute is resolved in accordance with the terms of such resolution.   

19. Imposition and Collection of Utility Extension Fee for Additional Benefited 

Properties.   

(a) For a period of ten (10) years following the date City accepts conveyance of the 

Utility Line Improvements, the City, through its Public Services Director, or his/her designee, shall 

impose and collect a Utility Extension Fee for each Additional Benefited Property which connects 

to the Utility Line Improvements as calculated and collected in accordance with the procedures 

specified within this section.  The City hereby imposes such Utility Extension Fee in accordance 

with the terms of this Agreement and as specified herein.   

(b) When the authorized representative of the owner of an Additional Benefited 

Property (“Owner’s Representative”) provides notice to the City’s Public Services Department 

of intent to connect such property to the Utility Line Improvements, the Public Services Director, 

or his/her designee, shall calculate the Utility Extension Fee as follows: 

(i) First, calculate the pro rata length of each individual utility line of the Utility 

Line Improvements to which an Additional Benefited Property (“PRL”) intends to connect. The 

PRL of each such line shall be calculated as the distance between the southernmost point of the 

Additional Benefited Property which is adjacent to Plymouth Sorrento Road (said point being the 

point where the owner of the Additional Benefited Property would have been required to extend 

such utility line in order to serve such property had Developer not already completed the Utility 

Line Improvements) and the southernmost point of the parcel located immediately south of the 

Additional Benefited Property which is adjacent to Plymouth Sorrento Road.   

(ii) Second, the PRL for each individual utility line shall then be multiplied by 

the respective PLF Cost of such line as provided per Section 17(c) and the result further multiplied 

by 0.5 (thereby accounting for the fact that properties on both the east and west side of Plymouth 

Sorrento Road shall ultimately connect to the Utility Line Improvements and avoiding double 

reimbursement of the cost of each linear foot).  The resulting number shall be that Additional 

Benefited Property’s pro rata share for the respective line. 

Additional Benefited Property’s pro rata share for each line = (PRL)(PLF Cost)(0.5) 

(iii) Finally, the total Utility Extension Fee attributable to the Additional 

Benefited Property shall be calculated as the sum of the pro rata shares of each of the individual 

utility lines of the Utility Line Improvements to which the property will connect.   

(c) The City’s Public Services Director, or his/her designee, shall provide written 

notice to the Owner’s Representative and the Developer within ten (10) days of receipt of the 

Additional Benefited Property’s application to connect to the Utility Line Improvements which 

notice shall: 

(i) identify the Utility Extension Fee attributable to the Additional Benefited 

Property and show the calculations as to how such fee was derived; and 

181



 11 
 

(ii) require payment of the Utility Extension Fee in full prior to the date the 

Additional Benefited Property connects to any of the Utility Line Improvements.   

(d) The City shall not charge a Utility Extension Fee more than once for an Additional 

Benefited Parcel, or any subdivided portion thereof, regardless of how many times it may be 

subsequently redeveloped except in the event it is necessary to remedy an undercharge in collection 

per subsection (e) below.   

(e) If the PRL cost is under dispute per Section 18, then the PRL cost last provided by 

Developer to City shall be used for purposes of the calculations in this section.  If the PRL cost is 

reduced or increased per resolution of such dispute, then the Utility Extension Fee shall be 

recalculated accordingly. Any overcharge collected shall be remitted to the appropriate party 

within thirty (30) days of resolution of such dispute.  Any undercharge will be collected in 

accordance with the terms of this Agreement and distributed accordingly.  

20. Reimbursement of Utility Extension Fee to Developer.  City shall forward to Developer 

the sum of each Utility Extension Fee collected within thirty (30) days following such collection.   

21. Development Approvals.  This Agreement shall in no manner constitute a development 

approval regarding the Property or Project.  Developer and successor Homebuilder must comply 

with all applicable provisions of the City’s Comprehensive Plan, Kelly Park Interchange Form-

Based Code and Land Development Code regarding the development of the Property and the 

Project. 

22. Development Review for Subject Property.  Developer shall provide all information on 

the Property necessary for the required development reviews.  City shall process the Developer’s 

applications, licenses, and permits so long as Developer has sufficiently complied with the 

application procedures for each process as set forth in the Code and adopted procedures. 

23. Developer and Homebuilder Obligations as to Development of Subject Property. 

(a) Except as otherwise set forth herein as the responsibility of City, Developer shall 

design, permit and construct, at its own cost and expense, all Development Improvements related 

to the Project. 

(b) The Development Improvements shall be constructed in accordance with the 

construction plans approved by City through its standard Final Development Plan review process.   

(c) At the time of issuance of any building permits for the Project, Homebuilder shall 

pay to City all applicable City impact fees in amounts which are in effect at the time of building 

permit issuance and provide proof that Homebuilder has paid all applicable School impact fees 

and required mitigation payments, if any, to the School Board of Orange County.   

24. Consistency with City’s Comprehensive Plan.  City hereby finds that this Agreement is 

consistent with the City’s Comprehensive Plan and other City governing documents, and is a 

legislative act of the City Council.  City further finds that this Agreement promotes the public 

health, safety, and welfare, and is consistent with, and a proper exercise of, City’s powers under 

182



 12 
 

the Municipal Home Rule Powers Act, as provided in Section 2(b), Article VIII of the Florida 

Constitution, Chapter 166.021, Florida Statutes, and City’s police powers. 

25. Minor (aka “Insubstantial”) Amendments and Adjustments.  The Parties agree that a 

Project of this type requires ongoing day-to-day decisions that may result in minor or insignificant 

changes to the Project (in addition to Administrative Adjustments).  Such “Minor Adjustments” 

are those which do not materially affect or modify the Project and are typical of developments of 

this type.  No such Minor Adjustment may modify or otherwise adversely impact the criteria 

outlined in the approved Preliminary Development Plan or approved Final Development Plan.  

Developer is authorized to make such Minor Adjustments as are necessary in its professional 

discretion and in the ordinary course of business with approval of City or City Designee.  If 

Developer is in doubt as to whether a matter is a Minor Adjustment, Developer may from time to 

time request the concurrence of City Designee that a particular matter involves a Minor 

Adjustment, which request for concurrence shall be in writing, and which concurrence shall also 

be in writing, shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, and shall be binding 

upon City and Developer.   

26. Obligation to Adhere to Requirements of Law.  Developer and City agree that they and 

their respective successors and assigns will be bound by the provisions of this Agreement, as well 

as all applicable Federal, State and local laws, as the same may be amended or created from time 

to time.  No clause or provision of this Agreement shall be construed or excuse the observance of 

any requirement of any law by Developer or City.  Failure of this Agreement to address a particular 

permit, condition, term, or restriction shall not relieve Developer or City of the necessity of 

complying with the law governing said permitting requirements, conditions, term, or restriction. 

27. Covenants and Terms.  The conditions and covenants set forth herein shall be construed 

as covenants running with the Property which shall survive any termination of this Agreement 

unless otherwise specifically stated herein, and shall be binding upon Developer, City and their 

assigns and successors in interest, and shall inure to the benefit of Developer, City and their assigns 

and successors in interest, but shall not be deemed to extend private rights to any person or entity 

other than the Parties hereto and their successors and assigns.  City enters this Agreement based, 

in part, upon Developer’s experience, reputation and expertise.  This Agreement shall not be 

assignable by Developer, or any assignee of Developer, without City’s prior written approval, 

which City may provide or withhold in its sole discretion.  City hereby agrees that this Agreement 

may be assigned to the intended Homebuilder as that term is defined herein.  Notwithstanding the 

foregoing, in the event that a project mortgagee (or its nominee) shall acquire title to the Property 

through foreclosure or deed in lieu of foreclosure, such affiliate of Developer or project mortgagee 

(or its nominee) shall be deemed a permitted assignee under this Agreement, provided such 

assignee gives City prompt notice of the acquisition thereby of the Property, and such assignee 

agrees to assume and timely perform all of the covenants and obligations of Developer under this 

Agreement accruing from and after the date of such acquisition of title.  This Agreement shall be 

effective from the Effective Date (as hereinafter defined) until such time as the Master Plan is no 

longer effective unless sooner terminated by Developer or City pursuant to a specific right of 

termination set forth in this Agreement.  If construction of the Project has not commenced within 

three (3) years following the Effective Date, then this Agreement shall expire and be of no further 

force or effect.  Once the Development Improvements have been completed and all obligations 

herein satisfied, this Agreement shall be deemed terminated except as expressly set forth in this 

183



 13 
 

Agreement.  Within fifteen (15) days following the written request of Developer, City shall execute 

an instrument in recordable form acknowledging that the any and all obligations under and 

pursuant to this Agreement have been fully satisfied and performed, and that this Agreement has 

terminated, or if termination has not then occurred, specifying which, if any, obligations under this 

Agreement remain unsatisfied or unperformed, and Developer may record any such instrument in 

the Public Records of Orange County, Florida. 

28. Cooperation.  Developer and City shall reasonably cooperate and act in good faith with 

each other to achieve the terms, conditions, and intentions of this Agreement, particularly with 

regard to specific dates set forth herein.  In connection with Developer’s applications for City 

development licenses, permits and approvals necessary to construct the Project and Development 

Improvements in accordance with the final site plan, City agrees to process and review any and all 

applications associated with Developer’s licenses, permits (including building permits) and 

approvals in good faith and in a prompt and diligent manner.  However, Developer recognizes and 

concedes that, in the exercise of its regulatory police power, City must review and act upon 

Developer’s permit applications in substantially the same manner as in the case of applications for 

all other property owners, and City’s decision-making in the course of exercising its police power 

cannot be waived, divested, or otherwise diminished by contract.  City further agrees to formally 

designate the City Administrator or his designee to facilitate approvals, expedite permits and to 

act as liaison between City and Developer. 

29. Amendments.  This Agreement may not be amended, unless evidenced in writing and 

executed by both Parties hereto. 

30. Indemnification.  Developer shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless City from and 

against any and all suits, claims, damages, losses, liabilities, reasonable costs and expenses 

whatsoever (including attorneys’ fees), which City may incur (or which may be claimed against 

City by any Party whomsoever) by reasons of or in connection with the design, construction or 

maintenance of the Development Improvements and public infrastructure.  Nothing herein shall 

require Developer to indemnify City or its agents for their own negligence.  This paragraph shall 

survive expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement. 

31. Default.  Failure by either Party to perform any of its obligations hereunder shall constitute 

a default, entitling any non-defaulting Party to pursue such remedies as may be available to it under 

Florida law or equity, including, without limitation, an action for specific performance and/or 

injunctive relief or termination hereof.  Prior to termination of this Agreement or either Party filing 

an action as a result of a default under this Agreement, the non-defaulting Party shall first provide 

the defaulting Party with written notice of said default.  Upon receipt of said notice, the defaulting 

Party shall be provided a thirty (30) day opportunity in which to cure the default, except where 

otherwise provided herein.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Developer determines, in 

Developer’s sole discretion and prior to commencing development of the Project (including 

commencement of the Utility Line Improvements), that market conditions or other factors have 

made proceeding with the Project unadvisable, then, in that instance, Developer shall be free to 

terminate this Agreement without penalty or claim of damages by City by providing written notice 

of termination to City no less than thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of termination.  

Developer hereby acknowledges and agrees that one or more Project Approvals may expire after 

184



 14 
 

Developer has elected to terminate this Agreement and further acknowledges and agrees that City 

is not obligated to renew such Approvals or grant similar Approvals in the future.  

32. Attorneys’ Fees.  In the event of default, the prevailing Party shall have the right to recover 

all reasonable attorneys’ fees and court costs incurred as a result thereof, in addition to all other 

remedies provided herein. 

33. Bankruptcy.  In the event (a) an order or decree is entered appointing a receiver for 

Developer or its assets or (b) a petition is filed by Developer for relief under federal bankruptcy 

laws or any other similar law or statute of the United States, which action is not dismissed, vacated 

or discharged within sixty (60) days after the filing thereof, then City shall have the right to 

terminate immediately this Agreement and accelerate, making immediately due and payable, all 

sums levied against the Property at the time of the occurrence of an event described in (a) or (b) 

above.  The occurrence of an event described in (a) or (b) above shall not afford any person the 

right to refuse, discontinue or defer payment of said sums or to challenge their validity. 

34. No Liability or Monetary Remedy.  Developer hereby acknowledges and agrees that it 

is sophisticated and prudent in business transactions and proceeds at its own risk under advice of 

its own counsel and advisors and without reliance on City, and that City bears no liability for 

direct, indirect or consequential damages.  The only remedies available to Developer for any 

breach by City are actions for declaratory judgment and/or mandamus to require City’s specific 

performance under the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

35. Force Majeure.  Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, no Party shall 

be liable for any breach of this Agreement for any delay or failure of performance resulting from 

any cause beyond such Party’s reasonable control, including but not limited to the weather, strikes 

or labor disputes, adverse rulings in third-party lawsuits, casualty, war, terrorist acts, riots or civil 

disturbances, acts of civil or military authorities, or acts of God (individually, a “force majeure”) 

provided the Party affected takes all reasonably necessary steps to resume full performance; 

provided however, that if any such force majeure shall continue for three hundred sixty-five (365) 

consecutive days, any Party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement without incurring any 

penalty. 

36. Gender, Number and Subtitles.  As used in this Agreement, the plural includes the 

singular, and the singular includes the plural.  Use of one gender includes all genders.  Subtitles of 

sections or paragraphs used in this Agreement are for convenient reference only and shall not limit, 

define or otherwise affect the substance or construction of provisions of this Agreement. 

37. Notice.  Any notice required or allowed to be delivered hereunder shall be in writing and 

shall be: (a) hand delivered to the official hereinafter designated, effective upon such delivery; (b) 

deposited in the United States mail, postage prepaid, certified or registered mail, return receipt 

requested, effective upon receipt of such notice; (c) deposited with a nationally recognized 

overnight courier service (e.g., Federal Express, United Parcel Service, Purolator, Airborne, 

Express Mail, etc.), effective one (1) business day after such deposit; or (d) delivered by  facsimile 

(fax) transmission, effective upon confirmed transmission; addressed to a Party at the address 

specified below, or such other address as from time to time may be provided by written notice: 

185



 15 
 

City: City Administrator 

120 East Main Street 

Apopka, FL 32703 

Telephone:  (407) 703-1712 

 

 

Copy to: Cliff Shepard, Esq. 

Shepard, Smith, Kohlmyer & Hand, P.A. 

2300 Maitland Center Parkway, Suite 100 

Maitland, FL 32751 

Telephone:  (407) 622-1772 

 

Developer: BB Bridle Path LLC 

Attn:  Alan Margoluis  

7910 Woodmont Ave., Ste. 1165 

Bethesda, MD  20814 

Telephone:  (202)-332-6600 

 

Copy to: Shutts & Bowen, LLP 

Attn:  Brian Jones 

300 S. Orange Ave., Ste. 1600 

Orlando, FL  32801 

Telephone: 407-835-6937 

  

  

38. Severability.  Invalidation of any word, clause, sentence, or section contained herein due 

to illegality, unconstitutionality, or for any other reason and as determined by a court of competent 

jurisdiction shall not act to cause this entire Agreement to be found to be invalid, illegal or 

unconstitutional, and said documents shall be read without such invalid, illegal or unconstitutional 

word, clause, sentence or section. 

39. Recording in Public Records.  A memorandum of this Agreement, executed by both 

Parties shall be recorded in the Public Records of Orange County, Florida (“Effective Date”).  The 

City Clerk shall insure the proper recording is accomplished within fourteen (14) days after the 

execution of this Agreement by both Parties.   

40. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of 

which when so executed and delivered shall be deemed an original, and all of which shall together 

constitute on and the same instrument. 

41. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties 

with respect to the specific matters contained herein and supersedes all previous discussions, 

understandings, and agreements.  Amendment to or waivers of the provisions herein shall be made 

by the Parties in writing. 

186



 16 
 

42. Negotiation.  Each Party hereto hereby acknowledges that he was properly represented in 

the negotiation of this Agreement and this Agreement shall not be more strictly construed against 

one Party or the other as a result of such Party’s participation in the drafting of this Agreement. 

43. No Third-Party Beneficiaries. The Agreement is solely for the benefit of the Parties 

signing hereto and their successors and assigns, and no right, nor any cause of action, shall accrue 

to or for the benefit of any third party. 

44. Relationship of the Parties.  This Agreement does not evidence the creation of, nor shall 

it be construed as creating, a partnership or joint venture between City and Developer.  Developer 

cannot create any obligation or responsibility on behalf of City or bind City in any manner.  Each 

Party is acting for its own account, and it has made its own independent decisions to enter into this 

Agreement and as to whether the same is appropriate or proper for it based upon its own judgment 

and upon advice from such advisers as it has deemed necessary.  Each Party acknowledges that 

the other Party hereto is not acting as a fiduciary for or an adviser to it in respect of this Agreement 

or any responsibility or obligation contemplated herein.  Developer further represents and 

acknowledges that no one was paid a fee, commission, gift or other consideration by Developer as 

an inducement to entering into this Agreement. 

45. Controlling Law.  This Agreement and the provisions contained herein shall be construed, 

controlled, and interpreted according to the laws of the State of Florida, and all duly adopted 

ordinances, regulations and policies of City now in effect and those hereinafter adopted. 

46. Venue.  The location for settlement of any and all claims, controversies, or disputes, arising 

out of or relating to any part of this Agreement, or any breach hereof, shall be Orange County, 

Florida. 

47. Personal Liability.  No provision of this Agreement is intended, nor shall any be 

construed, as a covenant of any official (either elected or appointed), director, employee or agent 

of City in an individual capacity and neither shall any such individuals be subject to personal 

liability by reason of any covenant or obligation of City hereunder. 

48. No General Obligation.  In no event shall any obligation of City under this Agreement be 

or constitute a general obligation or indebtedness of City or a pledge of the ad valorem taxing 

power of City, within the meaning of the Constitution of the State of Florida or any other applicable 

laws, but shall be payable solely from legally available revenues and funds.  Neither Developer 

nor any other party under or beneficiary of this Agreement shall ever have the right to compel the 

exercise of the ad valorem taxing power of City or any other governmental entity or taxation in 

any form on any real or personal property to pay City’s obligations or undertakings hereunder. 

49. Agency.  Developer and City, and their agents, contractors or subcontractors, shall perform 

all activities described in this Agreement as independent entities and not as agents of each other. 

50. Sovereign Immunity.  Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed as a waiver 

of City’s right to sovereign immunity for tort claims under and subject to §768.28, Florida 

Statutes. 

187



 17 
 

51. City’s Police Power and Regulatory Powers.  City hereby reserves all police and 

regulatory powers granted to City by law.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, 

nothing herein shall be construed as City’s bargaining away, surrendering, or in any way 

diminishing its police or regulatory powers. 

52. Interpretation.  The Parties hereby acknowledge and agree that each has participated 

equally in the drafting of this Agreement, and neither Party shall be favored or disfavored regarding 

the interpretation of this Agreement in the event of a dispute between the Parties. 

53. Compliance with Public Records Law.  Pursuant to Section 119.0701, Florida Statutes, 

when Developer provides services to City by constructing public infrastructure or improving City 

property under the terms of the Agreement, Developer shall comply with the public records laws 

set forth in Chapter 119, Florida Statutes, and any successor statute.  Specifically, the Developer 

shall: 

(a) Keep and maintain public records that ordinarily and necessarily would be required 

by City in order to perform the service provided to City; 

(b) Provide the public with access to public records on the same terms and conditions 

that City would provide the records and at a cost that does not exceed the cost provided in Chapter 

119, Florida Statutes, or otherwise provided by law; 

(c) Ensure that public records that are exempt or confidential and exempt from public 

records disclosure requirements are not disclosed, except as authorized by law; 

(d) Meet all requirements for retaining public records and transfer, at no costs to City, 

all public records in possession of Developer upon completion, inspection, and issuance of a 

Certificate of Occupancy for the completed services on City property, and destroy any duplicate 

public records that are exempt or confidential and exempt from public records disclosure 

requirements.  All records stored electronically must be provided to City in a format that is 

compatible with the information technology systems of City. 

(e) Upon request of City, Developer shall promptly provide City with copies of public 

records which pertain to this Agreement. 

(f) In the event that Developer receives a request from any person or entity other than 

City for a document, computerized information, audio or videotape, CD, DVD, or any other record 

in Developer’s possession pursuant to this Agreement, Developer shall notify City immediately 

and submit the request to City for direction on how to comply with Florida’s Public Records Law.  

Developer shall allow City to inspect the requested record to advise Developer if any material 

therein is exempt or confidential and therefore subject to redaction. 

54. Condemnation.  If, prior to obtaining all necessary permits and approvals to construct the 

public infrastructure and/or Development Improvements, all or any part of the Property is 

subjected to a bona fide threat of condemnation by a body having the power of eminent domain or 

is taken by eminent domain or condemnation (or sale in lieu thereof), or if City and/or Developer 

has received written notice that any condemnation action or proceeding with respect to the Property 

is contemplated by a body having the power of eminent domain, each shall give the other 

188



 18 
 

immediate written notice of such threatened or contemplated condemnation or of such taking or 

sale, and each may, by written notice to the other, given within thirty (30) days after the receipt of 

such notice, elect to cancel this Agreement as it relates to the portion of the Property affected by 

such condemnation.  Further, City agrees not to use its powers of eminent domain in any way 

which would modify or alter the Preliminary Development Plan or Final Development Plan, 

provided that this paragraph shall not abrogate City’s police powers. 

55. Effective Date.  The “Effective Date” of this Agreement is the date when the 

memorandum of this Agreement is duly recorded in the Public Records of Orange County, Florida. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have set their hands and seals onto this Agreement 

prior to the Effective Date. 

Signed, sealed and delivered 

in the presence of: 

 

  
Print Name:   

 

  
Print Name:   

 

 

 

Attest    

  , City Clerk 

 

CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA 

 

 

By:   

   

 

Date:   

 

 

STATE OF FLORIDA 

COUNTY OF ORANGE 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me on this _____ day of 

____________, 2018, by ___________, __________of the City of Apopka, on behalf of the CITY 

OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, a Florida municipal corporation, who is __ personally known to me or 

has produced _________________ as identification. 

   

Notary Public 

 

Print Name:   

 

 

 

189



 19 
 

 

 

 

 

  

Print name:   

 

 

  

Print Name:   

 

BRIDLE PATH LLC, a Florida limited 

liability company 

 

 

By:   

Name:   

Title:   

 

 

Date:   

  

STATE OF _____________ 

COUNTY OF ___________ 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me on this _____ day of 

____________, 2018, by ________________, as _________________________ of BB Bridle 

Path LLC, a Florida limited liability company, on behalf of the company, who is __ personally 

known to me or has produced _________________ as identification. 

   

Notary Public 

 

Print Name:   

 

 

 

 

  

190



 20 
 

EXHIBIT “A” 

 

(Legal Description of Property) 

 

A portion of land being in the East half of Section 12, Township 20 South, Range 27 East, Orange 

County, Florida and being more particularly described as follows: 

 

Commence at the northeast corner of the northeast quarter of said Section 12; thence run along the 

East line of said northeast quarter, South 00° 01' 00” East, 1876.80 feet, thence leaving said East 

line run North 85° 36' 15” West, 30.09 feet to a point on the West Right of Way line for Plymouth 

Sorrento Road, per Deed Book 402, Page 136, Public Records of Orange County, Florida, said 

point also being the POINT OF BEGINNING; thence run along said West Right of Way line, 

South 00° 01' 00" East, 930.83 feet; thence leaving said West Right of Way line run, South 89° 11' 

53" West, 2091.56 feet to a point on the easterly Right of Way line of State Road 429 (Wekiva 

Parkway), as shown on the Central Florida Expressway Authority Right of Way Map, from Project 

Number 429-203, said point being on a non-tangent curve, concave to the East, having a radius of 

3300.00 feet, a central angle of 027° 09' 28", a chord bearing of North 16° 13' 21" East and a chord 

distance of 1549.57 feet; thence run along said easterly Right of Way line and arc of said curve 

1564.18 feet to a point of non-tangency; thence leaving said easterly Right of Way line run, North 

89° 21' 40" East, 339.02 feet; thence run, South 00° 14' 16" West, 429.96 feet; thence run, South 

85° 36' 15" East, 1325.37 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING. 

 

Said portion of land contains 51.091 Acres more or less. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

191



 21 
 

EXHIBIT “B” 

 

(Bridle Path Trail Plan) 

 

 

 

 

192



 

 

 
CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL  
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENDA  MEETING OF: June 20, 2018 

X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Vicinity Map 

X OTHER: Preliminary Development Plan  Adjacent Zoning Map 

    Adjacent Uses Map 

    Existing Use Map 

    KPC Form Based Code Map 

    Preliminary Development Plan  
  

SUBJECT:  PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN – BRIDLE PATH RESIDENTIAL 

SUBDIVISION 

 

REQUEST: 
APPROVE THE PRELIMINAY DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR THE BRIDLE 

PATH KELLY PARK CROSSING FORM-BASED CODE SUBDIVISION  
  
SUMMARY: 

 
OWNER:    AHIFO-18, LLC 
 
APPLICANT:    VHB – c/o Jim Hall  
 
LOCATION: West of Plymouth-Sorrento Road and east of SR 429, approximately  

one-half mile north of the intersection of Kelly Park Road and Plymouth-
Sorrento Road 

 
PARCEL ID NUMBERS:  12-20-27-0000-00-032; 12-20-27-0000-00-090 
 
EXISTING USE: Vacant, abandoned two story house and horse stables 
 
FLUM DESIGNATION:  Mixed-Use Interchange  
 
CURRENT ZONING: Mixed-Use Interchange 
 
OVERLAY DISTRICT: KPC – Neighborhood District 
 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT: 152 single family homes; Pool house, multi-use trails 
 
PROPOSED ZONING: Kelly Park Interchange Mixed-Use (KPI-MU) 
 
TRACT SIZE:    51 +/- acres 
 
FUNDING SOURCE:  N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners     HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

 

193



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

BRIDLE PATH – PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
PAGE 2 
 

RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (City) Rural A-1 (ZIP) Single-family residential/woodlands 

East (County) Rural A-1 Woodlands/Plymouth-Sorrento Road 

South (City) Rural RCE-2 (ZIP) Equestrian track 

West (City) None SR 429 right-of-way  SR 429 

 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION: The owner of the subject property is requesting approval of a 

Preliminary Development Plan for a 152 unit, single-family detached subdivision located east of SR 429 

and west of Plymouth-Sorrento Road, approximately one-half mile north of the intersection of Kelly Park 

Road and Plymouth-Sorrento Road. The owner is AHIFO-18, LLC. The property is located within the one-

mile radius from the SR 429/Kelly Park Road interchange and is subject to the requirements of the Kelly 

Park Interchange Form Based Code, including its architectural standards for single family homes. 

 

Development and implementation of the Bridle Path PDP shall be consistent with Bridle Path zoning 

ordinance no. 2656 and the Bridle Path Development Agreement. 

 

Development Profile: 

 

No. of residential lots: 152 single family homes, detached 

Minimum lot width: 50 feet  

Minimum lot depth: 110 Feet  

Minimum lot size: 5,500 square feet (all proposed\FBC has no minimum lot size) 

Minimum house livable area: 1,600 square feet (proposed\FBC does not address) 

 

Setbacks:   

 Front: Min. 15 feet – Max. 30 feet 

 Rear: Min. 20 feet 

 Side: Min. 5 feet 

 Garage: Same as front 

Overflow Parking None 

Driveway length: Min. 15 feet – Max. 30 feet 

On-street parking: None proposed 

Max. number of floors: Two 

Parking: Two spaces per house within the lot (enclosed or exterior; FBC does 

not require enclosed parking).  No overflow parking proposed. 

 

Amenities:   

 Pool house with cabana; on-street parking spaces 

 Walking paths around stormwater ponds (developer proposes mulch\staff recommends 

established surface – concrete or asphalt) 

 Regional Trails:  two – along Plymouth-Sorrento Road, and internal along stormwater pond and 

wetland edges. 

 

194



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

BRIDLE PATH – PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
PAGE 3 
 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION: The Preliminary Development Plan proposes development of the property 

with a total of 152 single-family homes with a minimum lot size of 50-foot by 110-foot and a minimum 

living area of 1,600 square feet. The property is located within the one-mile radius from the SR 429/Kelly 

Park Road interchange and is subject to the requirements of the Kelly Park Interchange Form Based Code. 

There are no minimum and maximum lot size and living area requirements in the Kelly Park Interchange 

Form Based Code. The project may be developed in multiple phases, with each phase determined upon 

submittal of the Final Development Plan. The Preliminary Development Plan details design of the proposed 

subdivision in accordance with the requirements of the Kelly Park Interchange Form Based Code, and the 

Neighborhood character zone, which primarily allows single-family homes as permitted uses. The 

surrounding properties consist of single-family residential and agricultural uses.  

 

Roads and Paths - Access to the site is proposed via Plymouth-Sorrento Road. A dedication of a 30-foot 

wide strip for future right-of-way needs for Plymouth-Sorrento Road is detailed on the Master Plan. Behind 

this strip, a 30-foot area will be reserved for a landscape buffer along Plymouth-Sorrento Road. Three 

roadway connections will be provided to allow cross-access to the properties to the north and south at such 

time they develop.  The Preliminary Development Plan details the design of the internal street system with 

public streets utilizing a walkable grid design, which is a fused grid design that includes varied street, 

sidewalk and pedestrian pathways throughout a development that links developments. A 10-foot wide trail 

will be constructed within the development, and connections to the properties to the north and south will be 

provided to facilitate development of a regional trail system. A cul-de-sac is provided in the southwestern 

corner of the site, adjacent to the park and stormwater pond, and is provided to accommodate trail 

connection and to create an open space corridor along stormwater pond system and wetland area. Properties 

adjacent to the cul-de-sac will have access to the trail system which will allow pedestrian access to the 

common areas internal to the development. The developer will provide a 12-foot wide multi-purpose trail 

along the portion of the development abutting Plymouth-Sorrento Road to help facilitate the construction 

of the regional trail system. 

 

Environmental\Open Space - A wetland area exists in the northwest corner of the development. A spring is 

located within the wetland area. Per the Comprehensive Plan, a 300-foot buffer will be provided around the 

spring. Stormwater ponds are located in the southwestern corner of the site. Four-foot wide walking paths 

are provided around the perimeter of the ponds. Twenty-percent of the total site area will remain as open 

space in accordance with the requirements of the Form Based Code. Common recreation elements include 

a clubhouse with a pool, an internal trail system, preserved wetlands, upland buffers, and a park/stormwater 

facility.   

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The proposed use of the property is consistent with the 

Mixed-Use Interchange Future Land Use designation and is consistent with the Kelly Park Interchange 

Form Based Code.   

 

SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT: A School Capacity Enhancement Agreement has been approved by 

OCPS. The location is served by the following schools: Zellwood Elementary, Wolf Lake Middle, and 

Wekiva High School.  No development activity shall occur on the subject property until the developer has 

obtained a school concurrency mitigation agreement or letter from OCPS.   

 

ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: Pursuant to Section 7 of the Joint Planning Area agreement, 

Orange County was notified on April 3, 2018.   

 

195



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

BRIDLE PATH – PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
PAGE 4 
 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 

May 22, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 

June 20, 2018 – City Council (7:00 pm)  

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

 

The Development Review Committee recommends approval of the Bridle Path Preliminary Development 

Plan. 

 

The Planning Commission, at its meeting on May 22, 2018, found the Bridle Path Preliminary 

Development Plan consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, Kelly Park Interchange Form Based Code, and 

Bridle Path Master Plan; and unanimously recommended approval of the Bridle Path Preliminary 

Development Plan subject to the findings of this staff report and City Council approval of a Development 

Agreement.     

 

City Council:  Approve the Bridle Path Preliminary Development Plan, subject to the recording of the 

Bridle Path Development Agreement. 

 

Note: This item is considered quasi-judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 

into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

 

  

196



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

BRIDLE PATH – PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
PAGE 5 
 

 
Project: BRIDLE PATH 

Owned by:  AHIFO-18, LLC 

Located: West of Plymouth-Sorrento Road and east of SR 429 

Parcel ID#s: 12-20-27-0000-00-032, 12-20-27-0000-00-090 

 

VICINITY MAP 

 
 

197



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

BRIDLE PATH – PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
PAGE 6 
 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 
 

 

  

198



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

BRIDLE PATH – PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
PAGE 7 
 

 

 

ADJACENT USES 

 

 

 
 

 

 

  

199



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

BRIDLE PATH – PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
PAGE 8 
 

 

 

KELLY PARK CROSSING FORM-BASED CODE AREA 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Subject properties  

200



201



202



203



204



205



206



207



208



209



210



211



212



 
 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENDA  MEETING OF: June 20, 2018 

X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Zoning Report 

X OTHER:  Ordinance  Vicinity Map 

    Zoning Map 

    Aerial Map 

    Ordinance No. 2654 
  
SUBJECT:    ORDINANCE 2654 - CHANGE OF ZONING – CARRIAGE HILL PHASE 2 

    

REQUEST:  FIRST READING OF ORDINANCE 2654 – CHANGE OF ZONING – CARRIAGE 

HILL PHASE 2 – FROM R-1AA TO R-1 (SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL); AND 

HOLD OVER FOR SECOND READING FOR ADOPTION ON AUGUST 1, 2018 
  
SUMMARY:  

 
OWNER:    JTD Land at Rogers Road, LLC 
 
APPLICANT:    Dewberry c/o Sarah Maier 
 
LOCATION:  1455 W. Lester Road  
 
PARCEL ID NUMBER:  29-20-28-0000-00-005 
 
EXISTING USE:   Vacant, Woodlands and Grasslands 
 
CURRENT ZONING:  R-1AA 
 
DEVELOPMENT POTENTAIL: 20 Single Family Homes 
 
PROPOSED ZONING: R-1 (Single Family Residential District)  
     Min. lot width—75; min. lot area:  8,000 sq.ft. 
TRACT SIZE:    5.75 +/- acres 
 
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 
DEVELOPMENT UNDER  EXISTING: up to 20 single family homes 
ZONING DISTRICT:                         PROPOSED: up to 15 single family homes 
  
FUNDING SOURCE:  N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 
 
G:\CommDev\PLANNING ZONING\REZONING\2018\Carriage Hill 2 
 

213



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

JTD LAND AT ROGERS ROAD – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 2 
 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS: Presently, the subject parcel is assigned a zoning category of R-1AA.  The 
applicant is requesting the City to assign a zoning classification of R-1 (Single Family Residential) to the 
property to add as a second phase to Carriage Hills residential subdivision on Rogers Road. 
 
The subject parcel was annexed into the city on August 22, 1990 by Ordinance Number 624. 
 
A request to assign a change of zoning to R-1 is compatible to the adjacent zoning classifications and with 
the general character of abutting properties and surrounding area. Carriage Hill Phase 1, is the west adjacent 
property, also zoned R-1. The subject property is intended to incorporate into Carriage Hill Phase 1 with 
the same R-1 zoning. 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The existing and proposed zoning of the property is 
consistent with the proposed Residential Low Suburban (0-3.5 du / ac) Future Land Use designation. 
 
ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before 

any public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on April 2, 2018. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
June 12, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 

June 20, 2018 - City Council (7:00 pm) - 1st Reading 

August 1, 2018 – City Council (1:30 pm) – 2nd Reading and Adoption  
 
DULY ADVERTISED:  
Public Notice and Notification- June 1, 2018 

   
RECOMMENDATION ACTION:  
 

The Development Review Committee finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive 
Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas, recommending approval of the proposed 
Change of Zoning from R-1AA to R-1 for the property owned by JTD Land at Rogers Road, LLC, and 
located at 1455 West Lester Road. 
 
The Planning Commission, at its meeting on June 12, 2018, found the proposed amendment consistent 
with the Comprehensive Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas; and unanimously 
recommended approval of the proposed change of zoning from R-1AA to R-1 for the property owned by 
JTD Land at Rogers Road, LLC, and located at 1455 West Lester Road.  
 
Recommended Motion: Accept the first reading of Ordinance 2654 and hold over for second reading and 
adoption on August 1, 2018.  
 
Note: This item is considered Quasi-Judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 
into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

  

214



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

JTD LAND AT ROGERS ROAD – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 3 
 

ZONING REPORT 
 
RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 
 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North Residential Low Suburban R-1AA Vacant Property 

East Residential Low Suburban PUD Oak Hill Reserve Subdivision 

South Residential Low Suburban PUD Future Phase 2 Open Space and stormwater pond 

West Residential Low Suburban R-1 Carriage Hill Phase 1 

 

LAND USE & TRAFFIC  

COMPATIBILITY: The proposed access point for this property is from Carriage Pointe 

Loop, a street in Carriage Hill Phase 1.   

 

 The subject parcel will become part of the Carriage Hills residential 

development, which is zoned R-1 and has similar lot size and width.  

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  

COMPLIANCE:  The proposed R-1 zoning is consistent with the proposed Future Land 

Use designation, “Residential Low Suburban” (0-3.5 du / ac) and with 

the character of the surrounding area and future proposed 

development. Development Plans shall not exceed the density 

allowed in the adopted Future Land Use designation.   
      
ALLOWABLE USES:   
 

1. Single-family dwellings and their customary accessory structures 

and uses in accordance with article VII of this code. 

 

2. Supporting infrastructure and public facilities of less than five 

acres as defined in this code and in accordance with Section 

2.02.01, LDC. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
215



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

JTD LAND AT ROGERS ROAD – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 4 
 

 

JTD Land at Rogers Rd, LLC 

5.75 +/- acres  
Proposed Change of Zoning: 

From: R-1AA 
To: R-1 

Parcel ID #: 29-20-28-0000-00-005 
 

VICINITY MAP 
  

216



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

JTD LAND AT ROGERS ROAD – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 5 
 

 

 

 
ADJACENT ZONING MAP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
217



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

JTD LAND AT ROGERS ROAD – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 6 
 

 

 

ADJACENT USES MAP 
 

 

 

 

218



 

ORDINANCE NO. 2654 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, CHANGING 

THE ZONING FROM R-1AA TO R-1 (SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL) 

FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED EAST OF 

ROGERS ROAD AND SOUTH OF WEST PONKAN ROAD, COMPRISING 

5.75 ACRES MORE OR LESS, AND OWNED BY JTD LAND AT ROGERS 

ROAD LLC; PROVIDING FOR DIRECTIONS TO THE COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR, SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

 WHEREAS, to manage the growth, the City of Apopka, Florida, finds it in the best interest 

of the public health, safety and welfare of its citizens to establish zoning classifications within the 

City; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka has requested a change in zoning on said property as 

identified in Section I of this ordinance; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the proposed Single Family Residential (R-1) zoning has been found to be 

consistent with the City of Apopka Comprehensive Plan, and the City of Apopka Land 

Development Code. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, as follows: 

 

 Section I. That the zoning classification of the following described property be designated 

as Residential R-1, as defined in the Apopka Land Development Code 

 

 Section II.  That the zoning classification is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan of the 

City of Apopka, Florida. 

 

 Section III.  That the Community Development Director, or the Director’s designee, is 

hereby authorized to amend, alter, and implement the official zoning maps of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, to include said designation.   

 

 Section IV. That if any section or portion of a section or subsection of this Ordinance 

proves to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the 

validity, force or effect of any other section or portion of section or subsection or part of this 

ordinance. 

 

219



ORDINANCE NO. 2654 

PAGE 3 

  

Section V.  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed.   

 

Section VI.  That this Ordinance shall take effect upon adoption. 

 
 

           Bryan Nelson, Mayor                                  
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Linda Goff, City Clerk 
 
DULY ADVERTISED: April 24, 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

READ FIRST TIME:  June 20, 2018 
 
READ SECOND TIME 
AND ADOPTED:     

 
 
August 1, 2018 

 
 
 
 

 

220



ORDINANCE NO. 2654 

PAGE 3 

 

JTD LAND AT ROGERS ROAD LLC 

5.75 +/- acres  
Proposed Change of Zoning: 

From: R-1AA  
To: R-1 

Parcel ID #: 29-20-28-0000-00-005 
 

VICINITY MAP 
 

 

 

 

221



 
 

 
CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENDA  MEETING OF: June 20, 2018 

X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Land Use Report 

X OTHER:  Ordinance  Vicinity Map 

    Future Land Use Map 

    Adjacent Zoning Map 

    Aerial Map 

    WPIVP1 Map 

    WPIVP Character Districts 

    Comp Plan Objectives 

    JPA Amendment No. 2 

    Ordinance No. 2659 
  
SUBJECT:    ORDINANCE NO. 2659 – COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE 

LAND USE AMENDMENT – RESERVE AT KELLY PARK 
    
REQUEST:  FIRST READING OF ORDINANCE NO. 2659 – COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – 

LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – RESERVE AT KELLY 
PARK – FROM RESIDENTIAL VERY LOW SUBURBAN (0-2 DU/AC) TO MIXED 
USE INTERCHANGE (0-5 DU/AC); AND AUTHORIZE TRANSMITTAL TO THE 
FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITY. 

  
SUMMARY:  
 
OWNER:   Min Sun Cho, Hong Sik & Deok Hwa Kim 
 
APPLICANT: Surrey Homes, LLC 
 
LOCATION: West of Plymouth Sorrento Road & North of Appy Lane 
 
PARCEL ID NUMBERS: 13-20-27-0000-00-019, 020, 021, 058 
 
CURRENT ZONING:  R-1AAA 
 
PROPOSED ZONING: Mixed Use Interchange Zoning District with Neighborhood Overlay Zone 

EXISTING USE: Nurseries, Single Family Homes, and Woodlands 
  
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT: Single Family Lot Subdivision 
 
TRACT SIZES:   20 +/- acres 
 
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE  
DEVELOPMENT:  EXISTING: Max. 40 residential units 
    PROPOSED: Max. 100 residential units 
  
FUNDING SOURCE:  N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

                                                           
1 WPIVP – Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan 

222



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

KELLY PARK RESERVE – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 2 

 
 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS: The applicant requests a future land use designation of “City” Mixed Use 
Interchange.  
 
Policy 20.9, Future Land Use Element of the Comprehensive Plan, requires that a Mixed Use Interchange 

future  land use designation must be assigned to the property. 

 

The subject parcels are located within the one-mile radius from the Wekiva Parkway interchange at Kelly 

Park Road; and therefore is required to adhere to the Kelly Park Crossing Form Based Code.  The properties 

are located within the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan Area.  Therefore, the property must comply 

with Objectives 18 – 20 and related policies within the Future Land Use Element of the Comprehensive 

Plan and the recently adopted Kelly Park Crossing Form-Based Code.  The applicant’s request is consistent 

with the Mixed Use Interchange future land use designation and the Overlay District covering the property 

within the Vision Plan. 

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The proposed use of the property is compatible with the 

character of the surrounding area, is within one mile of the SR 429/Kelly Park Road interchange, and is 

consistent with the Mixed Use Interchange Land Use designation.  City planning staff supports the FLUM 

amendment given the consistency with the Comprehensive Plan policies listed below and the intent of the 

Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan a (see Land Use Analysis below).   Site development cannot 

exceed the intensity allowed by the Future Land Use policies.  

 
Future Land Use Element 
 

1. Policy 3.1.r The primary intent of the Mixed Use land use category is to allow a mixture of 
residential, office, commercial, industrial, recreation, institutional and public facilities uses to serve 
the residential and non-residential needs of special areas of the City.  The mix of land uses may occur 
on a single parcel or multiple parcels … 
 
The designation of a mixed use category may occur only in certain areas of the city, including “land 
anticipated for inclusion within the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Land Use Plan…” These 
properties are within the 1-mile radius of the Wekiva Parkway Interchange depicted on the Wekiva 
Parkway Interchange Vision Plan Map located within the Future Land Use Element of the Apopka 
Comprehensive Plan. 
 

2. Policy 18.1 The City shall implement the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan, which guides 
the location of a range of uses, such as residential, office, commercial, industrial, recreation, public 
and institutional, at various densities and intensities around the proposed interchange. 
 
The proposed Mixed Use Future Land Use Designation allows for residential densities and non-
residential uses and intensities to implement the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan, 
consistent with Objective 18 and related policies.  
 

3. Policy 18.2 Prior to rezoning any property within a one-mile radius of the interchange Study Area, 
the City shall amend its LDC to incorporate development standards that will implement the Vision 
Plan. 
 
This future land use amendment does not include a corresponding proposed zoning category because 
the City has yet to adopt development standards or form-based code consistent with this policy.  
Future densities/intensities and design character for the subject properties will be regulated at the 
time of rezoning once Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan design standards and form-based 
code are adopted.   

  
223



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

KELLY PARK RESERVE – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 3 

 
 
 

4. Policy 20.4 Prior to approving the first development plan with the Wekiva Parkway Interchange 
vision Plan Area, the City shall adopt the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Form-Based Cod establishing 
the design and development standards for the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan Area. 
 
The subject properties will be required to comply with the above policy should the development 
submit a development plan to ensure consistency with the Comprehensive Plan and Wekiva Parkway 
Interchange Vision Plan. 
 

5. Policy 20.9 Development within the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Plan Area shall be assigned a 
Mixed-Use Interchange future land use designation and shall accomplish an overall mix of residential 
and non-residential uses as outline in Policy 3.1.r.  Assignment of the Mixed-Use Interchange Land 
Use future land use designation shall require an amendment to the Comprehensive Plan. 
 
The applicant’s request for a Mixed Use future land use designation is consistent with this policy, 
as well as the intent of the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan area, which intends to 
concentrate a mixture of land uses with varying densities and intensities within one mile of the 
Wekiva Parkway Interchange. 
 

6. Policy 20.3.  The annexation, land use change, and subsequent development of lands located within 
the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Plan Area for Apopka and the Wekiva Interchange Land Use Plan 
Overlay for the County shall be consistent with the adopted Interlocal Agreement between Orange 
County and the City of Apopka regarding Wekiva Interchange Land Use Plan Overlay. 
 

7. Objective 19 and 20, and their associated policies.  See objectives and policies within the 
supporting information. 

 
Transportation Element 
 

1. Policy 4.2 The City of Apopka shall promote, through the implementation of programs such as 

mixed-use land development, projects that support reduced travel demand, short trip lengths and 

balanced trip demand. 

 

The Mixed Use future land use designation allows for a mixture of land use types such as residential 

and non-residential, which promotes shorter trip lengths, concentrated development to reduce travel 

demand. 

 

2. Policy 3.1.r The primary intent of the Mixed Use land use category is to allow a mixture of 

residential, office, commercial, industrial, recreation, institutional uses and public facilities 

uses…This mix of land uses may occur on a single parcel or multiple parcels in the form of: a 

permitted single use; a vertical combination of different permitted uses; or a horizontal mix of 

different permitted uses. 

 

3. Policy 4.2 The City of Apopka shall promote, through the implementation of programs such as 

mixed-use land development, projects that support reduced travel demand, shorter trip lengths and 

balanced trip demand. 

 

4. Objective 20 and associated Policies, Future Land Use Element.  Provided with the Supporting 

Information. 

  

224



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

KELLY PARK RESERVE – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 4 

 

VISIONING AND SPECIAL STUDIES:  The properties are located within the boundaries of the Wekiva 

Parkway Interchange Vision Plan Area, making it subject to the Kelly Park Crossing Form-Based Code, 

Mixed- Use Interchange Zoning District and Neighborhood Overlay District.  A copy of the Wekiva 

Parkway Interchange Vision Plan is provided with the support material. 

 

SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT:   An executed capacity enhancement agreement with Orange County 

Public Schools will be required prior to adoption of the future land use amendment. 

 
ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before 
any public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on May 10, 2018.    
Notification has already occurred through the Second Amendment to the Joint Planning Agreement with 
Orange County government.  The second amendment acknowledges that the City will assign a land use 
designation similar to the overlay district illustrated in the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan. 
 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 

June 12, 2018 – Planning Commission (5:30 pm)  

June 20, 2018 – City Council (7:00 pm) - 1st Reading & Transmittal 

 

DULY ADVERTISED: 

May 29, 2018 – Public Notice and Notification 

   
RECOMMENDATION ACTION:  
 

The Development Review Committee recommends approval to transmit a change in Future Land Use to 
Mixed Use Interchange for the property owned by Min Sun Cho, Hong Sik & Deok Hwa Kim subject to 
the information and findings in the staff report. 
 
The Planning Commission, at its meeting on June 12, 2018, found the Future Land Use Designation 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan; and unanimously recommended a change in Future Land Use 
Designation to Mixed Use Interchange for the properties owned by Min Sun Cho, Hong Sik & Deok Hwa 
Kim subject to the information and findings in the staff report. 
 
Recommended Motion:  Accept the first reading of Ordinance No. 2659 and authorize transmittal to the 
Florida Department of Economic Opportunity. 
 
Note: This item is considered legislative.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 

into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

225



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

KELLY PARK RESERVE – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 5 

 

LAND USE REPORT 

 

I. RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (County) Rural “County” A-2 Vacant 

East (City) Residential Very Low Suburban “City” R-1AAA Oak Ridge Phase 2 

South (County) Rural “County” A-2 Single Family Homes 

West (County) Rural “County” A-1 Single Family Homes 

 
 
II. LAND USE ANALYSIS 
 
Analysis for the Future Land Use Designation was performed as part of the adopted Wekiva Parkway 
Interchange Vision Plan.  This Vision Plan has been incorporated into the Comprehensive Plan.  The subject 
property straddles the one-mile radius from the interchange, and the property owner has selected to pull the 
entire property into the Kelly Park Crossing Form-Based Code Area (aka Wekiva Parkway Interchange 
Vision Plan Area). 
 
Therefore, the proposed Mixed Use Interchange future land use designation is consistent with the general 
future land use character and long-range planning goals of the surrounding area.  
 
 Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan Area: Yes 
 Wekiva River Protection Area: No 
 Area of Critical State Concern: No 
 DRI / FQD: No 
 
 JPA: The City of Apopka and Orange County entered into a Joint Planning Area (JPA) agreement 
on October 26, 2004 and amended the JPA in October 19, 2010 to address the Wekiva Parkway Interchange 
Vision Plan.  The subject property is consistent with the Vision Plan incorporated into Amendment 2 of the 
Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan. 
 
 Transportation:  Road access to the site is from Plymouth Sorrento Road. 
 
 Wekiva Parkway and Protection Act: The proposed amendment has been evaluated against the 
adopted Wekiva Study Area Comprehensive Plan policies.  The proposed amendment is consistent with the 
adopted mandates and requirements.  The proposed Future Land Use Map (FLUM) amendment has been 
reviewed against the best available data, with regard to aquifer and groundwater resources.  The City of 
Apopka's adopted Comprehensive Plan addresses aquifer recharge and storm water run-off through the 
following policies: 

 
 Future Land Use Element, Policies 4.16, 14.4, 15.1, 16.2 and 18.2; Objective 19, 20. 
 Infrastructure Element, Policies 1.5.5, 4.2.7, 4.4, 4.4.1, 4.4.2 and 4.4.3 
 Conservation Element, Policy 3.18 

 
Karst Features: The Karst Topography Features Map from the Florida Department of Environmental 

Protection shows that the parcels appear to occur within an area having a potential for  karst features. 
  

Analysis of the character of the Property:  The current use of the property is for agriculture. Analysis 
of the FLUM designation occurred as part of the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision Plan. 
  

226



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

KELLY PARK RESERVE – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 6 

 
  

Analysis of the relationship of the amendment to the population projections: Based on the adoption 
of the JPA, the size of the property, and the proposed land use change, the amendment will increase the 
population by as many as 265 residents.  The applicant proposes to develop the property as single family 
residential subdivision. Land use analysis was conducted as part of the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision 
Plan. 
 
CALCULATIONS: 
 
 ADOPTED: 40 Unit(s) x 2.659 p/h = 106 persons   

PROPOSED: 100 Unit(s) x 2.659 p/h = 265 persons 
   
 Housing Needs:  The housing need is demonstrated through the Wekiva Parkway Interchange Vision 
Plan Area Study. 
 
 Habitat for species listed as endangered, threatened or of special concern: A habitat study is required 
for developments greater than ten (10) acres in size.  At the time the Master Site Plan or Preliminary 
Development Plan is submitted to the City, the development applicant must conduct a species survey and 
submit a habitat management plan if any threatened or endangered species are identified within the project 
site. 
 
 Transportation: The City of Apopka is a Transportation Concurrency Exception Area.  Refer to 
Chapter 3 of the City of Apopka 2010 Comprehensive Plan. The road system shall be consistent with the 
intent of the Kelly Park Crossing Form-Based Code. 
 

 Sanitary Sewer Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard:  None; 81 GPD/Capita ; 81 GPD 

/ Capita 

 

 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of Apopka 

 

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:  7,840    GPD 

 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:    19,600  GPD 

 

4. Capacity available:  Yes 

 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation: 81  GPD/Capita 

 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  81 GPD/Capita 

 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result if proposed amendment: 

None 

 

 Potable Water Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard: None; 177 GPD/Capita ; 177 

GPD / Capita 

  

 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider:  City of Apopka 

 

  

227



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

KELLY PARK RESERVE – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 7 

 

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:     8,400  GPD 

 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:   21,000  GPD 

 

4. Capacity available: Yes 

 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation:  177  GPD / Capita 

 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  177  GPD / Capita 

 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed amendment: 

None 

 

8. Parcel located within the reclaimed water service area:  Yes 

 

 Solid Waste 

 

1. Facilities serving the site:  City of Apopka 

 

2. If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of 

Apopka 

 

3. Projected LOS under existing designation:     424    lbs/  day 

 

4. Projected LOS under proposed designation:   1,060    lbs /  day 

 

5. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed amendment: 

None  

 

 This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 

development approval. 

 

 Infrastructure Information 

 

 Water treatment plant permit number: CUP No. 3217 

 

 Permitting agency: St. John’s River Water Management District 

 

 Permitted capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  9.353  MGD 

 

 Total design capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  33.696  MGD 

 

 Availability of distribution lines to serve the property: Yes 

 

 Availability of reuse distribution lines available to serve the property: Yes 

 

 Drainage Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site:   None 

 
228



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

KELLY PARK RESERVE – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 8 

 

2. Projected LOS under existing designation: 100 year – 24 hour design storm  

 

3. Projected LOS under proposed designation: 100 year – 24 hour design storm 

 

4. Improvement/expansion: On site retention / detention ponds 

 

 Recreation 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; LOS standard: City of Apopka Parks System ;  3 acre / 1000 capita 

 

2. Projected facility under existing designation:  0.318  acres 

 

3. Projected facility under proposed designation:  0.795    acres 

 

4. Improvement/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None 

 

This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 

development approval. 
  

229



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

KELLY PARK RESERVE – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 9 

 

Min Sun Cho, Hong Sik & Deok Hwa Kim  
20 +/- Acres 

Proposed Large Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 

From:  Residential Very Low Suburban 

To: Mixed Use Interchange 
Parcel ID #: 13-20-27-0000-00-019, 020, 021, 058 

  
 

VICINITY MAP  

 

 

 

 

  

230



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

KELLY PARK RESERVE – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 10 

 

 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

 

 

 

 
231



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

KELLY PARK RESERVE – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 11 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 

 

 

 

 

 

232



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

KELLY PARK RESERVE – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 12 

 

 

 

AERIAL MAP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
233



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

KELLY PARK RESERVE – LARGE SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 

PAGE 13 

 

 

KELLY PARK CROSSING FORM-BASED CODE AREA 

 

 

234



ORDINANCE NO. 2659 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING 

THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT OF THE APOPKA 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THE CITY OF APOPKA; CHANGING THE 

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION FROM RESIDENTIAL VERY LOW 

SUBURBAN TO MIXED USE - INTERCHANGE FOR CERTAIN REAL 

PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED WEST OF PLYMOUTH 

SORRENTO ROAD AND NORTH OF APPY LANE, OWNED BY MIN SUN 

CHOE, HONG SIK KIM & DEOK HWA KIM ; COMPRISING 20 ACRES, 

MORE OR LESS, PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING 

FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida, on October 2, 1991 adopted 

Ordinance No. 653 which adopted the Comprehensive Plan for the City of Apopka; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka has subsequently amended the Comprehensive Plan for 

the City of Apopka, most recently through Ordinance No. 2560; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka’s Local Planning Agency and the City Council have 

conducted the prerequisite advertised public hearings, as per Chapter 163, Florida Statutes, relative 

to the transmittal and adoption of this ordinance and the requirements for amendment to the 

Comprehensive Plan.   

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, as follows:  

 

 SECTION I: The City of Apopka hereby amends the Future Land Use Element of the 

adopted Comprehensive Plan as follows:   

 

 The Future Land Use Map is hereby amended for the property identified in Exhibit “A” of 

this Ordinance, and incorporated herein by reference.  

 

 SECTION II: This Ordinance shall become effective following adoption and upon issuance 

by the Department of Economic Opportunity or the Administration Commission, as may be 

applicable, a final order finding the amendment to be in compliance in accordance with Chapter 

163.3184.  

 

 SECTION III: If any section or portion of a section or subsection of this Ordinance proves 

to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the validity, 

force, or effect of any other section or portion of a section or subsection or part of this ordinance.  

 

 SECTION IV:  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed. 

 

 

235



ORDINANCE NO. 2659 

PAGE 2 

 

SECTION V: This Ordinance shall become effective upon issuance of a final order by the 

Florida Department of Economic Opportunity finding the plan amendment in compliance in 

accordance with s.163.3184 (2)(a), Florida Statute. 

 

 

 ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida, this 

____ day of _____________, 2018. 

 

 

READ FIRST TIME: June 20, 2018 

  

READ SECOND TIME 

AND ADOPTED: 

 

 

 

 

_______________________________________                                                                       

        Bryan Nelson, Mayor                            

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

_______________________________ 

Linda Goff, City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

DULY ADVERTISED FOR PUBLIC HEARING: May 29, 2018 

  

236



ORDINANCE NO. 2659 

PAGE 3 

 

EXHIBIT “A” 
MIN SUN CHOE, HONG SIK KIM & DEOK HWA KIM  

Property Owners 

20 +/- Acres 

Proposed Large Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 

From:  Residential Very Low Suburban 

To: Mixed Use Interchange 
Parcel ID #: 13-20-27-0000-00-019, 020, 021, 058 

  

 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

 

 

237



 
 

 
CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENDA  MEETING OF: June 20, 2018 

X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Land Use Report 

X OTHER:  Ordinance  Vicinity Map 

    Future Land Use Map 

    Adjacent Zoning Map 

    Adjacent Uses Map 
    Ordinance No. 2661 

  
SUBJECT:    ORDINANCE NO. 2661 – COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – SMALL SCALE – 

FUTURE LAND USE – 3255 CLARCONA ROAD LLC 

    

REQUEST:  FIRST READING OF ORDINANCE NO. 2661 – COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – 

SMALL SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE – 3255 CLARCONA ROAD LLC – FROM 

AGRICULTURE TO INDUSTRIAL; AND HOLD OVER FOR SECOND 

READING AND ADOPTION 
  
SUMMARY:  

 
OWNER:    3255 Clarcona Road LLC 
 
APPLICANT:    Sidney L Vihlen, III, c/o Vihlen & Associates, P.A. 
 
LOCATION:  3307 Clarcona Road  
 
PARCEL ID NUMBER:  27-21-28-0000-00-045 
 
EXISTING USE:   Warehousing  
 
DEVELOPMENT POTENTIAL: 1 Dwelling Unit 
 
CURRENT ZONING:   Agriculture  
 
PROPOSED ZONING: I-1 (Restricted Industrial District) (Note: this Comprehensive Plan Small 

Scale Future Land Use amendment is being processed along with a request 
to Change the Zoning from AG (Agriculture) to I-1 (Industrial) 

 
TRACT SIZE:    4.75 +/- acres 
 
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 
DEVELOPMENT UNDER EXISTING: 1 Dwelling Unit 
ZONING DISTRICT: PROPOSED: 124,146 sq. ft. 

  
FUNDING SOURCE:  N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
  

238



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

3255 CLARCONA ROAD LLC - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 2 
 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  The subject parcel was annexed in the city on February 21, 1996 by 
Ordinance 918.  The applicant requests a future land use designation of Industrial.  
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The proposed use of the property is consistent with the 
Industrial Future Land Use designation.  Site development cannot exceed the intensity allowed by the Future 
Land Use policies.   Planning & Zoning staff determines that the below policies support an Industrial FLUM 
designation at the subject site:  
 
Future Land Use Element, Policy 3.1.l  
 
Industrial - The primary use shall be industrial, intensive commercial, agricultural and business/research 
parks. Also allowed are public facilities and supporting infrastructure. The use of the Planned Unit 
Development process shall be encouraged. The maximum floor area ratio shall be .60. Planned Unit 
Development uses may include:  
 

(1) All primary uses  
 
(2) Other uses deemed compatible with and complimentary to the other proposed master planned uses 

and the surrounding neighborhoods. 
 
SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT:  The proposed future land use change will not impact school-age 
population.  Therefore, the property is exempt from school capacity enhancement per the School Interlocal 
Planning Agreement. 
 
ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION:  The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before 
any public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on May 10, 2018.  
 
PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE:  
June 12, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 
June 20, 2018 - City Council (7:00 pm) - 1st Reading 
August 1, 2018 – City Council (1:30 pm) – 2nd Reading and Adoption  
 
DULY ADVERTISED:  
May 25, 2018 – Public Notice and Notification (Apopka Chief, property posted, notice mailed) 
 
RECOMMENDATION ACTION:  
 
The Development Review Committee finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive 
Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas, recommending approval of the proposed 
Future Land Use Designation of Industrial for the property owned by 3255 Clarcona Road LLC, and located 
at 3307 Clarcona Road.  
 
The Planning Commission, at its meeting on June 12, 2018, found the proposed Future Land Use 
amendment consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding 
areas; and unanimously recommended approval of the change of Future Land Use Designation from 
Agriculture to Industrial, subject to the findings of the Staff Report. 
 
Recommended Motion: Accept the first reading of Ordinance No. 2661 and hold it over for second reading 
and adoption on August 1, 2018.  
 
Note: This item is considered legislative.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated into 
and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

239



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

3255 CLARCONA ROAD LLC - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 3 
 

LAND USE REPORT 

 

I. RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (City) “City” Industrial “City” I-1 Industrial 

East (County) “County” Rural “County” A-1 Single Family Homes 

South (County) “County” Rural “County” A-1 Woodlands and Single Family Home 

West (County) “County” Rural “County” A-1 West Orange Trail & House of Worship 

 
II. LAND USE ANALYSIS: 
 
The subject property is located on a site that is ideal for Industrial use, which makes the request for Industrial 
future land use designation consistent with the Comprehensive Plan policies listed above, as well as the general 
future land use character of the surrounding area. 
 
The subject property is located off a major road, Clarcona Road, with an industrial use to the north. 
 
The proposed Commercial future land use designation is consistent with the general future land use character of 
the surrounding area.  
 
 Wekiva River Protection Area: No 
 Area of Critical State Concern: No 
 DRI / FQD: No  
 
 Transportation:  Road access to the site is from Clarcona Road 
 
 Wekiva Parkway and Protection Act: The proposed amendment has been evaluated against the adopted 
Wekiva Study Area Comprehensive Plan policies.  The proposed amendment is consistent with the adopted 
mandates and requirements.  The proposed Future Land Use Map (FLUM) amendment has been reviewed 
against the best available data, with regard to aquifer and groundwater resources.  The City of Apopka's adopted 
Comprehensive Plan addresses aquifer recharge and stormwater run-off through the following policies: 

 
 Future Land Use Element, Policies 4.16, 14.4, 15.1, 16.2 and 18.2 
 Infrastructure Element, Policies 1.5.5, 4.2.7, 4.4, 4.4.1, 4.4.2 and 4.4.3 
 Conservation Element, Policy 3.18 

 
Karst Features: The Karst Topography Features Map from the Florida Department of Environmental 

Protection shows that there are karst features in the vicinity of this property.   
 
 Analysis of the character of the Property:  The property comprises mostly of grasslands, with some tree 
cover. Additionally, the property has a single family home. 
 
 Analysis of the relationship of the amendment to the population projections: The proposed future land 
use designation for the property is Commercial (Max. 0.25 FAR).  Based on the housing element of the City's 
Comprehensive Plan, this amendment will not increase the City’s future population 
 
 Housing Needs: This amendment will not negatively impact the housing needs or supply as projected in 
the Comprehensive Plan.   
  

240



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

3255 CLARCONA ROAD LLC - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 4 
 
 
 Habitat for species listed as endangered, threatened or of special concern: A habitat study is required for 
developments greater than ten (10) acres in size.  At the time the Master Site Plan or Preliminary Development 
Plan is submitted to the City, the development applicant must conduct a species survey and submit a habitat 
management plan if any threatened or endangered species are identified within the project site. 
 
 Transportation: The City of Apopka is a Transportation Concurrency Exception Area.  Refer to Chapter 
3 of the City of Apopka 2010 Comprehensive Plan. 
 
 Sanitary Sewer Analysis 
 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard:  None; 81 GPD/Capita ; 81 GPD / 
Capita 

 
 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of Apopka 
 

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:  7,253    GPD 
 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:    604  GPD 
   

4. Capacity available:  Yes 
 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation: 81  GPD/Capita 
 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  81 GPD/Capita 
 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result if proposed amendment: None 
 
 Potable Water Analysis 
 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard: None; 177 GPD/Capita ; 177 GPD / 
Capita 

  
 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider:  City of Apopka 
  

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:     9,670  GPD 
 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:   806  GPD 
 

4. Capacity available: Yes 
 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation:  177  GPD / Capita 
 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  177  GPD / Capita 
 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed amendment: 
None 

 
8. Parcel located within the reclaimed water service area:  Yes 

 
Solid Waste 

 
1. Facilities serving the site:  City of Apopka 

 
2. If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of 

Apopka 
 

241



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

3255 CLARCONA ROAD LLC - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 5 
 

3. Projected LOS under existing designation:     97    lbs/  day 
 

4. Projected LOS under proposed designation:    8    lbs /  day 
 

5. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed amendment: 
None  

 
 This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 
development approval. 
 
 Infrastructure Information 
 
 Water treatment plant permit number: CUP No. 3217 
 
 Permitting agency: St. John’s River Water Management District 
 
 Permitted capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  9.353  MGD 
 
 Total design capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  33.696  MGD 
 
 Availability of distribution lines to serve the property: Yes 
 
 Availability of reuse distribution lines available to serve the property: Yes 
 
 Drainage Analysis 
 

1. Facilities serving the site:   None 
 

2. Projected LOS under existing designation: 100 year – 24 hour design storm  
 

3. Projected LOS under proposed designation: 100 year – 24 hour design storm 
 

4. Improvement/expansion: On site retention / detention ponds 
 
 Recreation 
 

1. Facilities serving the site; LOS standard: City of Apopka Parks System ;  3 acre / 1000 capita 
 

2. Projected facility under existing designation:  N/A  acres 
 

3. Projected facility under proposed designation:  N/A    acres 
 

4. Improvement/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 
amendment: None 
 

Standards set forth in the City’s Land Development Code will require any development plans to provide parkland 
and recreation facilities and open space for residents residing with the new development. 
 
This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of development 
approval. 
  

242



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

3255 CLARCONA ROAD LLC - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 6 
 

3255 Clarcona Road LLC 
4.75 +/- acres  

Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 
From: Agriculture  

To: Industrial 
Proposed Change of Zoning: 

From: Agriculture 
To: I-1 

Parcel ID #: 27-21-28-0000-00-045 
 
 

VICINITY MAP 

  

  

243



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

3255 CLARCONA ROAD LLC - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 7 
 

 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 244



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

3255 CLARCONA ROAD LLC - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 8 
 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

245



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

3255 CLARCONA ROAD LLC - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 9 
 

 

AERIAL MAP 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

246



ORDINANCE NO. 2661 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING 
THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT OF THE APOPKA 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THE CITY OF APOPKA; CHANGING THE 
FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION FROM AGRICULTURE (1 DU/ 5 
AC) TO INDUSTRIAL (MAX F.A.R. 0.60) FOR CERTAIN REAL 
PROPERTY LOCATED EAST OF CLARCONA ROAD AND NORTH OF 
STONE ROAD, COMPRISING 4.75 ACRES MORE OR LESS, AND 
OWNED BY 3255 CLARCONA ROAD LLC; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Apopka adopted the Apopka Comprehensive 
Plan by Ordinance No. 653 on October 2, 1991, pursuant to Section 163.3184, Florida Statutes 
and most recently amended it by Ordinance No. 2631 adopted on March 7, 2018; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka’s local planning agency (Planning Commission) has, in 
preparation of the amended version of the Apopka Comprehensive Plan, analyzed the proposed 
amendment pursuant to Chapter 163, Part II, F.S., found it to be consistent with the intent of the 
Apopka Comprehensive Plan, and held public hearings providing for full public participation. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 
Florida, as follows: 
 
 Section I. Purpose and Intent. 
 
 This Ordinance is enacted to carry out the purpose and intent of, and exercise the authority 
set out in, the Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation 
Act, Sections 163.3184 and 163.3187, Florida Statutes. 
 
 Section II. Future Land Use Element. 
  
 Page 1-15 (Map 1-3) of the Future Land Use Element of the City of Apopka 
Comprehensive Plan, as most recently amended by Ordinance No. 2631, is amended in its entirety 
to change the land use from Agriculture (1 du/5 ac) to Industrial (Max. F.A.R. 0.6), for certain real 
property located east of Clarcona Road and north of Stone Road, comprising of 4.75 acres more 
or less, (27-21-28-0000-00-045); as further described in Exhibit “A” attached hereto. 
 
 Section III. Applicability and Effect. 
 
 The applicability and effect of the City of Apopka Comprehensive Plan shall be as provided 
by the Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation Act, 
Sections 163.3161 through 163.3215, Florida Statutes. 
 
 Section IV.  Severability. 
 
 If any provision or portion of this Ordinance is declared by any court of competent 
jurisdiction to be void, unconstitutional, or unenforceable, then all remaining provisions and 
portions of this Ordinance shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
 Section V.  The Community Development Director is hereby authorized to amend the 
Future Land Use to comply with this ordinance. 

247



ORDINANCE NO. 2661 
PAGE 2 
 

Section VI. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall become effective upon adoption. 
 
 ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida, this 
          day of                   , 2018 
 

 
READ FIRST TIME:  

 
June 20, 2018 

 
READ SECOND TIME 
AND ADOPTED:  

 
 
August 1, 2018 

 
 
 ______________________________________ 
       Bryan Nelson, Mayor                         
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
__________________________________ 
Linda Goff, City Clerk 
 
 
DULY ADVERTISED FOR HEARING: May 25, 2018 

 

248



ORDINANCE NO. 2661 
PAGE 3 
 

 

EXHIBIT “A” 
3255 Clarcona Road LLC 

4.75 +/- acres  
Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 

From: Agriculture  
To: Industrial 

Proposed Change of Zoning: 
From: Agriculture 

To: I-1 
Parcel ID #: 27-21-28-0000-00-045 

 
 

249



 
 

 
CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENDA  MEETING OF: June 20, 2018 

X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Zoning Report 

X OTHER:  Ordinance  Vicinity Map 

    Adjacent Zoning Map 

    Adjacent Uses Map 
  
SUBJECT:    ORDINANCE NO. 2662 - CHANGE OF ZONING – 3255 CLARCONA ROAD 

LLC 

    

REQUEST:  FIRST READING OF ORDINANCE NO. 2662 - CHANGE OF ZONING – 3255 

CLARCONA ROAD LLC – FROM AGRICULTURE TO INDUSTRIAL; AND 

HOLD OVER FOR SECOND READING AND ADOPTION 
  
SUMMARY:  

 
OWNER:    3255 Clarcona Road LLC 
 
APPLICANT:    Sidney L Vihlen, III c/o Vihlen & Associates, P.A. 
 
LOCATION:  3307 Clarcona Road  
 
PARCEL ID NUMBER:  27-21-28-0000-00-045 
 
EXISTING USE:   Warehousing  
 
CURRENT ZONING:  Agriculture  
 
DEVELOPMENT POTENTAIL: 1 Dwelling Unit 
 
PROPOSED ZONING: I-1 (Restricted Industrial District) (Note: this Change of Zoning 

request is being processed along with a request to amend the Future 
Land Use from Agriculture (1 du / 5 ac) to Industrial (Max. FAR 0.6) 

 
TRACT SIZE:    4.75 +/- acres 
 
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 
DEVELOPMENT UNDER  EXISTING: 1 Dwelling Unit 
ZONING DISTRICT:                         PROPOSED: 124,146 sq. ft. 
  
FUNDING SOURCE:  N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 
G:\CommDev\PLANNING ZONING\REZONING\2018\Vihlen 

250



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

3255 CCLARCONA ROAD LLC - REZONING 
PAGE 2 
 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS: The subject parcel was annexed in the city on February 21, 1996 by 
Ordinance 918.  The applicant requests a future land use designation of Industrial. 
 
A request to assign a change of zoning to I-1 is compatible to the adjacent zoning classifications and with 
the general character of abutting properties and surrounding area. The change of zoning request is being 
processed in conjunction with a future land use amendment from Agriculture to Industrial. 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The existing and proposed use of the property is consistent 
with the proposed Industrial (Max. FAR 0.6) Future Land Use designation. 
 
SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT:  The proposed change of zoning will not impact school-age population.  

Therefore, the property is exempt from school capacity enhancement per the School Interlocal Planning 

Agreement. 

ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before 

any public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on May 10, 2018.  
 
PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
June 12, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 

June 20, 2018 - City Council (7:00 pm) - 1st Reading 

August 1, 2018 – City Council (1:30 pm) – 2nd Reading and Adoption  
 
DULY ADVERTISED:  
Public Notice and Notification- May 25, 2018 

   
RECOMMENDATION ACTION:  
 
The Development Review Committee finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive 
Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas, recommending approval of the proposed 
Change of Zoning from Agriculture to I-1 (Restricted Industrial District) for the property owned by 3255 
Clarcona Road LLC, and located east of Clarcona Road and north of Stone Road.  
 
The Planning Commission, at its meeting on June 12, 2018, found the proposed amendment consistent 
with the Comprehensive Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas; and unanimously 
recommended approval of the proposed Change of Zoning from Agriculture to I-1 (Restricted Industrial 
District) for the property owned by 3255 Clarcona Road LLC, and located east of Clarcona Road and north 
of Stone Road. 
 
Recommended Motion: Accept the first reading of Ordinance No. 2662 and hold it over for second reading 
and adoption on August 1, 2018.  
 
Note: This item is considered Quasi-Judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 
into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

 
 
 

  

251



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

3255 CCLARCONA ROAD LLC - REZONING 
PAGE 3 
 

ZONING REPORT 
 
RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 
 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (City) “City” Industrial “City” I-1 Industrial 

East (County) “County” Rural “County” A-1 Single Family Homes 

South (County) “County” Rural “County” A-1 Woodlands and Single Family Home 

West (County) “County” Rural “County” A-1 West Orange Trail & House of Worship 

 

LAND USE & TRAFFIC  

COMPATIBILITY: The property is currently accessed by Clarcona Road.   

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  

COMPLIANCE:  The proposed I-1 zoning is consistent with the proposed Future Land 

Use designation, “Industrial” (Max. FAR 0.6) and with the character 

of the surrounding area and future proposed development. 

Development Plans shall not exceed the density allowed in the 

adopted Future Land Use designation.   
          
ALLOWABLE USES:   

1. Any C-3 Commercial District permitted use. 
 

2. Manufacture and processing of novelties, souvenirs, bakery or 
confectionery products, garments, scientific, electrical, optical 
and precision instruments or equipment, computers, advanced 
electronics, lasers and robotics, batteries, boats, building 
products, ceramics, chemical products, dairy products, electrical 
machinery and equipment, furniture, decorating materials, 
upholstering materials, glass and glass products, metal plastic or 
cardboard containers, paint or varnish, pharmaceutical products, 
photographic equipment and supplies, shoes and leather goods, 
signs, textiles, and tires, etc. 

 
3.  Bus, cab and truck repair. 
 
4.  Dyeing, dry cleaning and laundering. 
 
5.  Machinery sales. 
 
6.  Machine shops. 
 
7.  Meat storage, cutting and distribution. 
 
8.  Adult entertainment consistent with the standards of the Apopka 

Municipal Code. 
 
9.  Bottling and distribution plants; ice cream manufacturers. 
 
10.  Warehouses. 

252



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

3255 CCLARCONA ROAD LLC - REZONING 
PAGE 4 
 

 
11.  Testing of materials, equipment and products. 
 
12.  Cold storage and frozen food lockers. 
 
13.  Frozen food lockers. 
 
14.  Book binding, lithography and publishing plants. 
 
15. Other uses which are similar and compatible to the uses 

permitted herein which adhere to the intent of the district and 
which are not prohibited as specified in this Code. Use 
determination shall be based upon the community development 
director's recommendation. 

 
16. Guard or custodian living quarters may be permitted as an 

accessory use when attached to one primary structure. 
 

ZONING REGULATIONS:  Minimum Site Area: 15,000 sq. ft. 

Minimum Lot Width: 100 ft.  

Front Setback: 25 ft. 

Side Setback: 10 ft. 

Rear Setback: 10 ft. (30 ft. from residential districts)  

Corner Setback: 25 ft. 

 

 

  

253



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

3255 CCLARCONA ROAD LLC - REZONING 
PAGE 5 
 

3255 Clarcona Road LLC 
4.75 +/- acres  

Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 
From: Agriculture  

To: Industrial 
Proposed Change of Zoning: 

From: Agriculture 
To: I-1 

Parcel ID #: 27-21-28-0000-00-045 
 

VICINITY MAP 
  

254



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

3255 CCLARCONA ROAD LLC - REZONING 
PAGE 6 
 

 

 

 
ADJACENT ZONING MAP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 255



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

3255 CCLARCONA ROAD LLC - REZONING 
PAGE 7 
 

 

 

ADJACENT USES MAP 
 

 

 

256



ORDINANCE NO. 2662 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, CHANGING 
THE ZONING FROM AGRICULTURE TO I-1 (RESTRICTED 
INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT) FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY 
GENERALLY LOCATED EAST OF CLARCONA ROAD AND NORTH OF 
STONE ROAD, COMPRISING 4.75 ACRES MORE OR LESS, AND 
OWNED BY 3255 CLARCONA ROAD LLC; PROVIDING FOR 
DIRECTIONS TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR, 
SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 WHEREAS, to manage the growth, the City of Apopka, Florida, finds it in the best interest 

of the public health, safety and welfare of its citizens to establish zoning classifications within the 

City; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka has requested a change in zoning on said property as 

identified in Section I of this ordinance; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the proposed I-1 (Restricted Industrial District) zoning has been found to be 

consistent with the City of Apopka Comprehensive Plan, and the City of Apopka Land 

Development Code. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, as follows: 

 

 Section I. That the zoning classification of the following described property be designated 

as I-1 (Restricted Industrial District) as defined in the Apopka Land Development Code, and with 

the following Master Plan provisions subject to the following zoning provisions: 

 

 Section II.  That the zoning classification is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan of the 

City of Apopka, Florida. 

 

 Section III.  That the Community Development Director, or the Director’s designee, is 

hereby authorized to amend, alter, and implement the official zoning maps of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, to include said designation.   

 

 Section IV. That if any section or portion of a section or subsection of this Ordinance 

proves to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the 

validity, force or effect of any other section or portion of section or subsection or part of this 

ordinance. 

 

 Section V.  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed.   

257



ORDINANCE NO. 2662 
PAGE 2 

 

Section VI.  That this Ordinance shall take effect upon adoption of Ordinance No. 2661. 

 
 

           Bryan Nelson, Mayor                                  
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Linda Goff, City Clerk 
 
DULY ADVERTISED: May 25, 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

READ FIRST TIME:  June 20, 2018 
 
READ SECOND TIME 
AND ADOPTED:     

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

258



ORDINANCE NO. 2662 
PAGE 2 

3255 Clarcona Road LLC 

4.75 +/- acres  

Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 

From: Agriculture  

To: Industrial 

Proposed Change of Zoning: 

From: Agriculture 

To: I-1 (Restricted Industrial District) 

Parcel ID #: 27-21-28-0000-00-045 
 

VICINITY MAP 
 

 

 

 

 

259



 
 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENDA  MEETING OF: June 20, 2018 

X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Zoning Report 

X OTHER: Ordinance  Vicinity Map 

    Adjacent Zoning 

    Adjacent Uses 

    Ordinance No. 2633 
  
SUBJECT:    ORDINANCE NO. 2663 - CHANGE OF ZONING – SUNTRUST BANK 

    

REQUEST:  FIRST READING OF ORDINANCE 2633 – CHANGE OF ZONING – 

SUNTRUST BANK – FROM C-2 (GENERAL COMMERCIAL 

DISTRICT) TO C-1 (COMMERCIAL RETAIL DISTRICT); AND 

HOLD OVER FOR SECOND READING FOR ADOPTION ON AUGUST 1, 

2018 
  
SUMMARY:  

 
OWNER:    SunTrust Bank 
 
APPLICANT:    Causseaux, Hewett, and Walpole, Inc. 
 
LOCATION:  936 E Semoran Blvd  
 
PARCEL ID NUMBERS:  11-21-28-0750-00-070 
 
EXISTING USE:   Vacant\utility easement 
 
CURRENT ZONING:   C-2  
 
DEVELOPMENT POTENTIAL: 5,304 sq. ft. commercial space 
 
PROPOSED ZONING: C-1  
 
TRACT SIZE:    0.49 +/- acres 
 
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 
DEVELOPMENT UNDER  EXISTING: 5,304 sq. ft. commercial space 
ZONING DISTRICT:                          PROPOSED: 5,304 sq. ft. commercial space 

  
FUNDING SOURCE:  N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 
G:\CommDev\PLANNING ZONING\REZONING\2018\Suntrust Easr 
 

260



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

SUNTRUST BANK - REZONING 
PAGE 2 
 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS: SunTrust Bank owns three vacant parcels east-adjacent of the bank. The 
eastern-most adjacent parcel, 920 E. Semoran Boulevard was annexed in the City on April 18, 2018. The 
City Council is scheduled to vote for a Commercial future land use designation and C-1 zoning for 920 E. 
Semoran Boulevard on June 6, 2018, the two abutting parcels bordering to the west. 
 
A request to assign a change of zoning for 936 E. Semoran Boulevard to C-1 is compatible to the adjacent 
zoning classifications and with the general character of abutting properties and surrounding area.  
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The existing and proposed use of the property is consistent 
with the proposed C-1 (Commercial Retail) Future Land Use designation. 
 
SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT: The proposed future land use change will result in an insignificant 
increase (less than 9) in the number of residential units which could be developed at the subject property.  
Therefore, the property is exempt from school capacity enhancement per the School Interlocal Planning 
Agreement. 
  
ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before 

any public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on May 10, 2018.  
 
PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
June 12, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 

June 20, 2018 - City Council (7:00 pm) - 1st Reading 

August 1, 2018 – City Council (1:30 pm) – 2nd Reading and Adoption  
 
DULY ADVERTISED:  
Public Notice and Notification- May 22, 2018 

   
RECOMMENDATION ACTION:  
 

The Development Review Committee finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive 
Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas, recommending approval of the proposed 
Change of Zoning from C-2 (General Commercial District) to C-1 (Commercial Retail District) for the 
property owned by SunTrust Bank, and located at 936 E Semoran Blvd.  
 
The Planning Commission, at its meeting on June 12, 2018, found the proposed amendment consistent 
with the Comprehensive Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas; and unanimously 
recommended approval of the proposed Change of Zoning from C-2 (General Commercial District) to C-1 
(Commercial Retail District) for the property owned by SunTrust Bank, and located at 936 E Semoran Blvd. 
 
Recommended Motion: Accept the first reading of Ordinance No. 2663 and hold it over for second reading 
and adoption on August 1, 2018. 
 
Note: This item is considered Quasi-Judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 
into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

  

261



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

SUNTRUST BANK - REZONING 
PAGE 3 
 

ZONING REPORT 
 
RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 
 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (County) “County” Commercial “County” C-3 Retail Uses 

East (City) “City” Commercial “City” C-2 Auto Parts Vendor and Utility Station 

South (City) “City” Commercial “City” C-2 Vacant  

West (City) Commercial “City” C-1 Bank and Vacant Lots 

 

LAND USE & TRAFFIC  

COMPATIBILITY: The property is currently accessed by East Semoran Blvd. 

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  

COMPLIANCE:  The proposed C-1 zoning is consistent with the proposed Future Land 

Use designation, “Commercial” (Max 0.25 FAR) and with the 

character of the surrounding area and future proposed development. 

Development Plans shall not exceed the density allowed in the 

adopted Future Land Use designation.   
      
ALLOWABLE USES: 1. Any nonresidential permitted use in the PO/I or CN districts. 

2.  Retail establishments. 

3.  Banks, savings and loan and other financial institutions. 

4. Bowling alleys, skating rinks, billiard parlors and similar 

amusement centers, provided such activities and facilities are 

enclosed within a sound-proof building. 

5.  Churches and schools. 

6.  Day nurseries, kindergartens and other child care centers. 

7.  Drive-in restaurants, with property lines no closer than 200 feet 

from any residential districts or uses. 

8.  Florist shops, the products of which are displayed and sold wholly 

within an enclosed building. 

9.  Hotels, motels, bed and breakfast facilities. 

10. Personal service establishments such as barbershops, beauty 

parlors, professional and other offices, parking garages and lots, 

laundry and dry cleaning pickup station, self-service coin-

operated laundry and dry cleaning establishments, shoe shine and 

repair, tailoring, travel services, watch and clock repair and 

locksmiths, etc. 

11. Post offices. 

12. Restaurants. 262



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

SUNTRUST BANK - REZONING 
PAGE 4 
 

13. Theaters, enclosed in structures. 

14. Clubs and lodges. 

15. Funeral parlors, when the sole use of the facility shall be for 

funeral rites. 

16. Animal clinics for the treatment of small animals, excluding farm 

animals, but including those animals no larger than a dog, 

commonly kept as pets in a residence, provided the care, treatment 

or housing of such animals shall not be allowed on the outside. 

17. Other uses which are similar and compatible to the uses permitted 

herein which adhere to the intent of the district and which are not 

prohibited as specified in this code. Use determination shall be 

based upon the community development director's 

recommendation. 

  

263



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

SUNTRUST BANK - REZONING 
PAGE 5 
 

SunTrust Bank 

0.49 +/- acres  
Proposed Change of Zoning: 

From: C-2 (General Commercial District) 
To: C-1 (Retail Commercial District) 
Parcel ID #: 11-21-28-0750-00-070  

 

VICINITY MAP 
  

264



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

SUNTRUST BANK - REZONING 
PAGE 6 
 

 
 

ADJACENT ZONING MAP 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 265



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 

SUNTRUST BANK - REZONING 
PAGE 7 
 

 

 

AERIAL MAP 
 

 

 

 

266



 

ORDINANCE NO. 2663 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, CHANGING 
THE ZONING FROM C-2 (GENERAL COMMERCIAL DISTRICT) TO C-
1 (COMMERCIAL RETAIL DISTRICT) FOR CERTAIN REAL 
PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED SOUTH OF EAST SEMORAN 
BOULEVARD AND EAST OF SHEELER AVENUE, COMPRISING 0.49 
ACRES MORE OR LESS, AND OWNED BY SUNTRUST BANK; 
PROVIDING FOR DIRECTIONS TO THE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR, SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 

 WHEREAS, to manage the growth, the City of Apopka, Florida, finds it in the best interest 

of the public health, safety and welfare of its citizens to establish zoning classifications within the 

City; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka has requested a change in zoning on said property as 

identified in Section I of this ordinance; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the proposed C-1 (Commercial Retail District) zoning has been found to be 

consistent with the City of Apopka Comprehensive Plan, and the City of Apopka Land 

Development Code. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, as follows: 

 

 Section I. That the zoning classification of the following described property be designated 

as C-1 (Commercial Retail District) as defined in the Apopka Land Development Code. 

 

 Section II.  That the zoning classification is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan of the 

City of Apopka, Florida. 

 

 Section III.  That the Community Development Director, or the Director’s designee, is 

hereby authorized to amend, alter, and implement the official zoning maps of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, to include said designation.   

 

 Section IV. That if any section or portion of a section or subsection of this Ordinance 

proves to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the 

validity, force or effect of any other section or portion of section or subsection or part of this 

ordinance. 

 

267



ORDINANCE NO. 2663 

PAGE 2 

  

Section V.  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed.   

 

Section VI.  That this Ordinance shall take effect upon adoption. 

 
 

           Bryan Nelson, Mayor                                  
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Linda Goff, City Clerk 
 
DULY ADVERTISED: May 25, 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

READ FIRST TIME:  June 20, 2018 
 
READ SECOND TIME 
AND ADOPTED:     

 
 
August 1, 2018 

 
 
 
 

 

268



ORDINANCE NO. 2663 

PAGE 3 

 

SUNTRUST BANK 
0.49 +/- acres  

Proposed Change of Zoning: 
From: C-2 

To: C-1 (Commercial Retail District) 
Parcel ID #: 11-21-28-0750-00-070 

 

VICINITY MAP 
 

 

 

 

 

 

269



 

 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENDA  MEETING OF: June 20, 2018 

X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Annexation Case 

X OTHER: Ordinance   Vicinity Map 

    Ordinance No. 2664 
  
SUBJECT:  2018 ANNEXATION – CYCLE NO. 3  

   

REQUEST:  ORDINANCE NO. 2664 - FIRST READING – ANNEXATION OF CITY 

STORMWATER POND AT 1680 S LAKE PLEASANT ROAD; AND HOLD 

OVER FOR SECOND READING AND ADOPTION. 
  
SUMMARY: 
 
OWNER:  City of Apopka 

 

APPLICANT;  City of Apopka Community Development Department 

 

LOCATION:  West side of S Lake Pleasant Road, south of US 441/N Orange Blossom Trail and 

north of S Apopka Boulevard 

 

EXISTING USE: Stormwater Pond 

 

TRACT SIZE:  4.45 +/- acres 
 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS: This parcel, located within the jurisdictional boundary of Orange County, 
is owned by the City of Apopka. A stormwater pond owned and maintained by the City resides on the 
parcel.  In June 2010, ownership of the stormwater pond was transferred from Orange County to the City 
of Apopka. The proposed annexation will bring the parcel into the jurisdictional boundary of the City of 
Apopka.  As the subject parcel is contiguous to the City limits, is compact, and does not create an enclave, 
annexation satisfies annexation rsquirements of Section 171.044, Florida Statutes. 
 
ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 15 days prior to 
the first reading of any annexation ordinance.  The City provided notification to the County on May 24, 
2018. 
 
FUNDING SOURCE:  N/A 
 

 
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
  

270



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 
2018 ANNEXATION – CYCLE NO. 3 
PAGE 2 

 
DULY ADVERTISED: 
June 1, 2018 – Public Hearing Notice 
June 8, 2018 – Public Hearing Notice 
 
PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
June 20, 2018 (7:00 pm) - City Council 1st Reading 
July 18, 2018 (7:00 pm) - City Council 2nd Reading and Adoption 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 
The Development Review Committee recommends approval of the annexation 1680 S Lake Pleasant 
Road, Parcel ID# 23-21-28-0000-00-063.  
 
Accept the First Reading of Ordinance No. 2664 and Hold Over for Second Reading and Adoption on July 
18, 2018. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

271



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 
2018 ANNEXATION – CYCLE NO. 3 
PAGE 3 

 
ANNEXATION CASE 
Proposed Annexation: 

 

  TOTAL ACRES:  4.45 +/- 

 

ORD. 

NO. 

ITEM 

NO. 
OWNER’S NAME LOCATION PARCEL NUMBER 

ACRES 

+/- 

EXISTING 

USE 

FUTURE LAND 

USE 

(COUNTY) 

2664  1 

 

City of Apopka 
1680 S Lake Pleasant 

Road 
23-21-28-0000-00-063 4.45 

Stormwater 

Pond 

Low Density 

Residential 

 

 
VICINITY MAP 

1680 S Lake Pleasant Road  
Located south and west of US 441/S Orange Blossom Trail and north of Apopka Boulevard 

 

 
(THIS MAP IS FOR REFERENCE PURPOSES ONLY AND IS NOT TO SCALE) 

 

 

City of Apopka Incorporated Area

Unincorporated Orange County Area

SUBJECT PARCEL. 

272



 
ORDINANCE NO. 2664 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, TO EXTEND 
ITS TERRITORIAL AND MUNICIPAL LIMITS TO ANNEX PURSUANT 
TO FLORIDA STATUTE 171.044 THE HEREINAFTER DESCRIBED 
LANDS SITUATED AND BEING IN ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA, 
OWNED BY THE CITY OF APOPKA; AND LOCATED AT 1680 S LAKE 
PLEASANT ROAD; PROVIDING FOR DIRECTIONS TO THE CITY 
CLERK, SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 WHEREAS, the Orange County Board of County Commissioners has requested that the 

City of Apopka, Florida, annex the property located at 1680 S Lake Pleasant Road; and  

 

 WHEREAS, Florida Statute 171.044 of the General Laws of Florida provide that a 

municipal corporation may annex property into its corporate limits upon voluntary petition of the 

owners, by passing and adopting a non-emergency ordinance to annex said property; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida is desirous of annexing and 

redefining the boundaries of the municipality to include the subject property pursuant to Florida 

Statute 171.044. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, as follows: 

 

 SECTION I:  That the following described properties, being situated in Orange County, 

Florida, totaling 4.45 +/- acre, and graphically depicted by the attached Exhibit "A”, is hereby 

annexed into the City of Apopka, Florida, pursuant to the voluntary annexation provisions of 

Chapter 171.044, Florida Statutes, and other applicable laws: 

 

Property Description: 

 

COMM NE COR SEC 23-21-28 TH W 25 FT TO W R/W LINE OF LAKE 

PLEASANT RD BE ING SE COR OF LOT 25 PER PB H/83 FOR POB TH S 

778.11 FT N 85 DEG W 210.10 FT TH N 464.76 FT N 21 DEG W 117.65 FT N 

91.28 FT N 06 DEG W 105.78 FT N 48.32 FT E 119 FT N 41.95 FT TO A POINT 

ON N LINE OF LOT 24 OF SAID PLAT TH E 147.19 FT TO W R/W LINE TH 

S 100 FT TO POB (RETENTION PER 6058/3484)  

Parcel ID 23-21-28-0000-00-063 

1680 S Lake Pleasant Road 

Containing 4.45 +/- acres. 
 

 SECTION II:  That the corporate territorial limits of the City of Apopka, Florida, are 

hereby redefined to include said land herein described and annexed.

 

SECTION III:  That the City Council will designate the land use classification and zoning 

category of these annexed lands in accordance with applicable City ordinances and State laws. 

 

273



ORDINANCE NO. 2664 

PAGE 2  
 

 SECTION IV: That the land herein described and future inhabitants of the land herein 

described shall be liable for all debts and obligations and be subject to all species of taxation, laws, 

ordinances and regulations of the City. 

 

SECTION V:  That if any section or portion of a section or subsection of this Ordinance 

proves to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the 

validity, force, or effect of any other section or portion of a section or subsection or part of this 

ordinance. 

 

 SECTION VI:  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed. 

 

 SECTION VII: That this ordinance shall take effect upon passage and adoption, thereafter 

the City Clerk is hereby directed to file this ordinance with the Clerk of the Circuit Court in and 

for Orange County, Florida; the Orange County Property Appraiser; and the Department of State 

of the State of Florida.  
 
 

            

 

ATTEST:  

 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Linda Goff, City Clerk 

 

DULY ADVERTISED FOR PUBLIC HEARING:  June 1, 2018; and June8, 2018 

 
READ FIRST TIME: June 20, 2018 
 
READ SECOND TIME 
AND ADOPTED:     July 18, 2018 
 
 
  
Bryan Nelson, Mayor 

274



ORDINANCE NO. 2664 

PAGE 2  
 

EXHIBIT “A’  

ANNEXATION 

City of Apopka Stormwater Pond 

1680 S Lake Pleasante Road 

Parcel ID No.:  23-21-28-0000-00-063 

Total Acres: 4.45 +/- 
 

 VICINITY MAP 
            

  

 

SUBJECT PARCEL. 

275



 

 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENDA  MEETING OF: June 20, 2018 

X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Annexation Cases 

X OTHER: Ordinance   Vicinity Map 

    Ordinance No. 2665  
 

SUBJECT:  2018 ANNEXATION – CYCLE NO 3 – ROAD RIGHT-OF-WAYS 

   

REQUEST:  ORDINANCE NO. 2665 - FIRST READING – PUBLIC RIGHTS-OF-WAY 

ANNEXATIONS - CARNATION COURT, EAST LAUREL STREET, EAST 

MYRTLE STREET, WEST MYRTLE STREET, NORTH WASHINGTON 

AVENUE, NORTH CENTRAL AVENUE, AND NORTH LAKE AVENUE 

(NORTH AND SOUTH OF WEST MYRTLE AVENUE); AND HOLD OVER 

FOR SECOND READING AND ADOPTION ON JULY 18, 2018. 
 
SUMMARY: 
 
OWNER:  Orange County Board of County Commissioners 
 

APPLICANT:  City of Apopka Community Development Department 
 

LOCATION:  Carnation Court, East Laurel Street, East Myrtle Street, West Myrtle Street, North 

Washington Avenue, North Central Avenue, and North Lake Avenue (north and 

south of West Myrtle Avenue), generally located west of North Park Avenue, south 

of East Summit Street and north of West Oak Street. 
 

EXISTING USE: Public Roads 
 

TRACT SIZE:  Carnation Court: 0.655 +/- acres; E Laurel Street: 0.838 +/- acres; E Myrtle Street: 

0.861 +/- acre; W Myrtle Street: 0.861 +/- acre; N Washington Avenue: 0.792 +/- 

acre; N Central Ave: 1.068 +/- acre; N Lake Avenue (north of W Myrtle Street): 

0.828 +/- acre; N Lake Avenue (south of W Myrtle Street): 1.066 +/- acre; Total: 

8.278 +/- acres. 

 

FUNDING SOURCE:  N/A 
 

 

DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners     HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

  

276



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 
2018 ANNEXATION – CYCLE NO. 3 
PAGE 2 

 

 

 

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS: The annexation of these roadway rights-of-way will result in a change of 

ownership from the Orange County Board of County Commissioners to the City of Apopka. Exhibit A lists 

the roadways included in Ordinance 2665. Exhibit B shows the location of the roadway rights-of-way to be 

annexed. 

 

ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 15 days prior to 

the first reading of any annexation ordinance.  The City provided notification to the County on May 24, 

2018. 

 

DULY ADVERTISED: 

June 1, 2018 (Apopka Chief) 

June 8, 2018 (Apopka Chief) 

 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 

June 20, 2018 (7:00 pm) - City Council 1st Reading 

July 18, 2018 (7:00 pm) - City Council 2nd Reading and Adoption 

 

RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

The Development Review Committee recommends approval of the roadway rights-of-way annexation of 

Carnation Court, East Laurel Street, East Myrtle Street, West Myrtle Street, North Washington Avenue, 

North Central Avenue, and North Lake Avenue (north and south of West Myrtle Avenue).  

 

Accept the First Reading of Ordinance No. 2665 and Hold Over for Second Reading and Adoption on July 

18, 2018. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

277



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 
2018 ANNEXATION – CYCLE NO. 3 
PAGE 3 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 
 

ANNEXATION CASES 
Proposed Annexations: 

 

 TOTAL ACRES:  8.278 +/- 
 

ORD. 

NO. 

ITEM NO. 

EXHIBIT 

OWNER’S 

NAME 
LOCATION 

PARCEL 

NUMBER 
ACRES +/- 

EXISTING 

USE 

FUTURE LAND 

USE 

(COUNTY) 

2665  

  

  

A Orange County Carnation Court N/A 0.655 Public Road Public Road 

B Orange County E Laurel Street N/A 0.838 Public Road Public Road 

C Orange County E Myrtle Street N/A 0.861 Public Road Public Road 

D Orange County W Myrtle Street N/A 2.170 Public Road Public Road 

E Orange County N Washington Avenue N/A 0.792 Public Road Public Road 

F Orange County N Central Avenue N/A 1.068 Public Road Public Road 

G Orange County 
N Lake Avenue (North 

of W Myrtle Street) 
N/A 0.828 Public Road Public Road 

H Orange County 
N Lake Avenue (South 

of W Myrtle Street) 
N/A 1.066 Public Road Public Road 

 

  

278



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 20, 2018 
2018 ANNEXATION – CYCLE NO. 3 
PAGE 4 

 

 

 

 
EXHIBIT B 

 
ANNEXATION CASES 

Vicinity Map 
 

 

Roadways to be annexed: 

Contains:  8.728 +/- acres 
 

 

 

 (THIS MAP IS FOR REFERENCE PURPOSES ONLY AND IS NOT TO SCALE) 
 

W Myrtle St. 

 

N
 C

en
tr

al
 A

ve
. 

N
 L

ak
e 

A
ve

. 

C
ar

na
tio

n 
C

t. 

E Laurel St. 

N
 W

as
hi

ng
to

n 
A

ve
. 

E Myrtle St. 

N
 L

ak
e 

A
ve

. 

Right-of-Way to be Annexed 
 

City of Apopka Incorporated Area 
 

City of Apopka Road 
 

Unincorporated Orange County Area 

279



 

ORDINANCE NO. 2665 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, TO EXTEND 

ITS TERRITORIAL AND MUNICIPAL LIMITS TO ANNEX PURSUANT 

TO FLORIDA STATUTE 171.044 THE HEREINAFTER DESCRIBED 

PUBLIC RIGHTS-OF-WAY KNOWN AS CARNATION COURT, EAST 

LAUREL STREET, EAST MYRTLE STREET, WEST MYRTLE STREET, 

NORTH WASHINGTON AVENUE, NORTH CENTRAL AVENUE, 

NORTH LAKE AVENUE (NORTH AND SOUTH OF WEST MYRTLE 

AVENUE), SITUATED AND BEING IN ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA, 

LOCATED GENERALLY WEST OF NORTH PARK AVENUE, SOUTH OF 

WEST SUMMIT STREET AND NORTH OF WEST OAK STREET, AND 

COMPRISED OF APPROXIMATELY 8.278 ACRES; OWNED BY 

ORANGE COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS; 

PROVIDING FOR DIRECTIONS TO THE CITY CLERK, 

SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 

WHEREAS, the Orange County Board of County Commissioners has requested that the 

City of Apopka, Florida, annex rights-of-way known as Carnation Court, East Laurel Street, East 

Myrtle Street, West Myrtle Street, North Washington Avenue, North Central Avenue, and North 

Lake Avenue (north and south of West Myrtle Avenue) located west of North Park Avenue, south 

of East Summit Street and north of West Oak Street; and  

 

 WHEREAS, Florida Statute 171.044 of the General Laws of Florida provide that a 

municipal corporation may annex property into its corporate limits upon voluntary petition of the 

owners, by passing and adopting a non-emergency ordinance to annex said property; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida is desirous of annexing and 

redefining the boundaries of the municipality to include the subject property pursuant to Florida 

Statute 171.044. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, as follows: 

 

 SECTION I:  That the following described properties, being situated in Orange County, 

Florida, totaling 8.279 +/- acre, and graphically depicted by the attached Exhibits "A” - “H” are 

hereby annexed into the City of Apopka, Florida, pursuant to the voluntary annexation provisions 

of Chapter 171.044, Florida Statutes, and other applicable laws: 

 

Descriptions:  Carnation Court: 0.655 +/- acres; E Laurel Street: 0.838 +/- acres; E 

Myrtle Street: 0.861 +/- acre; W Myrtle Street: 0.861 +/- acre; N Washington 

Avenue: 0.792 +/- acre; N Central Ave: 1.068 +/- acre; N Lake Avenue (north of 

W Myrtle Street): 0.828 +/- acre; N Lake Avenue (south of W Myrtle Street): 1.066 

+/- acre; more specifically described within Exhibits “A” - “H”. 

 

280



ORDINANCE NO. 2665 

PAGE 2  
 
 

 SECTION II:  That the corporate territorial limits of the City of Apopka, Florida, are hereby 

redefined to include said land herein described and annexed. 

 

SECTION III:  That the City Council will designate the land use classification and zoning 

category of these annexed lands in accordance with applicable City ordinances and State laws. 

 

 SECTION IV: That the land herein described and future inhabitants of the land herein 

described shall be liable for all debts and obligations and be subject to all species of taxation, laws, 

ordinances and regulations of the City. 

 

SECTION V:  That if any section or portion of a section or subsection of this Ordinance 

proves to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the 

validity, force, or effect of any other section or portion of a section or subsection or part of this 

ordinance. 

 

 SECTION VI:  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed. 

 

 SECTION VII: That this ordinance shall take effect upon passage and adoption, thereafter 

the City Clerk is hereby directed to file this ordinance with the Clerk of the Circuit Court in and 

for Orange County, Florida; the Orange County Property Appraiser; and the Department of State 

of the State of Florida.  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

ATTEST:  

 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Linda Goff, City Clerk 

 

DULY ADVERTISED FOR PUBLIC HEARING: June 1, 2018, June 8, 2018 

 
 

 

READ FIRST TIME: June 20, 2018 

 

READ SECOND TIME 

AND ADOPTED:     July 18, 2018 

 

 

  

Bryan Nelson, Mayor 

281



This document does not represent a Boundary Survey.

Ca
rn

at
io

n 
Ct

.

W. Myrtle St.

N

E

S

W

E. Votaw Rd.

N.
 P

ar
k 

Av
e.

Exhibit - A
Description of public "Right-of-Way": Carnation Ct.
Owner: Orange County

A public "Right-of-Way" as recorded in the Public Records of Orange County, Florida,
being more particularly described as follows:
Commence at the Northeast corner of Section 09-21-28, as recorded in the Public Records
of Orange County, Florida; thence South 0°18'34" West, a distance of 452.36 feet along
the Eastern line of said section; thence North 89°56'02" West, a distance of 1,617.32 feet,
to the Southwest corner of Parcel ID: 04-21-28-4836-00-554; said point being the POINT
OF BEGINNING; thence North 01°11'15" East, a distance of 600.78 feet; thence North
89°57'09" West, a distance of 47.50 feet; thence South 01°11'35" West, a distance of
600.76 feet; thence South 89°56'02" East, a distance of 47.56 feet.
Containing 28,548.96 square feet (0.655-Acres), more or less.

282



I 

I' ' 
______ _J 

Exhibit-B 

Description of public "Right-of-Way": E. Laurel St. 

Owner: Orange County 

A public "Right-of-Way" as recorded in the Public Records of Orange County, Florida, 

being more particularly described as follows: 

Commence at the Southeast corner of Section 04-21-28, as recorded in the Public Records 

of Orange County, Florida; thence North 0
°
05'12" East, a distance of 536.03 feet along 

the Eastern line of said section; thence North 89°57'08" West, a distance of 30.03 feet, to 

the Northeast corner of Parcel ID: 04-21-28-4836-00-100; said point being the POINT OF 

BEGINNING; thence North 0 °05'11" East, a distance of 60.00 feet; thence North 89
°
57'08" 

West, a distance of 608.20 feet; thence South 0 °56 104" West, a distance of 60.00 feet; 

thence South 89
°
57 108" East, a distance of 609.09 feet.

Containing 36,520.11 square feet (0.838-Acres), more or less. 

L _________________ _J 

r---!--,--,--,--r--, 
t �-----� ! I I

j i ! 
� 

I I I I II I � 

� L_ __ __j_ __ _J_ __ � __ _l_ __ _Jl_ __ _J �
a r--------- -- -- -- -- -- -- --, -t:

� : 
� ... <: 

L2 

W. Laurel St. L3 E. Laurel St.
____________ _.,__________________ ....,.� 

L1 

L2 

L3 

L4 

L4 

POINT OF BEGINNING 
THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF 

PARCEL ID: 04-21-28-4836-00-100 
AS RECORDED IN THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF 

ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA 

N0°05'11 "E 60.00' 

N89°57'08"W 608.20' 

S0°56'04"W 60.00' 

SB9°57'0B"E 609.09' 

I 

I 

�' 
l\J IO"J 

iii 
I 
I 

_l! 
SECTION 04-21-28, 

I AS RECO
��!td: [!!JN:1B1;fo:i��ORDS OF 

I 
' 

I ' 

N 

W_2:ib(_E 

V 

N89"57'08"W 
30.03' 

s 

POINT OF COMMENCEMENT 

I I 
THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF 

� 

: 

L ________ _ 
E. Votaw Rd.

,---------

This document does not represent a Boundary Survey. 283



Exhibit-C 
Description of public "Right-of-Way": E. Myrtle St. 

Owner: Orange County 

A public "Right-of-Way" as recorded in the Public Records of Orange County, Florida, 

being more particularly described as follows: 

Commence at the Northeast corner of Section 09-21-28, as recorded in the Public Records 

of Orange County, Florida; thence South 0
°

18'34" West, a distance of 452.36 feet along 

the Eastern line of said section; thence North 89 °56'02" West, a distance of 33.03 feet, to 

the Southeast corner of Parcel ID: 04-21-28-4836-00-881; said point being the POINT OF 

BEGINNING; thence North 89 °56'02" West, a distance of 621.44 feet; thence South 

0 °

00'00" East, a distance of 60.17 feet; thence South 89 °55'49" East, a distance of 624.12 

feet; thence North 02 °32'37" West, a distance of 60.27 feet. 

Containing 37,484.83 square feet (0.861-Acres), more or less. 

�.� '' 
/ I 

POINT OF COMMENCEMENT 

THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF 
SECTION 09-21-28, 

AS RECORDED IN THE PUBUC RECORDS OF 
ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA 

� -� ---------------

L __ _ 
E. Votaw Rd.

r-----� 
' 

-"'1 

I 

I 

I 

' '' ' 
/ I ' ' ' 

I '

�I� �--, 

�I� �--_L 
I • ' 

-------- I QJ' 

: 1!! 

N 

W__m___E 

V
POINT OF BEGINNING 

THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF t -

PARCEL ID, 04-21-28-4836-00-881 -

Cl) r I RECORDED IN THE PUBLIC RECORDS O I
I �. 

' 
-

----
-ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA , 

o:;;. 

___ L_i __ ----....-___ ...... u ________ ---+-'<"' 
W. Myrtle St. L2 E. Myrtle St.

1-----------1 -. -----3 -----' '�
i i�/ I II 

� I I 
I 

....., I I 
I 

a L __ l----- ��
--
-

-----
_J 

' <!___________ _J 

L1 
L2 

L3 

L4 

This document does not represent a Boundary Survey. 

N89°56 '02 "W 621.44' 

S0°00'00"E 60.17' 

S89°55 '49 "E 624.12 

No2°32'37"w 60.27' 

L _____ _ 

N89
°

56'02"W 
33.03' 

s 

284



Exhibit-D 

Description of public "Right-of-Way": W. Myrtle St. 

Owner: Orange County 

A public "Right-of-Way" as recorded in the Public Records of Orange County, Florida, 

being more particularly described as follows: 

Commence at the Northeast corner of Section 09-21-28, as recorded in the Public Records 

of Orange County, Florida; thence South 0 
°

18'34" West, a distance of 452.36 feet along 

the Eastern line of said section; thence North 89
°

56'02" West, a distance of 654.47 feet, 

said point being the POINT OF BEGINNING; thence North 89
°

55'57" West, a distance of 

1,320.72 feet; thence North 85°01 '38" West, a distance of 51.58 feet; thence North 

89
°

50'57" West, a distance of 200.00 feet; thence South 01 °02'10" West, a distance of 

60.00 feet; thence South 89
°

50'57" East, a distance of 200.00 feet; thence South 

85
°47'10" East, a distance of 62.59 feet; thence South 89

°

55'49" East, a distance of 

1,310.78 feet; thence North 0
°

00'00" East, a distance of 60.17 feet. 

Containing 94,528.97 square feet (2.170-Acres), more or less. 

,--, 

POINT OF COMMENCEMENT 
THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF 

SECTION 09-21-28, 

AS RECORDED IN THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF 

ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA 

� -t- I� - - -r�-----------
)--. --------1dl I <ti! > ' 

�i _j§�: : l�r _ _/ / r'-
.... ,------ --r.::. -----, � -- / POINT oF BEGINNING �

1
� 

,V\, '(1J ' ,.,. ' �I Ir=: '..:.::t / o::i1C\J 

lLJ --� � -----� ., / 
'
, nJ .... � I 1U1 I 1�

1 

,-=a=�:::...'_..__.J...._--1-1.---,�'...,...�L�l-'..__..__ ___ ....J..._�._-..L....4-_____ ---,---��6.JJ 
L4 W. Myrtle St. LB E. Myrtle St. 654.47' 

' 

' 

L1 

L2 

L3 

L4 

L5 

L6 

L7 

LB 

L7 

: "t: 

,�, 
(1J ...... 

NB9°55'57"w 

N85°01 '38"W 

N89°50'57"W 

so1°02'1o"w 

S89°50'57"E 

sa5°47'1o"E 

SB9°55 '49 "E 

N0°00'00"E 

This document does not represent a Boundary Survey. 

1,320.72' 

51.58' 

200.00' 

60.00' 

200.00' 

62.59' 

1,310.78' 

60.17' 

. �-- --------1 .
�I I � 
:�: : : "'( 

/"@/ I I i: 
� � 
a <! 
<! 

N 

W-21bLE 

� 
s 

285



This document does not represent a Boundary Survey.

Exhibit - A
Description of public "Right-of-Way": N. Washington Ave.
Owner: Orange County

A public "Right-of-Way" as recorded in the Public Records of Orange County, Florida,
being more particularly described as follows:
Commence at the Northeast corner of Section 09-21-28, as recorded in the Public Records
of Orange County, Florida; thence South 0°18'34" West, a distance of 512.57 feet along
the Eastern line of said section; thence North 89°55'49" West, a distance of 1,964.93 feet,
to the Northwest corner of Parcel ID: 04-21-28-4836-00-723; said point being the POINT
OF BEGINNING; thence North 85°47'10" West, a distance of 62.59 feet; thence South
0°27'48" West, a distance of 269.91 feet; thence South 01°24'51" West, a distance of
306.18 feet; thence North 90°00'00" East, a distance of 60.23 feet; thence North
01°11'45" East, a distance of 571.51 feet.
Containing 34,519.29 square feet (0.792-Acres), more or less.

W. Myrtle St.

W. Oak St.

E. Votaw Rd.

N.
 P

ar
k 

Av
e.

N.
 W

as
hi

ng
to

n 
Av

e.

N

E

S

W

E

286



Exhibit-F 

Description of public "Right-of-Way": N. Central Ave. 

Owner: Orange County 

A public "Right-of-Way" as recorded in the Public Records of Orange County, Florida, 

being more particularly described as follows: 

Commence at the Northeast corner of Section 09-21-28, as recorded in the Public Records 

of Orange County, Florida; thence South 0 
°

18'34" West, a distance of 512.57 feet along 

the Eastern line of said section; thence North 89
°55'49" West, a distance of 624.13 feet, 

to the Northwest corner of Parcel ID: 04-21-28-4836-00-911; said point being the POINT 

OF BEGINNING; thence North 89
°55'49" West, a distance of 60.04 feet; thence South 

0
°57'22" West, a distance of 772.50 feet; thence South 89

°54'24" East, a distance of 

60.20 feet; thence North 0
°

59'02" East, a distance of 296.03 feet; thence North 0
°

55'10" 

East, a distance of 476.50 feet. 

Containing 46,517.74 square feet (1.068-Acres), more or less. 

L1 N89°55 '49 "W 60.04'
L2 S0°57'22"W 772.50'
L3 SB9°54 '24 "E
L4 N0°59'02"E 
L5 N0°55'JO"E

60.20' 
296.03'
476.50'

I 

�1. 
'Is 0-

�I� 

�II � POINT OF BEGINNING 
5l 

THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF 

AS �i�g�tl
t 

1i
4

rii-:ts11!
6

R:go-:tJ1 OF 
ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA I I 

____________________ __J 
W. Myrtle St. Ll NB9"55'4B"w 

,-- ---- ---�---�----�-...;;...;;..;;..62..c..4,;;._.1.;;..3;.,...' -'---,...4} ' ' 
I

I 
' ' 
r-----------

'

L_________J----
L5

- - � - - - - - - - - �
' ' ' 

�-----------� 
� 

-���--�-------i;
' 

J --,- � L,� .. ��1TTt-l 
! �----- -----� I I [ I

L __ _l__ _____________ j_ __ j_ __ _L __ j_ _____ J
W. Oak St. L3 E. Oak St. ---------, !--�--------

' ' 

This document does not represent a Boundary Survey. 

� 
<'. 

I
' 
' 

I
' ' 
I
' 
' 

L __ _ 

POINT OF COMMENCEMENT 

THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF 
SECTION 09-21-28, 

AS RECORDED IN THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF 
ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA 

N 

W__m__E

V 
s 

287



Exhibit-G
Description of public "Right-of-Way": N. Lake Ave. (North of W Myrtle Street)

Owner: Orange County 

A public "Right-of-Way" as recorded in the Public Records of Orange County, Florida, 

being more particularly described as follows: 

Commence at the Northeast corner of Section 09-21-28, as recorded in the Public Records 

of Orange County, Florida; thence South 0 
°

18'34" West, a distance of 452.36 feet along 

the Eastern line of said section; thence North 89 °56'02" West, a distance of 1,256.56 feet, 

to the Southwest corner of Parcel ID: 04-21-28-4836-00-570; said point being the POINT 

OF BEGINNING; thence North 01°04'02" East, a distance of 600.87 feet; thence North 

89 °

57'07" West, a distance of 60.00 feet; thence South 01 °04'15" West, a distance of 

600.85 feet; thence South 89
°

56'01 "East, a distance of 60.04 feet. 

Containing 36,057.11 square feet (0.828-Acres), more or less. 

L2 
,-----_.,.....,._ _

__
_

__ 
_ 

POINT OF COMMENCEMENT 

THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF 
SECTION 09-21-28, 

AS RECORDED IN THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF 
ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA 

N 
L __ _ 
E. Votaw Rd.

' 1-----
!i \���f W* E '° �,-

L3 ] Ll '> / X � �,

I

� _j_ 
� I � '" 

_l_ <: __ _/ / 
s 

VJ: � 
� -------- PO/fNT OF BEGINNING I"::( : TH

! 
SOUTHWEST CORNER OF 

1'.;: r 
r-------- AS �t�g�D1g: 1i4�tt�t�f1%6iiffi;;J OF J � - - - - - -

f)RANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA I • / <:: 
L ________ ____.......,. ________ ___j__ N89°56 '0Z"W ____ /\ I L _____ _

L4 W. Myrtle St. 1,256. 56 ' ,r 
11-----1 

µ 
L_ ________ _J

,--1--1--1
' ' 

' ' 

' ' 
I I I 
' ' ' 

' ' ' 

__ _L __ _L __ _J 

This document does not represent a Boundary Survey. 

L1 NOl 004'02"E 600.87' 
L2 N89°57'07"W 60.00' 
L3 so1°04'15"w 600.85' 
L4 S89°56'01 "E 60.04' 

288



Exhibit- H
Description of public "Right-of-Way": N. Lake Ave. (South of W Myrtle Street)
Owner: Orange County 

A public "Right-of-Way" as recorded in the Public Records of Orange County, Florida, 
being more particularly described as follows: 

Commence at the Northeast corner of Section 09-21-28, as recorded in the Public Records 
of Orange County, Florida; thence South 0 °18'34" West, a distance of 512.57 feet along 
the Eastern line of said section; thence North 89 °55'49" West, a distance of 1,257.36 feet, 
to the Northwest corner of Parcel ID: 04-21-28-4836-00-621; said point being the POINT 
OF BEGINNING; thence North 89 °55'49" West, a distance of 60.04 feet; thence South 
01 °04'28" West, a distance of 371.09 feet; thence South 05 °51 '22" West, a distance of 
403.16 feet; thence South 89 °54'24" East, a distance of 60.20 feet; thence North 
05 °50'31" East, a distance of 403.16 feet; thence North 01 °03'48" East, a distance of 
371.10 feet. 

Containing 46,421.02 square feet (1.066-Acres), more or less. 7votaw Rd. 

PO�;'Ni:;,,,c;;:::!::,t::r �' � _-
AS RECORDE1E�1;J

0

;:�-JJi1i\EcoRos OF }iii' �I i1 � : S---------1 I--- ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA 

�I;;:; !- _ __J___ , , I 
'1 �i �--------� 
�:

: ,t L _____ _L ________ _J L 
�

I°': 
L1 

-W.MyrtkSt 
N89"55'49"JV _/ <: 11-----

1-1,257.36'- -- -- \ 
I I I I I 
I I I I I 

Ao1NT OF BEGINNING � 
' __ _L_________ ] : L2 �

THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF 
PA

9

C L ID: 04-21-28-4836-00-621 
AS REGO DED IN THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF - - RANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA 

N 

W__m__E 

L __ r ________

' 
' 

�----1,---------

L3 
'r-----r--T--------
1, ' ' 

' ' ' 

, I I I 

L5 

I ''

_____ l_ __ � ''

�

-

� 

- I ' 
' ll__ __ _l_ __ j_ __ _ __ ...,.. __ - - - _ _L _ - - - _ _J L4 

------------------, ''
I 

W. Oak St.,---------------
' ' 
I 

This document does not represent a Boundary Survey. 

� 
s

L1 NB9°55 '49 "W 60.04' 
L2 so1°04'2a"w 371.09' 
L3 so5°51 '22"w 403.16' 
L4 SB9°54 '24 "E 60.20' 
L5 N05°50 '37"E 403.16' 
L6 No1°03'4B"E 371.10' 

289



 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

         CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF:      June 20, 2018 

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:                   Finance 

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:            Loan Agreement       

  X  OTHER:  Resolution 2018-09 
  

 

SUBJECT: RESOLUTION NO. 2018-09 - AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE AND 

EXECUTION OF A CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT REVENUE NOTE, SERIES 2018 

WITH ZIONS BANK IN AN AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF $2,805,000 

FOR THE ACQUISITION OF VARIOUS PUBLIC SAFETY VEHICLES AND 

OTHER CAPITAL EQUIPMENT FOR THE CITY. 

 

REQUEST: REQUEST COUNCIL ADOPT RESOLUTION 2018-09. 
  
SUMMARY: 

On June 6, 2018, the City Council awarded the financing of various vehicles and equipment to Zions 

Bank. Resolution No. 2018-09 authorizes the execution of the Loan Agreement with Zions Bank for the 

Capital Improvement Revenue Note, Series 2018. The revenue note provides a 7-year term with a fixed rate 

of 2.90%.  

  

In anticipation of securing this loan, many of the vehicle purchases have already taken place.  Resolution 

#2017-26 was approved on November 1, 2017, which allows for reimbursement of certain costs relating to 

the acquisition of vehicles and other capital equipment. The proceeds from this loan will be used to 

reimburse the City, as well as fund the purchases of the specifically identified vehicles and capital 

equipment included in the FY 2018 Budget.  Also included in this loan is the purchase of a Fire 

Ladder/Platform Truck in the amount of $1,100,000.  The City has received $393,175 in insurance 

proceeds for the loss of the replacement tower truck.  

  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

The approved FY 2018 General Fund identified and included provisions for acquiring these vehicles and 
capital equipment using tax exempt debt.    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Adopt Resolution No. 2018-09. 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

290



 

45401321;1 

  

LOAN AGREEMENT 

Dated June 22, 2018 

By and Between 

CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA 

(the “City”) 

and 

ZB, N.A. 

(the “Bank”) 

  

 

 

291



 

 i 
45401321;1 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

(The Table of Contents for this Loan Agreement is for convenience of reference only and 

is not intended to define, limit or describe the scope or intent of any provisions of this Loan 

Agreement.) 

Page 

ARTICLE I DEFINITION OF TERMS ......................................................................................... 1 
Section 1.01. Definitions ................................................................................................... 1 
Section 1.02. Interpretation ............................................................................................... 3 
Section 1.03. Titles and Headings ..................................................................................... 3 

ARTICLE II REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE PARTIES ......................... 3 
Section 2.01. Representations and Warranties of City ...................................................... 3 

Section 2.02. Covenants of the City .................................................................................. 4 

Section 2.03. Representations and Warranties of Bank .................................................... 4 

ARTICLE III THE NOTE .............................................................................................................. 5 
Section 3.01. Purpose and Use .......................................................................................... 5 

Section 3.02. The Note ...................................................................................................... 5 
Section 3.03. Conditions Precedent to Issuance of Note ................................................... 5 

Section 3.04. Registration of Transfer; Assignment of Rights of Bank ............................ 7 
Section 3.05. Ownership of the Note ................................................................................. 8 
Section 3.06. Use of Proceeds of Note Permitted Under Applicable Law ........................ 8 

Section 3.07. Authentication ............................................................................................. 8 

ARTICLE IV COVENANTS OF THE CITY ................................................................................ 8 
Section 4.01. Performance of Covenants .......................................................................... 8 
Section 4.02. Payment of Note .......................................................................................... 8 

Section 4.03. Covenant to Budget and Appropriate .......................................................... 9 
Section 4.04. Tax Covenant ............................................................................................... 9 

Section 4.05. Compliance with Laws and Regulations ................................................... 10 

ARTICLE V EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES ......................................................... 10 

Section 5.01. Events of Default ....................................................................................... 10 
Section 5.02. Exercise of Remedies ................................................................................ 11 

Section 5.03. Remedies Not Exclusive ............................................................................ 11 
Section 5.04. Waivers, Etc .............................................................................................. 11 

ARTICLE VI MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS ..................................................................... 12 
Section 6.01. Covenants of City, Etc.; Successors .......................................................... 12 
Section 6.02. Term of Agreement ................................................................................... 12 

Section 6.03. Amendments and Supplements ................................................................. 12 
Section 6.04. Notices ....................................................................................................... 12 
Section 6.05. Benefits Exclusive ..................................................................................... 13 
Section 6.06. Severability ................................................................................................ 13 
Section 6.07. Payments Due on Saturdays, Sundays and Holidays ................................ 13 

292



 

 ii 
45401321;1 

Section 6.08. Counterparts .............................................................................................. 13 
Section 6.09. Applicable Law ......................................................................................... 13 
Section 6.10. No Personal Liability ................................................................................. 13 
Section 6.11. Jury Trial Waiver; Class Action Waiver ................................................... 14 

Section 6.12. Incorporation by Reference ....................................................................... 14 
 

Exhibit A Form of Note Including Purchaser’s Certificate ................................................. A-1 

 

293



 

45401321;1 

LOAN AGREEMENT 

THIS LOAN AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), made and entered into this 22
nd

 day 

of June, 2018, by and between CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA (the “City”), a municipal 

corporation of the State of Florida and its successors and assigns, and ZB, N.A., a national 

banking association authorized to do business in Florida, and its successors and assigns (the 

“Bank”). 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, capitalized terms used in these recitals and not otherwise defined shall have 

the meanings specified in Article I of this Agreement; 

WHEREAS, the City, pursuant to the provisions of the Florida Constitution, Chapter 166, 

Florida Statutes and other applicable provisions of law (all of the foregoing, collectively, the 

“Act”), and Resolution No. 2018-09, duly adopted by the City on June 20, 2018, is authorized to 

borrow money, and more particularly issue the Note described below for the City’s public 

purpose; and 

WHEREAS, in response to a request for proposal by the City regarding an intended 

borrowing to finance the acquisition of but not limited to fire equipment, police vehicles, a 

recreational vehicle and associated equipment all for City purposes (the “Project”), and related 

costs of issuance, the Bank submitted its proposal dated May 8, 2018 to the City (the 

“Commitment”); and 

WHEREAS, the City has accepted the Commitment and the Bank is willing to purchase 

the Note, but only upon the terms and conditions of this Agreement; 

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I 

 

DEFINITION OF TERMS 

Section 1.01. Definitions.  Capitalized terms used in this Agreement shall have the 

respective meanings assigned thereto and the following terms not otherwise defined shall have 

the respective meanings as follows unless the context clearly requires otherwise: 

“Act” shall have the meaning assigned to that term in the recitals hereof. 

“Agreement” shall mean this Loan Agreement and all modifications, alterations, 

amendments and supplements hereto made in accordance with the provisions hereof. 

“Bank” shall mean ZB, N.A., a national banking association and its successors and 

assigns. 

“Bond Counsel” shall mean, Akerman LLP, or any other attorney at law or firm of 

attorneys of nationally recognized standing in matters pertaining to the federal tax exemption of 

interest on obligations issued by states and political subdivisions hired by the City to render an 

opinion on such matters with regard to the Note. 
294



 

 2 
45401321;1 

 “Business Day” shall mean any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday, or a day on which 

the office of the Bank at which payments on the Note are due is lawfully closed. 

“City” shall mean the City of Apopka, Florida, a municipal corporation. 

“City Administrator” shall mean the City Administrator of the City and such other person 

as may be duly authorized to act on his or her behalf. 

“City Clerk” shall mean the City Clerk of the City and such other person as may be duly 

authorized to act on his or her behalf. 

 “Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, 

and the applicable rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. 

“Debt Service” means principal and interest, and other debt-related costs, due in 

connection with the Note. 

“Default Rate” shall mean four percent (4.0%) per annum provided such rate shall not 

exceed the highest rate of interest allowed by applicable law. 

“Event of Default” shall mean an Event of Default as defined in Section 5.01 of this 

Agreement. 

“Final Maturity Date” shall mean the date on which all principal and all unpaid interest 

accrued on the Note shall be due and payable in full, which date shall be, if not sooner due to 

prepayment, June 1, 2025. 

“Fiscal Year” shall mean the 12-month period commencing October 1 of each year and 

ending on the succeeding September 30, or such other 12-month period as the City may 

designate as its “fiscal year” as permitted by law. 

“Interest Payment Date” shall mean each June 1, and December 1, commencing 

December 1, 2018 until the Note has been paid in full. 

“Loan” shall refer to an amount equal to the outstanding principal of the Note, together 

with unpaid interest which has accrued and other debt-related costs. 

 “Non-Ad Valorem Revenues” shall mean all legally available funds of the City derived 

from any source whatsoever other than ad valorem taxation on real or personal property, which 

are legally available to make the payments due on the Note, but only after provision has been 

made by the City for the payment of services and programs which are for essential public 

purposes affecting the health, welfare and safety of the inhabitants of the City or which are 

legally mandated by applicable law. 

“Note” shall mean the City of Apopka, Florida Capital Improvement Revenue Note, 

Series 2018 issued by the City under this Agreement and the Resolution. 

295



 

 3 
45401321;1 

“Note Rate” shall mean the rate of interest to be borne by the Note which shall be a fixed 

rate equal to 2.90% per annum calculated on the basis of a 360-day year of 12, 30-day months, 

subject to adjustment as provided herein and in the Note. 

“Noteholder” or “Holder” or any similar term shall mean the Bank as the holder of the 

Note and any subsequent registered holder of the Note. 

“Pledged Revenues” shall mean Non-Ad Valorem Revenues of the City budgeted and 

appropriated in accordance with Section 4.03 hereof. 

“Project” shall have the meaning set forth in the “Whereas” clauses to this Agreement.  

“Resolution” shall mean Resolution No. 2018-09, duly adopted at a meeting of the City 

Council on June 20, 2018, which, among other things, authorized and confirmed the borrowing 

of the Loan and execution and delivery of this Agreement and the issuance of the Note. 

Section 1.02. Interpretation.  Unless the context clearly requires otherwise, words of 

masculine gender shall be construed to include correlative words of the feminine and neuter 

genders and vice versa, and words of the singular number shall be construed to include 

correlative words of the plural number and vice versa.  This Agreement and all the terms and 

provisions hereof shall be construed to effectuate the purpose set forth herein and to sustain the 

validity hereof. 

Section 1.03. Titles and Headings.  The titles and headings of the Articles and Sections 

of this Agreement, which have been inserted for convenience of reference only and are not to be 

considered a part hereof, shall not in any way modify or restrict any of the terms and provisions 

hereof, and shall not be considered or given any effect in construing this Agreement or any 

provision hereof or in ascertaining intent, if any question of intent should arise. 

ARTICLE II 

 

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE PARTIES 

Section 2.01. Representations and Warranties of City.  The City represents and 

warrants to the Bank as follows: 

(a) Existence.  The City is a municipal corporation of the State of Florida, duly 

created and validly existing under the laws of the State of Florida, with full power to enter into 

this Agreement, to perform its obligations hereunder and to issue and deliver the Note to the 

Bank.  The making, execution and performance of this Agreement on the part of the City and the 

issuance and delivery of the Note have been duly authorized by all necessary action on the part 

of the City and will not violate or conflict with the Act, or any agreement, indenture or other 

instrument by which the City or any of its properties is bound. 

(b) Validity, Etc.  This Agreement, the Note and the Resolution are valid and binding 

obligations of the City enforceable against the City in accordance with their respective terms, 

except to the extent that enforceability may be subject to valid bankruptcy, insolvency, financial 

emergency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws relating to or from time to time affecting 

296



 

 4 
45401321;1 

the enforcement of creditors’ rights and except to the extent that the availability of certain 

remedies may be precluded by general principles of equity. 

(c) No Financial Material Adverse Change.  No material adverse change in the 

financial condition of the City or the Pledged Revenues has occurred since the audited financial 

statements of the City for its year ended September 30, 2017 which audited financial statement 

were prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and present fairly the 

City's financial position as of such year end. 

(d) Powers of City.  The City has the legal power and authority to pledge the Pledged 

Revenues to the repayment of the Loan as described herein. 

(e) Authorizations, etc.  No authorization, consent, approval, license, exemption of or 

registration or filing with any court or governmental department, commission, board, bureau, 

agency or instrumentality, domestic or foreign, has been or will be necessary for the valid 

execution, delivery and performance by the City of this Agreement, the Note and the related 

documents, except such as have been obtained, given or accomplished. 

(f) Advice.  The City acknowledges that (a) neither the Bank nor any of its affiliates 

shall act as a fiduciary for the City or in the capacity of broker, dealer, municipal securities 

underwriter or municipal advisor with respect to the proposed issuance of the Note and (b) 

neither the Bank nor any of its affiliates has provided, and will not provide, financial, legal, tax 

accounting or other advice to or on behalf of the City with respect to the proposed issuance of the 

Note.  The City represents to the Bank that it has sought and obtained financial, legal, tax, 

accounting and other advice (including as it relates to structure, timing, terms and similar 

matters) with respect to the proposed issuance of the Note from its financial, legal and other 

advisors (and not the Bank or any of its affiliates) to the extent that the City desired to obtain 

such advice. 

Section 2.02. Covenants of the City.  The City covenants as follows: 

The City will furnish to the Bank at no cost to the Bank within 270 days following the 

end of each Fiscal Year, the audited annual financial statements of the City for such Fiscal Year. 

Section 2.03. Representations and Warranties of Bank.  The Bank represents and 

warrants to the City as follows: 

The Bank (i) has such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters that it 

is capable of evaluating the merits and risks of making the Loan and investing in the Note; (ii) 

has received and reviewed such financial information concerning the Non-Ad Valorem Revenues 

as it has requested in order to fairly evaluate the merits and risks of making the Loan and 

investing in the Note; and (iii) is purchasing the Note as an investment for its own account and 

not with a current view toward resale to the public. 

297



 

 5 
45401321;1 

ARTICLE III 

 

THE NOTE 

Section 3.01. Purpose and Use.  On the date of this Agreement, the Bank shall make 

available to the City the Loan in the principal amount of Two Million Eight Hundred and Five 

Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($2,805,000.00).  The Loan is evidenced by the Note. The 

proceeds available under the Note and this Agreement shall be used to solely finance the Project 

and to pay costs of issuing the Note.   

Section 3.02. The Note.  The Note shall be substantially in the form set forth as 

Exhibit A to this Agreement.  The general terms of the Note shall be as follows: 

(a) Amount of Note.  The principal amount of the Note shall be Two Million Eight 

Hundred and Five Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($2,805,000.00). 

(b) Interest.  The Note shall bear interest at the Note Rate payable on each Interest 

Payment Date.  Interest on the Note shall be subject to adjustment as provided in the Note and 

Section 5.02 hereof and computed on the basis of a 360 day year of 12, 30 day months. 

(c) Prepayments.  The Note shall be subject to prepayment at the option of the City, 

in whole or in part on any date from any legally available monies at a prepayment price of 100% 

of the principal amount to be prepaid, plus accrued interest to the prepayment date as shall be 

specified by the City in a written notice delivered to the Noteholder not less than thirty (30) days 

prior to the specified prepayment date.  Any prepayment shall be applied first to accrued interest, 

then to other amounts owed the Holder, and finally to principal in inverse order of principal 

payments and if paid in part in principal denominations of $1,000 or integral multiples thereof. 

Principal on the Note is payable on each June 1 and December 1 commencing December 

1, 2018 as set forth in the Note. 

Section 3.03. Conditions Precedent to Issuance of Note.  Prior to or simultaneously 

with the delivery of the Note, there shall be filed with the Bank the following, each in form and 

substance reasonably acceptable to the Bank: 

(a) an opinion of counsel to the City addressed to the Bank substantially to the effect 

that (i) the Resolution has been duly adopted and this Agreement and the Note have been duly 

authorized, executed and delivered by the City and each constitutes a valid, binding and 

enforceable agreement of the City in accordance with their respective terms, except to the extent 

that the enforceability of the rights and remedies set forth herein may be limited by bankruptcy, 

insolvency, or other laws affecting creditors’ rights generally or by usual equity principles; (ii) 

the City’s execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and execution and issuance of 

the Note are not subject to any authorization, consent, approval or review of any governmental 

body, public officer or regulatory authority not heretofore obtained or effected; (iii) the 

execution, issuance and delivery of the Note has been duly and validly authorized by the City,; 

(iv) the City; (A) is a municipal corporation duly organized and validly existing under the laws 

of the State of Florida, and (B) has power and authority to adopt the Resolution, to execute and 

deliver this Agreement, to execute and deliver the Note, and to consummate the transactions 

298



 

 6 
45401321;1 

contemplated by such instruments; (v) the execution, delivery and performance of the Note and 

this Agreement, and compliance with the terms thereof and hereof, under the circumstances 

contemplated hereby, do not and will not in any material respect conflict with, or constitute on 

the part of the City a breach or default under, any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, agreement 

or other instrument to which the City or to which its properties are subject or conflict with, 

violate or result in a breach of any existing law, administrative rule or regulation, judgment, 

court order or consent decree to which the City or its properties are subject; (vi) there is no 

claim, action, suit, proceeding, inquiry, investigation, litigation or other proceeding, at law or in 

equity, pending or, to the best of such counsel’s knowledge, threatened in any court or other 

tribunal, state or federal (A) restraining or enjoining, or seeking to restrain or enjoin, the 

issuance, sale, execution or delivery of the Note, (B) in any way questioning or affecting the 

validity or enforceability of any provision of this Agreement, the Note, or the Resolution, (C) in 

any way questioning or affecting the validity of any of the proceedings or authority for the 

authorization, sale, execution or delivery of the Note, or of any provision made or authorized for 

the payment thereof, or (D) questioning or affecting the organization or existence of the City or 

the right of any of its officers to their respective offices; (vii) the City has the legal power to 

acquire the Project and to pay associated costs of issuance and to grant a lien on the Pledged 

Revenues as described herein and in the Resolution; (viii) all conditions contained in the 

ordinances and resolutions of the City precedent to the issuance of the Note have been complied 

with; and (ix) all authorizations, approvals, consents, waivers or other orders of governmental 

authorities or agencies that are required in connection with the authorization, execution and 

delivery by the City of the Resolution, the Note and this Agreement and all other agreements or 

documents provided for or contemplated by this Agreement, and the execution, issuance, sale 

and delivery of the Note have been obtained and are in full force and effect and no additional or 

further approvals, consents, waivers or authorizations of any governmental or public agency or 

authority not already obtained or currently able to be obtained are required by law or by the City 

in the performance by the City of its obligations under the Note, this Agreement, the Resolution 

or the contracts and agreements provided for therein or contemplated thereby; 

(b) an opinion of Bond Counsel addressed to the Bank (who may rely on opinion of 

legal counsel to the City), substantially to such effect that such counsel is of the opinion that:  (i) 

this Agreement constitutes a valid and binding obligation of the City enforceable upon the City 

in accordance with its terms; (ii) the Note is a valid and binding special obligation of the City 

enforceable in accordance with its terms, payable solely from the sources provided for therein 

and in this Agreement; (iii) assuming compliance by the City with certain covenants relating to 

requirements contained in the Code interest on the Note is excludable from gross income for 

purposes of federal income taxation; (iv), the Note is a “qualified tax exempt obligation within 

the meaning of Section 265 (b1(31 of the Code); and (v) the Note is exempt from registration 

under the Securities Act of 1993, as amended, and the Resolution and this Agreement are exempt 

from qualification under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended; and (vi) the Note Rate 

does not exceed the maximum interest rate allowed by Florida law for debt obligations like the 

Note. 

(c) a copy of a completed and executed Form 8038-G to be filed with the Internal 

Revenue Service by the City; 

(d) the original executed Resolution, Note and Agreement; and 

299



 

 7 
45401321;1 

(e) Certificate of the City to the effect that the representations and information of the 

City contained in this Agreement are true and correct as of the date of this Agreement; 

(f) An acknowledgement of the City of cost of issuance budget with respect to the 

issuance of the Note. 

(g) such other documents as the Bank reasonably may request. 

When the documents and items mentioned in clauses (a) through (g), inclusive, of this 

Section shall have been filed with the Bank, and when the Note shall have been executed as 

required by this Agreement, and all conditions of the Resolution have been met, the City shall 

deliver the Note to or upon the order of the Bank upon receipt of the purchase price therefor. 

Payment of the purchase price of the Note by the Bank shall be conclusive evidence that all 

conditions pursuant to the delivery of the Note have been met. 

Section 3.04. Registration of Transfer; Assignment of Rights of Bank, Mutilated 

Loss, Stolen or Destroyed Note.  The City shall keep at the office of the City Clerk in the City’s 

records the registration of the Note and the registration of transfers of the Note as provided in 

this Agreement.  The transfer of the Note may be registered only upon the books kept for the 

registration of the Note and registration of transfer thereof upon surrender thereof to the City 

together with an assignment duly executed by the Holder or its attorney or legal representative in 

the form of the assignment set forth on the form of the Note attached as Exhibit A to this 

Agreement; provided, however, that the Note may be transferred only in whole and not in part.  

In the case of any such registration of transfer, the City shall execute and deliver in exchange for 

the Note a new Note registered in the name of the transferee.  In all cases in which the Note shall 

be transferred hereunder, the City shall execute and deliver at the earliest practicable time a new 

Note in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.  The City may make a charge for 

every such registration of transfer of a Note sufficient to reimburse it for any tax or other 

governmental charges required to be paid with respect to such registration of transfer, but no 

other charge shall be made for registering the transfer hereinabove granted.  The Note shall be 

issued in fully registered form and shall be payable in any lawful coin or currency of the United 

States. 

The registration of transfer of the Note on the registration books of the City shall be 

deemed to effect a transfer of the rights and obligations of the Bank under this Agreement to the 

transferee.  Thereafter, such transferee shall be deemed to be the Bank under this Agreement and 

shall be bound by all provisions of this Agreement that are binding upon the Bank.  The City and 

the transferor shall execute and record such instruments and take such other actions as the City 

and such transferee may reasonably request in order to confirm that such transferee has 

succeeded to the capacity of Bank under this Agreement and the Note. 

The Holder of the Note is hereby granted power to transfer absolute title thereof in whole 

by assignment thereof to a bona fide purchaser for value (present or antecedent) without notice 

of prior defenses or equities or claims of ownership enforceable against such Holder’s assignor 

or any person in the chain of title and before the maturity of the Note.  Every prior Holder of the 

Note shall be deemed to have waived and renounced all of such Holder’s equities or rights 

therein in favor of every such bona fide purchaser, and every such bona fide purchaser shall 

acquire absolute title thereto and to all rights represented thereby. 

300



 

 8 
45401321;1 

In the event any Note is mutilated, lost, stolen, or destroyed, the City shall execute a new 

Note of like date and denomination as that mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed, provided that, in 

the case of any mutilated Note, such mutilated Note shall first be surrendered to the City, and in 

the case of any lost, stolen, or destroyed Note, there first shall be furnished to the City evidence 

of such loss, theft or destruction together with an indemnity satisfactory to it. 

Section 3.05. Ownership of the Note.  The person in whose name the Note is registered 

shall be deemed and regarded as the absolute owner thereof for all purposes, and payment of or 

on account of the Note shall be made only to the Holder thereof or such Holder’s legal 

representative.  All such payments shall be valid and effectual to satisfy and discharge the 

liability upon the Note, and interest thereon, to the extent of the sum or sums so paid. 

Section 3.06. Use of Proceeds of Note Permitted Under Applicable Law.  The City 

represents, warrants and covenants that the proceeds of the Note will be used solely as provided 

in Section 3.01 hereof and that such use is permitted by applicable law. 

Section 3.07. Authentication.  Until the Note shall have endorsed thereon a certificate 

of authentication substantially in the form set forth in Exhibit A, duly executed by the manual 

signature of the registrar as authenticating agent, it shall not be entitled to any benefit or security 

under this Agreement.  The Note shall not be valid or obligatory for any purpose unless and until 

such certificate of authentication shall have been duly executed by the registrar, and such 

certificate of the registrar upon the Note shall be conclusive evidence that such Note has been 

duly authenticated and delivered under this Agreement. 

ARTICLE IV 

 

COVENANTS OF THE CITY 

Section 4.01. Performance of Covenants.  The City covenants that it will perform 

faithfully at all times its covenants, undertakings and agreements contained in this Agreement 

and the Note or in any proceedings of the City relating to the Loan. 

 

Section 4.02. Payment of Note.   

(a) The City does hereby irrevocably pledge the Pledged Revenues as security for the 

repayment of the Note.   

(b) The Note will be a special obligation of the City secured solely by the Pledged 

Revenues and is payable from the Pledged Revenues as provided in Section 4.03 of this 

Agreement.  The Note will not constitute a general debt, liability or obligation of the City or the 

State of Florida or any political subdivision thereof within the meaning of any constitutional or 

statutory limitation.  Neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the City or of the State 

of Florida or any political subdivision thereof is pledged to the payment of the principal of or 

interest on the Note and the Noteholder shall never have the right to compel any exercise of any 

ad valorem taxing power of the City or of the State of Florida or any political subdivision 

thereof, directly or indirectly to enforce such payment.  The Note shall not constitute a lien upon 

any property of the City except upon the Pledged Revenues. 

301



 

 9 
45401321;1 

Section 4.03. Covenant to Budget and Appropriate.  Until the Note is paid or deemed 

paid pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement, subject to the next paragraph, the City 

covenants and agrees to appropriate in its annual budget, by amendment, if necessary, from Non 

Ad-Valorem Revenues of the City in each Fiscal Year, amounts sufficient to pay principal of and 

interest on the Note and other costs and expenses due and payable to the Holder under this 

Agreement as the same shall become due.  The covenant to budget and appropriate in the manner 

stated herein shall have the effect of making revenues available for payment of principal and 

interest on the Note, and placing on the City a positive duty to appropriate and budget amounts 

sufficient to meet its obligations under the Note.  Such covenant and agreement on the part of the 

City to budget and appropriate such amounts of Non-Ad Valorem Revenues shall be cumulative 

to the extent not paid, and shall continue until such Non-Ad Valorem Revenues or other legally 

available funds in amounts sufficient to make all such required payments shall have been 

budgeted, appropriated, deposited and actually paid.  No lien upon or pledge of such Non-Ad 

Valorem Revenues shall be in effect until such moneys are budgeted and appropriated.  The City 

further acknowledges and agrees that the obligations of the City to include the amount of any 

deficiency in payments in each of its annual budgets and to pay such deficiencies from Non-Ad 

Valorem Revenues may be enforced in a court of competent jurisdiction in accordance with the 

remedies set forth herein. 

Such covenant to budget and appropriate does not create any lien upon or pledge of such 

Non-Ad Valorem Revenues, nor does it preclude the City from pledging in the future its Non-Ad 

Valorem Revenues nor does it require the City to levy and collect any particular Non-Ad 

Valorem Revenues, nor does it give the Holder of the Note a prior claim on the Non-Ad Valorem 

Revenues as opposed to claims of general creditors of the City.  Such covenant to budget and 

appropriate Non-Ad Valorem Revenues is subject in all respects to the prior payment of 

obligations secured by a pledge of such Non-Ad Valorem Revenues heretofore or hereafter 

entered into (including the payment of debt service on notes and other debt instruments).  

Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, it is understood and agreed that all 

obligations of the City hereunder shall be payable from the portion of Non-Ad Valorem 

Revenues budgeted and appropriated as provided for hereunder and nothing herein shall be 

deemed to pledge ad valorem tax revenues or to permit or constitute a mortgage or lien upon any 

assets owned by the City and no holder of the Note nor any other person, may compel the levy of 

ad valorem taxes on real or personal property.  Notwithstanding any provisions of this 

Agreement or the Note to the contrary, the City shall never be obligated to maintain or continue 

any of the activities of the City which generate user service charges, regulatory fees or any Non-

Ad Valorem Revenues.  Neither this Agreement nor the obligations of the City under the 

Resolution shall be construed as a pledge of or a lien on all or any Non-Ad Valorem Revenues of 

the City other than the Pledged Revenues, but shall be payable solely as provided herein and is 

subject in all respects to the provisions of Section 166.241, Florida Statutes, and is subject, 

further, to the payment of services and programs which are for essential public purposes 

affecting the health, welfare and safety of the inhabitants of the City. 

Section 4.04. Tax Covenant.  The City covenants to the Holders of the Note that the 

City will not make any use of the proceeds of the Note at any time during the term of the Note 

which, if such use had been reasonably expected on the date the Note was issued, would have 

caused the Note to be an “arbitrage bond” within the meaning of the Code.  The City further 

covenants to comply with the requirements of the Code and any valid and applicable rules and 

302



 

 10 
45401321;1 

regulations promulgated thereunder necessary to insure the exclusion of interest on the Note 

from the gross income of the Holders thereof for purposes of federal income taxation. 

Section 4.05. Compliance with Laws and Regulations.  The City shall maintain 

compliance with all federal, state and local laws and regulations regarding the acquisition, 

construction and maintenance of the Project. 

ARTICLE V 

 

EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 

Section 5.01. Events of Default.  Each of the following is hereby declared an “Event of 

Default:” 

(a) payment of the principal of the Note shall not be made when the same shall 

become due and payable; or 

(b) payment of any installment of interest on the Note shall not be made when the 

same shall become due and payable; or 

(c) the City shall default in the due and punctual performance of any other of the 

covenants, conditions, agreements and provisions contained in the Note or in this Agreement and 

such default shall continue for thirty (30) days after written notice shall have been given to the 

City by the Noteholder specifying such default and requiring the same to be remedied; provided, 

however, that if, in the reasonable judgment of the Noteholder, the City shall proceed to take 

such curative action which, if begun and prosecuted with due diligence, cannot be completed 

within a period of thirty (30) days, then such period shall be increased to such extent as shall be 

necessary, in the reasonable judgment of the Holder, to enable the City to diligently complete 

such curative action; or 

(d) any proceedings are instituted with the consent or acquiescence of the City, for 

the purpose of effecting a compromise between the City and its creditors or for the purpose of 

adjusting the claims of such creditors, pursuant to any federal or state statute now or hereinafter 

enacted; or 

(e) the City admits in writing its inability to pay its debts generally as they become 

due, or files a petition in bankruptcy or makes an assignment for the benefit of its creditors, 

declares a financial emergency or consents to the appointment of a receiver or trustee for itself or 

shall file a petition or answer seeking reorganization or any arrangement under the federal 

bankruptcy laws or any other applicable law or statute of the United States of America or any 

state thereof; or 

(f) the City is adjudged insolvent by a court of competent jurisdiction or is adjudged 

bankrupt on a petition of bankruptcy filed against the City, or an order, judgment or decree is 

entered by any court of competent jurisdiction appointing, without the consent of the City, a 

receiver or trustee of the City or of the whole or any part of its property and any of the aforesaid 

adjudications, orders, judgments or decrees shall not be vacated or set aside or stayed within 

60 days from the date of entry thereof; or 

303



 

 11 
45401321;1 

(g) if, under the provisions of any law for the relief or aid of debtors, any court of 

competent jurisdiction shall assume custody or control of the City or of the whole or any 

substantial part of its property and such custody or control shall not be terminated within 90 days 

from the date of assumption of such custody or control.   

The City shall notify the Holder of an Event of Default within five (5) Business Days after, 

becoming aware of the Event of Default, but any such notice shall not be construed as a 

prerequisite for the exercise by the Holder of any of its remedies contained herein or at law or in 

equity. 

Section 5.02. Exercise of Remedies.  Upon the occurrence and during the continuance 

of an Event of Default, the Note shall bear interest at the Default Rate and all payments made on 

the Note during any such period shall be applied first to interest and then to principal.  Upon the 

occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, the Noteholder, subject to the 

provisions of this Article V, may proceed to protect and enforce its rights under the laws of the 

State of Florida or under this Agreement by such suits, actions or special proceedings in equity 

or at law, or by proceedings in the office of any board or officer having jurisdiction, either for the 

specific performance of any covenant or agreement contained herein or in aid or execution of 

any power herein granted or for the enforcement of any proper legal or equitable remedy, as the 

Noteholder shall deem most effective to protect and enforce such rights.  Without limiting the 

generality of the foregoing, the Noteholder shall have the right to bring a mandamus action to 

require the City to perform its obligations under this Agreement.  Acceleration of the payments 

due on the Note shall not be a remedy hereunder.  The City shall reimburse the Holder and its 

agents for all reasonable legal and collection costs to exercise its remedies or collect its payments 

in the case of an Event of Default.  The Holder shall never have the right to compel the exercise 

of the ad valorem taxing power of the City, or taxation on any form of any property therein to 

pay the Note or the interest thereon. 

Section 5.03. Remedies Not Exclusive.  No remedy herein conferred upon or reserved 

to a Noteholder is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy or remedies herein provided, and 

each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy 

given hereunder. 

Section 5.04. Waivers, Etc.  No delay or omission of a Noteholder to exercise any right 

or power accruing upon any default shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to 

be a waiver of any such default or any acquiescence therein; and every power and remedy given 

by this Agreement to a Noteholder may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be 

deemed expedient. 

A Noteholder may waive any default which in its opinion shall have been remedied 

before the entry of final judgment or decree in any suit, action or proceeding instituted by it 

under the provisions of this Agreement or before the completion of the enforcement of any other 

remedy under this Agreement, but no such waiver shall be effective unless in writing and no 

such waiver shall extend to or affect any other existing or any subsequent default or defaults or 

impair any rights or remedies consequent thereon. 

304



 

 12 
45401321;1 

ARTICLE VI 

 

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

Section 6.01. Covenants of City, Etc.; Successors.  All of the covenants, stipulations, 

obligations and agreements contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to be covenants, 

stipulations, obligations and agreements of the City to the full extent authorized or permitted by 

law, and all such covenants, stipulations, obligations and agreements shall be binding upon the 

successor or successors thereof from time to time, and upon any officer, board, commission, 

authority, agency or instrumentality to whom or to which any power or duty affecting such 

covenants, stipulations, obligations and agreements shall be transferred by or in accordance with 

law. 

Section 6.02. Term of Agreement.  This Agreement shall be in full force and effect 

from the date hereof until the Note and all other sums payable to the Holder hereunder have been 

paid in full. 

Section 6.03. Amendments and Supplements.  This Agreement may be amended or 

supplemented from time to time only by a writing duly executed by each of the City and the 

Noteholders. 

Section 6.04. Notices.  Any notice, demand, direction, request or other instrument 

authorized or required by this Agreement to be given to or filed with the City or the Bank, shall 

be deemed to have been sufficiently given or filed for all purposes of this Agreement  if and 

when sent by certified mail, return receipt requested: 

(a) As to the City: 

City of Apopka, Florida 

120 East Main Street 

Apopka, FL  32703 

Attention:  City Administrator 

(b) As to the Bank: 

ZB, N.A. 

Attn: Jonathan Baker 

1 South Main Street, 18
th

 Floor 

Salt Lake City, UT 84133 

 

with a copy to: 

 

Zions Bancorporation 

Attn: Legal Department 

1 South Main Street, 11
th

 Floor 

Salt Lake City, UT 84133 

 

 

305



 

 13 
45401321;1 

or at such other address as shall be furnished in writing by any such party to the other, and shall 

be deemed to have been given as of the date so delivered or deposited in the United States mail. 

Either party may, by notice sent to the other, designate a different or additional address to which 

notices under this Agreement are to be sent. 

Section 6.05. Benefits Exclusive.  Except as herein otherwise provided, nothing in this 

Agreement, expressed or implied, is intended or shall be construed to confer upon any person, 

firm or corporation, other than the City and the Noteholder, any right, remedy or claim, legal or 

equitable, under or by reason of this Agreement or any provision hereof, this Agreement and all 

its provisions being intended to be and being for the sole and exclusive benefit of the City and 

the Noteholder. 

Section 6.06. Severability.  In case any one or more of the provisions of this 

Agreement, any amendment or supplement hereto or of the Note shall for any reason be held to 

be illegal or invalid, such illegality or invalidity shall not affect any other provision of this 

Agreement, any amendment or supplement hereto or the Note, but this Agreement, any 

amendment or supplement hereto and the Note shall be construed and enforced at the time as if 

such illegal or invalid provisions had not been contained therein, nor shall such illegality or 

invalidity or any application thereof affect any legal and valid application thereof from time to 

time.  In case any covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement contained in the Note or in this 

Agreement shall for any reason be held to be in violation of law, then such covenant, stipulation, 

obligation, or agreement shall be deemed to be the covenant, stipulation, obligation or agreement 

of the City to the full extent from time to time permitted by law. 

Section 6.07. Payments Due on Saturdays, Sundays and Holidays.  In any case where 

the date of maturity of interest on or principal of the Note or the date fixed for prepayment of the 

Note shall be other than a Business Day, then payment of such interest or principal shall be made 

on the next succeeding day on which the Bank is open for business with the same force and 

effect as if paid on the date of maturity or the date fixed for prepayment, and no interest on any 

such principal amount shall accrue for the period after such date of maturity or such date fixed 

for prepayment. 

Section 6.08. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of 

counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered, shall be an original; but such 

counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same Agreement, and, in making proof of 

this Agreement, it shall not be necessary to produce or account for more than one such 

counterpart. 

Section 6.09. Applicable Law.  This Agreement shall be governed exclusively by and 

construed in accordance with the applicable laws of the State of Florida. 

Section 6.10. No Personal Liability.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary 

contained herein or in the Note, or in any other instrument or document executed by or on behalf 

of the City in connection herewith, no stipulation, covenant, agreement or obligation of any 

present or future member of the City Council, officer, employee or agent of the City, officer, 

employee or agent of a successor to the City, in any such person’s individual capacity, and no 

such person, in his or her individual capacity, shall be liable personally for any breach or non-

306



 

 14 
45401321;1 

observance of or for any failure to perform, fulfill or comply with any such stipulations, 

covenants, agreements or obligations, nor shall any recourse be had for the payment of the 

principal of or interest on the Note or for any claim based thereon or on any such stipulation, 

covenant, agreement or obligation, against any such person, in his or her individual capacity, 

either directly or through the City or any successor to the City, under any rule or law or equity, 

statute or constitution or by the enforcement of any assessment or penalty or otherwise and all 

such liability of any such person, in his or her individual capacity, is hereby expressly waived 

and released. 

Section 6.11. Jury Trial Waiver; Class Action Waiver.  As permitted by applicable 

law, the parties each waive their respective rights to a trial before a jury in connection with any 

Dispute (as "Dispute" defined below), and Disputes shall be resolved by a judge sitting without a 

jury.  If permitted by applicable law, each party also waives the right to litigate in court or an 

arbitration proceeding any Dispute as a class action, either as a member of a class or a 

representative, or to act as a private attorney general.  A "Dispute" shall be defined as a any 

claim, dispute or controversy between the parties with respect to this Loan Agreement, the Note, 

any related agreement, any amendments thereto, or any other agreement or business relationship 

between the City and the Bank directly or indirectly related to the subject matter of this Loan 

Agreement, the Note or the transactions contemplated hereby. 

Section 6.12. Incorporation by Reference.  All of the terms and obligations set forth in  

the Resolution and the Exhibits attached hereto are hereby incorporated herein by reference as if 

all of the foregoing were fully set forth in this Agreement.  All recitals appearing at the 

beginning of this Agreement are hereby incorporated herein by reference. 

[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE] 

307



 

 15 
45401321;1 

[Signature Page for LOAN AGREEMENT 

dated June 22, 2018 between 

the City of Apopka, Florida and ZB, N.A.] 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly 

executed as of the date first set forth herein. 

 

 

[SEAL] 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

      

City Clerk 

 

CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA 

 

 

 

By:  

Mayor 

 ZB, N.A. 

 

 

 

By:  

Title:   

 

308



 

 A-1 
45401321;1 

 

EXHIBIT A 

 

FORM OF NOTE 

CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA 

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT REVENUE NOTE, 

SERIES 2018 

Principal Sum Maturity Date Note Rate Date of Issuance 

$2,805,000 June 1, 2025 2.90% June 22, 2018 

The CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA (the “City”), for value received, hereby promises to 

pay, solely from the sources described in the within mentioned Agreement, to the order of ZB, N. 

A., a national banking association, or its assigns (the “Holder”), the Principal Sum stated above 

as set forth on Schedule I hereto and to pay (but only out of the sources hereinafter mentioned) 

interest on the outstanding principal amount hereof from the most recent date to which interest 

has been paid or provided for, or if no interest has been paid, from the Date of Issuance shown 

above, on June 1, and December 1 of each year, commencing on December 1, 2018, until 

payment of said principal sum has been made or provided for, at the Note Rate shown above 

calculated on the basis of a 360-day year of 12, 30-day months.  Payments due hereunder shall 

be payable in any coin or currency of the United States of America which, at the time of 

payment, is legal tender for the payment of public and private debts, which payments shall be 

made to the Holder hereof by check mailed to the Holder at the address designated in writing by 

the Holder for purposes of payment or by bank wire or bank transfer as the Holder may specify 

in writing to the City or otherwise as the City and the Holder may agree. 

The Note Rate may be adjusted in accordance with Section 5.02 of that certain Loan 

Agreement by and between the Holder and the City, dated June 22, 2018 (the “Agreement”).  

Such adjustments may be retroactive. 

All capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to 

such terms in the Agreement. 

This Note shall be subject to prepayment at the option of the City, in whole or in part on 

any date from any legally available monies at a prepayment price of 100% of the principal 

amount to be prepaid, plus accrued interest to the prepayment date as shall be specified by the 

City in a written notice delivered to the Noteholder not less than thirty (30) days prior to the 

specified prepayment date.  Any prepayment shall be applied first to accrued interest, then to 

other amounts owed the Holder, and finally to principal in inverse order of debt service payments 

and if paid in part in principal denominations of $1,000 or integral multiples thereof. 

 

 

309



 

 A-2 
45401321;1 

Notice having been given as aforesaid, the principal amount shall become due and 

payable on the prepayment date stated in such notice, together with interest accrued and unpaid 

to the prepayment date on the principal amount; and the amount of principal and interest then 

due and payable shall be paid to the Holder in the manner described above.  If, on the 

prepayment date, funds for the payment of the principal amount, together with interest to the 

prepayment date on such principal amount shall have been given to the Holder, as above 

provided, then from and after the prepayment date interest on the principal amount of this Note 

shall cease to accrue.   

This Note is authorized to be issued in the outstanding aggregate principal amount equal 

to the Principal Sum under the authority of and in full compliance with the Constitution and 

statutes of the State of Florida, including, particularly, Chapter 166, Florida Statutes and other 

applicable provisions of law and the City’s Resolution No. 2018-09 duly adopted on June 20, 

2018 (the “Resolution”), and is subject to all terms and conditions of the Agreement and the 

Resolution. 

Notwithstanding any provision in this Note to the contrary, in no event shall the interest 

contracted for, charged or received in connection with this Note (including any other costs or 

considerations that constitute interest under the laws of the State of Florida which are contracted 

for, charged or received) exceed the maximum rate of nonsurious interest allowed under the 

State of Florida as presently in effect and to the extent an increase is allowable by such laws, but 

in no event shall any amount ever be paid or payable by the City greater than the amount 

contracted for herein.  In the event the maturity of this Note is prepaid in accordance with the 

provisions hereof, then such amounts that constitute payments of interest, together with any costs 

or considerations which constitute interest under the laws of the State of Florida, may never 

exceed an amount which would result in payment of interest at a rate in excess of that permitted 

by Section 215.84(3), Florida Statutes, as presently in effect and to the extent an increase is 

allowable by such laws; and excess interest, if any, shall be cancelled automatically as of the date 

of such acceleration or prepayment, or, if theretofore paid, shall be credited on the principal 

amount of this Note unpaid, but such crediting shall not cure or waive any default under the 

Agreement or the Resolution. 

THIS NOTE, WHEN DELIVERED BY THE CITY PURSUANT TO THE TERMS OF 

THE AGREEMENT AND THE RESOLUTION, SHALL NOT BE OR CONSTITUTE AN 

INDEBTEDNESS OF THE CITY OR THE STATE OF FLORIDA, WITHIN THE MEANING 

OF ANY CONSTITUTIONAL, STATUTORY OR CHARTER LIMITATIONS OF 

INDEBTEDNESS, BUT SHALL BE PAYABLE SOLELY FROM THE PLEDGED 

REVENUES, AS PROVIDED IN THE AGREEMENT AND THE RESOLUTION.  THE 

HOLDER SHALL NEVER HAVE THE RIGHT TO COMPEL THE EXERCISE OF THE  

310



 

 A-3 
45401321;1 

AD VALOREM TAXING POWER OF THE CITY, OR TAXATION IN ANY FORM OF ANY 

PROPERTY THEREIN TO PAY THIS NOTE OR THE INTEREST THEREON. 

Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default the Holder shall also have such other 

remedies as described in the Agreement. 

The City hereby waives presentment, demand, protest and notice of dishonor.  This Note 

is governed and controlled by the Agreement and reference is hereby made thereto regarding 

interest rate adjustments, acceleration, and other matters. 

 

 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

311



 

 A-4 
45401321;1 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City has caused this Note to be signed by its Mayor, 

either manually or with facsimile signature, and the seal of the City to be affixed hereto or 

imprinted or reproduced hereon, and attested by the City Clerk of the City, either manually or 

with facsimile signature, and this Note to be dated the Date of Issuance set forth above. 

CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA 

[SEAL] 

By:   

       Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

By:       

      City Clerk  

312



 

 A-5 
45401321;1 

FORM OF CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION 

Date of Authentication: 

This Note is being delivered pursuant to the within mentioned Agreement. 

CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, 
as Registrar 

 

 

 

By:   

      City Clerk 

 

313



 

 A-6 
45401321;1 

ASSIGNMENT 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED the undersigned sells, assigns and transfers unto 

___________________________________________ (please print or typewrite name, address 

and tax identification number of assignee) _________________________________________ 

the within Note and all rights thereunder, and hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints 

____________________________ Attorney to transfer the within Note on the books kept for 

registration thereof, with full power of substitution in the premises. 

     Name of Noteholder:       

 

     By:         

 

314



 

 1 
45401321;1 

SCHEDULE I 

DATE PRINCIPAL 

  

December 1, 2018 $ 264,000 

June 1, 2019 264,000 

December 1, 2019 270,000 

June 1, 2020 269,000 

December 1, 2020 276,000 

June 1, 2021 277,000 

December 1, 2021 164,000 

June 1, 2022 165,000 

December 1, 2022 169,000 

June 1, 2023 169,000 

December 1, 2023 127,000 

June 1, 2024 128,000 

December 1, 2024 132,000 

June 1, 2025 131,000 

 

315



 

 Page 1 of 4 
45377008;1 

RESOLUTION NO. 2018-09 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA 

ACCEPTING THE PROPOSAL OF ZB, N.A. TO 

PURCHASE THE CITY'S $2,805,000 CAPITAL 

IMPROVEMENT REVENUE NOTE, SERIES 2018, TO 

FINANCE THE CITY'S COST OF ACQUIRING FIRE 

EQUIPMENT, POLICE VEHICLES AND A 

RECREATIONAL VEHICLE AND ASSOCIATED 

EQUIPMENT ALL FOR CITY PURPOSES; AUTHORIZING 

THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A LOAN 

AGREEMENT WITH SAID BANK TO SECURE THE 

REPAYMENT OF THE 2018 NOTE; PROVIDING FOR THE 

PAYMENT OF THE 2018 NOTE FROM THE CITY'S 

COVENANT TO BUDGET AND APPROPRIATE NON AD 

VALOREM REVENUES, ALL AS PROVIDED IN THE 

LOAN AGREEMENT; AUTHORIZING THE PROPER 

OFFICIALS OF THE CITY TO DO ANY OTHER 

ADDITIONAL THINGS DEEMED NECESSARY OR 

ADVISABLE IN CONNECTION WITH THE EXECUTION 

OF THE LOAN AGREEMENT, THE 2018 NOTE, AND THE 

SECURITY THEREFORE; DESIGNATING THE 2018 

NOTE AS “BANK QUALIFIED”; AUTHORIZING THE 

EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF OTHER DOCUMENTS 

IN CONNECTION WITH THE 2018 NOTE; PROVIDING 

FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE 

DATE. 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, 

FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1. AUTHORITY FOR THIS RESOLUTION.  This Resolution is 

adopted pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 166, Florida Statutes, the Florida Constitution, and 

other applicable provisions of law. 

SECTION 2. FINDINGS.  It is hereby ascertained, determined and declared: 

(A) The City of Apopka, Florida (the "City") deems it necessary, desirable and 

in the best interests of the City that the City finance its costs of acquiring fire equipment, police 

vehicles, a recreational vehicle and associated equipment all for City purposes (the "Project"), all 

as more particularly described in the Loan Agreement (as defined herein). 

(B) Pursuant to Section 2(b), Article VIII of the State Constitution, and 

Section 166.021, Florida Statutes, municipalities have the governmental, corporate and 

proprietary powers to enable them to conduct municipal government, perform municipal 

functions, and render municipal services, and may exercise any power for municipal purposes, 

except when expressly prohibited by law.  The issuance of the 2018 Note (hereinafter defined) 

316



 

 Page 2 of 4 
45377008;1 

and the execution and delivery of the Loan Agreement for the purposes of financing the cost of 

the Project is not prohibited by law. 

(C) The City staff in connection with its Financial Advisor, Hilltop Securities, 

Inc. ("Hilltop"), have reviewed the proposal of ZB, N.A. (the "Bank") regarding a loan as 

provided in the 2018 Note (the "Loan") to the City, the proceeds of which will be applied to 

finance costs of the Project and to pay costs of issuing the 2018 Note. 

(D) The Loan will be secured by the Pledged Revenues (as defined in the Loan 

Agreement) all as provided in the Loan Agreement pursuant to which the City will issue its 

Capital Improvement Revenue Note, Series 2018 (the "2018 Note") to secure the repayment of 

the Loan. 

(E) The City is advised by Hilltop that due to the present volatility of the 

market for municipal debt, it is in the best interest of the City to issue the 2018 Note pursuant to 

the Loan Agreement by negotiated sale, allowing the City to issue the 2018 Note at the most 

advantageous time, rather than a specified advertised future date, thereby allowing the City to 

obtain the best possible price, interest rate and other terms for the 2018 Note and, accordingly, 

the City Council of the City hereby finds and determines that it is in the best financial interest of 

the City that a negotiated sale of the 2018 Note to the Bank be authorized. 

SECTION 3. AUTHORIZATION OF FINANCING OF PROJECT. The 

City hereby authorizes the financing of the Project as more particularly described in the Loan 

Agreement.  

SECTION 4. ACCEPTANCE OF BANK PROPOSAL. Based on a 

recommendation from the City's selection team, the City hereby accepts the proposal of the 

Bank, which is attached hereto, to provide the City with the Loan. 

SECTION 5. APPROVAL OF FORM OF AND AUTHORIZATION OF 

LOAN AGREEMENT AND 2018 NOTE AND EXECUTION OF LOAN AGREEMENT AND 

2018 NOTE.  The Loan and the repayment of the Loan as evidenced by the 2018 Note shall be 

pursuant to the terms and provisions of the Loan Agreement and the 2018 Note.  The City hereby 

approves the Loan Agreement in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A and the 

2018 Note substantially in the form attached to the Loan Agreement and authorizes the Mayor or 

the Vice Mayor of the City (collectively, the "Mayor") and the City Clerk or any deputy or 

assistant City Clerk of the City (collectively, the "City Clerk") to execute and deliver on behalf 

of the City the Loan Agreement by and between the City and the Bank substantially in the form 

attached hereto as Exhibit A (the "Loan Agreement") and the 2018 Note in substantially the 

form attached to the Loan Agreement, with such changes, insertions and additions as they may 

approve, their execution thereof being conclusive evidence of such approval. 

SECTION 6. PAYMENT OF DEBT SERVICE ON 2018 NOTE.  Pursuant 

to the Loan Agreement, the 2018 Note will be secured by a City covenant to budget and 

appropriate Non-Ad Valorem Revenues (as defined in the Loan Agreement), all as more 

particularly described in the Loan Agreement. 

317



 

 Page 3 of 4 
45377008;1 

SECTION 7. AUTHORIZATION OF OTHER DOCUMENTS TO EFFECT 

TRANSACTION.  To the extent that other documents, certificates, opinions, or items are needed 

to effect any of the transactions referenced in this Resolution, the Loan Agreement or the 2018 

Note and the security therefore, the Mayor, the City Clerk, the City Administrator, the  Finance 

Director, the City Attorney and the City's Bond Counsel are hereby authorized to execute and 

deliver such documents, certificates, opinions, or other items and to take such other actions as are 

necessary for the full, punctual, and complete performance of the covenants, agreements, 

provisions, and other terms as are contained herein and in the documents included herein by 

reference. 

SECTION 8. PAYING AGENT AND REGISTRAR.  The City hereby 

accepts the duties to serve as registrar and paying agent for the 2018 Note. 

SECTION 9. DESIGNATION OF 2018 NOTE AS "BANK QUALIFIED".  

The City designates the 2018 Note as a "qualified tax-exempt obligation" within the meaning of 

Section 265(b)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code").  The City 

does not reasonably anticipate that the City, any subordinate entities of the City, and any issuers 

of debt that issue "on behalf" of the City, will during the calendar year 2018 issue more than 

$10,000,000 of "tax-exempt" obligations, exclusive of those obligations described in Section 

265(b)(3)(C)(ii) of the Code. 

SECTION 11. LIMITED OBLIGATION.  The obligation of the City to repay 

amounts under the Loan Agreement and the 2018 Note are limited and special obligations, 

payable solely from the sources and in the manner set forth in the Loan Agreement and shall not 

be deemed a pledge of the faith and credit or taxing power of the City. 

SECTION 12. EFFECT OF PARTIAL INVALIDITY.  If any one or more 

provisions of this Resolution, the Loan Agreement or the 2018 Note shall for any reason be held 

to be illegal or invalid, such illegality or invalidity shall not effect any other provision of this 

Resolution, the Loan Agreement or the 2018 Note, but this Resolution, the Loan Agreement and 

the 2018 Note shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal or invalid provision had not been 

contained therein.  The 2018 Note shall be issued and the Loan Agreement shall be executed and 

this Resolution is adopted with the intent that the laws of the State of Florida shall govern their 

construction. 

SECTION 13. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect 

immediately upon its adoption. 

318



 

 Page 4 of 4 
45377008;1 

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 20
th 

day of June, 2018. 

 

CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA 

[SEAL] 

 

 

By____________________________ 

      Bryan Nelson, Mayor  

       

ATTEST: 

 

 

By      

Linda F. Goff 

City Clerk 

 

 

319



 

   Loan Agreement 

45377008;1 

EXHIBIT A 

LOAN AGREEMENT 

 

(See Attached) 

 

320


	Top
	1. 06-20-18 - CC - APPROVAL OF MINUTES 6/6/18 regular
	06-06-18 draft.docx

	1. 06-20-18 - CC - Presentation - CD - FBC
	2. 06-20-18 - CC - Pesentations - Apopka City Center - Hilton Garden Inn
	1 CC Agenda 06 20 18 Hilton Garden Inn disucssion only.pdf
	2 Apopka City Center Hilton Garden Inn.pdf
	3 Apopka City Center Hilton Garden InnLlandscape Plan.pdf
	5 Apopka City Center - Overall Concept Plan 17 (041218) - EDIT.pdf
	4 Hilton Apopka Oblique Perspectives.pdf
	6 City Center Color Site Plan.pdf
	7 Development Agreement - Taurus Southern.pdf

	1. 06-20-18 - CC - Consent - CA - PS &amp; PD Surplus
	Glenn - Surplus Disposal 06.20.18.docx
	06.20.18 - surplus.pdf

	2. 06-20-18 - CC - Consent - Lease Agreement Aunt Gingibread&apos;s Bakery
	Linda - Lease 2018 Renewal Staff Report.pdf
	20180614132348750.pdf

	3. 06-20-18 - CC - Consent - CD - School Capacity Enhancement Agreement - San Sebastian Reserve
	1 San Sebastian  School Staff Report CMA CC 6-20-18 C.pdf
	2 APK-18-011 CMA 06.07.18_clean.pdf

	4. 06-20-18 - CC - Consent - PS - Approve the Purchase of Two (2) Utility Carts
	Wastewater Operations Utility Carts Staff Report.docx

	5. 06-20-18 - CC - Consent - PS - ITB 2018-10 RWS Extension for Golden Gem Award
	Golden Gem RW Main Extension Contract Staff Report.docx

	6. 06-20-18 - CC - Consent - ITB 2018-13 MPL Wells No.1&amp;4 Award
	Mt Plymouth Well Modifications Staff Report.docx
	Recommendation Letter061518.pdf

	7. 06-20-18 - CC - Consent - PS - Sanitation Recycling Processing Agreement
	Sanitation Recycling Processing Agreement Staff Report.docx
	WM Recycling Processing Agreement 7 1 2018.doc

	1. 06-20-18 - CC - Business - RFP 2018-01 Event Mgmt RFP Rejection
	CA - 06-20-18 - Staff Report - Reject RFP 2018-01.docx

	2. 06-20-18 - CC - Business - ITB 2018-05 Rejection of KLN Trail Grant Project
	CA - 06-20-18 - Staff Report - Reject ITB 2018-05.pdf

	3. 06-20-18 - CC - Business - Final Development Plan - Wekiva Riverwalk Shopping Center - Grocery Store Addition
	1 Wekiva Riverwalk Shopping Center FDP - City Council 6-20-18.pdf
	2 Wekiva Riverwalk Shopping Center FDP.pdf
	3 Wekiva Riverwalk Parking Statement.pdf
	4 Wekiva Riverwalk Architectural Elevation.pdf

	1. 06-20-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2656 - Second Reading - Change of Zoning/Master Plan/Development Agreement - AHIFO-18, LLC
	1 CC Staff Report Bridle Path Rezoning Master Plan - ZON - CC 06 12 18.pdf
	2 Ord  2656 - Bridle Path.pdf
	3 Ex A Bridle Path Master Plan.pdf
	4 Ex B Bridle Path Development Agreement.pdf

	2. 06-20-18 - CC - Business - Preliminary Development Plan - Bridle Path Subdivision - AHIFO-18, LLC
	1 PZ Staff Report Bridle Path PDP - ZON - PC 06 20 18.pdf
	2 Bridle Path PDP - 2018-06-08.pdf

	3. 06-20-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2654 - First Reading - Change of Zoning - JTD Land at Rogers Road, LLC
	1 JTD Land at Rogers Road 2 CC 1st Rd. 6-20-2018.pdf
	2 ORDINANCE NO 2654.pdf

	4. 06-20-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2659 - First Reading - Comp Plan Large Scale FLUM - Min Sun Cho, Hong Sik, and Deok Hwa Kim
	1 Reserve at Kelly Park FLU CC1 6-20-2018.pdf
	2 ORDINANCE NO 2659.pdf

	5. 06-20-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2661 - First Reading - Comp Plan Small Scale FLUM - 3255 Clarcona Road
	1 3255 Clarcona FLU CC1 6-20-2018.pdf
	2 ORDINANCE NO 2661.pdf

	6. 06-20-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2662 - First Reading - Change of Zoning - 3255 Clarcona Road LLC
	1 3255 Clarcona LLC RZ CC1 6-20-2018.pdf
	2 ORDINANCE NO 2662.pdf

	7. 06-20-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2663 - First Reading - Change of Zoning - SunTrust Bank
	1 SunTrust East RZ CC1 6-20-2018.pdf
	2 ORDINANCE NO 2663.pdf

	8. 06-20-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2664 - First Reading - Annexation - City of Apopka (Stormwater Pond)
	1 S Lake Pleasant Road Stormwater Pond Annexation Staff Report 1st Rd.pdf
	2 Ord 2664 - S Lake Pleasant Road Stormwater Pond.pdf

	9. 06-20-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2665 - First Reading - Annexation - Road Rights-of-Way
	1 Dream Lake Area ROW Annexation Staff Report 1st Rd.pdf
	2 Ordinance No 2665 Dream Lake Area Roadway ROW Annexations 6-20-18.pdf

	10. 06-20-18 - CC - Resolution - CA - Execute a Captial Improvement Revenue Note
	CA - 06-20-18 - Staff Report - 2018 Loan Resolution.docx
	CA - 06-20-18 - City of Apopka FL 2018 Loan Agreement.docx
	CA - 06-20-18 - City of Apopka FL Resolution Series 2018 Loan.docx

	1. 06-20-18 - CC - Mayor - Bear Carts
	2. 06-20-18 - CC - Mayor - OC/FD Agreement
	Bottom

